

Enhancing The Supply Chain Collaboration Model in the Nigerian Oil and Gas Industry: A Case Study of Performance Improvement Strategies.

Moses Chijioke Olisah

Department of Design Manufacturing and Engineering Management

Faculty of Engineering

University of Strathclyde

Glasgow

In Fulfilment for the award of Doctor of Philosophy

2nd October, 2023

Abstract

This research focuses on the issues of supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas industry, specifically in Nigeria. global inflation, geopolitical events, logistic complexity, worldwide pandemics, cultural reorientation, information system difficulties, process integration, and organisational restructuring are among the listed challenges. There is a paucity of frameworks or models in the existing literature to handle these supply chain collaboration difficulties unique to the oil and gas sector. Four supply management theories (Resource Dependency Theory, Transaction Cost Theory, System Theory, and Network Theory) were employed to support the thesis.

The researcher was motivated by personal experiences and realising the importance of the oil and gas sector to Nigeria's existence, the researcher seeks to investigate how supply chain collaboration might lead to industry performance improvement. The researcher is particularly interested in comprehending supply chain dynamics in the Nigerian oil and gas industry, as well as how collaboration might reduce obstacles associated with obtaining inputs. The purpose is to provide a steady supply of oil and gas products on the market, enhance operations, and address challenges caused by poor infrastructure and unclear government policies.

A qualitative research method was used to fulfil these study aims, with an emphasis on gaining insights from managers and employees at four selected companies: NNPC, A. A. Rano, Total Nigeria, and Rain Oil. The obtained data was thematically analysed to identify significant pattern about supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement. The study contributes to existing knowledge by identifying sixteen key findings, which include goal alignment, teamwork, performance management, relationship management, timeliness and order management, quality management, infrastructure, decision making, finance, COVID-19 pandemics, infrastructure development, poor leadership, process monitoring and evaluation, business strategy management, training and development, and good planning.

Moreover, this study fills a gap in the literature by integrating these sixteen findings to develop a supply chain collaboration model as an effective strategy for mitigating supply chain challenges in the Nigerian oil and gas industry. The model was validated by managers from the participating companies, affirming its potential for performance improvement.

2

In conclusion, this study helps better understand the difficulties the Nigerian oil and gas supply chain faces. It also includes a verified model that can be used to improve performance and offers insights into the advantages of supply chain collaboration. To further knowledge in this field, recommendations are provided for future studies, such as use of quantitative research method, comparative or mixed-method research, to further examine supply chain problems in the Nigerian oil and gas sector and related themes using case studies.

Keywords: supply chain collaboration, collaborative supply chain, supply chain management, supply chain performance, Nigeria, oil and gas industry, enablers of supply chain collaboration, supply chain theory.

Acknowledgement

This thesis would not have been possible without the aid of many distinguished scholars. Let me start by showing my deepest gratitude and thanking to Professor Emeritus William Bill Ion (Retired first supervisor) and Dr Andy Wong Current supervisor), who in their capacity provided me with the required advice, guideline, direction, and devotion to ensure my achievement. Their enormous insight and broad understanding of supply chain management possessed by both of my supervisors supported me in attaining the necessary insight and capacity to complete my thesis. With their patient instruction and encouragement, my supervisors helped me overcome technical and non-technical obstacles at various stages of this project. They guided me through the thesis writing process, showing me how to select a topic, gather data, employ analytic software, and present my findings. All their well-reasoned ideas and helpful criticism go a long way toward improving the overall quality of my thesis. I am especially grateful for their encouragement during the composition of my thesis.

Thank you to Dr Ian Whitfield, who served as a second supervisor and helped me complete my PhD. His dedicated instruction, questioning, and encouragement helped me finish the thesis and gain additional insight. I also want to use this medium to show my kind appreciation to Petroleum Technology Development Fund, Nigeria which provided me with a full scholarship to enable me to achieve the designated success for this project. Furthermore, I would like to express my gratitude to Dr Jecob Gwa, who served as my academic mentor and gave me guidelines on how to construct a wonderful thesis. In addition, I'd like to convey my sincere thanks to Professor Shaofeng Liu from the University of Plymouth for his work as an external reviewer and Dr Erfu Yang from the University of Strathclyde for his work as an internal reviewer. Their expertise and unique perspective were invaluable in ensuring the successful completion of this thesis, which was due in large part to their assistance.

As a result, I'd want to express my gratitude to every one of my teachers, mentors, tutors and coresearchers for their guidance and support throughout the writing process of this thesis. This is a good time to recognise some of the PhD researchers in DMEM who helped in some manner to make this initiative a reality. It would not have been possible to conduct this research without them. Additionally, I'd like to thank the responding companies and interviewees who contributed to this study's new findings. Lastly, I also acknowledge the moral support from the family of Mr and Mrs Peter Ositadimma Olisah; Mr and Mrs Ojukwu Hyginus Udeh; and Mr & Mrs Jecob Gwa, Dr Tunji S. Obagbo, Dr Babatunde and Dr Chima S. Sampson, Mr Joseph Nwafor, Mr Sunday Ositadimma Nwankwo, Mr Lawrence Nwaogbo, and Mr Mariga K. Baka

Without the encouragement and support of my family, I would not have been able to complete my PhD thesis. I'm grateful to my parents, Mr and Mrs Ositadimma Peter Olisah and Mr and Mrs Ojukwu Hyginus Udeh, who always kept an eye on me while I was on my academic journey and cheered me on when I was sad or seemed frustrated with my progress. During these difficult times, my wife, Mrs. Loveth Nwamaka Olisah, and my daughter, Kosaraolisah Gabriella Olisah, were my source of strength when putting additional effort and facing extremely laborious states. I want to express my gratitude to my wife, who has supported me incredibly as I pursue my Ph.D. As a result, I can confidently state that this thesis would not exist had it not been for the love and support of my family.

Many people contributed to the creation of this thesis, and for that, I am truly grateful. I attribute the accomplishment of my PhD to their assistance. With their motivation propelling me on, I know that this is not the end but the beginning of new pathways. My goal in life is to share everything I've learned through this PhD with the students, scholars, and industry practitioners I come into contact within the future.

Dedication

This Research is dedicated to God Almighty who made it possible to come to an end. Thanks be to God Almighty.

Abstract		2
Acknowle	dgement	4
Dedication	n	6
Table of C	Contents	7
List of Tal	bles	
Chapter 1	: Research Introduction	14
1.1 I	ntroduction	14
1.2 F	Personal motivation	14
1.3 F	Research Scope	15
1.4 E	Existing Supply Chain Collaboration Models	15
1.5 F	Research Significance and Gaps	
1.6 F	Research Aim and Objectives	
1.7 F	Research Questions	19
1.8 F	Research Contribution	19
1.9 T	Thesis Structure	19
1.10	Chapter Summary	
Chapter 2	: Literature Review	
2.1 I	ntroduction	
2.2 L	Literature Review Search	
2.3 S	Supply Chain Management	
2.3.1	Components of Supply Chain Management	
2.3.2	Benefits of Supply Chain Management	
2.3.3	Enablers of Supply chain management	
2.3.4	Inhibitors of Supply Chain Management	
2.4 S	Supply Chain Collaboration	51
2.4.1	Types of Supply Chain Collaboration	53
2.4.	1.1 Vertical supply chain collaboration	54
2.4.	1.2 Horizontal Supply Chain Collaboration	56
2.4.	1.3 Lateral Supply Chain Collaboration	57
2.4.2	The Enabling Factors of Supply Chain Collaboration	58
2.4.3	Collaborative Supply Chain Barriers	65
2.4.4	Benefits of Supply Chain Collaboration	71

Table of Contents

2.5	Sup	ply Chain Performance	75
2.6 Indus		Impact of Supply Chain collaboration on supply chain performance In	
2.7	Rev	view of Supply Chain Management Theories	
2.7	7.1	Resource Dependence Theory	
2.7	7.2	Transaction Cost Theory	
2.7	7.3	Systems Theory	
2.7	7.4	Network Theory in Supply Chain	
2.8	Cha	pter Summary	
Chapter	3:	Research Methodology	
3.1	Intro	oduction	
3.2	Res	earch Philosophy	
3.2	2.1	Ontological Positions	
3	8.2.1.1	Objectivism	
3	8.2.1.2	2 Constructivism	
3	8.2.1.3	Critical Realism	
3.2	2.2	Epistemological Position	
3	8.2.2.1	Interpretivism	
3	8.2.2.2	Postmodernism	
3	8.2.2.3	Pragmatism	
3	8.2.2.4	Axiological Position	
3.3	Res	earch Approach	
3.3	8.1	Research Strategy	
3.3	8.2	Choice of Secondary Data and Archival Research	
3.4	Res	earch Choices	
3.5	Tim	ne Horizon	
3.6	Dat	a Collection	
3.6	5.1	In-depth and Semi-Structured Interviews	
3.6	5.2	Interview Guide	
3.6	5.3	Pilot Study and Main Study	
3.6	5.4	The pilot study.	
3.6	5.5	The summary of a pilot study	
3.6	5.6	Sample Techniques	

3.7	Data Analysis	134
3.8	Research Validity	136
3.9	Reflexivity and the researcher	137
3.10	Research Ethics	137
3.11	Chapter Summary	139
Chapter	4: Data Collection, Analysis and Findings	141
4.1	Introduction	141
4.2	The Key Participants of the Study	141
4.3	Interviews	143
4.4	Data Transcribe and Interpretations	143
4.5	Construction of Themes and Indexing and Sorting	143
4.6	Data Summary and Display	144
4.7	The Display	146
4.8	Data Pattern Identification	155
4.9	Analysis and Findings	164
4.10	Model development	168
4.11	Novelty of the research	. 170
4.12	Chapter Summary	173
Chapter	5: Validation of Research Findings, And Model Development	174
5.1	Validation Process for Research Findings	174
5.2	Validation Questions	175
5.3	Means of Validation	176
5.4	Selection of Respondents for validation	176
5.5	Validation outcomes	178
5.6	Research Model Development	179
5.7	Model Validation	180
5.8	Procedures for model Validation	181
5.9	Questions for model Validation	181
5.10	Model Validation Transcribes	182
5.11	Chapter summary	183
Chapter	6: Research Discussion	185
6.1	Introduction	185

6.2	Discussion of question 1			
6.3	Discussion of question 2			
6.4	Discussion of question 3			
6.5	Discussion of Question 4			
6.6	Network Theory			
6.7	Chapter Summary			
Chapter	7 : Conclusion			
7.1	Introduction			
7.2	Reflections on the Research Journey			
7.3	Implications of the Study			
7.4	Implications for Research			
7.5	Implication for Teaching			
7.6	Novel Contribution			
7.7	Advice for the Oil and Gas Companies in Nigeria			
7.8	Limitation and Further Research			
7.9	Recommendation			
Reference	се			
	Appendix A Literature Review Search Criteria	235		
	Appendix B Research Location and Companies			
	Appendix C Data Transcribe and Interpretation			
	Appendix D Interview Findings Percentage Despondence Frequency			
	Appendix E Interview Findings Validation			
	Appendix F Research Model Validation	294		
	Appendix G Interview Findings and Research Model Data Transcribe	296		

List of Figures

Figure 1-1: Design for supply chain collaboration	16
Figure 1-2: Supply chain collaboration: Impact on collaborative advantage and firm performan	ice
	16
Figure 1-3: Framework for supply chain collaboration	17
Figure 1-4: Supply Chain Partnership, Collaboration, Integration and Relationship Commitme	ent
As Predictors Of Supply Chain Performance In South African SMES	17
Figure 1-5: Model Development for Effective Supply Chain Collaboration leading to performan	
Improvement.	17
Figure 2-1: Research Review Direction	21
Figure 2-2: 16 Enablers of Supply Chain Management	33
Figure 2-3: Synonyms of supply chain collaboration	51
Figure 2-4: A diagram Explaining Types of supply chain collaboration	54
Figure 2-5: The Nine Key Enablers of Supply Chain Collaboration	59
Figure 2-6: The Eleven Key Inhibitors of Supply Chain Collaboration	66
Figure 2-7: Benefits of supply chain collaboration	72
Figure 2-8: Countries Analysis on Supply Chain performance and Oil and Gas Indus	try
Publications	78
Figure 2-9: Publication Analysis by Countries for Supply Chain Management and Oil and C	Jas
Industry	79
Figure 2-10: Publication Analysis by Countries for Supply Chain Collaboration and Oil and C	Jas
Industry	80
Figure 2-11: Review of Supply Chain Theories	82
Figure 2-12: Resource Dependence Theory	86
Figure 2-13: Dimensions and categories in the Kraljic matrix	
Figure 2-14: The framework of transactional cost theory	97
Figure 2-15: An elementary theoretical framework for open systems theory 1	00
Figure 2-16: Model Assumptions for Supply Chain Network Theory Design 1	02
Figure 3-1: The Research Onion 1	13
Figure 3-2: The 'Flexible' Qualitative Research Process	
Figure 3-3: The formal analysis process 1	35
Figure 4-1: The Elements for the Adoptions of Supply Chain Collaboration in the Oil and C	J as
Industry 1	
Figure 4-2: The Enablers of Supply Chain Collaborations in the Oil and Gas Industry 1	50
Figure 4-3: The Inhibitors of Supply Chain Collaboration in the Oil and gas Industry 1	
Figure 4-4: The other strategies for performance improvement in the oil and gas industry 1	
Figure 4-5: Model Development for Effective Supply Chain Collaboration leading to performan	ice
Improvement 1	
Figure 5-1: The Framework of the Thematic Analysis Summary	
Figure 6-1: Organisation Systems Theory and Network Theory Framework 1	
Figure 7-1: The Impact of the Oil and Gas Industry on Nigeria's GDP 2	42

List of Tables

Table 2-1: Procedure for Literature Review Search.	24
Table 2-2: 8 Components of Supply chain Management	29
Table 2-3: Sixteen Enablers of Supply Chain Management	33
Table 2-4: The Eight Barriers to Supply Chain Management	46
Table 2-5: Types of Supply Chain Collaboration	58
Table 2-6: Enablers of Supply Chain Collaboration	59
Table 2-7: Inhibitors of Collaborative Supply Chain	70
Table 2-8: The Seven Key Benefits of Collaborative Supply Chain	72
Table 2-9: Review of Supply Chain Theories and their Descriptions	83
Table 2-10: Summary of Resource Dependence Theory for Supply Chain Decisions	93
Table 2-11: The definition of System theory and its key elements	
Table 2-12: System Theory: The differentiation of Systems and traditional view	100
Table 2-13: Decision Matrix for the Network Theory	108
Table 2-14: Application of organisational Theories in Supply Chain Management and	1 their
impediments	
Table 3-1: Ontological Positions of Nature and Its Realities	114
Table 3-2: Four Worldviews	117
Table 3-3: Highlight of Research Procedures	121
Table 3-4: The Planned Sample of Interviewees.	133
Table 3-5: The Sample of interviewees Interviewed.	133
Table 3-6: Types of Validity	136
Table 3-7: Types of Reflexivity	137
Table 4-1: Data Display on Question 1 (The Managers and Employees View)	146
Table 4-2: Data Display on Question 2 (The Managers and Employees View)	148
Table 4-3: Data Display on Question 3 (The Managers and Employees View)	150
Table 4-4: Data Display on Question 4 (The Managers and Employees View)	
Table 4-5: Q1-Adoption of supply chain collaboration for performance improvement in the	oil and
gas industry	157
Table 4-6: Q2-The enablers of supply chain collaboration leading performance improvem	nent in
the oil and gas industry	
Table 4-7: Q3-The inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry	162
Table 4-8: Q4- What are the key strategies utilised to enhance supply chain performance?	163
Table 4-9: Research Findings leading to Performance Improvement	171
Table 5-1: The summary of the validity and reliability process and data triangulation	174
Table 5-2: The biography of Research findings Validation respondents	177
Table 5-3: The summary of validation to question 1	178
Table 5-4: The summary of validation to question 2	
Table 5-5: The summary of findings validation to question 3	
Table 5-6: The biography of Research Model Validation respondents	181
Table 5-7: Summary of Respondent Views on Model Validation Question 1	
Table 5-8: Summary of Respondent Views on Model Validation Question 2	
Table 6-1: Theoretical Contribution and Their Relevance to this Research	194

Table 1-1: Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation Milestone	243
Table 1-2: A A Rano Milestone	246

Chapter 1 : Research Introduction

1.1 Introduction

This main thesis interest is to examine supply chain collaborations that lead to effective supply chain performance, particularly in the oil and gas industry. The researcher developed an interest in this study due to unclear issues that needed to be revealed as a way forward to improving supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry.

The essence of supply chain collaboration is to reduce lead time and enhance order fulfilment achieving a sufficient level of performance. The motivation behind a collaborative approach is its impact on the extent of profitability and sustainability of the organisation.

The challenges affecting supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry are lack of information sharing, costs, infrastructure, trust, risk and uncertainty, finance, and development of policy to ensure consistency.

1.2 Personal motivation

The researcher came from a country where 90% of its revenue generation is from the oil and gas industry, as well as heavily dependent on its operations as a source of income for its people. The researcher developed an interest in the sector as a means of survival. He began retail of this natural mineral product on a small scale as a career in a rural community in Nigeria, and he was concerned with the successful operations of the oil and gas industry supply chain that will enable smooth flows of products from producers to the markets and effective flow of information from the customers end to the producers. But the entire supply chain was never possible due to a lack of infrastructure and transportation systems which were part of the challenges. These challenges inhibit the trade of oil and gas products.

As a previous small-scale retailer, I was keen to contribute my knowledge and services to develop an adequate supply chain flow of oil and gas. Still, my efforts were unfulfilled due to a lack of enabling environment encompassing information sharing, communication channels, and policy and decision-making in the sector. There exists a dysfunction in the sector, which prompted the researcher to embark on academic studies to explore further the dysfunction of supply chain management in the oil and gas industry to make a positive impact to the body of Knowledge and industrial practice. The researcher's decision to explore the supply chain collaboration in oil and gas was due to his prior experience as a marketer and as an expert in business coupled with his academic study in supply chain management. The researcher strongly believed that his academic contribution would help reveal the enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration for effective performance improvement in the oil and gas industry.

Though, the academic interest of the researcher focuses on adopting supply chain collaboration to improve performance. The researcher reviewed professional articles and reports on the supply chain in the oil and gas industry, with focus of using supply chain collaboration to improve supply chain performance. The researcher reflected on the enablers and inhibitors of the supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas industry (the gap). The author proceeded with research based on the available evidence of a lack of information flow and an inadequate supply of oil and gas products due to a lack of infrastructure. This was supported by the literature the researcher had read on supply chain collaboration. Being strongly attracted by and interested in the supply chain performance of the oil and gas industry, the researcher embarks on a purposive study involving multiple stakeholders to examine further and offer a better understanding of the complexity of supply chain Management in the industry which supply chain collaboration was deemed as the key driver in achieving effective performance system.

1.3 Research Scope

To comprehend the linkages and how they contribute to a company's performance improvement, this study looked at supply chain collaboration trends and its performance in the oil and gas sector. This research also looks at the various supply chain collaboration models, structures, and procedures that increase supply chain performance in various sectors. However, the focus of this study aimed at identification of the key enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration to evaluate how supply chain collaboration might be utilised to enhance the performance of the oil and gas industry's supply chain. The oil and gas industry are believed to perform better when there is effective supply chain collaboration model that will be created using the identified enablers and inhibitors of the supply chain.

1.4 Existing Supply Chain Collaboration Models

The literature review revealed several supply chain collaboration models from other industries, including the manufacturing, automotive, and apparel sectors. However, due to the complex and dynamic nature of the oil and gas sectors, these models were unable to adequately describe operations there. As a result, the research's author saw this as yet another gap in the literature and decided to create a new model using the identified enablers and inhibitors.

Some of the supply chain collaboration model reviewed are presented below:





Figure 1-1: Design for supply chain collaboration Source: Simatupang, T. M., & Sridharan, R. (2008)



Figure 1-2: Supply chain collaboration: Impact on collaborative advantage and firm performance Source: Cao, M. and Zhang, Q., (2011).



Figure 1-3: Framework for supply chain collaboration Source: Naspetti & Lampkin et al, (2011).



Figure 1-4: Supply Chain Partnership, Collaboration, Integration and Relationship Commitment As Predictors Of Supply Chain Performance In South African SMES

After reviewing the current models, the researcher developed a new model that is shown in figure 1.1 - figure 1.5 below and focuses on the utilisation of supply chain collaboration variables for performance enhancement in the oil and gas sector.

New Model



Figure 1-5: Model Development for Effective Supply Chain Collaboration leading to performance Improvement.

1.5 Research Significance and Gaps

The significance of this research is its contribution to the existing body of knowledge, industry and academic by identifying the key enablers and inhibitors to supply chain collaboration which if being effectively managed can lead to performance improvement. This research has developed an important model understanding supply chain collaboration and it was evidence that the identified components and factors presented in the model can help to improve supply chain performance in an effective and efficient manner.

The researcher reviewed professional articles and reports on the supply chain in the oil and gas industry, mainly looking at how supply chain collaboration tends to improve the entire performance of the industry. The researcher reflected on the enablers and inhibitors of the supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas industry. The author proceeded with research based on the available evidence of a lack of information flow and an inadequate supply of oil and gas products due to a lack of infrastructure and effective collaboration among the concern stakeholders. There are lesser academic publications as compared to other industry such as retails and automobile industry. Furthermore, supply chain collaboration articles country by country and as indicated in the chart below, Nigeria has insignificant publication as compared to other countries, for instance United States and United Kingdom. Also, the research gaps appear to be organisation uncertainties, infrastructure, and a lack of information flow in the system, which prompted the conduct of this research to understand the impact of the above mentioned on the oil and gas supply chain in Nigeria. **Appendix A** tabulates further on the literature gaps.

1.6 Research Aim and Objectives

The research aim is to develop a model for supply chain collaboration through uncovering the associated enablers and inhibitors in the oil and gas company for performance improvement.

- To investigate the existing supply chain collaboration and implementation process that contributes to performance improvement of the oil and gas industry.
- To explore the gaps that exists between the supply chain collaboration structure and implementation through the process of identifying the enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration towards improving the oil and gas industry performance.
- To develop a supply chain collaboration model as a means of mitigating the research gaps.

1.7 Research Questions

This thesis identifies four research questions considering the impact of supply chain collaboration on supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry. By addressing these questions, a better understanding of supply chain collaboration will be obtained, and this will help to improve supply chain performance in a more effective and efficient manner. The four research questions are presented as follows:

Question 1. How can supply chain collaboration improve performance in the oil and gas industry?

Question 2. What are the enablers of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas industry?

Question 3. What are the inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry?

Question 4: What are the key strategies utilised to enhance supply chain performance?

1.8 Research Contribution

This study presents a further novel contribution by creating a model that provides a more transparent representation of the supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas sector and identifies linkages between the components. It has shown that for an organisation to achieve performance improvement in their supply chain operations, the organisation has to consider the sixteen elements of this research outcome that leads to model development of supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas industry.

1.9 Thesis Structure

The research will be presented in chapters to enable the flow of ideas relevant to the reader. This chapter displays the layout and the plan for the study.

Chapter two will be a literature brief review on supply chain management, supply chain performance management with a detailed review on supply chain collaboration. The chapter will further review the study of the supply chain uncertainty in the oil and gas industry. Also, this chapter this seeks to review the critical theories in the management field, including network theory, transaction cost theory, systems theory, and resource dependence theory, which will serve as lenses for a better understanding of the study issues.

Chapter three presents the defence of the research methodology following the philosophy, approach, strategies, time horizon and data collection methods. This section also offers the issues with supply chain collaboration research ethics and its significance for performance improvement in the research context.

Chapter four presents the actual interviewees and companies used for the data collection and its procedures, transcribing, and pattern identifications. This chapter will further highlight the frequencies (percentage) of the interview findings and draw out interview model from the interview findings.

Chapter five presents the validation summary of the interview findings. Furthermore, validation procedures, interviewees, questions and transcribe were highlighted in this chapter. Furthermore, this chapter outlines the validation procedure of the study model development from the interviewee findings on supply chain collaboration leading to successful performance in the Nigerian oil and gas industry. In order to close the research gaps, a model was developed in this chapter.

Chapter Six presents the discussion and analysis drawn from the literature, theories support, Interview findings, validation on interview findings and model development of how supply chain collaboration will facilitate performance improvement in the oil and gas industry.

Chapter Seven presents the conclusion and reflection on the research journey and its contribution. This chapter will also draw limitations and recommend directions for future research. Finally, the study will present references and appendices, which signpost the conduct of the study.

1.10 Chapter Summary

This chapter presents the fundamental inspirations for the study of the adoption of supply chain collaboration to facilitate supply chain performance management in the oil and gas industry. This current section presents research aims, objectives, questions, rationale, and a systematic structure of the thesis.

The next chapter presents a literature review that identifies the gap, further informing and encouraging the researcher to pursue the study with enthusiasm.

20

Chapter 2 : Literature Review

2.1 Introduction

The content in this chapter presents a literature review on enhancing supply chain collaboration in the Nigerian oil and gas industry with a focal point on performance improvement. The primary purpose of this study is to understand the in-depth supply chain collaboration and its effects on supply chain performance improvement in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. The researcher further develops a research model from the literature review (see Figure 2-1) on how an effective supply chain system can contribute to the performance improvement of Nigeria's oil and gas industry. The researcher critically investigates several types of enablers and inhibitors as well as benefits of supply chain collaboration in an organisation, as indicated in Tables below. This research further identifies the crucial components, benefits, inhibitors, and enablers of supply chain management, as shown in figures below. The study further examines supply chain performance and its types, as highlighted in figures below.



Figure 2-1: Research Review Direction

The supporting reason for conducting this research involving supply chain management, collaboration and performance is to understand the flow and processes undertaken to improve the performance of the supply chain in the oil and gas sector. An organisation in the supply chain can improve its performance when there are adequate processes such as materials sourcing, effective communication, efficient transportation systems, distribution channels and delivery of the products to the appropriate endpoints. These processes facilitate supply chain performance, which appears

to be affected by organisation uncertainties, infrastructure, and a lack of information flow in the system. On this basis, the researcher considered embarking on this research to examine supply chain management, collaboration, and performance to identify the gap hindering performance improvement in.

2.2 Literature Review Search

The relevant articles for this research on supply chain management, supply chain collaboration, supply chain performance and research methods were sourced from Scopus database which was one of the major databases for business, management, and engineering articles as well as recognised by the university of Strathclyde. Other databases like OnePetrol, Web of Science, Engineering Village and Google Scholar were also reviewed to see if there are any different publications that will come from them but at the end, all the resources collected were futured in Scopus database.

To guarantee the validity and applicability of the chosen research, the articles retrieved from databases for the literature review were subjected to several quality evaluation criteria, including:

Relevance to the research issue by checking to see whether the publication specifically addresses the research question or relevant issue. Make sure the study's goals are represented in the title, abstract, and keywords. By considering the ranking and standard of the journal or magazine where the work is published, one may determine the authenticity of the source. Peer review procedures are usually quite strict and academic standards are upheld by high-quality publications. Author Credentials are determined by carefully assessing the writers' backgrounds and areas of competence. Verify the individuals' associations, educational histories, and prior publications in the area. The credibility of the research is increased by authors with pertinent experience.

Research design and methodology looking at appropriateness and rigor of the study's design and methodology. Consider factors such as sample size, data collection methods, data analysis techniques, and whether the research design aligns with the study's objectives. Data collection and analysis ensure to assess the adequacy and reliability of the data collection process. Look for details on data sources, research instruments, and procedures used. Additionally, evaluate the clarity and appropriateness of the data analysis techniques employed. Validity and reliability by establishing the study internal and external validity. Internal validity refers to the study's ability to measure

what it intends to measure, while external validity relates to the generalisability of the findings. Assess the reliability of the study's results by examining the consistency of findings and the transparency of data and analysis.

Therefore, the research resolved to focus squarely on Scopus databased for the secondary data collection that are related to this research. The material selection was facilitated via Scopus by using essential keywords like supply chain collaboration, performance management, Nigeria, oil and gas industry, supply chain management theories, enablers of supply chain collaboration, inhibitors of supply chain collaboration and oil and gas industry to filter the published literature to arrive at the needed information. A structure Scopus literature search criteria such as subject areas (engineering and business management), Document type (articles, books, book reviews, and peer reviews), publication stage (final), Keywords (supply chain management, supply chain performance, supply chain collaboration, and oil and gas industry), source type (journals, books, and book series) and language (English) were selected to gather the relevant articles that related to this research context. Furthermore, some keywords were searched using close quotation mark and "AND" and "OR" gates. See Table 2-1 and App.1 for more details.

Table 2-1: Procedure for Literature Review Search.

Keywords	Database	Literature Search Criteria					Numb er of Articl es		
		Subject Areas	Document Type	Publication stage	Keywords	Country/ Territory	Source Type	Language	
Supply chain performance AND Nigeria AND oil and Gas Industry AND supply chain collaboration	Scopus								0
Supply chain performance AND Nigeria AND oil	Scopus								5
and Gas Industry	Judgement		The 5 articles were read through, and the researcher gained knowledge on how supply chain performance works in the Nigeria oil and gas industry						
	Citation	(2020);	Zenkova et al	017); Petersen . (2022). L. Cł ckström et al.	en et al. (202	1); Gosling e	et al. (201		
SupplychainperformanceANDoilandGas	Scopus								10
Industry AND supply chain collaboration	Judgement		The 10 articles were read through, and the researcher gained knowledge on how supply chain performance works in the oil and gas industry generally.						
	Citation	al. (2011	l); Svanberg a	20); Cedillo-Ca and Halldórsso 914); Simatupan	n (2013), Cao	and Zhang (20	013); Duon	g and Chong	
Supply Chain Collaboration OR	Scopus								51
Collaborative Supply Chain AND Oil and Gas Industry	Judgement	After carefully examining and carefully reading the whole 51 documents but none of the documents discusses supply chain collaboration as a supply chain management strategy for performance improvement in the oil and gas industry.						0	
Supply chain collaboration	Scopus								41
AND oil and gas industry	Judgement	supply ch	nain collaborati	refully read, and on in the oil and ng country, mor	gas industry in	general while			22
	Citation	Handfie (1996); (2008);	ld and Panne Sengupta et Panahifar, By	si (1995); Ka al. (2006); Sin yrne, et al. (20 ngh et al. (201	ufman et al. natupang and 15); Panahifa	(2000); Kes I Sridharan	(2008), C	hung et al.	
Supply chain collaboration	Scopus								2
AND oil and gas industry AND Nigeria	Judgement	were not improver process a inhibitors	The two articles look at the collaboration between the government and other stakeholders but were not able to identify the adoption of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas industry. Also, they fail to highlight the implementation process at the downstream sector of the Nigeria oil and gas industry. Lastly the enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the industry was not highlighted.						
	Citation		Chao et al. (2013); Ellram (1991)						
Supply chain collaboration AND Model AND oil and gas industry	Scopus								0

The Table 2-1 highlights the procedures for literature reviews search and its justification for the selection of publications that related to the research contexts. Table 2-1 further detailed that there is limited publication for supply chain collaboration in the Nigeria oil and gas industry leading to performance improvement. Therefore, the researcher considered this as a gap in the literature publication on supply chain collaboration and supply chain performance. Appendix A further detailed the procedures for literature review search and their justifications as well as results.

2.3 Supply Chain Management

This literature section presents the definition of supply chain management and its effects on the operation of an organisation—the insight about the components of supply chain management, the enablers, and barriers to organisation performance.

Earlier studies in the field of supply chain management note that the term "supply chain management" was first proposed by management consultants in the early 1980s and that it has since received widespread and intense interest from researchers in various fields. Furthermore, Supply chain management was initially viewed as manufacturing and distribution logistics, including customers and suppliers. Recently, supply chain management has integrated all business processes across the supply chain network (Lambert & Cooper, 2000; Lamming et al., 2000; Yusuf et al., 2014).

Before going to the review, it is essential to understand the term supply chain management in different views presented by several authors to understand better how to approach this research. The research has identified various definitions of supply chain management from diversified disciplines. Supply chain management is a strategy for dealing with the overall flows and distribution of goods and services from the producers to the beneficiaries through logistics processes (Cooper et al., 1997). Vaaland and Heide (2007) state that supply chain management begins with organising and managing the flow of materials from the point of producers to consumers. It is a network that involves buyers, suppliers and stakeholders in transforming products and services in an organisation (Leising et al., 2018; Seuring & Müller, 2008). Mentzer et al. (2008) state that supply chain management has strategic integration of business activities and partners within the supply chain to enhance the performance and entire supply chain processes of an organisation. It consists of effective planning and controlling resources for smooth operation, which involves sourcing, procurement, inventory management and logistics management. These

can be achieved by effective coordination and collaboration between the suppliers and the customers in the supply chain network.

Moreover, Rani (2015) refers to supply chain management as integrating suppliers and order/demand management across the business. A recent study defined supply chain management as the operations/activities involved in the delivery of materials/products and services to beneficiaries; these include material procurement, production, inventory management, warehousing, order placement and management, distribution system and information flow (Lummus & Vokurka, 1999). Singh et al. (2018) stated that supply chain management is a mechanism for connecting organisations or companies with their suppliers, stakeholders, and customers. It also creates the bridge and collaborations for businesses to achieve their competitive advantages through practical and efficiently minimising operating costs and improving flexibility in customer satisfaction. These can be achieved through partnership and trust among the supply chain members. Bayode and Joseph (2014) state that supply chain management controls supplier, customer, and stakeholder relationships. The research focuses on upstream and downstream supply chain management to improve production values and reduce costs for every supply chain partner. An empirical study by Croxton et al. (2002) states that supply chain management incorporates essential business operations from suppliers to consumers, offering value-added products and improving the partners' services and information flow. Chen (2015) states that supply chain management controls customer relationships with upstream and downstream suppliers to provide outstanding values for the entire supply chain at a lower cost.

These definitions of supply chain management informed researchers on the focus and directions of supply chain management in dealing with the operations, cost reduction and customer satisfaction of most organisations operating supply chains.

The literature review indicates that supply chain management is also referred to as supply chain process and network. Supply chain management is a strong competitiveness and performance strategy for companies. In the last few decades, supply chain management has been an essential research area across sectors like retail, automobile, production, and manufacturing industries. However, numerous researchers have focused on supply chain management and contributed valuable empirical research that provides evidence towards improving supply chain processes. Research has shown that for effective supply chain management, the participating chain partners

must develop a cordial relationship to work together and share valuable information, rewards, and risks, which allows the members to achieve a competitive advantage and improve performance. The main goal of supply chain management in an organisation is to manage the processing, monitoring and transfer of materials through multiple functions and multiple levels of suppliers using an overall system approach (Mentzer et al., 2001; Monczka, Handfield, Giunipero, & Patterson, 2009; Monczka, Handfield, Giunipero, Patterson, et al., 2009) Singh et al. (2018) state that *supply chain management* is continuously recognised to integrate core business operations in the supply chain. Recent research added that *"supply chain management"* explains how information, resources, and finance flow through various chain network stages (Rani, 2015).

The supply chain has become more significant in improving organisation performance due to global competitiveness, which is acceptable by creating new procedures that increase value efficiencies and customer loyalty (Hanga & Kovalchuk, 2019; Singh et al., 2018).

Effective supply chain management has become significant in resolving problems and supporting large, medium, and small-scale businesses in the long and short term to enhance organisational performance and achieve customer satisfaction. Furthermore, integrating supply chain partners eliminates all unwanted constraints and boosts the supply chain network. Therefore, supply chain management strives for collaboration and mutual integration between supply chain partners for an effective supply chain system (Lakshminarasimha, 2017). Lambert and Cooper (2000) stated that the control of customer demand uncertainty, production processes, and supplier performance is essential for effective supply chain management. Moreover, this study suggested that supply chain management involves multiple relationships between suppliers, customers, stakeholders, and other relevant partners, constituting a network chain in the system.

Supply chain management is a network strategy that connects across-enterprise business operations to achieve mutual market opportunities (Simatupang, 2007). It aims to optimise consumer loyalty and create a strategic advantage suitable for effective supply chain operations. Product creation, purchasing, and information exchange are crucial elements that help coordinate the organisational supply chain operations and are crucial for achieving efficient supply chain management (Lakshminarasimha, 2017).

Gunasekaran et al. (2001) identify the supply chain as a network system comprising a series of operations such as material supplies, production, distribution, and customer connectivity, which

effectively enables the flow of resources and information within the supply chain systems. Recent literature has shown that suppliers, manufacturers, distributors, retailers, and customers are connected in the supply chain processes. Therefore, some literature categorises the supply chain as a resource and information flow process throughout organisations, enabling decision-making (Chang, 2010; Chopra & Meindl, 2007).

The literature review revealed significant attention to supply chain management, including academic and practitioners' viewpoints. These contributions are notable in the information technology, manufacturing, construction, and service industries. Nevertheless, the significant development in the organisations' supply chains has faced global and local challenges, such as social and environmental challenges (e.g., population increase and climate change leading to flooding, pollution, food security, health issues and poverty). These challenges have impacted production and delivery in the supply chain system (Allaoui et al., 2019).

2.3.1 Components of Supply Chain Management

This section presents the 8 key components of supply chain management as it is applied in different subsectors of an organisation to support and improve its performance. Furthermore, Table 2-2 highlighted the eight components of supply chain management and their source.

Planning

Planning in supply chain management is one of the fundamental elements of supply chain and operations management, which has helped the organisation to achieve its targeted goal; it can be applied to different areas of study. For example, the research by Boyabath et al. (2019) states how planning has positively impacted the operation of farm practices and the effective distribution of farm produce. Another researcher agreed that planning has helped implement policies to address food supply-chain challenges (Livingston et al., 2014). The author of this research examined several kinds of literature on planning in the supply chain to acquire knowledge on how to improve the performance of the supply chain in the oil and gas sector.

Moreover, in project management, a plan presents vital items required for the successful execution of a project but is not a static or undisputable document. It is important to note that projects practically struggle with changes based on circumstances. However, some projects suffer more than others, and any significant changes in the project plan must be adequately recognised and approval granted by the organisation (Koskela & Howell, 2002). The content of a project plan depends mainly on the nature, complexity, size, and type of the organisation handling the project.

Components of Supply chain Management	Citations
Planning	Koskela and Howell (2002)
Information Flow	Carr and Kaynak (2007); Chen and Paulraj (2004)
Sourcing and Procurement	Handfield et al. (2011); Kim and Chai (2017b)
Inventory	Cachon and Fisher (2000); Sethi et al. (2005)
Production	Gupta and Starr (2014); Kumar and Suresh (2006)
Location	Bhatnagar and Sohal (2005); Melo et al. (2009)
Transportation	Chopra et al. (2021); Gregory and Bumb (2006); Lambert and Cooper
	(2000); Morris et al. (2013)
Delivery of Goods	Igwe et al. (2016); S. Xu et al. (2020)

Table 2-2: 8 Components of Supply chain Management

Information Flow

Information flow is very significant in the day-to-day operation of organisations. Information flow is crucial for improving the performance of the organisation's supply chain because it makes available the basis and guide for effective decisions regarding operations and supply chain by directors. Several researchers identified the importance of information flow in the supply chain as it integrates with partners (Carr & Kaynak, 2007; Chen & Paulraj, 2004).

Sourcing and Procurement

Sourcing is also referred to as procurement by some authors; it selects suppliers based on set conditions to achieve business goals. One of the most efficient uses of sourcing in the supply chain is because it enables the acquisition of inputs or materials necessary for production. In most cases, organisations select appropriate suppliers to offer the lowest cost and deliver on time to enable the organisation to achieve its targeted outcome (Handfield et al., 2011; Kim & Chai, 2017a).

Suppliers play a crucial role in the supply chain by assisting organisations in achieving performance by satisfying their customers. The role of sourcing and procurement is to ensure that organisations obtain supplies at the lowest price possible. In addition, organisations gain advantages from using a multiple-sourcing strategy, which helps in cost reduction due to competition and ensures uninterrupted supplies when there are issues with some of the selected suppliers' ibid.

Inventory

Existing literature highlighted the role played by inventory management in the supply chain of different organisations, which include manufacturing, construction and production (Cachon & Fisher, 2000; Sethi et al., 2005). This help organisation prevents them from going out of stock and allows quick response to orders and fulfilment of customers' needs. Furthermore, it enables organisations to control the cost of operations effectively, and warehouse management enhances business by knowing exactly the input and output for proper decision-making and managing the supply chain, (Cachon & Fisher, 2000).

Production

Production is a vital aspect of the supply chain. To achieve the desired outcome, organisations need to consider production as an essential tool to facilitate their supply chain process. It is important to recognise that before the commencement of production, the organisation must plan its activities to procure all the needed materials and ensure inventories are well stocked, the maybe information or materials (Gupta & Starr, 2014). The main idea behind the production is to produce a product or service that attracts potential and authentic users to create demand. Production involves three primary activities such as sourcing for "inputs" and "transforming" them into "outputs" (Kumar & Suresh, 2006).

Location

Decisions about locating facilities in a supply chain are crucial because they ensure efficient delivery and order fulfilment, which is the primary goal of supply chain management. Location is significant in the day-to-day operation of the organisation's supply chain, business success can be determined by how accessible the customers can be, and it enables quality delivery of goods to customers (Melo et al., 2009). Therefore, supply chain management needs to adjust and improve all activities based on business location. Business location is a crucial component in an organisation's supply chain and can positively impact the efficiency of logistics activities and the business's general performance. The main emphasis of logistics is to minimise costs and improve efficiency and customer satisfaction (Bhatnagar & Sohal, 2005).

Transportation

Transportation is the movement of products across the supply chain cycle (i.e. from the point of origin to final users), according to Chopra et al. (2021). Therefore, transportation is crucial for the fulfilment of the supply chain. Transportation is one component that effectively facilitates the

supply of goods to customers (Lambert & Cooper, 2000). Whether goods are imported or produced locally, there are costs of transportation associated with the process of moving or distributing the products from one place to another, and the costs of transportation must be controlled to maximise profit. Researchers suggest that bulk ordering for materials or finished goods helps with cost reduction (Lambert & Cooper, 2000). However, the transport, handling, and storage costs contribute to the overall price of the product. Therefore, it is essential to save costs, which can be achieved by investing more in infrastructure development which will enable the effective distribution of the product from one place to another smoothly (Morris et al., 2013). The research conducted by Gregory and Bumb (2006) identifies the main components that facilitate the supply chain, which include effective transport systems leading to cost reduction in the distribution, improving the business environment and reducing risk and uncertainties causing delays in the supply chain. The literature suggests that cost reduction through all means of transportation of products can be achieved if the distribution system's entry point is well organised.

Delivery of goods

The delivery of goods can be considered the stage at which products and services an organisation supplies meet customer expectations. This component is important in supply chain management as it involves the measurement of performance right from the supplier end to the customer end. This determines whether an organisation is effectively satisfying its customers as required. The role of delivery in the supply chain is to enable the timely supply of goods to customers and in good quality (Igwe et al., 2016; X. Xu et al., 2020).

2.3.2 Benefits of Supply Chain Management

The benefits of supply chain management are to control and manage an organisational activity in a given project (L. J. Chen et al., 2017). Effective management results in inventory management, leading to cost reduction, efficient planning and production, quality product quality, and lead time management. In addition, other benefits of supply chain management in an organisation are; promoting collaborative partnerships, problem-solving, facilitating effective product flows, improving performance, gaining competitive advantages and improving communication by connecting partners (Carvajal-Arango et al., 2019; Stella, 2019).

Bayode and Joseph (2014) believe that effective supply chain management contributes to successful organisational performance improvements such as customer satisfaction and

profitability, lifetime value, quality delivery of products and services, and customer acquisition and retention in the supply chain network. Other researchers identified that the main goals of supply chain management include minimising operational costs, improving productivity, customer satisfaction, flexibility, timely delivery, and achieving a sustainable competitive advantage for the supply chain members (L. J. Chen et al., 2017). Consequently, Hassini et al. (2012) state that supply chain management improves business performance by controlling supply chain processes such as transactions and effectively using resources and information. Furthermore, other researchers are of the opinion that supply chain management enables the effective operation of business organisation in terms of information flow and inventory management, promotes trust and customer satisfaction through order fulfilment and maximises profit (Attaran, 2012; S. E. Fawcett et al., 2008; Heydari et al., 2019).

2.3.3 Enablers of Supply chain management

The existing literature identifies components and enablers of supply chain management, which promotes effective operations of the supply chain activities. The enablers also offer a guideline in order to optimise the operations. Although the literature has provided extensive evidence on the enablers of supply chain management for effective operations, which include effective planning and operation, minimising costs and maximising supply value (Angkiriwang et al., 2014; Barratt, 2004; Tyagi et al., 2015). This study will consider the importance of supply chain enablers to enhance the investigation of the supply chain performance improvement in the oil and gas supply chain.

Chakuu et al. (2019) further identify Information sharing, flexibility, trust, policy, and innovations as enablers for effective supply chain management. In addition, policy making, governmental support, leadership, strategic planning, customer demand, product availabilities, relationships management, supply chain processes, and commitment to environmental performance are classified as supply chain management enablers (Ali et al., 2018; Balasubramanian, 2014). Additionally, recent empirical publications noted that supply chain management in an organisation is enabled by quality management, information technology, top management involvement, on-time delivery, continuous development, customer satisfaction, information sharing, supply chain collaboration, performance evaluation, effective relationships, and mutual goals (Agrawal et al., 2020; Alsharif et al., 2019; Dube & Gawande, 2016; R. Dubey et al., 2015). Figure 2-2 below

provides a bar chart of the enablers of supply chain management that lead to an effective supply chain system.



Figure 2-2: 16 Enablers of Supply Chain Management

S/No	Supply Chain Management	Citations
	Enablers	
1	Top Management	Balasubramanian (2001); Birasnav and Bienstock (2019); Fawcett et al.
	Involvement/Supports	(2006); Jum'a and Kilani (2022); Zhao et al. (2015)
2	Effective Policymaking	Chen and Wang (2016); Croft et al. (2018); Iakovou et al. (2012); Qureshi
		et al. (2007); Wang et al. (2020)
3	Effective Planning	Fazli-Khalaf et al. (2017); Petersen et al. (2005); Tserng et al. (2006);
		Tung et al. (2020); Zenkova et al. (2022)
4	Effective Cost Management	Claassen et al. (2008); Gao et al. (2022); Hsiao et al. (2010); Narasimhan
		and Das (1999); Sahin and Robinson Jr (2005)
5	Governmental support	Asgary et al. (2012); Logie and Harding (2005); Luthra et al. (2016);
		Narwane et al. (2021); Yu et al. (2022)
6	Effective leadership	L. Chen et al. (2021); Gosling et al. (2016); Koronis and Ponis (2012);
		Lockström et al. (2010); Mokhtar et al. (2019)

Table 2-3: Sixteen Enablers of Supply Chain Management

7	Effective relationship management	Alonso-Muñoz et al. (2021); Collins (2009); Fayezi et al. (2017); Lee et
		al. (2013); Perrin and Pervan (2005)
8	Information Sharing	Cai et al. (2022); X. Chen et al. (2021); Lee et al. (2000); Nyaga et al.
		(2010); Prajogo and Olhager (2012)
9	Customer satisfaction	Agrawal et al. (2020); Chalyvidis et al. (2013); Min (2015); Reichheld
		(2009); van der Vorst (2000)
10	Performance evaluation and	Aksoy and Öztürk (2011); Hudnurkar et al. (2014); Hwang et al. (2008);
	monitoring	Olugu and Wong (2012); Samaranayake and Laosirihongthong (2016)
11	Goals Alignment	Albishri et al. (2020); Cao et al. (2010); Fargnoli et al. (2022); Gabler et
		al. (2017); Moon et al. (2002)
12	Effective Commitment	Bahinipati and Panigrahi (2018); Lee (1995); Panahifar, Byrne, et al.
		(2015); Sooriyamudalige et al. (2020); Stultz et al. (2003)
13	Supply chain process	Corallo et al. (2020); Hertz et al. (2001); Kimsey (2010); Pradabwong et
		al. (2017); Zhu et al. (2012)
14	Quality Management	S. Chen et al. (2017); Rameshwar Dubey et al. (2015); Flynn and Flynn
		(2005); Kitazawa and Sarkis (2000); Tann et al. (2005)
15	Mutual Trust	Baah et al. (2022); Carvalho et al. (2021); Claro and De Oliveira Claro
		(2004); Jermsittiparsert and Pithuk (2019); Laaksonen et al. (2009)
16	Flexibility	Bai et al. (2020); Esmaeilikia et al. (2016); Gong (2008); Lummus et al.
		(2003); Singh and Acharya (2013)

Top management involvement/supports.

The involvement of the top management of an organisation has been identified as one of the crucial enablers of supply chain management that enables the supply chain partners to achieve an effective performance system in the organisation's supply chain process (Fawcett et al., 2006; Gao et al., 2021; Govindan et al., 2010; Muduli et al., 2020; Srivastava et al., 2022; Wong et al., 2012). In the manufacturing sector, Wang et al. (2010) point out that top-level management supports internal and external organisational activities to ascertain how radio frequency identification will be widely adopted to increase supply chain transparency and operational efficacy through technological advancements and collaboration. Another study added that top management support is one element that significantly influences the choice to implement Internet-based inter-organisational information systems in business/supply chain activities is more likely to embrace electronic supply chain management to improve technological innovation and advancement to provide sustainable business in Taiwan (Lin, 2014). Supply chain uncertainty of an organisation was reduced through

strategic measures like contingency planning, with the collaboration of top management to improve supply chain flexibility and transparency (Skipper & Hanna, 2009).

Furthermore, Skipper and Hanna (2009) added that the involvement of an organisation's top management contributes to the increase in customer satisfaction and the overall performance improvement of the focal firms (Sroufe & Curkovic, 2008). In order to achieve effective collaboration, improved performance, and responsiveness to customers' demands. An organisation's supply chain management process requires managerial dedication within and outside the organisational functions to achieve its targeted goals (Alaskar et al., 2021; Wong et al., 2012). To properly consider corporate strategy with supply chain strategy and business operations, top management must provide complete corporation for the internal communication unit to manage the supply chain process flow effectively. This includes making themselves easily accessible, acting as role models for effective communication, and anticipating that every other manager throughout the organisation will be able to convey their ideas effectively to other employees and stakeholders. Furthermore, to achieve improved organisational performance, there is a need for frequent alignment of processes, including communication between the top-level management and staff members. Therefore, managers and Leaders who pay attention to and listen to employees are more likely to implement effective organisational change and achieve an effective supply chain system.

Effective policymaking

Effective policymaking is another key enabler of supply chain management identified from the literature review. Policymaking was highlighted in the review as a medium to facilitate information sharing and decision-making among the supply chain partners for effective organisational performance systems (Delavar et al., 2022). An effective policy was one of the factors utilised in establishing "a Methodological Framework for Integrating Waste Biomass into a Portfolio of Thermal Energy Production Systems" (Iakovou et al., 2012). According to past studies, policymakers support effective programmes for lowering carbon emissions (Chen & Wang, 2016). Furthermore, a tax deduction policy is more effective than a subsidy system for supporting energy-efficient industries competing with similar manufacturers (Safarzadeh & Rasti-Barzoki, 2019). Through the participation of local governments in the process of circular policymaking, suggestions were established to improve the environmental performance of corporations

(Kazancoglu et al., 2021). Sustainable development goals related to global food waste have inspired the proposal of a national food waste management strategy for Bangladesh which focuses on effective policy and sustainability (Ananno et al., 2021). The demands and dangers involved in producing agricultural commodities for a worldwide market must be addressed for effective policy interventions in global trade flows (Croft et al., 2018).

Effective Planning

Effective planning enables the supply chain partners to manage their logistic operations effectively, such as delivering the company's products on time to their clients. It also provides smooth operations during the supply chain operations in an organisation. Petersen et al. (2005) noted that effective planning allows the supply chain stakeholders to collaborate effectively and improve the performance of their supply chain network. It also provides visibility, effective operation control, material tracking, monitoring and evaluation, and manages information flow in projects and supply chain networks (Shahi et al., 2012). Supply chain partners implement innovative technologies like blockchain to boost supply chain operations and resource deployments and provide customer satisfaction (Marbouh et al., 2020). Inadequate planning could result in a lack of supplies, preventing the project's timeline from being pushed back. It could also lead to a significant rise in inventory costs due to the requirement to produce or supply items earlier than required at the designed locations (Tserng et al., 2006). Effective planning eliminates significant losses and strengthens the dependability of managerial judgments against uncertainty (Fazli-Khalaf et al., 2017). Supply networks for high-tech products are becoming increasingly complicated, and customers have higher expectations for the efficiency of these chains. As a result, accurate demand projections for individual components are crucial to running an efficient business (Yelland, 2010). In the context of efficiently planning activities to combat the coronavirus pandemic, cutting-edge technologies such as blockchain have the potential to play a vital role (Surakhi & Alkhanafseh, 2021). Also, Product deficits originate from poor planning and supply chain uncertainties (Zenkova et al., 2022). Effective planning allows the relevant stakeholders to decommission irrelevant activities in the oil sector, which leads to cost reduction of oil and gas products (Tung et al., 2020). The success of a building project relies on careful preparation of the production schedule and the planning of the supply chain processes involved in the supply chain operations to achieve adequate performance. Partners in the supply chain can save costs, increase reliability, enhance mutual goals, and adapt to changing conditions through effective planning.
Effective cost management

The researcher of this study identified effective cost management from the literature as one of the essential enablers of supply chain management that leads to performance improvement (Giunipero et al., 2006). Effective cost management is among the many factors that drive reverse logistics in an organisation (Kannan et al., 2009). Prior research has shown that to reap the full benefits of cost reduction, the focal company must have close relationships with all the companies in their supply chain network (Spekman et al., 1998). The findings of an earlier study noted that a decrease in costs is associated with switching from a conventional supply chain to a fully integrated supply chain system (Sahin & Robinson Jr, 2005). Additionally, when holding costs and demand variation are high, the possibility for cost reduction increases (Miranda & Garrido, 2004). The ability to quickly adapt to changing circumstances in an organisation and marketplace has been proven by researchers to have a significant impact on reducing production costs (Narasimhan & Das, 1999). It is also one of the four fundamental components of business value that leads to performance improvement of the focal company (Park et al., 2010). Traditional supply chains are becoming more intelligent, and as a result, the new innovative supply chain has great promise for reducing costs and increasing productivity during supply chain operations (Wu et al., 2016). In addition, satisfying consumers' expectations on time will cut costs and improve service as traditional supply chains become more sophisticated (Farahani & Elahipanah, 2008). Surprisingly, adequate cost savings can often be accomplished through the supply chain by boosting the total inventory levels of an organisation (Grahovac & Chakravarty, 2001). According to the findings of Ro et al. (2007), modularity initiatives appear to be solely cost-reduction focused. Another study identified that effective cost management is used to carry out a successful vendor-managed inventory which contributes to improved organisational performance (Claassen et al., 2008). However, the majority of studies on logistics outsourcing have focused on efficient cost management (Hsiao et al., 2009). The empirical investigation carried out by Gao et al. (2022), has demonstrated how vital information regarding product loss is for the efficient control of costs. In conclusion, Yang and Cui (2022) research found that efficient cost management significantly boosted the overall performance of a company's supply chain processes.

Governmental support

As an enabler of supply chain management, government support has allowed supply chain partners to fully utilise their potential through infrastructural development, government incentives, and tax

exceptions. It also provides a platform for effective communication among the partners, other stakeholders, and governmental bodies, which leads to supply chain sustainability and performance improvement. Denmark's biggest food waste reduction projects have been sponsored by civil society organisations and the government of Denmark (Halloran et al., 2014). Government incentives influence logistics companies' adoption of radio-frequency identification technology, according to Lin and Ho (2009). Previous research suggests that even minimal support from the government and non-governmental organisations can improve the rate, quality, and long-term viability of small enterprises' catastrophe recovery in Pakistan (Asgary et al., 2012). Downstream Chinese enterprises are more proficient and successful with organisational and governmental support, leading to green supply chain practices (Kuei et al., 2015). The Ugandan initiative is an excellent example of how government backing can be used to facilitate opioid roll-out throughout health districts (Logie & Harding, 2005). By introducing an additional layer of supplier transparency, the presence of governmental support lowers the likelihood of corporate social responsibility violations (Perry, 2012). Industrial Investment and government support have made it possible for the automotive industry to move quickly in this digital revolution (Yu et al., 2022). Governmental support from Narwane et al. (2021), impacts India's biofuels business's sustainability. Government assistance has a direct and favourable impact on information sharing, collaborative planning and, lastly, on the effective performance system of an organisation (Cai et al., 2010). According to past results, Government support and policies are the essential hurdles to adopting Sustainable consumption and production activities in supply chain operations (Luthra et al., 2016). To fully achieve hydrogen's potential across all economic sectors, recent research suggested a need to increase government support in conjunction with the business and academic sectors (Brandon & Kurban, 2017).

Effective leadership

Effective leadership is another enabler of supply chain management identified from the literature review. This enabler has enabled the supply chain partners to achieve a sustainable supply chain system and contribute to an organisation's performance improvement (Defee et al., 2009; Gosling et al., 2017). Leadership in the supply chain helps create a strategy for gaining a market advantage and speeds up the revolution to a customer-centric focus (Defee et al., 2009). According to a prior study, supply chain leadership enable supply chain partners to influence supply chain structure and learning, and significant businesses modify their supply chain structures to support supply chain

operations (Jia et al., 2019). According to the literature review findings, supply chain leadership is favourably associated with company success. More precisely, transformational supply chain leadership significantly influences firm performance more substantially than traditional supply chain leadership (L. Chen et al., 2021). Mokhtar et al. (2019) delved into how different Supply Chain Leadership approaches affect different metrics of supplier performance concerning reversing product flows to overall performance. Furthermore, the absence of effective leadership contributes to the misalignment of operational and strategic objectives, unsuitable alliance formation and ineffective performance systems among the supply chain partners (Yuen & Thai, 2017). On the other hand, effective relationships among the chain members improve their relationships and allow them to make effective decisions and develop new ideas. Koronis and Ponis (2012), further claim that effective leadership enables an organisation's top management to restore calm and stability during supply-chain crises and uncertainties. In addition, effective leadership enhances performance by influencing other total quality management practices (Koronis & Ponis, 2012). Nevertheless, a company's leadership and culture must be effectively managed for total quality management to be successful.

Effective relationship management

The literature review indicates that effective relationship management is another vital enabler of supply chain management that aids the improvement of organisational performance and culture. It also improves communication and builds trust among the supply chain partners. The relationships between the buyer, manufacturer and supplier allow them to effectively manage the information flow from one point to another for timely delivery and customer satisfaction. Fayezi et al. (2017) contended that good relationship integration with important partners mitigates control dissipation, which hinders scholarly comprehension of agile and adaptable supply chains. Giannakis et al. (2012) emphasise the significance of social and institutional control methods for effective relationships with Chinese suppliers. Effective relationships are the driving force behind sustainable supply chain management since they are the foundation for sharing information, resolving conflicts, and collaborating on new ideas among supply chain stakeholders (Giannakis et al., 2012). Furthermore, establishing a deep and successful relationship with customers and suppliers creates competitive value (Alonso-Muñoz et al., 2021; Lee et al., 2013). Cross-compliance with supply chain management and excellent relationships among supply chain participants can help them achieve successful quality management and improve the final

customer's quality, satisfaction, and profitability (Apornak & Hezaveh, 2019). According to a previous study, instructors of quantitative courses might benefit from encouraging their students to interact with one another outside of the classroom when the stressful environment is less likely to be a factor (Johnson & Kelly, 2020). The efficiency of the performance measuring system is enhanced by a successful relationship in supply chain operations and when developing business projects (Perrin & Pervan, 2005). In addition, Firms with particular talents are more likely to develop effective relationships with other competent partners, access incomparable resources, and attain a competitive advantage in a volatile environment (Madadi et al., 2022). Above all, effective relationship management allows the supply chain partners to develop trust among themselves and make an effective decision for supply chain sustainability and processes.

Information Sharing

The research of this study has identified that information sharing is an essential enabler of supply chain management (Islam, 2017; Li et al., 2005; Nyaga et al., 2010). Recent analysis implies that demand information sharing can be valuable, especially when demand is connected over time. As a result, many businesses have begun collaborating on projects allowing retailers and their upstream suppliers to share more information about customer demand (Lee et al., 2000). Another author added that information sharing significantly impacts Logistical integration (Li & Lin, 2006; Prajogo & Olhager, 2012). Nyaga et al. (2010) found that information sharing builds trust and commitment among the supply chain partners for effective data distribution in supply chain processes. According to prior research, suppliers work to protect their assets related to individual transactions through information sharing and cooperative relationships. At the same time, potential buyers place more emphasis on the outcomes of those relationships (Nyaga et al., 2010). Gao et al. (2022) examined how the loss of products in online commerce affects supply chain performance when sharing information. When there is a more significant amount of information sharing, and supply chain management are essential to achieving strong supply chain performance.

Customer satisfaction

According to earlier studies, the customer is considered the essential stakeholder in the supply chain process in every industry. Therefore, it is crucial to take all essential steps to guarantee their contentment. Additionally, businesses must prioritise customer satisfaction (Agrawal et al., 2020).

An empirical study by Yu et al. (2013) focuses on customer satisfaction to shed light on the importance of supply chain integration and its effect on financial outcomes. Supply chain integration boosts customer performance, boosting the efficiency of all parties involved in the supply chain. Marketers and consumer researchers prioritise customer satisfaction and happiness among the core stakeholders of every business. Also, companies who care about their consumers and strive to please them gain customer loyalty. As the benefits of increased customer loyalty become more widely acknowledged, ensuring customer satisfaction has emerged as a critical business priority (Reichheld, 2009; Yu et al., 2013). Furthermore, The degree of customer satisfaction and a company's financial success is related in a positive way (Yu et al., 2013). Client loyalty increases comparable transactions and learning of supply chain organisation. Therefore, A deeper understanding of consumer needs leads to higher customer satisfaction and loyalty.

Performance evaluation and monitoring

Supply chain performance review and monitoring helped supply chain partners to establish and sustain customer-supplier relationships (Talluri & Sarkis, 2002). Utilising a holistic structure approach, integrating major supply chain activities allows real-time information integration for performance evaluation and monitoring in complicated supply chain contexts (Samaranayake & Laosirihongthong, 2016). The literature review identified performance measurements as an essential component of supply chain operations. These systems evaluate and monitor a variety of metrics relating to a wide variety of processes and functions to present an accurate picture of the supply chain operations. Supply chain performance evaluation problems in a supply chain operation are difficult to handle since they include many stakeholders and entities. Data Envelopment Analysis has been introduced by the expertise and research to compare how well organisations are doing in a given supply chain network (Tavana et al., 2013). Through performance review and monitoring, the performance of plastic recycling firms in Iran's Mazandaran and Golestan regions was enhanced (Jifroudi et al., 2020). Performance evaluation and monitoring allow the concerned partners of supply chains to assess their supply chain processes and implementation effectively and set a benchmark to meet the targeted and collaborative goals.

Effective commitment

The study of Sooriyamudalige et al. (2020) study identified effective commitment to supply chain practice as one of the industrial critical success factors, a prerequisite for an effective supply chain system. Furthermore, the absence of effective commitment in a given supply chain operation significantly impacts information sharing, supply chain finance initiative, and communication among the supply chain members (Garg & Kashav, 2022; Panahifar, Heavey, et al., 2015; Sooriyamudalige et al., 2020). The effective commitment of an organisation's top management contributes to the sustainability of the supply chain system and effective supply chain operation, as well as improving the overall performance system. It also allows the partners to be creative in developing business ideas and strategies that best suit the organisational operations, leading to performance improvement. To withstand international competition and stakeholder pressure, Indian small and medium-sized businesses must adopt and support sustainability policies, comply with relevant governmental legislation, and match their short- and long-term strategic goals with the effective commitment of senior management (Bahinipati & Panigrahi, 2018). Furthermore, the capacity commitment enables the supply chain manufacturer to produce delivery information through order projections from the customers effectively. Prior scholars confirmed that employee dedication is boosted by a company with a solid commitment to social responsibility, which in turn helps the company thrive and survive (Perry & Towers, 2013). Perry & Towers also highlighted that effective commitment influences the relationships between the buyers and suppliers of an organisation. It has been determined that strengthening commitment is crucial to the success of any total quality management implementation (Lee, 1995).

Goal Alignment

One of the critical pillars of using supply chain collaboration to improve organisational performance is goal alignment between the participating partners (buyer, customer, companies, and suppliers). Goal congruence in a supply chain occurs when all parties are certain that their objectives will be satisfied if the group succeeds in achieving the overall goals (Ma et al., 2021). The unique incentive system might help partners align their goals to improve performance through supply chain collaboration. Collaborative supply chain partners benefit from goal alignment because it gives them a broader perspective and makes it easier to reach a consensus. Similarly, it is easier to establish trust and commitment between the chain members, which have traditionally been perceived as the basis of supply chain relationships (J. Zhang et al., 2021). The study by C. Zhang et al. (2021) added that goal alignment among the chain members reduces opportunism

incentives during a collaborative supply chain. In addition, it facilitates collaborative communication among the participants by increasing mutual understanding.

Goal alignment helps partners to achieve a unified purpose and targeted goal. It also boosts competitiveness by facilitating information and resource sharing among the participants. The concept of "goal alignment" refers to a situation in which the objectives of many parties are in synchronisation. Given that all nodes must validate new information and current records' truthfulness in order to work together, blockchain is based on a principle of goal alignment. For this reason, blockchain promotes and supports the cause of goal alignment by preventing opportunistic control over the distributed ledge (Rejeb et al., 2021).

Supply chain process

Process management involves taking a proactive approach to quality control, such as establishing reliable procedures that provide steady production plans and scheduling to reduce process variation by incorporating quality into the product across the manufacturing phase. Reducing process variation should promote output uniformity and reduce rework and waste by quickly identifying and correcting quality concerns (Kaynak, 2003). The study of Rai et al. (2006), Wu et al. (2006) and Zhu et al. (2012)_imply that integrated information technology infrastructures and radio frequency identification help organisations consolidate supply chain processes. The prior article demonstrated that advanced ISO 9000 and supportive implementation were associated with process management in the supply chain network (Prajogo et al., 2012). Effective process management minimises the waste of supply chain resources and improves customer values (Kimsey, 2010). Given that it provides both data and a framework for enhancing processes, it can be seen as a synthesis of past enhancement methods. Furthermore, it enhances organisational performance by adopting a process view of the supply chain businesses (Pradabwong et al., 2017).

Quality Management

Total quality management is a holistic management philosophy that seeks continual improvement in all aspects of a business, from resource procurement to after-sale customer support (Kaynak, 2003). According to Kitazawa and Sarkis (2000) and R. Dubey et al. (2015) total quality management application reduces waste. In addition, earlier research in the hospitality sector has established a connection between quality and environmental management, proposing that the adoption of quality management approaches facilitates the growth of expertise and improves the overall performance of the hospitality industry. Therefore, the relationship between quality and environmental management maturity influences green supply chain management methods and performance. A recent article added further weight to this claim by stating that businesses that adopted complete quality management had better results in environmental sustainability. Furthermore, total Quality Management practices such as top-level management support, effective leadership, training development, and employee engagement impact the leading Total Quality Management strategy, which includes quality data and reporting, supplier quality management, product/service design, and process management (Kaynak, 2003). Therefore, changing an organisation's culture is nearly impossible without a dedicated effort by management targeted at continuous improvement, open communication, and cooperation throughout the supply chain processes.

Mutual Trust

The previous study has demonstrated that trust is the most significant antecedent of supply chain quality strategies and their outcomes (Al-Abdallah et al., 2014). Trust among supply chain partners can help to reduce expenditures, anxiety, and organisational uncertainty, as well as prevent opportunistic conduct. In terms of trustworthiness, good faith, generosity, and obligation fulfilment, trust is the degree to which external and focal partners strengthen their relationships (Kim et al., 2018). It is defined as stakeholders' honesty and commitment when they follow transaction standards and maintain positive attitudes and behaviours (Wei et al., 2012). Trust and honesty between the collaborative supply chain participants will lead to perfect supply chain unification (Oguche, 2018). Respect, honesty, trustworthiness, and mutual understanding are required for effective knowledge and information sharing, as well as collaboration in sharing risk and profit (de Almeida et al., 2015). The crucial factors for organisational success were absolute honesty and open communication, which are part of mutual trust that leads to an effective performance system (de Almeida et al., 2015).

Flexibility

The ability of a corporation to adjust to change is referred to as flexibility. Flexibility in industrial operations involves the greater capacity to respond to product changes in customer demands in the marketplace and competitive constraints (Elrod et al., 2013; Esmaeilikia et al., 2016). Elrod et al. (2013) further added that the quicker a company adjusts to marketing and customer change, the

more opportunity it has to profit from product and service demand (Manders et al., 2017). Flexibility aids the supply chain members to have the capability of performing many tasks in the supply chain processes in order to meet up with the customers' demands as well as make sure that customer satisfaction is met. It also allows an organisation to expand its operations and make adequate plans based on market trends and forecasts. In addition, flexibility in the supply chain aids the organisation to effectively organise adequate delivery to their customers on time, positively impacting collaborative relationships and effective communication.

2.3.4 Inhibitors of Supply Chain Management

This section presents the factors inhibiting the effective operations of the supply chain in organisations, including the oil and gas industry. The literature revealed that factors inhibiting effective supply chain management in an organisation include a lack of inventory management process, inadequate transportation systems, lack of information sharing, poor forecasting and ineffective government policies (Barratt, 2004). Other researchers, in their various studies, identified supply chain barriers in organisations to include ineffective logistics, distribution networks, lack of traceability and storage facilities, ineffective supply chain technology, inadequate packaging, market complexity and infrastructures (Boudahri et al., 2011; Priefer et al., 2016; Singhry et al., 2015). However, some researcher's literature revealed that lack of collaboration is another factor impacting negatively on the operations of the supply chain due to the lack of close relationships between partners in the supply chain, which also affects effective decision-making and performance improvement in an organisation (Beulens et al., 2005; Hobbs & Young, 2000).

Another empirical study highlighted "market size", inadequate government assistance, poor technological system, poor communication and ineffective supply chain professionals are considered inhibitors of supply chain management in an organisation (S. E. Fawcett et al., 2008; Gopal & Thakkar, 2016; Luthra et al., 2011; Tatoglu et al., 2016). Panahifar, Heavey, et al. (2015) identified several challenges to the implementation of supply chain management in an organisation, including the lack of mutual goals, poor demand variability, lack of commitment, lack of capacity development, inadequate funds, a lack of partner trust, ineffective top management support, a lack of real-time coordination and planning, poor information sharing, and inadequate information technology and expertise. Panahifar, Heavey, et al. (2015) added that if the identified

barriers are not carefully managed, the proposed collaborative planning, forecast and replenishment framework will not work as expected. Also, the decision-makers would be assisted in setting priorities for adopting supply chain management practices by assessing the priority level of these identified inhibitors. The study of Bahinipati and Panigrahi (2018) added that poor strategic orientation and supply chain implementation processes inhibit effective performance systems in an organisation. In addition, Table 2-3 points out the eight notable barriers to supply chain management and their source from the literature review.

016); Aravindaraj and Rajan Chinna (2022);
odelazeem (2013); Kormych et al. (2019); Suyo
1); Kamble et al. (2015); Karamshetty et al.
2013); Tripathi and Talukder (2020)
2020); Cedillo-Campos et al. (2022); Gulyani
(2011); Svanberg and Halldórsson (2013)
chneller (2021); Deng et al. (2016); Khan et al.
(2003); Vora et al. (2022)
en (2003); Cheng et al. (2006); Costantino et al.
d Disney (2009); Quarshie et al. (2021).
; Chaka et al. (2016); Colautti et al. (2009); Jose
); Kuteyi and Winkler (2022)
6); Happonen and Salmela (2009); Jayaram and
my (2009); Luthra et al. (2011); Rathnasiri et
; Chien et al. (2020); Obeth and Dunne (2008);
)

 Table 2-4: The Eight Barriers to Supply Chain Management

Inadequate Governmental Facilities

As the government sets environmental and operational laws and policies for industry, it can stimulate or discourage creative supply chain operations. Smaller enterprises may be discouraged by time-consuming regulations, policies, fees, or taxes. Tax regimes can distort incentives, preventing businesses from implementing environmentally friendly supply chain management. Government institutions are impediments to environmental management growth since the government and relevant stakeholders are implementing green supply chain management, but they offer little support for innovative ideas. As a result, the absence of government support mechanisms is a barrier to the successful implementation of effective green supply chain management in the supply chain industry (Kumar et al., 2021; Luthra et al., 2011; Scupola, 2003).

According to Kumar et al. (2021) research, a lack of government support and incentives is a significant barrier to implementing Industry 4.0 and the circular economy of agriculture supply chain models. Recent research added that the lack of government facilities has negatively influenced the framework for a circular economy that enhanced the environmental management of the apparel firms in turkey (Kazancoglu et al., 2021). Sun et al. (2020) investigation showed that a lack of government assistance is a barrier to modular building adoption. A recent investigation found that the lack of government facilities for local firms and societal norms in developing countries is a significant barriers to supply chain processes (Gligor et al., 2018). Lack of government involvement is just one of several problems that manufacturing companies must overcome before entirely using reverse logistics and developing a collaborative framework for effective operations (Agarwal et al., 2016). Furthermore, empirical research pinpointed that green supply chain evaluation for building projects in underdeveloped nations is hindered by a lack of governmental facilities (Elbarkouky & Abdelazeem, 2013). Major problems and obstacles of industry 4.0 in warehouses that prevent their application to advance Sustainable Development Goals in underdeveloped nations include a lack of government backing and legal constraints (Aravindaraj & Rajan Chinna, 2022).

Ineffective inventory management

According to an empirical study, inadequate inventory management in Ethiopia's healthcare supply chain system is the biggest obstacle keeping supply chain operators from achieving improved green supply chain performance (Jaeger et al., 2021). However, logistics procedures are complicated by inadequate inventory management within departments of the healthcare sector, which leads to numerous wasted resources and reduces the efficiency of the internal supply chain (Moons et al., 2019). Kamble et al. (2015) found that while supply chain management provides many services, it also has drawbacks, including poor inventory management that affects data warehousing, managing and structuring enterprise operations, and the organisation's operational effectiveness. Ineffective inventory management significantly influences the supply chain of the

commercial vehicle industry (Tripathi & Talukder, 2020). Mokheseng et al. (2017) study noted that ineffective inventory management contributes to the Incorrect and non-uniform ordering practices by the hospital and clinics industry. Ineffective inventory management in the manufacturing industry may result in surplus or shortages of raw materials, which will indirectly impact the firm performance and supply chain processes (Wei et al., 2017). Ineffective inventory control is a barrier to substantial vendor-managed inventory practices in the construction industry's supply chain (Radzuan et al., 2021). Research carried out by Karamshetty et al. (2022) identified that one of the issues with Inventory Management at Private Healthcare Facilities in Nairobi County is a lack of attention to detail in managing inventory.

Ineffective Cost Management

Cost management has been the leading performance measure historically. However, green supply chain management costs more than standard supply chain management. Two types of expenses are associated with environmental management: direct and transaction costs. Both forms of costs may hinder green supply chain management implementation. Furthermore, Ineffective Cost management is a significant hurdle to green supply chain management in the Indian automobile industry. Therefore, the high initial investment is needed for implementing information technology, acquiring expertise, and inspiring and educating supply chain partners and staff about green supply chain management practices (Luthra et al., 2011). Another empirical study highlighted that top management has cost constraints while executing reverse logistics strategies in vehicle industries (Ravi & Shankar, 2017).

Lack of information sharing

Lack of information sharing is the root cause of conventional managerial issues in disaster management activities (Dwivedi et al., 2018). According to the findings of M. A. Moktadir et al. (2018), when modelling pharmaceutical supply chains for effective decision-making, supply-related risks, including inadequate information sharing, should take priority over Risks associated with demand, finances, and operations for performance improvement of the industry. The lack of information sharing is one example of the problems traditional supply chain management techniques typically face in blockchain data management and disaster supply chain sustainability (Shareef et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2019). Failure to coordinate and share data among suppliers significantly hinders effective supply chain management and performance improvement in the

blockchain industry (van Engelenburg et al., 2018). A breakdown in communication between companies in the supply chain network significantly impacts an enterprise's profitability and ability to innovate. Also, the lack of stock management information exchange increases expenses and lowers service quality (Oumaima et al., 2019). Therefore, well-managed information sharing improves the effectiveness of ongoing supply chain management initiatives and the prospects for future supply chain management endeavours Abdulsalam and Schneller (2021) Identified that a lack of information sharing affects the relationships between the buyers and suppliers of the supply chains of the healthcare industry.

Lack of Quality Management

Obeth and Dunne (2008) argue that the supply chain in Indonesia lacks quality control systems at the production base, even though banana output has expanded over the previous five years. Furthermore, provider infection and nosocomial dissemination to healthy patients increases when inadequate quality control for temporary personal protective equipment and old items are frequently reused to save supplies (Chien et al., 2020).

Inadequate transportation systems

Poor transportation systems are widely believed to reduce industrial competitiveness by increasing freight unit costs, costing automotive businesses in India more than just freight. Damages sustained during shipping, total inventory, ordering, and operational and indirect expenses arise during the unsatisfactory transportation system (Gulyani, 2001). Recent research has shown that the region's inadequate transportation infrastructure severely hampered next-generation supply chain growth in emerging nations (De et al., 2011). According to Njume et al. (2020), many Cameroonian smallholder farmers lost tomatoes in the postharvest period because of mechanical damage sustained during the shipment and transportation of tomatoes from one location to another. Also, it is one of the critical issues that supply chain firms face when outsourcing most of their operations/functions to other competent and reliable organisations for effective performance systems and satisfying their customers. According to an empirical study, one of the five most significant supply chain obstacles for India's manufacturing sectors during the Covid-19 pandemic shutdown is an inadequate transportation system (Biswas & Das, 2020). Therefore, inadequate transportation infrastructure is more detrimental to the industry's economic growth than the high freight charges and other direct expenditures. Above all, an inadequate transportation system

within an organisation and its environs have contributed to the lack of performance improvement, including ineffective operational, financial, and non-financial performance, poor customer service and untimely delivery.

Inadequate Policy

At Geetanjali Woollens Pvt Ltd, the failure of Sustenance for Sustainability was caused by a lack of policy rules for company behaviour (Sahni & Chopra, 2019). Totobesola et al. (2022) argued that there need to be more policy frameworks in place across the continent to encourage interdisciplinary analytical methods and data-gathering initiatives that might help reduce food loss, especially in Africa. Notwithstanding, economies in Sub-Saharan Africa, which rely heavily on exports of commodities, continue to fall behind because of inadequate regulatory frameworks that lead to a dysfunctional supply chain and, ultimately, slow the region's economic growth (Kuteyi & Winkler, 2022). Furthermore, even if methods are available for fully recycling used lithium-ion batteries, the lack of permitted recycling facilities and a weak policy framework would make sustainable transportation difficult (Bhuyan et al., 2022). Olanrewaju et al. (2016), concluded that one of the most significant causes of housing shortages is ineffective government initiatives and policies. Ethiopia's weak policies on the markets for warge food goods are one of the bottlenecks in the supply chain (Chaka et al., 2016). Carino et al. (2021), classified the lack of an effective policy system as a factor that inhibits hospital food service sustainability. Inadequate policy framework and flawed legislation prevent efficient Halal supply chain management (Khan et al., 2022).

Poor forecasting

Only if the merchant is an excellent forecaster will the manufacturer see any benefit from doing business with them. Conversely, if a retailer cannot predict future sales accurately, the manufacturer will suffer as the merchant learns to improve its forecasting methods (Taylor & Xiao, 2010). Hosoda and Disney (2009), argue that incorrect forecasts may only sometimes result in higher supply chain expenses. Reduced competitiveness, lost clients, and higher expenses result from a marketing department's failure to accurately forecast product and customer demand (Cheng et al., 2006). Furthermore, the research conducted by Jain et al. (2021), noted that Most supply chain organisations experience poor forecasting because of the E-supply chain, which increases the bullwhip effect by causing price volatility. Inaccurate forecasting of Farmers' requests for

seeds from research organisations and seed companies is one of the Seven significant difficulties identified that diminished trust and impeded the spread and adoption of High Yielding Varieties or enhanced maise seeds by small and medium farmers in Ghana (Quarshie et al., 2021)

2.4 Supply Chain Collaboration

The research identified that supply chain collaboration had been regarded as "supply chain integration", "supply chain alliance" supply chain corporation", "supply chain relationship", "supply chain association", "supply chain partnership", and "supply chain coordination", see Figure 2-3 for details. (Montoya-Torres & Ortiz-Vargas, 2014; Singh et al., 2018). According to Singh et al. (2018) and Montoya-Torres and Ortiz-Vargas (2014) further noted that several authors have researched supply chain collaboration using different terminologies as stated in Figure 2-3 and agreed that the meaning of supply chain collaboration and other related terminologies have the meaning. For the purpose of this study, the researcher chose to continue with the term "supply chain collaboration" which is used by different authors with slightly meaning.

Different interpretations of word	References
'collaboration'	
Integration between parties	Bagchi et al., 2005; Frohlich & Westbrook, 2001; Pagell, 2004; Petersen et al., 2005; Vaart & Donk, 2008
Supply chain collaboration	Caridi et al., 2005; Holweg et al., 2005; Min & Roath, 2005; Shirodkar & Kempf, 2006; Stank et al., 2001; Vereecke & Muylle 2006
About alliances	Chung et al., 2008
Dyadic (e.g. buyer - supplier or buyer-manufacturer) relationships	Fynes et al., 2005a; Goffin et al., 2006; Kozan et al., 2006
Collaborative relationships	Hoyt & Huq, 2000; Johnston & McCutcheon, 2004
Partnerships	Gadde & Snehota, 2000; Spina & Zotteri, 2000
Supplier – retailer collaboration	Fu & Piplani, 2004

Different interpretations of word 'collaboration'

Figure 2-3: Synonyms of supply chain collaboration Source: Singh et al. (2018).

Supply chain collaboration is the coming together of two or more independent organisations to operate jointly, plan, manage and implement their supply chain activities and achieve expected benefits and advantages (Min et al., 2005).

The term supply chain collaboration has been applied in different fields of study and defined by several authors depending on the field and context. It can be categorised into two groups' main areas: the "process" and "relationship" focus. Some authors viewed supply chain collaboration as

a business process that brings an organisation's supply chain partners together to operate effectively and achieve shared objectives (Manthou et al., 2004; Mentzer et al., 2001; C. Sheu, L. Lee, et al., 2006). Moreover, other researchers consider supply chain collaboration to be a creation of close and long-term partnerships of organisations in the supply chain to work together and share resources, information, and risk in order to achieve the desired results or goals (Bowersox et al., 2003; Golicic et al., 2003). The literature revealed that supply chain collaboration could be achieved by effective planning of resources and information sharing among partners in the supply chain and effective planning and efficient management of resources which is important in the operation and success of the organisational supply chain (Boddy et al., 2000). Lambert et al. (1999), state that cross-functional processes' integration in the supply chain is important for efficient and effective supply chain performance.

According to Foo et al. (2018), a company's ability to coordinate and increase operational efficiency in response to changes in customer specifications is improved by collaborating with suppliers for environmental purposes. In addition to helping reduce company waste, environmental impact, and supply chain expenses, supply chain collaboration also boosts consumer happiness. Kim and Umanath (2005), believe that coordination in the supply chain is crucial, particularly in setting the supply chain objectives (Peck & Jüttner, 2000). The flow of information and effective communication within the supply chains is key for performance improvement in the supply chain (Lamming, 1996). It is important to note that effective "process" and "relationship" in the supply chain operations result in ineffective supply chain collaboration. The process provides the structure, while the relationship provides long-term trust to manage the resources to achieve the desired outcomes effectively. The foundation of supply chain collaboration is found on the following factors such as information sharing (Manthou et al., 2004), resource sharing (Chwen Sheu et al., 2006), goal congruence (Angeles & Nath, 2001), decision making (Stank et al., 2001), and incentive alignment (Simatupang & Sridharan, 2005). The research by Pomponi et al. (2015) focuses on vertical and horizontal sustainable collaboration in the supply chain process, reverse and humanitarian logistics and identifies that collaboration is an important element of the supply chain which ensure effective performance (Palmieri et al., 2019).

2.4.1 Types of Supply Chain Collaboration

Supply chain collaboration is classified in different forms in literature, including vertical, horizontal, and lateral collaboration. The types of supply chain collaboration are determined by participant collaboration and attributes. Research conducted by Leising (2016) stated that there are two main forms of supply chain collaboration: vertical and horizontal. Lyons et al. (2012) are of the opinion that both vertical and horizontal supply chain collaboration leads to innovation in the supply chain network. Recent researches suggest that vertical and horizontal supply chain collaboration contributes to effective collaboration and collaborative relationship among the chain members (Chan & Prakash, 2012). Researchers maintain that the activities of supply chain collaboration are split into two types, such as vertical and horizontal supply chain collaboration (Muñoz-Villamizar et al., 2017; Petersson & Baur, 2018). Petersson and Baur (2018), state that vertical and horizontal supply chain collaboration involves the activities of internal and external actors.

Additionally, the internal and external supply chain members must collaborate to improve operational performance and achieve competitive advantages. Supply chain organisations concentrate on horizontal and vertical integration to increase their position in the competitive market and decrease uncertainty as well as transactional and logistic costs (Seo, 2014). In most cases, vertical and horizontal are needed across the supply chain systems due to difficulties in managing an organisation's wrongdoing. Organisations adopt collaboration to enhance the supply chain process, introduce transparency in the system and minimise supply chain risk. Braithwaite (2005) segments the activities of a supply chain into various functions to determine the effectiveness of vertical and horizontal collaboration, which suggests that it improves organisational performance.

Some researchers in different capacities stated that there are types of supply chain collaboration, such as vertical, horizontal, and lateral (multi-dimensional) collaboration. Additionally, the three types of supply chain collaboration improved the interaction between the partners and the scopes of collaboration in an organisation (Ahmad & Ullah, 2013; Allaoui et al., 2019; V. Kumar et al., 2017; Okdinawati et al., 2015; Singh et al., 2018). These types of supply chain collaboration enable the members to develop trust and effectively enhance the distribution of information. According to Allaoui et al. (2019), vertical, horizontal and lateral collaboration are used to align

organisational plans and explore different strategies and tactics at different supply chain processes. In addition, it assists the supply chain members in expanding and maintaining collaboration by sharing resources. It equally allows the supply chain members to determine the prospect of working together with potential supply chain partners. Singh et al. (2018) discussed that external collaboration of an organisation includes vertical, horizontal, and lateral collaboration as it enables the supply chain members to develop trust and improve the quality of information sharing. Most managers in organisations nowadays explore the combination of the types of supply chain collaboration to identify a suitable strategy for effective operation (Whipple & Russell, 2007). Figure 2-4 Analysis the process of types of supply chain collaboration as discussed in this section. Also, the figure 2.4 expresses how a focal company can be able to collaborate with other companies through vertical, horizontal, or lateral collaboration to achieve excellent performance and customer satisfaction.



Figure 2-4: A diagram Explaining Types of supply chain collaboration. Source: Adopted from Bjornfot et al. (2011).

2.4.1.1 Vertical supply chain collaboration

This section of the study focuses more on vertical collaboration in the supply chain, which consists of internal and external collaboration. Internal collaboration includes the collaboration that exists

in an organisation within its subsectors. External collaboration encompasses the operations of two separate significant organisations within a supply chain network, such as the collaboration between the suppliers and customers. Also, customers and suppliers depend on their desire to develop a visible coordinating supply chain framework to increase performance (Ajayi, 2016; Heuer & Joly, 2018). Kotzab et al. (2011) stated that most organisations use strategic vertical integration to execute supply chain management operations through trust and commitment. Effective vertical integration enables effective information sharing, planning, and resource control in the systems. A vertical supply chain collaboration will reduce the information-sharing gaps in the system and the cost of operation (Vaaland & Heide, 2007). The research conducted by Leising (2016), suggested that vertical collaboration is the relationship that exists between the supplier and its customers.

Montoya-Torres and Ortiz-Vargas (2014), stress that the development of vertical collaboration helps facilitate the collaborative framework within the supply chain processes, which is key to performance improvement. Additionally, vertical collaboration enables supply chain members to interact actively with all the concerned stakeholders to enhance performance and provide transparency across the supply chain network.

Despite some challenges the organisation faces due to mistrust and confidentiality of information, researchers still strongly believe that vertical supply chain collaboration can be maximised through information sharing and effective communication systems to achieve a competitive advantage in the market (Zhang & Cao, 2018). Rodríguez-López et al. (2017), pointed out that efficiency, quality delivery, and performance can be achieved when organisations effectively utilise vertical supply chain collaboration. Petersson and Baur (2018) state that vertical collaboration positively impacts an organisation's production planning, demand planning, distribution management, and customer and supplier relationship management. Heuer and Joly (2018), state that the goal of vertical supply chain collaboration is to stabilise the operation of an organisation and its partners to enhance performance to achieve sustainable economic and social, and environmental opportunities. Buijs and Wortmann (2014) are of the opinion that a vertical supply chain collaboration for effective decision-making. Lyons et al. (2012), suggest that vertical supply chain collaboration is more of a joint effort to improve the performance of an organisation.

2.4.1.2 Horizontal Supply Chain Collaboration

Many researchers have identified horizontal supply chain collaboration as one of the main types of collaboration (Leising, 2016), referred to as supply chain process integration or operational linkages (Friday et al., 2018). Usually, horizontal supply chain collaboration is about working with entities at the same level of operations to develop more innovative products and meet customers' requirements. Horizontal supply chain collaboration enables the supply chain members to improve supply chain performance, traceability and transparency when planning for sustainable supply chain management across the supply chain networks (Wan Nurul Karimah Wan Ahmad et al., 2016; Wan Nurul K. Wan Ahmad et al., 2016). It describes a mutual collaboration between more than one independent entity operating at the same level in the supply chain network to make it easier to cooperate effectively towards achieving a mutual goal. This implied that horizontal supply chain collaboration could involve developing productive partnerships between competing and non-competing organisations. Allaoui et al. (2019) believes that horizontal supply chain collaboration has received little attention across supply chain industries and academics (Buijs & Wortmann, 2014; Wadhwa et al., 2006). Significantly few papers addressed horizontal collaboration through multicriteria model decision-making, as stated by (Li, 2012). Also, Li (2013) added that subsequent research should investigate the effects of horizontal supply chain collaboration in an organisation. Horizontal collaboration enables the supply chain partners to harmonise manufacturing and distribution processes and allows the decision-makers to focus more on policies (Ogunmola & Arogundade, 2019).

The combination of two or more separate or competing organisations to share valuable resources and information, for example, joint distribution centres (Chan & Zhang, 2011). Björnfot and Torjussen (2012) present that the structural stability of an organisation through horizontal collaboration in small and medium-sized enterprises contributes to regional economic growth. The key impact of horizontal collaboration is to lower logistic costs, increase productivity, create mutual expertise and increased service delivery (Björnfot & Torjussen, 2012). In addition, horizontal supply chain collaboration involves same-class partnerships (Dung, 2015).

The supply chain operators view horizontal collaboration as a possible chance for productivity increase, cost reductions, service improvement and market reinforcement (Klawer, 2013). G. Kumar et al. (2017) pointed out that horizontal supply chain collaboration happens when

organisations work together with their rivals to boost creativity, flexibility, and innovations. A new business model for collaboration in horizontal supply chains of the commodity industry is presented by Klawer (2013). Horizontal supply chain collaboration includes two or more independent or competing entities collaborating through sharing secret data and resources, such as a joint mode of transport between two operators (Okdinawati et al., 2015). Okdinawati et al. added that horizontal collaboration is used to reduce cost, increase competitiveness, reduce delivery delays, manage a trust, share resources, reduce capital issues and information sharing, and identify strategic partnership models. Seo (2014), suggests that further research is needed to provide indepth knowledge on horizontal supply chain collaboration. Prior research develops a programme on horizontal supply chain collaboration to investigate the problems of loading schedules and vehicle consolidation across the logistics industry (Montoya-Torres et al., 2016). The involvement of related and non-related participants operating at the same level of various supply chains is referred to as horizontal supply chain collaboration. Research has shown that horizontal collaboration generally enables chain members to mitigate lost sales and increase long-term production value (G. Ahn et al., 2017; J. M. Ahn et al., 2017; Ahn et al., 2020; Ahn et al., 2018).

The essence of this study review is to enable an in-depth understanding of collaboration and how it helps organisations improve and remain active in the market. This is important to this study because it seeks to understand ways to improve supply chain performance in the oil and gas sector.

2.4.1.3 Lateral Supply Chain Collaboration

Most research has identified lateral collaboration as another type of supply chain collaboration (Ahmad & Ullah, 2013; Cozzolino et al., 2017; Mason et al., 2007; Montoya-Torres & Ortiz-Vargas, 2014; Soosay & Hyland, 2015). The term "lateral collaboration" refers to a partnership that combines the advantages of both vertical and horizontal supply chain collaboration (Mason et al., 2007; Soosay et al., 2008). The study by Simatupang and Sridharan (2002) and Ahmad and Ullah (2013) noted that the goal of lateral supply chain collaboration is to obtain additional adaptability by merging and sharing competencies in both vertical and horizontal directions, supported by Chan and Zhang (2011). Nevertheless, most empirical studies have indicated that some top logistics companies balance vertical and horizontal inter-organisational relationships through lateral supply chain collaboration (Mason et al., 2007; Sanchez Rodrigues et al., 2015). Research by G. Kumar et al. (2017), stated that when firms combine vertical and horizontal

collaboration to obtain additional flexibility, this is an example of lateral collaboration. Lateral collaboration also allows the supply chain partners to effectively manage information and resource sharing, build trust among them, and improve their level of relationships (Nimmy et al., 2019). Soosay et al. (2008), used the examples of integrated logistics and intermodal transportation to illustrate how lateral collaboration may be used to synchronise shippers and carriers from several enterprises to create a smooth and efficient network for freight transportation. Bahinipati and Deshmukh (2014), pinpoint that the e-market intermediary can implement a lateral collaboration strategy to encourage suppliers and customers to work together in a competitive environment to improve the anticipated performance.

The lateral supply chain collaboration is noted as the effective system that an organisation implements in operations to achieve the benefits of both vertical and horizontal collaboration, leading to performance improvement and customer satisfaction. This study further found that lateral supply chain collaboration allows the supper chain partners to maintain effective relationships with their customers, suppliers, policymakers, manufacturers, and other related stakeholders in vertical or horizontal collaboration. Table 2-5 Cited the vital articles that discussed the types of supply chain collaboration in different industries and organisation.

Types of Supply	Chain	Citations
Collaboration		
Vertical Collaboration		Ajayi (2016); Heuer and Joly (2018); Kotzab et al. (2011); Leising (2016);
		Montoya-Torres and Ortiz-Vargas (2014); Vaaland and Heide (2007); Zhang
		and Cao (2018)
Horizontal Collaboration		Allaoui et al. (2019); Buijs and Wortmann (2014); Friday et al. (2018); Leising
		(2016); Li (2013); Li (2012); Ogunmola and Arogundade (2019); Wadhwa et al.
		(2006); Wan Ahmad et al. (2016)
Literal Collaboration		Ahmad and Ullah (2013); Bahinipati and Deshmukh (2014); G. Kumar et al.
		(2017); Mason et al. (2007); Nimmy et al. (2019); Simatupang and Sridharan
		(2002); Soosay et al. (2008)

Table 2-5: Types of Supply Chain Collaboration

2.4.2 The Enabling Factors of Supply Chain Collaboration

Based on the literature reviewed, this study has identified several definitions of supply chain management and supply chain collaboration, revealing nine key enabling components of effective management of supply chain collaboration. The enabling factors of supply chain collaboration are information sharing, goal congruence, decision synchronisation, incentive alignment, resources,

and skills sharing, collaborative communication, and joint knowledge creation. These seven components enabled supply chain collaboration and interrelated to each other through relationships among them. They help in response time, product development, reduce costs of operation and effective management of resources. The key enablers of supply chain collaboration are shown in the Figure 2-5 below. Nevertheless, from the literature review analysis, Figure 2-5 indicates that information sharing, goal congruence and decision synchronisation are classified as the most significant enablers of supply chain collaboration with highest number of articles while collaborative commitment are classified as least enabler of supply chain collaboration with less than 20 articles. Also, Table 2-6 highlighted the authors that discusses the enablers of supply chain collaboration.



Figure 2-5: The Nine Key Enablers of Supply Chain Collaboration

S/No	Enablers of SCC	Citations
1	Information Sharing	Annosi et al. (2021); Chopra and Meindl (2001); Piboonrungroj et al. (2016); Ramanathan and Gunasekaran (2014); Singh et al. (2018)
2	Goal Congruence	Hosseini et al. (2016); Jia et al. (2016); Kärkkäinen et al. (2007); Piboonrungroj (2012); (Singh et al., 2018)

Table 2-6: Enablers of Supply Chain Collaboration

3	Decision	Cao and Zhang (2013); Duong and Chong (2020); Ramanathan (2014); Simatupang	
	Synchronisation	and Sridharan (2002); Singh et al. (2018)	
4	Incentive Alignment	Arias Bustos and Moors (2018); Boyce (2016); Lee and Whang (2001); Singh et al.	
		(2018); Umar and Wilson (2021)	
5	Resource Sharing	Al-Refaie (2014); Annosi et al. (2021); Huang et al. (2020); Singh et al. (2018); Tseng	
		et al. (2022)	
6	Collaborative	Farouk et al. (2020); Irani et al. (2017); Kwofie et al. (2019); Mohr and Nevin (1990);	
	Communication	Tuten and Urban (2001)	
7	Joint Knowledge	Bhatt and Grover (2005); Eskandari et al. (2021); Harland, Zheng, et al. (2004);	
	Creation and	Pradabwong et al. (2015); Samdantsoodol et al. (2017); Seo et al. (2015)	
	Partnership		
8	Collaborative Trust	Annosi et al. (2021); Irani et al. (2017); Jajja et al. (2014); Verstrepen et al. (2009); K.	
		J. Wang et al. (2011)	
9	Collaborative	Chabowski et al. (2022); Moberg and Speh (2003); Piboonrungroj (2012); Primo	
	Commitment	(2010); D. Zhang et al. (2012)	

Information Sharing

This section summarises the critical literature about Information sharing, which refers to the extent to which an organisation exchanges its relevant, true, comprehensive, and confidential information on time with its supply chain partners (Cagliano et al., 2003; Chwen Sheu et al., 2006). Researchers consider information sharing as the "heart" of supply chain collaboration (Lamming, 1996), as the "lifeblood" of effective collaboration in the supply chain (Stuart & McCutcheon, 1996), and the "nerve centre" which is prime for effective operation in the supply chain (Chopra & Meindl, 2001). It is also considered to be an "essential ingredient" in the supply chain (Min et al., 2005), a "key requirement" for the effective implementation of supply chain strategy (Chwen Sheu et al., 2006), and a "foundation" that led of supply chain collaboration (Lee & Whang, 2001). Furthermore, describe information sharing in teams of connectivity as "the capability to exchange data in a timely, responsive, and usable format" as supported by Zhao et al. (2001). Y. Wang et al. (2011) concluded that effective information sharing among the partners contributes to optimising the electronic logistic marketplace's supply chain network and redirecting the partners' participation towards achieving performance improvement. Information sharing is identified as one enabler used to model the supply chain resilience framework (Hosseini et al., 2016). Effective information sharing enables organisations to manage and coordinate the flow of information, processes and raw materials from customer demand to raw material supply (Jia et al., 2016). The study by

Piboonrungroj et al. (2016), further highlighted that information sharing is one of the concepts of supply chain collaboration that leads to performance improvement in cultural tourism. Environmental change's unpredictability can be reduced by enhancing supply chain collaboration with effective information sharing across partners (Oh et al., 2020).

The advantages of information sharing in an organisation or business can improve operational effectiveness, decrease the bullwhip effect, better customer satisfaction and decision-making (Koçoğlu et al., 2011).

Goal Congruence

The extent to which supply chain partners come together to achieve a common goal in business is referred to as a goal. This is possible because the business partners agreed to work together in the supply chain to achieve the desired outcomes and improve their business performance (Angeles & Nath, 2001). Supply chain managers feel that true goal congruence is coinciding objectives or goals of supply chain partners. The foundation of the successful operation of this goal in an organisation is based on trust among partners. Some managers believe that goal congruence can be achieved by effectively implementing organisation goals and objectives and working according to the policy direction that the supply chain partners agreed upon. The overall idea behind goal congruence is a tool employed in an organisation's supply chain to improve performance (Lejeune & Yakova, 2005).

Decision Synchronization

Decision synchronisation is a process employed by supply chain partners to combine or compose decisions in the supply chain by planning activities and operations to optimise the supply chain benefits (Simatupang & Sridharan, 2002). Planning is vital for effective decision-making to determine the most efficient and effective policies to be utilised by the organisation in managing resources, responding to customers' demands, and being active in achieving a specific set of objectives or outcomes. These are fused into key planning decision categories in supply chain management, including operations strategy planning, production planning and scheduling, demand and order management, procurement, timely delivery, inventory management and effective distribution management (Lockamy & McCormack, 2004). Some organisations use joint planning to align collaborative partners and to implement decisions for effective performance improvement through inventory replenishment or stocking, warehouse management and order management ibid.

Blagojevic et al. (2021) demonstrated that decision-making based on objective data can be aided by artificial intelligence and Bahinipati and Deshmukh (2012) stated that tactical and operational levels are where the most effective decisions are most effective makes are made. The level of collaboration between the customer and suppliers is linked to practises and instruments such as shared and effective decision-making (Caniato et al., 2015).

Incentive Alignment

The process explored by organisations provides the opportunity for costs-sharing, risks-sharing, and benefits-sharing among partners in the supply chain (Simatupang & Sridharan, 2005). This process helps organisations to formulate an incentive scheme which enables them to share costs, risks and benefits which keep the organisation functional. It is significant to note that successful supply chain collaborations between organisations allow partners to share gains and losses, which justifies a perfect relationship. Strong collaboration outcomes can result from partners sharing common gains and losses because doing so fosters loyalty and trust between partners. This can be achieved by enabling parties in the supply chain to be gainfully involved in decision-making and beneficial operations, leading to success (Manthou et al., 2004). Incentive alignment involves a careful selection of strategies and definition of channels to help actualise the desired gains and sharing equitably, which implies that gains are associated with returns on investment and risk (Lee & Whang, 2001).

Resource Sharing

Resource sharing is a process used by an organisation which enables more vital collaboration among the supply chain partners. It is crucial in day-to-day operations, maximises access to many suppliers, and is timesaving. This can be physical (assets) resources, human capabilities, skills, and information. These resources positively impact performance improvement as it provides the enabling environment with operational tools for the successful and effective performance of an organisation which include facilities (warehouse), manufacturing equipment and technological support (Harland, Knight, et al., 2004; Harland, Zheng, et al., 2004). The literature identifies several applications of the approach in industrial operations and the networks it provides in order to strengthen performance, as discussed in the research on the auto industry (Dyer, 1996). In the trade sector, it is applied in practices for performance improvement. Such services include vendormanaged inventory, enabling suppliers to assess stock-level data through the effective and efficient use of electronic data interchange and deciding on stock replenishment (Lamming, 1996).

Organisational friction and manufacturing discrepancies can be avoided by emphasising resourcesharing procedures among supply chain partners (Tseng et al., 2022). Supply networks succeed or fail conceptually based on the ability of partners to successfully share resources in changing circumstances (S. E. Fawcett et al., 2008). Furthermore, research has shown that a resource-sharing system is promoted by trust, which is necessary for efficient teamwork and the reduction of resource waste among the supply chain partners (Annosi et al., 2021).

Collaborative Communication

Collaborative communication has become an essential element in supply chain management activities through contact. It creates message transmission between supply chain partners, increasing frequency, influencing strategy, providing direction, and introducing transparency in the system. Close inter-organisational relationships can achieve that operations are open, frequent and balanced by implementing two-way or multilevel communication in the system (Goffin et al., 2006; Tuten & Urban, 2001). Mohr and Nevin (1990) explored the design and structure of communication from the mechanistic perspective using communication theory and recognised that frequency, the extent of bi-directional flows, informal modes, and indirect content are key attributes of communication. They suggested that the term "collaborative communication strategy" can be achieved when the key attributes of communication are gainfully utilised. Another research added that an effective collaborative supply chain could be achieved through communication among the supply chain partners (Adams et al., 2021). The importance of collaborative communication in the supply chain is to facilitate the exchange of knowledge, ideas and skills for better performance between the parties (Paulraj et al., 2008).

Joint knowledge creation and partnership

In a competitive market, joint knowledge helps supply chain partners create better and work together to respond to demand effectively and to understand how to operate better in a competitive environment (Malhotra et al., 2005). Two types of knowledge creation exist in the supply chain environment: knowledge exploration, which means searching and acquiring new and relevant environments and business knowledge. The second knowledge exploitation includes assimilating and applying relevant knowledge into business (Bhatt & Grover, 2005). Other researchers referred

to joint knowledge creation as the capture, exchange, and assimilation of knowledge, a process, technology application, or market knowledge between supply chain partners. These processes enable innovation and the long-term relationship in order to achieve competitiveness in the supply chain and its environment (Harland, Knight, et al., 2004; Harland, Zheng, et al., 2004).

Collaborative commitment

Collaborative commitment enables the supply chain actors to resolve supply chain conflicts and uncertainties within supply chain networks (Taieb & Affes, 2013). Kayikci et al. (2022) added that long-term commitment is needed to achieve an organisation's effective performance system and circular practice. A collaborative commitment to continuous innovation can accelerate the creation of new products and supply chain processes. A collective commitment supports judgments on allocating resources that may result in the intended innovation performance (Jajja et al., 2014). Most researchers contended that commitment is necessary to systematise and organise collaborative innovation through the supply chain operations (Braziotis & Tannock, 2011). The research carried by Prasanna and Haavisto (2018), identified collaborative communication as an enabler that improves dyadic relationships and contributes to long-term investment. A recent study indicates that collaborative commitment also contributes to effective relationships among the collaborators of the supply chain of the information technology industry (de Leeuw & Fransoo, 2009). Qu and Yang (2015) gave an example that the Companies under Chinese ownership say that the level of commitment to building and maintaining relationships with suppliers and consumers is significantly higher. An empirical study advises that shipping companies must develop a solid commitment to improve partner relationships and the industry's overall performance (Lai et al., 2020).

Collaborative Trust

Trust and honesty between the collaborative supply chain participants will lead to perfect supply chain unification (Al-Abdallah et al., 2014). Respect, honesty, trustworthiness, and mutual understanding are required for effective knowledge and information sharing, as well as collaboration in sharing risk and profit (Kim et al., 2018). It is defined as stakeholders' honesty and commitment when they follow transaction standards and maintain positive attitudes and behaviours (Wei et al., 2012). Trust and honesty between the collaborative supply chain participants, will lead to perfect supply chain unification (Oguche, 2018). Respect, honesty,

trustworthiness, and mutual understanding are required for effective knowledge and information sharing, as well as collaboration in the sharing of risk and profit (de Almeida et al., 2015). The crucial factors for organisational success were absolute honesty and open communication (de Almeida et al., 2015).

The importance of trust and commitment in supply chain collaboration, as well as the potential to improve supply chain responsiveness in terms of agility and flexibility, were noted by (Carvalho et al., 2021). For the flow of information among partners, trust is also essential. At every stage of a company's activities and relationships, trust is critical for enhancing performance through collaboration. To achieve success and transparency, all parties involved in a supply chain network should develop trust and share relevant information on time. In the real world, if trust is not handled correctly, a multinational company's ability to work well can be in danger. Baah et al. (2021). Supply chain transparency improves when an organisation's interparty trust increases (Rejeb et al., 2021). Liao et al. (2021) found that upstream-downstream collaboration improved a company's innovative and competitive performance while building trust.

2.4.3 Collaborative Supply Chain Barriers

Several kinds of literature reviewed identified factors inhibiting collaborative supply chains leading to ineffective supply chain and their performance. Studies examine the factors inhibiting collaborative supply chains across organisations, disciplines, and sectors, which include industries like production, automobile, apparel, service, and manufacturing. The commonly identified ineffective supply chain collaboration factors include supply chain design, partnership or relationship, and performance evaluation metrics. These factors affect supply chain performance resulting in customer dissatisfaction, trust deficiency, and lack of information sharing and commitment. Also, poor planning led to ineffective decision-making, lack of transparency in supply chain strategy and inadequate partnership selection (Chung et al., 2008; Mentzer et al., 2000; Panahifar, Byrne, et al., 2015; Panahifar, Heavey, et al., 2015; Parung & Bititci, 2006; Singh et al., 2018; Singhry et al., 2015). Piboonrungroj (2012) further suggest in his research that a lack of capital and investment affects the level of collaboration between the supply chain members. Other researchers believe that the bullwhip effect in a supply chain network is caused by the lack of a collaborative supply chain (Islam, 2017; Shaban et al., 2019; Zhang, 2004). Simatupang and Sridharan (2011) state that an ineffective collaborative supply chain results from poor established

goals and unclear organisational policies. Figure 2-6 presented the bar chart of the inhibitors identified from the literature. In addition, the chart below show that lack of trust and lack of collaborative commitment are the most important inhibitors of collaborative supply chain while lack of collaborative communication and lack of information technology are the least inhibitors of collaborative supply chain identified from the literature reviewed.



Figure 2-6: The Eleven Key Inhibitors of Supply Chain Collaboration

Lack of Information Sharing

Recent research noted that a lack of information sharing among the supply chain partners affects the optimisation of the collaborative electronic logistic marketplace (Y. Wang et al., 2011). Ineffectiveness in the supply chain system is caused by a need for more information sharing among collaborators. Furthermore, a lack of interoperability in information technology makes it difficult for people to apply their valuable information without spending much time and effort. As a result, a setup blockchain technology can support the transfer of organised, standards-based data matched to supply chain requirements to mitigate these issues (Rejeb et al., 2021).

Lack of trust

Lack of trust has been identified from the literature review as one of the key variables that impact the adoption of supply chain collaboration in an industry (S. E. Fawcett et al., 2008; Gopal & Thakkar, 2016; Jena & Ghadge, 2021; Luthra et al., 2011; Panahifar, Heavey, et al., 2015). The improper partner selection results in obstacles to CPFR execution, such as a lack of trust (Barratt & Oliveira, 2001; Hollmann et al., 2015; Panahifar, Heavey, et al., 2015). An empirical study noted that a lack of trust affects the buyer and suppliers' relationships, and the integration of the supply chain processes, inhibiting an organisation's effective performance system.

Lack of collaborative commitment

The literature review profiles the lack of supply chain commitment as one of the significant barriers to the collaborative supply chain that contributes to an ineffective performance system in an organisation (De Freitas et al., 2019; Irani et al., 2017; Panahifar, Heavey, et al., 2015). Also, the primary obstacle that faces successful supply chain joint ventures is a need for more commitment from both the company partners and the members of those companies. The study by De Freitas et al. (2019) classified lack of commitment as part of the behavioural and cultural factors of the chain members in the supply chain process. It also leads to poor distribution of appropriate information (Panahifar, Heavey, et al., 2015). The obstacles to successful supply chain collaboration and green supply chain emerge from poor commitment on the part of organisations due to excessive costs and organisational issues (Kotzé et al., 2017). As documented by Wagner et al. (2003), lack of commitment has hampered the smaller and medium companies' efforts to expand their online operations.

Lack of capital and investment

Even though supply chain collaboration has helped improve the operations of many companies (Hofman & Aronow, 2012; Piboonrungroj, 2012), other studies also reported that it has failed on many occasions (Bragg et al., 2011; Piboonrungroj, 2012). The inability of small and medium enterprises to invest in research and development due to financial constraints is a possible impediment to their development of resilience (Ali et al., 2017). Lack of capital and investment in organisational and technological infrastructure has also prevented most firms from attaining synchronised inventory movements (Ahmad & Ullah, 2013). Furthermore, empirical research added that inefficiencies caused by a lack of capital and investment in cargo-handling equipment limit the efficiency of port businesses and operations (Oguche, 2018). Another prior study

expresses that many supply chain firms encounter obstacles that hinder their chances of survival, growth, and success, such as a lack of capital and investment (Loury-Okoumba & Mafini, 2021).

Lack of top management supports.

As identified from the literature review, lack of top management support is another barrier that inhibits effective performance systems and business integration through supply chain collaboration (Kotzab et al., 2011; Mentzer et al., 2001; Premus & Sanders, 2008). Change in an organisation can be inhibited by opposing forces, such as a lack of support from top management, which requires a proportional reaction on the part of management to improve efficiency and achieve targeted goals (S. E. Fawcett et al., 2008; Stanley E. Fawcett et al., 2008; Richey et al., 2012). Also, the study by Gul (2013) identified the lack of top management support as part of the human-related drivers that impacted the collaborative supply chain. Problems in supplier partnerships typically result from a need for more engagement from upper management (Min, 2015).

Inappropriate partnership

The outcome of the literature review shows that inappropriate partnership contributes to the failure the supply chain collaboration in an organisation (Chung et al., 2008; Singh et al., 2018; Singhry, 2015; Singhry et al., 2015). Hui et al. (2015) argue that an organisation's supply chain collaboration and innovation success suffer when careful consideration is not given to which Partnerships to form. Nevertheless, effective partnership selection allows the participating members to effectively manage information sharing, decision making and planning during the supply chain processes.

Poor planning

Poor planning was identified as one of the inhibitors of supply chain collaboration (Majumdar et al., 2022; Stadtler & Kilger, 2008). Poor planning leads to customer dissatisfaction, poor marketing and forecast organisational products and project management failure (Bhattacharya & Fayezi, 2021; Min, 2015). Due to poor planning and communication issues, producers and merchants are to blame for promotional out-of-stocks (Whipple & Russell, 2007). Poor communication between partners leads to bad planning when geography and infrastructure create logistic challenges (Al Adem et al., 2018). Chalker and Loosemore (2016) concluded that poor planning contributes to the poor productivity of Australian construction projects.

Ineffective decision making

An empirical study states that ineffective decision-making is the primary cause of inappropriate relationships among the collaborative partners of the supply chain (Kwon et al., 2007; Muckstadt et al., 2001). Furthermore, the Misuse of social capital may result from a lack of decision-making, affecting buyer performance (Grover et al., 2006; Villena et al., 2011). The direct and indirect effects of poor decision-making are more detrimental to companies the more dependent they are on suppliers (P. Liu et al., 2022).

Lack of transparency

Following the review conducted for this study, lack of transparency was identified as one of the significant barriers that impact an organisation's effective collaborative supply chain system. Collaboration in sub-supplier management is more complex and challenging than managing direct suppliers due to the lack of transparency regarding sub-suppliers participation in a focal firm's supply chain operations (Grimm et al., 2014). According to Lambin et al. (2018), collaboration on corporations' zero-deforestation strategies may be inadequate to significantly impact the supply chain processes due to a lack of transparency and accountability. The primary collaboration and purchase barriers to organic food supply chain sustainability are a lack of transparency in global companies' mineral supply chains have led to more protests and pressure from the stakeholders (Islam & van Staden, 2018). Therefore, a lack of transparency in a collaborative supply chain system inhibits the effective delivery of the company's products to the customer and leads to mistrust and withholding vital information between the supply chain partners.

Lack of collaborative communication

Another significant barrier to a collaborative supply chain identified from the literature review is a lack of collaborative communication (Panahifar et al., 2014; Pizarro et al., 2018; Premus & Sanders, 2008; Taieb & Affes, 2013; Vriens, 2021). Research has shown that poor communication among the collaborators affects the delivery cycle time and supply chain planning (van der Vorst, 2000). Islam and van Staden (2018) confirmed that poor communication is the leading reason for failed partnerships between collaborative supply chain companies and non-profit organisations (Green & Keogh, 2000). A lack of communication about individual intentions delayed the collaborative training scheme, depleting relational capital (Premus & Sanders, 2008). Balaji and Arshinder (2016) found that strengthening food supply chain communication reduced costs and waste. Proper communication lowers uncertainty and helps respond to supply chain problems. Effective decision-making must have better communication between the participants in the food supply chain, particularly between those who are one step up and one step down in the chain. Balaji & Arshinder further noted that lack of communication is one of the reasons for perishable food waste during the supply chain processes.

Lack of information technology

It has been determined by a recent study that improper adoption of information technology is the most significant hurdle that may drive enterprises to develop sustainable supply chain management techniques to guarantee the effective continuation of businesses (Movahedipour et al., 2017). Lack of information technology in supply chain systems hinders industrial and business growth of green argi-food in Azerbaijian (Mehdiyeva et al., 2020). A prior study revealed that a lack of information technology is one of the most significant obstacles to implementing green supply chain management and collaboration in the Tech Manora industry (Reddy et al., 2018). The inability of the smaller partners to leverage information technology to their full capacity is another factor restricting the achievement of supply chain potential (Seethamraju, 2006). Nevertheless, a lack of information technology in a given supply chain network leads to better communication, a better delivery system, accurate decision-making, and better financial management.

S/No	Barriers of SCC	Citations
1	Lack of information sharing	Eskandari et al. (2021); S. E. Fawcett et al. (2008); Singh et al. (2018); Vollrath
		(2021); Y. Wang et al. (2011)
2	Inappropriate partnerships	Mentzer et al. (2000); Panahifar, Byrne, et al. (2015); Parung and Bititci (2006);
		Singhry (2015); Xiaoli (2012)
3	poor planning	Chung et al. (2008); Mentzer et al. (2008); Panahifar, Byrne, et al. (2015); Parung
		and Bititci (2006)
4	ineffective decision making	Chung et al. (2008); Mentzer et al. (2000); Panahifar, Byrne, et al. (2015);
		Panahifar, Heavey, et al. (2015); Parung and Bititci (2006); Singhry (2015)
5	lack of transparency	Chung et al. (2008); Panahifar, Byrne, et al. (2015); Panahifar, Heavey, et al.
		(2015); Parung and Bititci (2006); Singh et al. (2018)
6	Lack of information technology	Oyedijo et al. (2021); Ramesh et al. (2010); Reddy et al. (2018); Xiaoli (2012)
7	Lack of Trust	Annosi et al. (2021); Arias Bustos and Moors (2018); Baharmand et al. (2021);
		Daudi et al. (2016); S. E. Fawcett et al. (2008)

Table 2-7: Inhibitors of Collaborative Supply Chain

8	Lack of collaborative	Arias Bustos and Moors (2018); Bahinipati and Deshmukh (2012); Stoelzle and
	communication	Burkhardt (2021); Taieb and Affes (2013)
9	Lack of top management	Agyemang et al. (2018); Akintoye et al. (2000); Andalib Ardakani et al. (2022);
	support	Md Abdul Moktadir et al. (2018); Ramesh et al. (2010)
10	lack of capital and investment	Ali et al. (2017); Bimha et al. (2020); Fachrunnisa et al. (2013); Langeveld et al.
		(2010); Reddy et al. (2018)
11	Lack of collaborative	Butt et al. (2021); Dixit et al. (2017); Duryan and Smyth (2019); Hussain et al.
	commitment	(2019); Zou and Couani (2012)

2.4.4 Benefits of Supply Chain Collaboration

The collaborative advantage is also called joint competitive advantage (Jap, 2001). It refers to strategic benefits gained over market competitors (Ma et al., 2021) through supply chain partnering. Collaborative advantage relates to the desired synergistic outcome of collaborative activity that could not have been achieved by any firm acting alone (Vangen & Huxham, 2003). Jap (1999) states that collaboration can increase the size of the joint benefits and give each member a share of more significant gain that each member on its own could not generate. The value creation from collaboration could be cost savings through the transfer of best practices, enhanced capacity and flexibility for collective actions, better decision making and increased revenue through resource synergy, and innovation through the combination and cross-pollination of ideas. The benefits of business synergy may not be immediately visible; however, potential long-term rewards are enticing and strategic (Min et al., 2005). The key benefits of supply chain collaboration are that it leads to process efficiency, flexibility, business synergy, quality, and innovation (Duffy & Fearne, 2004a, 2004b). Efficiency, consistency and effective strategy, transparency, and mutual financial benefit are advantages of collaboration for both customers, suppliers, and other



stakeholders (Dell & Hart, 2014). Figure 2-7 presented the bar chart of the inhibitors identified from the literature.

Figure 2-7: Benefits of supply chain collaboration

S/No	Benefits	Citations
1.	Improved Information sharing	Daugherty et al. (2006); Jayaram et al. (2004); Kache and Seuring (2014); Ramanathan (2013); Smirnova et al. (2011)
2.	Quality Improvement	Daugherty et al. (2006); Garvin (1988); Harvey and Gray (1992); Nooteboom et al. (2007); Yazar Soyadı and Ince (2015)
3.	Offering Flexibility	Bagchi et al. (2005); Chen et al. (2013); Gupta et al. (2001); Kim (2013); Nyaga et al. (2010)
4.	Process Efficiency	Bagchi et al. (2005); Bowersox (1990); Jayaram et al. (2004); Singh et al. (2018); Walker et al. (2000)
5.	Enhance Customer satisfaction	Daugherty et al. (2006); Hult et al. (2004); Nyaga et al. (2010); Singh et al. (2018); Udin et al. (2006)
6.	Supply chain Innovation	Handfield and Pannesi (1995); Kaufman et al. (2000); Kessler and Chakrabarti (1996); Sengupta et al. (2006); Simatupang and Sridharan (2008)
7.	Business Collaboration	Kaufman et al. (2000); Orriens and Yang (2006); Ralston et al. (2017); Tanriverdi (2006)

Table 2-8: The Seven Key Benefits of Collaborative Supply Chain

Improved Information sharing

Recent research noted that information sharing enables the supply chain partners to reduce organisational uncertainty, bullwhip effects, and delivery time, improve decision-making, effective teamwork, and maximum capacity utilisation (Ma et al., 2021). The level of information shared among the collaborators determines the level of trust and relationship among supply chain
partners. For instance, a company might collaborate effectively with its supply chain and enhance the performance of its participants through information sharing. The study by Baah et al. (2022) recommends using warehousing and transport management systems, as well as material demand planning, electronic data interchange, and enterprise resource planning (ERP) software, to help supply chain participants better collaborate and share information.

Quality Improvement

Quality improvement is a strategy employed by an organisation to maintain the standard of product in the market. This ensures that supply chain partners stick to the agreed standard and provide the best quality product, which creates satisfaction and higher value for customers (Harvey & Gray, 1992; S. Li et al., 2006; S. C. Li et al., 2006). Quality improvement is one of the critical competencies that keep a product viable in the market; organisations are expected to respond fast to customer needs with high-quality products and innovative designs. It enables efficient sales, increases customer loyalty, and maximises market share and profits. Garvin (1988), in his research, identifies some key components that an organisation can achieve with a good quality product in the market. Perceived quality is the bedrock of an organisation's functioning but is challenging to quantify because it varies significantly with factors like complexity, size, and context. This includes increased efficiency, flawless production, reliability, conformity, precision, durability, serviceability, and longevity. Quality performance improvement plays a crucial role in the successful operation of an organisation because it ensures retention of customer loyalty, creates long-term customer relationships, and enables long-term profit maximisation, which is prime for organisation success.

Offering Flexibility

Flexibility is the capabilities of an organisation in the supply chain to respond to changes in products or services in the marketplace. For example, improving features, volume management, and speed in terms of timely response are critical in responding to environmental and market changes (Holweg et al., 2005a, 2005b). Some literature referred to flexibility as customer responsiveness (Holweg et al., 2005a, 2005b; Kiefer & Novack, 1999). The role played by flexibility in the collaborative supply chain is the ability to bring organisations together quickly to adopt changes in structures, information-sharing processes, and new development (Gosain et al., 2004). In addition, organisations pay more attention to customer satisfaction via quick delivery

and effective time management. These processes can be achieved by flexible processes accepted and implemented by organisations in the supply chains (Bagchi et al., 2005).

Process Efficiency

Process efficiency examines how organisations collaborate with their suppliers in the supply chain regarding information, reduce cost and achieve competitive advantage (Bagchi et al., 2005). This process typically involves information sharing, a joint logistics process, a collaborative product development process, or a collaborative decision-making process. Process efficiency is a measure of success and a determinant factor for profit maximisation, for example, effective inventory turnover and operating costs, ibid. Supply chain collaboration facilitates the cooperation of participating members in the supply chain to improve performance (Bowersox, 1990). The benefits of collaboration include cost reductions and revenue enhancements (Lee et al., 1997).

Enhance customer satisfaction.

Ramdas and Spekman (2000) noted in their research that customer satisfaction is one of the performance variables used to examine the extent and level of performance in an organisation that provides an effective supply chain system and collaboration among the supply chain partners. In addition, organisational customers are more satisfied with inventive high performers than with high functional performers. Ramdas and Spekman also showcase that customer satisfaction is one of the core reasons why most organisations seek to collaborate effectively to achieve an effective supply chain system that will enable them to improve the entire performance system. Our findings support that integrating supply chains and exploiting supply chain partners' expertise to promote customer satisfaction are keys to organisational success.

Research by Attaran and Attaran (2007) Indicates that customer satisfaction is an essential success factor influencing collaborative planning forecasting and replenishment among supply chain collaborators and organisations. Setyaningsih et al. (2021) Pointed out in their study that customer satisfaction is one of the core drivers of supply chain management in small and medium enterprises and significantly impacts supply chain management implementation. An organisation that places a high emphasis on customer satisfaction impacts consumer happiness daily, which leads to lasting relationships and loyalty. A recent study claims that supply chain members could detect the processes and strategies critical to improving customer satisfaction by collaborating with appropriate partners (Fawcett et al., 2008; Stanley E Fawcett et al., 2007; Stanley E. Fawcett et al., 2007). Effective resource utilisation, lower operational costs, higher profits, enhanced customer

satisfaction and product development efficiency, are all advantages of supply chain collaboration among the supply chain partners (Allaoui et al., 2019).

Supply Chain Innovation

The strategy behind innovation as a benefit for effective supply chain collaboration is the ability to significantly improve on a product or the creation of a new product which can stand the test of time by increasing its shelf life. This can be achieved by joint decision-making and developing problem skills in the supply chain, which help compete in a highly competitive market. In addition, the benefits of innovation are the organisational transformation in the product life cycle and ensuring customer satisfaction with quality products (Handfield & Pannesi, 1995; Kessler & Chakrabarti, 1996). This can be achieved by carefully managing supplier relationships through joint decisions, customer feedback, and practical information sharing in the system. Finally, the decision lies in the hands of organisations to develop the ability to design and implement policies that will accommodate process and product innovation to improve its performance in the market (Kaufman et al., 2000).

The literature reviewed the benefits of supply chain collaboration and provided an in-depth understanding of collaboration in improving the performance of an organisation in different disciplines. This insight lightens the key ideas which are crucial for the conduct of this study as well as looking at collaboration for performance improvement in the oil and gas industry which happens to be the main focus of the study.

Business Collaboration

Business collaboration is the degree to which supply chain partners combine, harmonise, and pull resources together to achieve specific goals and objectives (Orriens & Yang, 2006). They went further to state that collaboration can produce a combined return on resources in the single operation of an organisation in a competitive environment and market. This joint effort or teamwork in any organisation results in better decision-making and effective resource sharing in the supply chain; this includes physical assets such as manufacturing facilities and warehouses. Other resources include customer knowledge, technological application, organisational culture, expertise, and skills (Kaufman et al., 2000). Tanriverdi (2006) states that two sources of synergy include super-additive value through corresponding resources and sub-additive cost, which in most cases are referred to as economies of scope by alternative resources.

2.5 Supply Chain Performance

Supply Chain Performance is the ability of organisations to plan and effectively manage supply chain activities in meeting or satisfying customers' demands. This includes ensuring product availability, timely deliveries, and effective and efficient capacity planning to respond quickly to customers' orders (Aramyan, 2007; Aramyan et al., 2007). Additionally, this could apply to procedures that transform raw materials or inputs into final goods (Beamon, 1999). It has no universally accepted definition and measurement standard. However, it has been applied in different fields, such as marketing, production and manufacturing, service industries, agri-food supply chains, and logistics, to determine performance (Aramyan et al., 2006; Lai et al., 2002; Van Der Vorst, 2005).

The study of Manupati et al. (2020) uses ledger-based blockchain to monitor and optimise the performance of the fashion supply chain network. The research outcome of Zhou and Benton (2007) demonstrates that solid supply chain performance depends on efficiently sharing information and supply chain systems. The best method to improve the performance system of the supply chain is to integrate information among suppliers and retailers. This integration includes information exchange, synchronised replenishment, and collaborative product creation and development (Kulp et al., 2004). The study by Fawcett et al. (2007) shed light on how information technology (IT) is utilised to improve the supply chain performance of a supply chain network. The bullwhip effect increased variation upstream in a supply chain, which is the most renowned example of how decentralised decision-making can harm supply chain performance (Fiala, 2005). Sheu et al. (2006) Noted that a collaborative supply chain between the supplier and retailer enhances the level of performance of a supply chain system. The performance of the supply chain has been significantly improved due to the timely, accurate, and dependable information that has been made available through information technology (Li et al., 2009).

For example, during war (Russia Vs Ukraine) that affected supply of raw material to companies causing scarcity, A company that has a good supply chain collaboration with its supplier at external or outside its operation zone will ensure that materials are supplied to its collaborator first. It is important to collaborate with suppliers because they are outside your reach and the company depend on the supplier's raw materials for effective production. Any practical examples of improving supply chain.

In many cases, organisations look at performance from the perspective of financial goals against their competitors (Barua et al., 2004; Li et al., 2006; Yamin et al., 1999). Generally, organisational

performances are measured by sales growth, profit margin, return on investment and effective inventory management. Many researchers and stakeholders consider these measures as a standard in evaluating the activities of an organisation (Chang & King, 2005; Chen & Paulraj, 2004; Flynn et al., 2010; Kenneth Petersen & Monczka, 2005; Narasimhan & Kim, 2002; Vickery et al., 1999). The enablers for performance management include the application of processes, metrics and approaches, a technology which helps implement supply chain strategies, planning and resource control (Van Der Vorst, 2005; Van Der Zee & Van Der Vorst, 2005). The key inhibitors usually associated with the supply chain performance of an organisation include the facilities, effective inventory management, transportation systems and information sharing in the system (Gunasekaran et al., 2006; K. Shaw et al., 2020; R. N. Shaw et al., 2020).

Based on the literature reviewed, it was revealed that supply chain collaboration is crucial in many organisations' realisation of supply chain performance. Interestingly, this huge importance of supply chain collaboration in improving operational performance has not been fully utilised in the oil and gas sector, particularly in Nigeria, which is the gap. This study seeks to address the issues surrounding the effective implementation of the strategies and approaches to achieve the desired goals and objectives of an effective supply chain in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. However, it was observed that supply chain performance could be affected by the uncertainty's organisations face, such as environmental and economic challenges revealed in the literature.

The Figure 2-8 show the countries Analysis on Supply Chain performance and Oil and Gas Industry Publications. The figure also, indicates that United States and United Kingdom has the highest publications of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry while Nigerian and Mexico has insignificant publications that relates to supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry. Based on this, the researcher concluded that there is gap in publication when it comes to Nigeria and supply chain performance.



Figure 2-8: Countries Analysis on Supply Chain performance and Oil and Gas Industry Publications

Figure 2-9 show the article publications of supply chain management and oil and gas industry by countries. The figure below also indicates that there are limited publications of supply chain management in the oil and gas industry when compared to other industry and nations. Going further, Figure 2-9 highlight that United States, United Kingdom, and Malaysia has the highest oil and gas supply chain management publications while other countries have little or no publication that relates to oil and gas supply chain management. The chart also indicates that the countries with little or no publication like Nigeria requires more empirical studies and publication. In conclusion, the researcher concluded that there is gap in publication that discusses supply chain management in the oil and gas industry. Using Nigeria as a case study for data collection, this study adds to the body of knowledge by analysing and subsequent development of a model for the adaptation of supply chain collaboration leading to the effective improvement of supply chain performance in the supply chain system of the oil and gas industry.

There is a strong connection between a publishing gap and a knowledge gap. An absence of research articles, papers, or other scholarly publications on a particular area or within a certain discipline is referred to as a publication gap. It implies that there is little knowledge about that topic available to the general public and the scholarly community. On the other side, a knowledge

gap describes a lack of information or awareness of a certain subject. It means that there are unresolved issues, uncharted territory, or portions of a subject that have not been thoroughly researched.

The relationship between these two ideas is that a publishing gap frequently represents a knowledge gap. A lack of published study and literature on a certain topic suggests that there is little knowledge and comprehension of that subject. It implies that there is a knowledge gap since that particular field has not been thoroughly examined or investigated by researchers and academics. Finding a gap in the literature is an important stage in research since it enables investigators to identify knowledge gaps and areas that require more study. Researchers can find possibilities for additional research and help close the knowledge gap by recognising the lack of published studies or little research output on a certain issue.



Figure 2-9: Publication Analysis by Countries for Supply Chain Management and Oil and Gas Industry

Figure 2-10 analysis the articles by countries of supply chain collaboration and oil and gas industry. The chart below portrays that there is limited knowledge on supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas industry. The chart further explained that United State and United Kingdom has the highest supply chain collaboration articles in the oil and gas industry and Nigeria is among the countries that has lesser articles on oil and gas supply chain collaboration.



Figure 2-10: Publication Analysis by Countries for Supply Chain Collaboration and Oil and Gas Industry

2.6 The Impact of Supply Chain collaboration on supply chain performance In Oil and Gas Industry

The empirical research by Gezdur and Bhattacharjya (2017), pointed out that collaboration is enhanced through digitising the supply chain activities in the oil and gas industries to manage uncertainties and effectively improve the industry's overall performance. Swatton et al. (2009), pinpointed that collaboration allows oil and gas firms to achieve their technological enhancement and goal, contributing to performance improvement of industry supply chain activities. Prior research noted collaboration between the supply chain partners of the natural gas and renewable energy industry to integrate to construct effective energy storage facilities and hybrid power plants (Wood, 2020). According to Munim et al. (2022), the adoption process of the oil and gas industry operations is mainly influenced by three sub-criteria: a lack of technological skills, a lack of collaborative supply chain, and a reduction in operational costs. Also, the research analysis by Piya et al. (2022), proves that Supply chain resilience in the oil and gas industry is aided by collaboration and information sharing, which promotes innovation, builds trust among supply chain partners, and raises their visibility. It has been concluded that a stronger collaborative supply relationship between the various entities in the oil and gas sector is essential to sustaining profitability. Businesses must collaborate to integrate upstream and downstream flows of goods, services, and information to decrease costs and waste and sustain profitability (Ugolo, 2021). Ugolo highlighted that Lean supply chain management methods, practises, and collaboration is crucial to the oil and gas industry's competitiveness and long-term profitability. Supply chain partners and stakeholders (owner, operator, fabricator, and steel producer) should collaborate more closely along the supply chain to reduce manufacturing, assembly, and installation costs. An inexpensive technique to improve supply chain design and process is collaboration. It improves supply chain communication and process effectiveness Leihn (2003).

The investigation done by Sarfaraz et al. (2022) noted that supply chain collaboration is among the feature strategies of supply chain management used to improve supply chain performance of the Iran oil and gas industry. Supply chain collaboration helped PIECA members in peer reviews and holding workshops with engineering, procurement, and construction contractors and field service businesses to investigate human rights concerns in the oil and gas supply chain industry. In addition, the ability to resolve human rights concerns through collaboration in the oil and gas industry contributes to performance improvement (Murphy et al., 2020). Another researcher contributed that a practical supply chain management approach reduces organisational uncertainty and improves the overall performance of the oil and gas industry in Iraq. Also, Information sharing, decision making, and risk and reward sharing are all aspects of supply chain collaboration that significantly impact the supply chain performance of the Iraq oil and gas industry (Al-Douri, 2018). Dell and Hart (2014) found that supply chain collaboration helps partners improve sustainability and operations of the oil and gas supply chains.

The study of Piya et al. (2022), concluded that collaborative supply chain strategy and information sharing are the enabling factors used to influence the level of supply chain resilience, trust, innovation and flexibility in a given supply chain network of the oil and gas industry. Ugolo (2021), stated that sustained profitability and performance improvement of most oil and gas industry collaborators is achieved through an effective collaborative supply chain strategy. Effective collaboration is used to avert the avoided supply chain uncertainties. In order to optimise

resource management, increase industrial value, and promote social welfare, enterprises should fully engage in information and knowledge exchange and strategic and logistics collaboration, as outlined by W. Liu et al. (2020). Furthermore, information technology in the oil and gas industry delivers a corporate cloud solution that promotes effective collaboration, agility, and transparency across the supply chain operation, contributing to performance improvement (McMullen, 2020). In conclusion, the researchers noted that it had been established that supply chain collaboration leads to effective performance systems in an organisation and the oil and gas industry.

2.7 Review of Supply Chain Management Theories

It is academically essential to fit in studies within existing literature and theories of the related field. This chapter presents the theories and discussions on how it has been applied previously by researchers in management, particularly in the context of supply chain collaboration. These theories serve as lenses to aid a meaningful understanding of the topic under investigation: **Resource Dependence Theory, Transaction Cost Theory, Systems Theory and Network Theory**.



Figure 2-11: Review of Supply Chain Theories

Figure 2-11 highlight the twelve research theories that contribute to effective supply chain systems as well as leading to performance improvement in an organisation. The chart further expressed that resource dependence theory, transaction cost theory, system theory and network theory are most commonly used theories in supply chain activities. While stakeholder theory and industrial organisational theory are the less used theories. The researcher resolved to used resource dependence theory, transaction cost theory, system theory and network theory for the purpose of this research due to their impacts on resource and relationship management, networking, and cost management.

The rationale behind the section of the four theories out of twelve was based on how related they are to organisational structure. For example, a successful organisation aims to improve performance through effective cost minimisation, effective utilising of resources, promoting teamwork, and flexibility that allows flow of input and output and which they are covered in the selected theories of management. Table 2-9 presents the supply chain management theories and their sources as well as little description about each theory.

Supply Chain	Description	Citation
Management Theory		
Transaction Cost Theory	Transaction cost theory outlines why and where organisations should participate in markets. It perceives society as a network of transactions in a market or an organisation. Although it is assumed that increased competition will improve the effectiveness of market mechanisms, market failures and transaction costs cause more business to occur within the confines of existing organisations. For instance, Subramani (2004) proposes a model that employs transaction cost theory to relate suppliers' adoption of supply chain management systems to benefits. Subramani establishes a connection between the buyer and the supplier relationship.	Chao et al. (2013); Ellram (1991); Kim and Fortado (2021); Klein and Pereira (2021); W. Liu et al. (2022); Miri-Lavassani et al. (2009); Sakuramoto et al. (2019); Schmidt and Wagner (2019); Subramani (2004)
Resource Dependence Theory	According to resource dependence theory, corporations cooperate because they can't afford all the resources, they require to be effective. This technique allows micro and small enterprises to compete with larger ones by increasing scale, bargaining power, and marketing quality.	Chand and Tarei (2021); Kalaitzi, Matopoulos, Bourlakis, et al. (2019); Kalaitzi, Matopoulos and Clegg (2019); Kim and Fortado (2021); Klein and Pereira (2021); Krolikowski and Yuan (2017); Spieske et al. (2022); Xiao et al. (2019); Zhou et al. (2020)
Systems Theory	Recent research has shown that Systems theory supports many disciplines, especially supply chain management. Applying system theory as a theoretical foundation helps to bridge the gap between the reflection of real-world systems and the identification of the relationships between them, which in turn enriches specialised fields through systemic innovations. A recent article describes coordinating and integrating processes	Fawcett, Waller, et al. (2010); Jaradat et al. (2017); J. Liu et al. (2020); Mangla et al. (2021); Siawsh et al. (2021); Yang et al. (2019); Žákovská (2015)

Table 2-9: Review of Supply Chain Theories and their Descriptions

	using system theory to achieve company-customer satisfaction. System theory process optimization improves corporate performance and goal attainment.	
Network Theory	Network theory is a major procurement and supply chain management frameworks developed in recent decades. Network theory studies graphs representing symmetric or asymmetric relations between discrete objects. Business relationships between organisations and their suppliers, clients, and buyers are typically described using network theory.	Herrera et al. (2020); Imran et al. (2020); McFarland et al. (2008); Neilson et al. (2018); Ojha et al. (2018); Soares et al. (2017); Trienekens and Beulens (2001); Wichmann et al. (2015)
Stakeholder Theory	 Stakeholder Theory emphasises the interwoven interactions between a firm and its customers, suppliers, employees, investors, communities, and other stakeholders. This philosophy further states that a company should generate value not just for its shareholders but also for all its different stakeholders. Stakeholders are groups or individuals whose actions influence or are affected by the organisation. Stakeholder theory says organisations develop externalities that influence internal and external parties. Stakeholder theory helps define who the stakeholders are. The theory's primary goal is to clarify why it's crucial to consider factors beyond monetary gain. According to this theory, recognising a stakeholder involves a company's principles and ethics. 	de Camargo Fiorini et al. (2018); Durmaz et al. (2021); Freemann (1984); Mirzabeiki et al. (2021); Ojha et al. (2018); Susanto and Othman (2021); van Weele and van Raaij (2014); Yousefi and Mohamadpour Tosarkani (2022)
Dynamic Capabilities Theory	Dynamic capabilities theory allows businesses to consolidate, mobilise, and modify resources and capabilities to react to rapid change. Consequently, Dynamic capabilities theory allows an organisation to adjust its strategy and resources to achieve competitive advantages and improved performance in quickly changing conditions. The dynamic capabilities theory originated from the resource-based view's failure to interpret the development and regeneration of resources and capabilities in dynamically changing situations. Recent studies have shown that Dynamic capabilities theory can provide a competitive edge to collaborating partners. Dynamic capabilities theory can offer a competitive advantage to collaborative partners. However, the resource-based view theory has several flaws, some of which were addressed by introducing a new approach known as dynamic capabilities theory. Dynamic capabilities theory describes path- dependent processes that allow organisations to adapt to rapidly changing environments by constructing, integrating, and reconfiguring their resource and capability portfolios.	Bleady et al. (2018); Chkanikova and Sroufe (2021); Chowdhury and Quaddus (2017); Fosso Wamba and Akter (2019); Govindan (2018); Shahzad et al. (2020); van Weele and van Raaij (2014)
Relational View	The relational view is a theory in supply chain management that uses networks and dyads of firms as the unit of study to shed light on the origins of relational rents or the superior performance of individual firms that arise in a given supply chain network. In addition, the relational view enhances knowledge and information sharing and boosts the level of relationship between the buyers and suppliers of an organisation. According to the relational view of the organisation, knowledge-sharing procedures are a source of value in buyer-supplier partnerships. These routines involve communication and information sharing, which builds supply chain collaboration. The performance of a supply chain has been shown to depend significantly on relationship mechanisms. According to the relational view of the firm, a company's competitive advantage stems mainly from the quality of the relationships it maintains with its customers and suppliers.	Arora et al. (2021); Chang et al. (2012); Fawcett, Magnan, et al. (2010); Iyer et al. (2019); Sharma et al. (2022); Zacharia et al. (2011)
Social Capital Theory	The social capital theory holds that social relationships can contribute to the advancement and accumulation of human capital. Relationships among individuals who live, and work together make up a society's social capital and make it possible for that society to run smoothly. It requires people to have strong bonds with one another and agree on things like who they are and	Chiu et al. (2013); Lu et al. (2018); Machalek and Martin (2015); Min et al. (2008); Nguyen et al. (2021); Shin et al. (2019); Wichmann et al. (2015)

		r1
	what they value as a group so they can work together	
	effectively. Social capital measures the value of tangible and	
	intangible resources and the impact ideal creators have on	
	relationships and groups.	
Agency Theory	In the setting of conflicting interests between principals and	Beal Partyka (2022); Kummer
	agents, agency theory examines the delegation of tasks from	et al. (2020); Linder and Foss
	principals to agents. Agency theory tackles disagreements over	(2013); Luo et al. (2017); Omta
	goals and risk aversion. Organizational control and management	et al. (2001); Susanto and
	systems can benefit from the framework provided by agency	Othman (2021); Tan (2014)
	theory. In situations where one party has the power to assign	
	tasks, but another party is responsible for carrying them out,	
	Agency Theory delivers guidance on how to set up the	
	relationship for maximum efficiency. A management and	
	economic theory called "agency theory" aims to explain how	
	relationships and self-interest work in businesses, and it explains	
	and resolves difficulties between corporate owners and agents.	
	This is often the connection between shareholders acting as	
	principals and firm executives acting as agents.	
Industrial	The core analytical feature of industrial organisation theory is	Dugoua and Dumas (2021);
Organization	used to discover strategic alternatives to manage enterprises'	Fawcett, Waller, et al. (2010);
Theory	supply in their various industries. Industrial organisation theory	Omta et al. (2002); Raible
	looks beyond individual businesses to analyse entire industries.	(2013); Trienekens et al. (2003)
	Another researcher added that the industrial organisation theory is	· // · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	concerned with a business's entire industry and market conditions.	
	Above all, the industrial organisation theory enables top	
	management and supply chain partners to make effective decision	
	and policies that governs the industry activities.	
Social Exchange	Social exchange theory is one of the significant conceptual	Ambrose et al. (2010); Barua
Theory	models in organisational behaviour and comprehending	(2022); Geng et al. (2017);
	workplace behaviour. Most theoretical academics concur that	Kembro et al. (2014);
	responsibilities are created through a series of events during the	Psychology (2022); Raible
	social transaction. Furthermore, social exchange theory	(2013); Susanto and Othman
	emphasises that interdependent transactions can build high-	(2021); Zhang et al. (2019)
	quality relationships only under particular conditions. Social	(),g (),
	exchange theory explains how social interactions are formed,	
	sustained, and ended. It is focused on the idea that a relationship	
	between two individuals is formed through cost-benefit measures.	
	In other words, it's a scale created to evaluate the work an	
	individual puts into a one-on-one relationship. In particular, social	
	exchange theories can shed light on people's interpersonal and	
	professional relationships. In addition, these ideas can be used to	
	comprehend interactions between people or social groups within a	
	particular environment.	
Social Network	Social network theory maps and investigates a group's relations.	Carter et al. (2007); Chang et
Theory	Relationships can symbolise friendship, communication,	al. (2012); Cheung et al.
11001 y	workflow, or the trade of organisational products among the	(2012); Cheung et al. (2012) ; Lu et al. (2018) ;
	supply chain partners. Also, the researchers use this theory to	Mirzabeiki et al. (2021);
	identify and reveal the level of relationships among the supply	Schoenherr et al. (2015);
	chain participants. Social network analysis describes and	Soares et al. (2017)
	analyses the interconnections of supply chain network nodes.	Source et ul. (2017)
	Social network theory examines how social links convey	
	information, influence media, and modify behaviours. It equally	
	helps managers map informal communication channels and	
	workflow networks. Social network theory helps managers map, oversee, and influence social networks. Organisations leverage	
	social networks to identify collaborative supply	
	chain opportunities.	

2.7.1 *Resource Dependence Theory*

Resource Dependence Theory aim to minimise an organisation's over-dependence on suppliers of its most needed products. Instead, organisations should create effective relationships that help them respond to customers' demands and maximise profit. The resource dependence theory emphasises relationships based on the effective and efficient exchange of resources among the supply chain partners (Pfeffer, 1987). The theory recognises that an organisation cannot be entirely a supplier of its own and they needed resources for production, which implies that it is dependent on materials from other organisations (Emerson, 1962). It highlights power imbalances that can occur when, for example, one organisation depends on another for essential inputs that it cannot receive elsewhere. It also promotes collaboration across organisational boundaries and focuses on cost management of the supply chain partners. Resource dependence theory has been proven to be helpful in various applications within a supply chain framework (de Camargo Fiorini et al., 2018; Hazen et al., 2016). The resource dependence theory is important in effectively managing organisational relationships, operations and resources by providing the enabling guide and analysis of performance to achieve the desired goals and objectives (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978). It seeks to provide the enabling environment for organisations to effectively and efficiently exchange resources, improve relationships with suppliers, manage uncertainty, and balance dependency in transitions (Heide, 1994).



Figure 2-12: Resource Dependence Theory Source: Adopted from Delke (2015).

Resource dependence theory is instituted on value creation which helps organisations to achieve their goals and objectives by acquiring the needed materials for operation at low costs and within a conducive environment which ensures quality delivery and minimises uncertainty (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978).

Recent research has proved that Jeffrey Pfeffer and Gerald R. Salancik initiated this theory in the 1970s (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978). The key idea of resource dependence theory is that an organisation must engage in a transaction with another organisation within the same environment to acquire its needed materials for production, which create a need for collaboration of organisations to achieve the desired outcome and improve performance. It is important to note that resources are essential for the effective operation of any organisation, which implies that an organisation can achieve its optimal performance when it can meet its customer's demands timely and at a low cost.

Pfeffer, in their revised edition of his book, says that,

"Resource dependence was originally developed to provide an alternative perspective to economic theories of mergers and board interlocks and to understand precisely the type of interorganisational relations that have played such a large role in recent 'market failures'". (Pfeffer & Salancik, 2003).

The theory is effectively managed on three fundamental ideas: social context matters, organisation autonomy strategies, and the pursuit of interests and power. This theory explains the importance for organisations to understand how to operate with their internal and external sources or collaborators. Organisations seek to have the power to control resources and maximise profit by operating at low costs (Pfeffer & Salancik, 2003).

Contributions of Resource Dependence Theory in the Supply Chain

The resource dependence theory has been applied in management, specifically in the supply chain, to enhance effective decision-making, acquisition and merger, management of uncertainty and environmental control interconnected by trust and power (Ireland & Webb, 2007).

The resource dependence theory can be unfolded into core components which include decisions on whether to make or buy, the sourcing strategy, the selection of suppliers and the long-term contract strategy to understand how it is applied.

Make or Buy

Organisations engaged in production found it difficult for effective decision-making about whether to make or buy the needed materials due to uncertainties surrounding the organisational environment. The resource dependence theory provides in-depth knowledge for organisations to determine whether resources should be internally insourced or obtained from external suppliers. The decision to make or buy is very strategic for any organisation for effective action, which can be realised by accurate forecasts of demand and the capacity to respond accordingly. It is implied that an organisation must rely on other organisations for its limited resources to be operational. As a result, to avoid becoming overly reliant on external suppliers, an organisation either produces its resources internally or forges strong partnerships with other organisations that share their vision for success (Aldrich & Pfeffer, 1976).

The resource dependence theory employs the vertical integration approach, which means that organisations' supply chains principally rest on the effective sourcing of resources. Buying organisations' trust in suppliers influences the confidence and decision to make or buy (D. Malatesta & C. Smith, 2014). Shook et al. (2009) recognise two key components that constitute the decision-making process of making or buying. The first step looks at the decision-making process by examining and evaluating how crucial the resources are to the organisational operation and success. The second step considers other alternative resources and their availability within the environment of the host organisation. Consequently, dependency plays a role when there are few suppliers and a lack of alternative resources, leading to organisations depending heavily on their suppliers for the scarce resource needed for production. Nienhüser (2008) suggests that buying organisations can increase their control over supplying organisations by minimising dependence on external suppliers of materials and developing the production of the needed resources internally. This decision provides control, effective resource management and stability, which help organisations to actualise the desired outcomes and improve performance (Handfield, 1993; Handfield & Bechtel, 2002).

Sourcing Strategy

This strategy considers the capability and barriers within the business environment which affect performance. The strategy is important in the organisational environment as it has useful tools that help analyse the importance of each resource in an organisation's operation, including leverage items, strategic items, non-critical items, and bottleneck items. The sourcing strategy enables an

organisation to identify these items, represented in the two-by-two matrix (Kraljic-matrix; Garzon et al., 2019). Applying the Kraljic-matrix can influence decision-making in the supply chain based on the strategic sourcing process and the importance of resources in need, urgency and timeframe (Kraljic, 1983). Kraljic (1983) in the two-by-two matrix, present the profit impact levels and supply risk levels which help the buyer's and suppliers' relationship, as shown in Figure 2-13.





Figure 2-13: Dimensions and categories in the Kraljic matrix Source: Adopted from Kraljic (1983) and Montgomery et al. (2018).

The benefits and weaknesses of sourcing strategy are that it provides the long-term relationship needed by an organisation to operate with its suppliers by failing in the area of good governance due to organisational confidentiality of information leading to a lack of transparency and accountability in the system to effectively manage the collaboration (Casciaro & Piskorski, 2005).

Resource dependence theory showed that less valued resources with little impact on organisational performance could be sourced when needed without buffer or inventory to use sourcing strategy efficiently. The viewpoint of the theory is that effective utilisation of sourcing strategy helps organisations to source for products that are scarce and mostly needed to keep the operation of an organisation and, in so doing, lower the dependency of organisations on their suppliers (Kraljic, 1983). The leverage resources under resource dependence theory have high values and a higher impact on organisations' effective performance, which should be prioritised.

Some resources seem to be scarce but have numerous suppliers available. Therefore, a sourcing strategy suggests that organisations should employ an effective sourcing strategy when sourcing for this type of resource and focus on cost minimisation to maximise profits and quality because product availability is not the problem (Kraljic, 1983).

Bottleneck products are classified as having limited or one supplier, which has a low financial effect on the organisation and may affect the operation and performance. Consequently, it is crucial to understand that the product supplier is crucial for an organisation's effective operation; therefore, robust collaboration between buyer and seller is vital. Furthermore, to reduce buyers' over-dependence on suppliers, inventory or buffer stock is required, which has been helping the organisation in overcoming supply chain issues (Kraljic, 1983).

Sheppard (1995) proposes that partnerships of an organisation should consider achieving a balanced flow of products from suppliers through resource dependence approach to the delivery of key products for survival. Nevertheless, Shook et al. (2009) employed resource dependence theory, considered using a strategic sourcing approach and revealed that bottleneck products are significant to an organisation's operations and performances. Such products may have few suppliers in the market. Therefore, an organisation can consider this approach to achieve an effective and efficient flow of resources with an emphasis on long-term partnerships, which help reduce uncertainty in the chain. However, dealing with critical resources with few resources may result in supplier dependency. Therefore, the buyer must explore collaboration and partnership with other relevant stakeholders, merging or having a joint venture, or continue procuring in the same way (Ranga et al., 2019; Williams & Lilley, 1993). A partnership or merger increases the organisation's access to needed materials and products according to Hillman et al. (2009). Caniels and Gelderman (2005) state that resource dependence theory has been applied in organisation and operation risk in the supply chain, organisation uncertainties and purchasing power.

The key implication of resource dependence theory in the supply chain is that it reduces the number of suppliers, which could lead to a higher dependency through partnerships. On the other hand, closer partnerships could result in a higher level of information sharing in the supply chain, which is crucial in reducing uncertainty in the supply chain (Handfield, 1993).

Suppliers Selection

Supplier selection exists under different conditions, which entirely depends on an organisation's choice to select from a range of suppliers based on their criteria to achieve the desired or intended goals and objectives. An organisation can choose a strong or weak supplier to supply its critical products for operation. In this study, a strong supplier is referred to as one that can deliver products in good quality, timely and in expected quantities (Aouadni et al., 2019). A weaker supplier may be referred to as a supplier with little capability to deliver. They are sometimes controlled or influenced by the buying organisation, and supply is always in batches due to a lack of capacity but is always available and sometimes cheaper (Aouadni et al., 2019).

Additionally, the supplier's selection strategy helps manage uncertainty by identifying small or local suppliers with simple processes and is flexible in delivering on time and at a low cost (Aouadni et al., 2019). Conversely, in the supply chain, the interdependency of organisations or buyer-supplier relationships is a challenge, especially when it involves powerful actors who tend to negatively to some of the organisations in partnership as demonstrate by Caniels and Gelderman (2005). Sometimes the organisation shift its uncertainties of purchasing organisation to suppliers, which in most cases results in a loss from the end of the supplier and also hinders its effective performance from achieving the competitive advantage due to risks and uncertainties associated with the transaction (Walker & Weber, 1984).

For example, the selection of effective suppliers, the size, nature of sourcing items, the priority of the product to the organisation and the scarce nature of the resources is very important to consider (Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978). According to Verma and Pullman (1998), the component to be considered when selecting suppliers include quality, affordability (cost), time and the flexibility to deliver. Dependency, in some cases, results in a monopoly in the supply chain when there are one, or very few, suppliers of the product in the business environment, and this often emerges as a result of a lack of partnership and collaboration among parties in the supply chain (Hillman et al., 2009).

Effective supplier selection focuses more on reducing suppliers in the supply chain and on the core ones to maximise profit and improve performance. However, it is important to recognise that the selection of fewer suppliers increases the suppliers' power and makes a greater dependency on the buyer (Florez-Lopez, 2007).

The resource dependence theory suggests that businesses should utilise transparent and efficient strategies for the supplier's selection and management to prevent dependency imbalances. Based

on the buyer-supplier relationship in the supply chain, the buyer has the ability or power to choose a supplier, whether from the influential or weaker ones. However, the prime factor in business is to reduce too much dependency. However, the selection should be carefully executed because the selection of a powerful or a weak supplier could result in exploitation or misuse, which may negatively impact the established relationship between the buyer and supplier (Caniels & Gelderman, 2005). Effective partnerships, alliances and mergers, or joint ventures may help organisations reduce uncertainties and higher dependency on business operations through vertical integration (Galbraith & Stiles, 1984).

Just-In-Time is importance in the supply chain as it provides the strategies for effective and timely delivery most used by many manufacturing organisations. Manufacturing organisations employed Just-In-Time approach as a supply chain strategy which helps in the reduction of inventory and effective management of resources leading to customer satisfaction (Handfield, 1993). Just-In-Time can be effectively utilised in a business where information sharing is the priority which drives the operation and performance of buyer and supplier. When used as a sourcing strategy in the supply chain, the Just-In-Time methodology decreases transaction risk while simultaneously increasing the buyer organisation's reliance on product suppliers to produce on time and to the agreed-upon quality (Handfield, 1993).

Long-Term Contracts Strategy

Long-term contracts bring together two or more organisations into a partnership which could be buyers or suppliers coming together to achieve a common goal. A long-term contract is employed in an organisation, particularly transaction activities, to uncertainty, and its emphasis is on creating a robust relationship which will stand the test of time or be sustainable (Handfield, 1993). Furthermore, the effective use of resources dependence theory in the organisation's operation act as a tool for reducing organisational uncertainties, which may negatively impact the organisation's performance through efficient partnership. Therefore, the key factor in managing and maintaining a relationship is establishing a long-term contract, which includes mergers, alliances and joint ventures while upholding diverse identities (Casciaro & Piskorski, 2005; Williams & Lilley, 1993; Yu et al., 2019). Additionally, in such arrangements, interdependency plays a key role in the buyers' and suppliers' relationships, which can be sustained by the adequate flow of information (Caniels & Gelderman, 2005). The resource dependence theory recognises and suggests that the relationship is the mechanism for buyer-supplier collaboration, which is necessary for an effective partnership for both parties. The contract strategy employed in buyer-supplier relationships largely depends on the joint venture's size, resource type, and power of control (Handfield, 1993). Resource dependence theory presents the fundamental concepts when dealing with long-term contracts; a long-term contract should focus on meeting customer demand which is essential for business success. The organisation should aim at having enough capacities to enable the effective delivery of products timely. The parties involved should develop robust measures to reduce risk and uncertainties to improve performance, and inventory should be effectively managed (D. Malatesta & C. Smith, 2014; D. Malatesta & C. R. Smith, 2014; Slowinski et al., 2009). Table 2-10 Summarise Resource Dependence Theory for Supply Chain Decisions.

Finally, the author of this study analyses several opinions of extant research on the resourcedependent theory, reveals the related views in the literature reviewed and accepts the opinion to be in line with this study's direction. Therefore, the resource dependence theory will be applied to examine further supply chain collaboration in improving performance in Nigeria's oil and gas industry.

Supply Chain Decision Making Points				
Resource Dependency Theory	Uncertainty	Dependence	Problematic	Improvement Strategy
Make or Buy	Acquiring resources from external suppliers increases uncertainty	Closer relationships in order to reduce uncertainty	High irregularity in the power level in buyer – supplier relationships could lead to uncertainty	A well-made governance can reduce uncertainty by contracting
Sourcing Strategy	Internal production of resource could reduce uncertainty	High dependence on fewer suppliers in case	Selecting more powerful suppliers	Long-term contracting will increase dependence

Table 2-10: Summary of Resource Dependence Theory for Supply Chain Decisions.

		of supply base reduction	will increase dependence	
Supplier Strategy	The make or buy lead to predicament between increasing dependency to reduced uncertainty	Uncertainty can be reduced by implementing closer relationships, leading to higher dependency	A higher irregularity of power between supplier and buyers could lead to mix-up	Contracting to reduce uncertainty could lead to higher level of dependence
Awarding Contracts	Make critical resource with higher supply uncertainty. Buyer non-critical resources with low supply uncertainty Strive for all alliances for non-critical resources with high supply uncertainty	Selecting a resourcing strategy based on a products portfolio analysis. Strive for a bigger supply base for leverage and bottleneck items and smaller supply base for routine and strategic items	Selecting equally powerful of slightly weaker suppliers, in order to keep a strong bargaining position and reduce the risk of mix-up	Matching contractual framework with suppliers and product characteristics. Use long term contracts to manage close organisational relationship

Source: Adopted from Pfeffer and Salancik (1978)

2.7.2 Transaction Cost Theory

Transaction cost theory focuses more on organisations' connections and integration with each other in the supply chain to achieve common goals and intended or desired outcomes, from customers to suppliers and suppliers to consumers. Transaction cost theory was developed by Ronald Coase and has changed over time; it has been applied in several sectors, fields and organisations (Pitelis & Wahl, 1998). Transaction cost theory is one of the popular theories in supply chain management, which help and has contributed to the successful investigation of the organisation's supply chain activities (Ning & Baowen, 2008; Williamson, 2008a, 2008b). Williamson (2008b) research on the impact of transaction cost theory suggests that an organisation can be economically efficient when its operations costs are greatly controlled or minimised. Any transaction in business attracts costs. Also, Transaction cost theory states that organisations need to manage, control, and monitor their operations effectively. Organisations' performance improvement largely depends on how gainfully engaged in managing and monitoring its transaction and minimising costs (internal and external) and other important processes that may help sustain the business operation (Ning & Baowen, 2008; Williamson, 2008a, 2008b).

Transaction cost theory examines how supermarkets in Bangkok and Nanjing have changed their approaches to sourcing fresh fruit over time (Ruben et al., 2007). The findings by Large et al. (2011), grounded in transaction cost theory, highlight the significance of suppliers' adaptation to sustain 3PL relationships in the supply chain process, which as a result, improves their performance in the supply chains. A recent study builds on transaction cost theory to examine how organisations leverage supply chain relational investments and technological collaboration to maintain their business relationship portfolios (Léger et al., 2006). Midttun et al. (2007) examine how transaction cost theory might assist managers in integrating corporate social responsibility throughout supply chains. It analyses prospective expansions of the "rationalist" paradigm of industrial organisation at the company and supply chain levels. Pirttila et al. (2020) examine operational working capital management within the Russian automotive supply chain using the transaction cost theory as a lens. Chao et al. (2013) also applied transaction cost theory to supply chain trust and commitment to boost the competitiveness of the hospitals through effective supply chain management.

A conceptual model for the influence of relational mechanisms and market contracts on crossenterprise knowledge trading in supply chains is proposed using transaction cost theory (X. Zhang et al., 2012). Transaction cost theory provides diverse perspectives that lead to reconsidering standard approaches to inter-organisational collaboration (Spalanzani & Samuel, 2007). Using the idea of transaction costs, Youn et al. (2012) empirically explore the interrelationships between information sharing, information quality, mutual trust, and supply chain flexibility. Zhao et al. (2018) use transaction cost theory to construct a dependence-trust-integration model to moderate contract management difficulties in an organisation. Prior research indicates that strategic decisions and transaction cost theory exploits automotive supply chain inefficiencies (Sakuramoto et al., 2019). Transaction Cost Theory investigates supply chain resource integration to drive company performance in an organisation (Woehner et al., 2013). Transaction Cost Theory investigates supply chain resource integration to drive company performance in an organisation (Wei & Ou, 2010). The transaction cost theory was used to study the market for nursery products in Germany as part of an analysis of supply chain management (Kaim & Mueller, 2009). An application of transaction cost theory to a study on fourth-party logistics providers as a coordinating and building agent for supply chain systems (Guojun, 2008). A chain of multiple intermediary models was created to address problems based on the supply chain management strategies through transaction cost theory for Chinese businesses in the digital economy (Yang et al., 2022).

In addition, Grover and Malhotra (2003) researched transaction cost frameworks in operations and supply chain management and proposed enhancing processes, monitoring activities, creating efficient problem-solving abilities, and building and maintaining trust and confidence with partners. This means that the supply chain process should be vital to maintain relationships between customers and suppliers, ensure the transaction's low cost is maintained to maximise profit and improve the general performance.

However, transaction cost theory has been criticised by some researchers such as Ghoshal and Moran (1996). They argue that transaction cost theory needs to sufficiently point out the control structure that could foster resourceful performance. In addition, they state that transaction cost theory needs to explain the efficacy of social controls, where the connections conform with the organisation's goals and how to limit the threat of opportunism. Also, Griesinger (1990) and Nooteboom et al. (1997) argued on the viewpoint of "trust," which some vital components of trust, such as personal relations and social customs, are underrepresented in theory, and these can play a crucial role for official contracts and business controls. Despite these criticisms, transaction cost theory is practised in numerous organisations and remains an essential theory in supply chain management and operations management (Jones et al., 1997).

The transaction cost theory's primary purpose is to serve as economic reasons for effective decision-making and promote vertically integrated organisations. This study analyses the views and ideas expressed in the literature on transaction cost theory which are in line with the direction of this thesis and will subsequently reflect on the theory as a lens to further examine the supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement. This study suggested that the concerned

partners should apply transaction cost theory to investigate operations and supply chain management issues in the oil and gas industry.

One recent study uses transaction cost theory to comprehend better how blockchain may affect supply chain relationships, particularly regarding transaction costs and governance choices (Schmidt & Wagner, 2019). Schmidt and Wagner further noted that assets specification, transaction frequency, environmental uncertainty and behavioural uncertainty are the determining factors for governance cost and structure. Another researcher established a paradigm that suggests transaction cost savings can be realised by using Information communication technology in the entire market hierarchy and industrial value chain (Wigand, 2003). Figure 2-14 presents the framework and overview of transactional cost theory in an organisation. For further comprehensive information empirical evidences on transaction cost theory see Schmidt and Wagner (2019), and Grover and Malhotra (2003).



Figure 2-14: The framework of transactional cost theory Source: Adopted from Schmidt and Wagner (2019); Slangen et al. (2008)

2.7.3 Systems Theory

Systems theory is the interdisciplinary theory employed in different sectors or organisations. Even though it has no universally accepted definition, it has helped understand changes in organisational operation and has impacted in many ways of performance. Testa and Sipe (2006) research systems theory and state that it helps strengthen operations and build organisational relationships by understanding the root cause of problems in the system and helps in providing effective resolutions. Table 2-11 presents the various definitions of system theories from difference scholars with their key elements.

Definitions	Key Elements
A scientific theory is an attempt to bind together in a systematic fashion the knowledge that one has of some particular aspect of the world of experience. The aim is to achieve some form of understanding. Where this is usually cashed out as an explanatory power and fertility.	 Binds together in a systematic fashion. Explanatory Powers and predictive Fertility.
A unified system of laws or hypotheses, with explanatory force.	Unified System
We understand a theory as comprises two elements:1. A population of models.2. Various hypotheses linking those models with the system in the real world.	 Population of models. Links to the real world through the hypotheses.
An abstract calculus is the logical skeleton of the explanatory system. A set of rules that assign an empirical content to the abstract calculus by relating it to the concrete materials of observations and experiment. An interpretation or model for the abstract calculus, which supplies flesh to skeletal structure in terms of more or less familiar conceptualised or visualisable materials.	 Logical skeleton of the explanatory system. Set of rules. Models for abstract calculus, which supplies some flesh for skeletal structures.
A coherent set of principles or statements explains a large set of observations or findings	Set of propositionsexplains a large set of observations

Table 2-11: The definition of System theory and its key elements

In the 1950s, Ludwig von Bertalanffy contributed to the development of systems theory. During that time, several researchers were primarily focused on living organisms in the study of biology (Bertalanffy, 1956). Bertalanffy's studies of science methodology led to general systems theory. However, his studies were mainly from the mathematics viewpoint and involved classical

Source: Adopted from Adams et al. (2014).

modelling of the system, in which he suggested that systems are affected by location size and time (Patel et al., 2018). Thus, Cellier (2001) suggested that a dynamic understanding of systems is required to examine open systems effectively.

Gripsrud et al. (2006) in the study of logistics issues in supply chain management, applied systems theory and stated that in the 1950s, the foremost theory was neoclassical economic theories which concentrated on "trade-offs" and "total cost". Systems theory became known in management in the 1970s and was applied to supply chains for better understanding of organisational operations and performance. Systems theory was considered a new direction in the mid-1980s when it was applied to examine an organisation's optimal performance. Adequate flow of products and the reduction of environmental risk and managing organisational uncertainty should be a top supply chain concern, where systems theory provide the enabling connections, relationship, and tools to achieve its goals and objectives.

An organisation is considered an open system which prioritises its goals following the needs of the environment by creating a relationship that will facilitate the supply chain, which helps the effective distribution of resources and enable it to achieve market competitive advantage. It also supports the researchers to carry out interaction and interview research to understand the root of research gaps (see Figure 2-15). Effective performance can be achieved by the ability of the organisation as a system to have a robust structure and well-defined policies. For instance, for an organisation to attain an effective and sustainable performance, it must be supported by enabling environment and ensure effective communication in the system to reduce uncertainties in the organisational operation.

The oil and gas industry are highly involved in the supply chain of its products. It is an organisation classified as an open system that involves internal and external suppliers in the context of systems theory. Therefore, organisations must utilise systems theory to identify ways to sustain their collaboration with partners by strengthening the relationship and effective communication in the system, monitoring environmental changes and ensuring lower operations costs to improve performance. Kumar et al. (2019) applied a systems theory strategy to study the factors affecting

supply chain performance and recognised the importance of customer satisfaction and the realisation of organisational goals as critical factors for performance improvement.



Figure 2-15: An elementary theoretical framework for open systems theory Source: Adopted from Michalakoudis (2019)

The essential purposes of a business are the provision of value for money and the implementation of policies that will result in effective delivery. The oil and gas industry are not an exception to this. This implies that a business operates at a lower cost, optimising its resources and processes with a complete view of collaboration design. The oil and gas industry are a public organisation, specifically an 'open system' that interacts locally and globally with suppliers. However, it is crucial to recognise that systems are not static and change over time, which means that procedures and relationships also change. Therefore, it is significant for an organisation to develop its supply chain strategy and collaboration to enable performance improvement and achieve lower operating costs and competitive advantage in the market.

Therefore, the author of this thesis believes that a systems approach is suitable for investigating the adoption of supply chain collaboration as a tool for performance improvement in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. Table 2-12 discusses the characteristics of system theory and how system theory is viewed through traditional and system perspective. Further detail on the differentiation of system and traditional views of system theory can be found in the study of Kanungo and Jain (2007)

Characteristic	Traditional Thinking	Systems Thinking
Overall view	Reductionist, focus is on parts	Holistic, Focus is on the whole
Key processes	Analysis	Synthesis
Types of analysis	Deduction	Induction

Table 2-12: System Theory: The differentiation of Systems and traditional view

Focus of investigation	Attributes of objects	Interdependence of objects
State during investigation	Static	Dynamic
Basic assumption	Cause and effect	Multiple, Probabilistic causality
Problem resolution	A static solution	An adaptive system or modelling
Operation of Parts	Optimal	Sub-optimal

Source: Adopted from Kanungo and Jain (2007)

2.7.4 Network Theory in Supply Chain

The network theory is one of the most influential theories for procurement and supply chain management. The theory deals with the relationships between organisations, suppliers, and customers in the supply chain. In the 1930s, Jacob Moreno developed a Network theory applied to several fields of study, including Business and Management, Psychology, physic and biology (Freeman, 2004). The theory became popular in logistics and supply chains in the 1970s and 1980s by Harland C. (1996) and other authors. It fundamentally looked at organisation relationships, encouraged organisations' joint ventures and employed a strategic alliance approach to guide the supply chain process by striking a balance between the partners.

The term network defines a relationship that connects two or more organisations to achieve a specific purpose, goal and objective (Harland, 1996; Harland & Knight, 2001). Chang et al. (2012) suggested that a comprehensive supply chain network is hard to model; therefore, it only provides a direct relationship among chain members but may not encompass suppliers of the organisation's primary supplier. Thorelli (1986) states that networks connect organisations in long-term relationships with their partners. Furthermore, networks are vital to organisations' operation, which depends on organisations' resources for effective production and performance (Håkansson & Ford, 2002).

It is significant to note the potential of network theory in organisations' performance. The theory guides organisations' operations to achieve a competitive advantage and promote information and knowledge sharing within the partnership, which helps many organisations with effective decision-making (Gulati et al., 2000). In addition, the theory is relevant in procurement because it facilitates

timely decision-making among partners by effectively managing demands and suppliers' selection (Monczka et al., 2015). Also, organisations engaged in a network assure that the selected suppliers can deliver the needed products for effective and smooth production (Monczka et al., 2015). Then again, the relationships among organisations are on the basic trust, commitment, and it can result in value-added for both parties (R. Monczka, K. Peterson, et al., 1998; R. Monczka, R. Trent, et al., 1998; R. M. Monczka et al., 1998; Trent & Monczka, 1998).

Figure 2-16 demonstrated how the operations of network theory during the supply chain operation in an organisation. It further shows the connectivity and the relationship between the focal companies and their key partners.



Figure 2-16: Model Assumptions for Supply Chain Network Theory Design Source: Adopted from Imran et al. (2020) and Borgatti and Halgin (2011)

Since network theory is concerned with organisational relationships, it plays an important role in the decision-making process and collaboration of a supply chain Network. This research is pertinent because it seeks to understand and investigates what enables and inhibits effective performance systems in the oil and gas sector supply chains.

Network Theory in Supply Chain

Building organisational relationships are prioritised in the network theory's broad perspective. However, other concepts of network theory also exist. For example, networks of supply chains do not function independently (Håkansson & Ford, 2002). However, organisations in a network must be informed of any changes in the decision-making process. This could be by involving participating partners that constitute the supply chain relationship to have smooth business conduct (Håkansson & Ford, 2002). Harland (1996) study examined the supply chain that relates to management and the structure of businesses and identified different factors significant for forming a network with other organisations. These include the selection of effective teams who are competitive and have the capacity to achieve a competitive advantage, the ability to manage, monitor and sustain the relationship effectively and having better knowledge to observe competitors in the business environment and innovation (Harland, 1996).

Håkansson and Snehota (1989) state that if an organisation engages in a network with other businesses, they agree to share communication or information and understand the operation pattern to achieve the desired outcome. The commitment that leads to information sharing and other vital collaboration elements between an organisation can be achieved by networking and connections. This is the key aspect that this study seeks to explore and understand better how collaboration facilitates organisations' performance.

According to Shook et al. (2009) network theory needs to explain when to make, buy, or collaborate with other organisations. The theory guides organisations on whom to buy, hire or collaborate with within the business environment. Similarly, Håkansson and Snehota (1989) state that

"...some of the organisation's relationship with other organisations in the network constitute in themselves one of the most - if not the most - valuable resources that it possesses."

The researcher agrees with the suggestion that organisations should partner with each other in search of essential materials, and the network should create a relationship that will be a significant resource. Furthermore, Network theory in the supply chain fosters trust, relationships, and teamwork, which improves an organisation's effectiveness and operations.

Other impressions of the network theory in supply chain management include the ability of organisations to come together to achieve a competitive advantage. As stated before, no organisation in a network practice an isolated operation and networks support organisations in sustaining the significance of a partnership. However, the author of this study believed in the views of network theory, particularly the creation of robust relationships for organisations which is one

of the enablers of supply chain collaboration, and performance is the main component under investigation. Miles et al. (2006) state that efforts to establish a strong and sustainable relationship should be crucial to organisations that want to collaborate with others. They should start with internal units and departmental building relationships, leading to effective overall mergers. This could be a case of an organisation getting its own house in order before becoming a partner to others. Moreover, the main factor of an efficacious network is access to resources when needed. Collaboration promotes an organisation's network by creating a healthy through teamwork and boosts knowledge sharing and effective and efficient management of resources within the supply chain (Bernardes & Zsidisin, 2008).

Furthermore, the networks in the supply chain can be achieved through information sharing among organisations which typically information on core skills needs to be shared. Therefore, organisation information sharing in the supply chain becomes problematic as several organisations can be nervous about opponents taking advantage of their best skills and resource or their weaknesses (Ballou et al., 2000). The fear of not sharing information may negatively impact the functionality of network theory, as the core aspect is subjugated (Lamming et al., 2000). Collaborations through networks are expected to be transparent, so that information sharing between parties should not lead to problems but rather enable the engaged organisations to achieve their desired outcomes or anticipated competitive advantages. Collaboration in the network includes access to resources, effective information sharing, utilisation of technology, exploring better market opportunities and effective allocation and management of resources (Gulati et al., 2000). Gulati et al. (2000) identified risk-sharing and effective outsourcing processes as the benefits of network theory and enablers that help organisations realise their goals and objectives within scope, scale, and time.

Application of Network Theory in the Supply Chain Decision

In order to assess the contribution of network theory in supply chain management, it is essential to recognise the purpose of procurement in a business, such as antecedent processes, supplier strategy and supportive processes. The procuring organisation is confronted with sensitive decision-making opinions in every process stage.

The "antecedent process" are activities outside an organisation's responsibilities and includes procurement targets and demand planning, two key inputs required for effective procurement. The

procurement targets involve sourcing, suppliers' selection, negotiation, and product delivery. The antecedent process enables the procuring organisation to control how to source the needed inputs. The procuring organisation can determine whether to obtain supplies internally or externally or to collaborate single or multiple sourcing approach, and this process can only be achieved by effective decision-making (Schiele, 2006). The demand planning process deals with the size or volume of supplies, quality, delivery time and product price, which must be considered. In order to achieve an effective supply chain, demand planning must be given priority which guides organisations in deciding to make or buy (Cousins et al., 2008; Monczka et al., 2015). This study seeks to identify the processes that help organisations achieve their goals, which are captured in the antecedent process and may be utilised to investigate supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the Nigerian oil and gas industry.

The "supplier strategy" involves the contract between the suppliers and procuring organisation in terms of the suppliers' capacity and competencies to meet or fulfil the product demand (Monczka et al., 2015). The process relates to the tendering process, which includes awarding contracts, receiving quotations, negotiations, and screening of potential suppliers as part of the selection process. Before selecting a supplier, the procurer should confirm that the supplier has the capacity to deliver the anticipated result. This is to ensure the suppliers agree with the set terms and conditions of delivery based on the prescribed contract agreement and negotiation. Network theory gauges the process to ensure that activities and performance maintain the quality and cost agreed upon and put an effective delivery instrument in place to meet demand (Monczka et al., 2015).

The "supportive process" is essential to the functionality of the supply chain and the effective management of organisation operations. It does not create a product but rather facilitates the supply and distribution of the products across the business partners. In addition, the supportive process includes providing vital information for effective business planning, logistics and transport and efficient allocation of resources for smooth operations (Monczka et al., 2015).

Contribution of Network Theory to Supply Chain Management

Demand Planning

Effective demand planning gives an organisation the opportunity to make or buy its inputs, as a buying organisation may be able to decide to produce in with the environment or to source from external suppliers.

If a decision to embark on production by sourcing for resources within its environment, the organisation may face risk and uncertainties because some resources are very scarce and have fewer suppliers. Therefore, it is important to involve the network through the collaborative supply chain to reduce uncertainty and continue efficient performance in business (Choi & Hong, 2002; Gupta et al., 2000; Li & Dai, 2009).

Making an organisation tries to source inputs internally, but if the organisation has no means of making its inputs internally, it is likely to decide to outsource. (Salancik, 1995) states that many researchers of network or collaborative supply chain look at information sharing, and robust relationship leads to effective allocation of material resources, which enable organisations to be competitive in the business environment. The collaboration of focal organisations with other stakeholders in the supply chain enables a high level of information sharing, facilitating accurate demand forecasts and teamwork (Samaddar & Kadiyala, 2006). In addition, the benefits of a network in the supply chain include increased capabilities among partners, ensuring resources available for effective production and distribution, and risk-sharing (Yee & Platts, 2006). A network approach contributes immensely to organisations' procurement and supply chain process, which guides them to actualise their intended desire by allowing timely information sharing among the partners, effective distribution of resources and lowering production uncertainties and risk (Hameri & Paatela, 2005). The network theory supports businesses in collaborating in their strategic planning and reasoning and, in doing so, widens their viewpoint and to think of more than the cost associated with an outsourcing process alone (De Toni et al., 1994b).

Procurement Strategy

The procurement strategy is an opportunity for organisations to make the decision to procure inputs of value from reliable suppliers who have the competencies to deliver as required. This enables organisations to make cost savings, achieve competitiveness and respond to demand on time (Rendon & Steven, 2005).

Important resources are prioritised, and organisations try to develop and establish a network with their suppliers to supply essential materials on time to maintain production space efficiently. Similarly, to achieve effective and smooth distribution of materials, organisations explore and use supportive processes such as effective logistics and transport systems to achieve their business objectives (Bvepfepfe, 2019). This approach of a collaborative supply chain focuses on the

increasing organisation or business performance, which is the core direction of this study. The theory can be useful in examining enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas industry.

In a collaborative organisation, the key strategy is to ensure that organisations remain focused on their vision and objectives. This supply network strategy is thought to increase supply performance across the whole network (Harland & Knight, 2001). Furthermore, collaboration among the organisation help to eliminate monopoly, level the price of the product and promote the use of suitable transport facilities (Christopher & Juttner, 2000). According to De Toni et al. (1994a) in a collaborative supply chain, connections are not only centred on product price but also on a coordinated effort to improve demand planning, goal actualisation, and teamwork.

Supplier Strategy

Selecting suitable suppliers and making decisive decisions are significant in the supply chain network. When an organisation decides to purchase something, a list of potential suppliers can be formed. At this point, it is crucial to establish a network for a solid relationship to ensure the efficient exchange of resources and information and to achieve a competitive edge in the market (Cousins et al., 2008). It is important to note that organisations in the collaborative supply chain are obliged to keep to terms and conditions. There should be a mutual agreement from the initial network stage because it is difficult for organisations in long-term contracts to disengage.

Negotiation and Delivery Mechanisms in the Supply Chain

Negotiation is an important factor in the collaborative supply chain. Normally, a contract is awarded to a supplier after some negotiation has ensued and an agreement has been established. Different types of contracts exist in networks or collaborations, such as long-term and short-term contracts, in which the length of the contract determines the supply chain strategies to be applied. Building a supply chain network requires trust and a solid relationship between partners. This can increase performance and reduce lead times due to unfettered information flow and more transparent policies for performance improvement (Aksoy & Öztürk, 2011). The selection of suppliers considers the offer price under good negotiation and how the supplier intends to deliver the outputs in the business environment. Network theory contributes to supply chain organisation by guiding the conducts and processes for effective collaborations among organisations (Prahinski & Benton, 2004).

Network theory presents a wider understanding of inter-organisational collaborations in a business environment as it identifies the effects of collaboration and its relationships in improving organisational performance (Halldorsson et al., 2007). Network theory is also useful in finding the strengths and weakness of an organisation and suggest that business managers develop a realistic assessment plan to achieve business success and understand the implication of doing business with and without plans. Finally, the inter-organisational collaboration is a determination to accomplish resource availability and increase productivity, which are key components in the business environment (Fawcett et al., 2009; Fayezi et al., 2010; Knoppen & Christiaanse, 2007).

It is important to recognise that network theory gives much attention to the effective operation and stability of organisations which can be achieved by effective planning and good relationships between partners (Halldorsson et al., 2007). Networking in business improves performance by aligning processes, selecting qualified suppliers, and allocating and distributing resources to the concerned supply chain stakeholders (Håkansson, 1987; Harland, 1996). Furthermore, other researchers affirmed that network theory is vital in scrutinising trust and long-term bilateral collaborations (Gadde & Håkansson, 2008). The additional value of network theory is its effectiveness for supply chain innovation, which is accomplished through information and knowledge sharing and the relationships that connect organisations (Miles & Snow, 2007).

Finally, after a cautious review of network theory, the author of this thesis considers the revealed contributions and benefits of network theory are related to measures and components identified in the literature by several authors on collaborative supply chain management and benefits for achieving supply chain performance of an organisation. As a result, network theory is accepted to be applied as lenses to examine the supply chain further performance improvement in the oil and gas industry. Table 2-13 shows the decision-making for the network theory on how it is applied.

Theory	Decision making			
	Make or buy	Have a specific Selection strategy when sourcing product	Have a specific Selection strategy for suppliers and making an effective decision	Contracts are awarded after negotiating with suppliers and recognising strategy of delivering the result
Network Theory Application in Supply Chain	The level of information sharing is high when working in a chain. Ensure uncertainties in demand are clarified.	Ensure strategies are linked together. Suppliers with a good reputation are chosen.	The relationship in the chain should be trustworthy.	The chain support long term contract Partnership is highly needed.

Table 2-13: Decision Matrix for the Network Theory
Precise forecast of	Ensure suppliers are	Value-adding between	-Ensure to prioritise the
demand	familiar with the product	the supplier and	delivery of the product
Sharing of risk	on demand.	organisation	and importance of the
	Transparency of	The relationship should	product on demand
	operations in the supply	include short- and long-	-
	chain	term approach.	
	Ensure information	Knowledge transfer	
	sharing on the plans,	should be encouraged	
	technological experience,	to improve	
	and delivery mechanism	performance in the	
	-	chain.	
		- Ensure competitive	
		advantage is achieved	
		in the chain	

Source: Wellenbrock (2013)

The common organisational theories of supply chain management considered to be used as lenses for this study include resource-dependent theory, transaction cost theory, open systems theory, and network theory. Their shortcoming is summarised in Table 2-14. Table 2-14 further summarises the limitations of the author's organisation theories in supply chain management. These theories identified components of supply chain management, as well as the limitations, are similar to the inhibitors of supply chain collaboration previously identified in the literature.

Theories	Citations		
Resource Dependent Theory Tangible and intangible resources influence the creation, sustainability, and achievement of competitive advantage of organisations.		de Camargo Fiorini et al. (2018) Emerson (1962); Pfeffer (1987) Pfeffer and Salancik (1978)	
Transaction Cost Theory	Achieve organisation efficiency and costs reduction through asset and material uncertainty. It promotes vertical integration.	Large et al. (2011); Ruben et al. (2007); Sakuramoto et al. (2019)	
Systems TheorySimplifying the relations among the components of the systems in order to gain a better understanding and analysis of values generated by the supply chain		Gripsrud et al. (2006); Patel et al. (2018); Testa and Sipe (2006)	
Network Theory	It increases inter-organisational relationships and the capabilities and competencies of the resources of the individual firms	Freeman (2004); Håkansson and Ford (2002); Monczka et al. (2015)	
	The shortcoming of theory in describing SCM studies		
Resource Dependent Theory	It focuses only on value creation through partnership.	Hazen et al. (2016); Heide (1994); Shook et al. (2009)	
Transaction TheoryCostVery little focus on personal and human relationships among organisations in the supply chain. Although it provides inter- organisational guidelines, it pays more attention to economic costs.		Jones et al. (1997); Kaim and Mueller (2009); Pilling et al. (1994)	
Systems Theory	The functional and power control view of operations is dominant.	Bertalanffy (1956); Cellier (2001)	
Network Theory In build capacity Hakansson and Snet		Bernardes and Zsidisin (2008); Håkansson and Snehota (1989); Lamming et al. (2000)	

Table 2-14: Application of organisational Theories in Supply Chain Management and their impediments

2.8 Chapter Summary

In summary, this chapter has laid the foundation for the research on supply chain collaboration and its impact on performance improvement in the oil and gas industry. The literature review provided a comprehensive understanding of supply chain management and collaboration, highlighting the common components such as information sharing, decision making, goal alignment, commitment, and trust that contribute to effective supply chain systems across various industries. However, it was evident that limited research has been conducted specifically on supply chain collaboration and its role in performance improvement within the oil and gas sector.

The identified gap in the literature underscores the significance of this study, as it aims to bridge the knowledge deficit and contribute to the enhancement of supply chain practices in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria. By reviewing relevant theories such as resource dependence theory, transaction cost theory, open systems theory, and network theory, the subsequent chapter will further analyse the supply chain collaboration processes through different lenses, providing valuable insights into achieving effective supply chain performance.

Considering the limited existing models for supply chain collaboration and performance improvement in the oil and gas industry, this research endeavours to develop a comprehensive model that addresses the unique challenges and opportunities in this sector. By integrating theoretical perspectives and empirical findings, this study aims to contribute to the body of knowledge in both supply chain management and the oil and gas industry.

As the research unfolds, it will shed light on the enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas sector, providing practical recommendations for organizations seeking to enhance their supply chain performance. Ultimately, the findings of this study have the potential to inform strategic decision-making and drive positive changes in supply chain practices within the oil and gas industry.

The focus of resource dependence theory is on how organisations rely on outside resources to operate efficiently. Understanding resource dependence theory led to emphasising collaborative connections and interdependencies between supply chain participants in the context of improving supply chain performance. According to this theory, partnerships, information exchange, and

efficient cooperation between suppliers and distributors may improve the overall performance and efficiency of the supply chain.

The Transaction Cost Theory compares the costs and advantages of carrying out transactions internally against outside. This theory help guide judgements on whether to outsource activities or maintain them in-house based on elements including transaction costs, coordination costs, and hazards in supply chain literature and model building. Discussions on how to improve the make-or-buy choice inside the supply chain may result.

Organisations are seen in Open System Theory as complex systems that interact with their surroundings. In applying this theory to supply chain performance it implies that supply chains should be flexible and sensitive to changes in the market, rules, and technology improvements. Models that contain adaptability, agility, and the capacity to respond to external forces may result from an open systems viewpoint.

The study of networks and how resources and information move across them is known as network theory. This theory was applied to describe and study the structure of supply chain networks in the context of supply chain performance improvement. It might highlight the value of hubs, weak linkages, and strong ties within the network, thereby leading tactics for enhancing communication, cooperation, and information flow.

Finally, this research embarks on a critical exploration of supply chain collaboration and performance improvement in the oil and gas industry, filling a crucial gap in the existing literature and aiming to contribute valuable insights and recommendations to both academia and industry practitioners. Through this endeavour, the research aspires to advance the understanding of effective supply chain management in the context of the oil and gas sector, and in doing so, make meaningful contributions to the broader field of supply chain research.

The next chapter presents and defends research design and methods and the ethical issues of studying supply chain collaboration adoption to improve performance in the oil and gas industry.

Chapter 3: Research Methodology

3.1 Introduction

This chapter discusses the choice of location and companies where the knowledge gap was mostly observed. The research philosophy for this study follows the procedure of research onion that was introduced by Saunders et al. (2020). The chapter will recognise the study's assumptions and provide an account of the research process and events that will transpire during the study. This part of the thesis presents the research methodology and identifies the activities of each step of the study design from the pilot study and main empirical study. This chapter will also present the data collection process and how it will be analysed, leading to findings. The study will be constructed on empirical findings and recognises the vitality of secondary data, which will help the robust and precise presentation of the study findings or outcomes. The researcher will employ qualitative methods by exploring a cross-section case study strategy, giving the researcher a better knowledge of the research topic.

Nevertheless, the researcher has chosen to study and investigate the adoption of supply chain collaboration in Nigeria's oil and gas industry because it is an area of the supply chain that many authors ignore. The researcher chose Nigeria for the study because of the underdevelopment of supply chain collaboration, particularly in the oil and gas sector; little academic research was found in the area (Figure 2-10), accessibility to participants for data collection, cost serving and time duration for the study.

3.2 Research Philosophy

The philosophy for this research will follow the process of the research onion designed by Saunders et al. (2020). The research onion gives a helpful guide and a systematic presentation of processes to fulfil the research's purpose and goals, including philosophies, approaches, tactics, choices, time spans, and methodologies and procedures that enable appropriate data collecting and analysis options.

Figure 3-1 depicts a design for the research methods that can be studied and the sets of mechanisms that can be implemented in the subsequent sections of this chapter.



Figure 3-1: The Research Onion Source: Adopted from Saunders et al. (2020)

The term research philosophy is a system that relies on reality and an assumption of knowledge development (Saunders et al., 2020). As mentioned in Saunders et al. study, the research onion is divided into six categories: research philosophies, research approaches, research strategies, research choice, research time horizons and finally, research techniques and procedures. The research philosophies consist of four philosophies: positivism, realism, interpretivism, and pragmatism. This interpretivism philosophy was used to identify and classify this research work within a research philosophy as it determines valid and necessary data for his study. This will make it possible for the researcher to select the approach to use and greatly aid in data collection (Creswell et al., 2007). The philosophical assumptions made by the researcher determine the method to be applied for the study, such as quantitative, qualitative, or mixed-method approach. The philosophical views reflect what the researcher recognises as the nature of reality (ontology), the basis of knowledge (epistemology), the function of values established in the research (axiology), the language utilised in the research (rhetoric), and the methods and process used in the research (methodology) (Creswell et al., 2007).

The study of Niglas (2010) presented an understanding of the adoption of research philosophy, which is more of a multi-dimensional set of varieties than separate positions. The application later

implies that studies use different philosophical fields to answer diverse research questions, meaning that researchers can assume more than one position. With these considerations, selecting a study philosophy is the responsibility of the researcher to choose based on the knowledge and process.

3.2.1 **Ontological Positions**

Ontology positions agree with the question of "what is the nature of reality?" (Alan, 2012; Bryman, 2011). Grix (2010) signposted that every researcher has understood how the world is structured and its values. Ontology is essential if the researcher understands the natural tendency of the study position (Creswell, 1994, 2014; Morgan & Smircich, 1980).

Critical views or observations about ontological enquiry are to establish whether social organisations should be entities of objectivity, in which reality is external to its social actors, or should be considered as social constructions drawn from the perceptions of social actors (Bryman et al., 2021) (Bryman et al., 2021). It is suggested that these two core differing standpoints are considered objectivism and constructivism (Alan, 2012). As shown in the views of ontology are all about the nature of the world and what is to know about it, as detailed in table 4.1.

Fable 2 1. Outological Desition *с* **1** 7 11. 0 1.

Table	3-1: Ontological Positions of Nature and Its Realities
	ONTOLOGICAL POSITIONS
	REALISM
	An external reality exists independent of our beliefs or understanding. Variants of realism include:
•	Naïve realism (Madill et al., 2000) or Shallow realism (Blaikie, 2007) - reality can be observed directly and accurately
•	Cautious realism (Blaikie, 2007) - reality can be known approximately or imperfectly rather than accurately
•	Depth realism (Blaikie, 2007), Critical or Transcendental realism (Bhaskar, 1978; Robson, 2002) - reality
	consists of different levels - the empirical domain that is made up of what we experience through our senses,
	the actual domain that exists regardless of whether or not it is observed, and the actual domain that refers to underlying processes and mechanisms
•	Subtle realism (Blaikie, 2007; Hammersley, 1992)– an external reality exists but is only known through the human mind and socially constructed meanings
•	Materialism is a variant of realism that recognises only material features, such as economic relations or physical features of the world, as holding reality. Values, beliefs, beliefs, or experiences are 'epiphenomena' –features that arise from, but do not shape, the material world.
	IDEALISM
	No external reality exists independent of our beliefs and understandings.
•	Subtle or Contextual or Collective idealism (Hughes & Sharrock, 1997; Madill et al., 2000; Shaw, 1999)-
	the social world is made up of representations constructed and shared by people in particular contexts
•	Relativism or Radical idealism (Hughes & Sharrock, 1997; Shaw, 1999) - there is no shared social reality,
	only a series of different (individual) constructions.

Source: Ritchie et al. (2013, p. 5)

3.2.1.1 Objectivism

Objectivism is one of the ontological positions that believe in the reality of events which are referred to as social incidents, which the researcher faces as external factors outside social control. An *objectivism* is a tangible object operating with rules and regulations at the organisational level. Under objectivism, it is believed that activities involve standard procedures; for instance, individual appointments are based on the division of labour and experience. Additionally, the social order is a true representation of an organisation, and the employed personnel is expected to conform to the requirements and standards of an organisation (Saunders et al., 2020). Objectivism is drawn on the perception that "external reality" exists independently of people's opinions or thoughts. Objectivism recognises organisation and culture, looking at how people conduct themselves. Culture and organisation are social entities that interrelate with external actors and have a tangible reality that operates within their system by Saunders et al. (2020).

3.2.1.2 Constructivism

Constructivism requires social actors to represent social events and their values. This implies that social incident exists in the constant version, not necessarily in social interactions. It suggests that reality mainly depends on the people's mindset as meaning is socially created from a happening. Therefore, there must be meaning to an existing independent reality. An individual's perception is essential, as no reality exists in isolation; this could be observation and a generalised view without facts. Objectivism and constructivism are two different variation positions which exist. Therefore, these two positions are best described in Table 3-1 above (Ritchie et al., 2013).

Critical realism is a combination of objectivism and constructivism positions. In addition, the insight is considered a legitimate union of the two extremes. The researcher adopted a critical realist position for the conduct of this study in order to gain in-depth insight into issues around the organisation.

3.2.1.3 Critical Realism

"Focuses on explaining what we see and experience, in terms of the underlying structure of reality that shape the observable events" (M. Saunders et al., 2012).

The study of Saunders et al. (2020) stated that realism refers to what you experience as the truth, including feelings, pictures of things in the actual world, and measurable observations as

"legitimate" forms of reality. Saunders et al. (2020) identify the two primary forms of realism. They recommend that the first set is "direct realism", which means something we experience and is an accurate representation of the world. For example, "*what you see is what you get; what we experience through our senses portrays the world accurately*" (Saunders et al., 2020).

Consequently, this view suggests that the world is relatively unchanging in the context of business, its organisational functions or activities, and the group or individual level. This position has, however, been criticised as being naive (naive realism) (Bryman, 2003; Easton, 2010; Ritchie et al., 2014). The criticism is that it assumes a perfect match between reality and the terms used to illuminate it. Bhaskar (1989, p. 2) argues that direct realists need to recognise that there exist structures and fundamental instruments which produce observable events and hence making views of direct realism artificial.

The second opinion of realism is "critical realism", which presents the acceptance of different positions between the theory of knowledge (epistemology) and the theory of being (ontology). Critical realists believe that observable events are formed or happen through unobservable proceedings, which can be known through investigation or examination of happenings around the society by identifying the cause, its effect and lesson. Critical realism shares cohesions with positivism as it adopted a scientific approach to knowledge development, and the use of the theory in social science differs from the natural science application. While natural science emphasises natural laws for interpreting and understanding data, social science looks at the social structures that have given rise to the event (Bhaskar, 1989).

The researcher accepts critical realism because it will enable the researcher to experience feelings of the world and experience feelings of the theme and the state of mind during intellectual processing (Saunders et al., 2020). Critical realists accept multi-level studies at different stages such as organisational, people and individual levels (Easton, 2010; Saunders et al., 2020). This method will help the researcher to observe social structures (Gorski, 2013). The approach will be adopted as it is best matched to facilitate an in-depth study of the causes of a particular incident or research context, which reinforces supply chain management studies (Easton, 2010; Saunders et al., 2020). The study of the adoption of supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas industry as a means of improving performance is a complex and evolving setting where the researcher will be required to be realistic in reporting events to achieve the study's goals and objectives.

3.2.2 Epistemological Position

Epistemology is the philosophical consideration of the understanding and validity of knowledge instead of beliefs (Blaikie, 1993; Matthews & Ross, 2010). Ritchie et al. (2013) in their investigations, suggest that epistemology highlights questions such as *"How can we learn about reality and what forms the basis of our knowledge"* (p. 6). The epistemological position advises a researcher on a worldview and theories about the study (Creswell & Clark, 2007; Guba, 1990, p. 17). The world views are shown in Table 3-2.

Post-positivism	Constructivism
• Determination	• Understanding
Reductionism	Multiple participant meanings
 Empirical observation and measurement 	 Social and historical construction
Theory verification	Theory generation
Transformative	Pragmatism
Political	Consequences of actions
 Power and justice-oriented 	Problem-centred
Collaborative	Pluralistic
Change-oriented	Real-world practice-oriented

Source: Creswell (2014, p. 6)

R. K. Yin (2003) criticises the positivism approach for irrational social scientific and multifaceted phenomena. On the other hand, Lincoln and Guba (2000) state that the positivism strategy observed that reality data is only partial. Derrouiche et al. (2010), in their research, suggested that positivism ignores less-visible underlying of enablers. Oppong (2014) conducted a study exploring the positivist method's deepness and indicated that the approach needs more depth of knowledge to build robust theories from complex organisations or situations. Pratt (2009) presents that positivism does not go beyond the observable reality, limiting its opportunities to identify hidden details (Bergene, 2007).

3.2.2.1 Interpretivism

The interpretivism approach seeks to create new, richer understandings and interpretations of the complex context of the social world (Saunders et al., 2020). Interpretivism focuses on the different views of humanity and the physical events that occur for meaning. Interpretivism studies believe that people differ from the natural sciences (Bryman, 2011). The approach is inductively coupled when a researcher obtains data for a study employing empathic neutrality to explore exactly observable and unseen links that shape social reality from many views. Interpretivism started to gain popularity in the 1960s to reject positivism (Bryman & Cramer, 2001). Bryman (2011) argues

that interpretivism considers the critical uniqueness of humans paralleled to natural order Bryman (2011); (Saunders et al., 2020). Wright (1976), in the study of interpretivism, recognises the importance of having insight into human conduct and activities that result in new realities, as supported by Grix (2010). The interpretivism methodology was built on phenomenology, which aims to comprehend how scientists interpret the data collected, environment and symbolic interactionism, which provides a constant interpretation of ideas (Saunders et al., 2020).

Easterby-Smith et al. (2002) conducted a wide-ranging study on interpretivism views. They suggested that "reality is not objective and exterior but is socially construed and given meaning by people". This study aims to identify the enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration, particularly in the oil and gas industry. Several researchers, such as Proctor (1998) argued on the contribution and validity of interpretivism and suggested that it helps researchers build new theories which facilitate research in the social world, as supported by (Hughes & Sharrock, 2016).

On the other hand, the interpretive role provides benefits and ways of handling social behaviours (Alan, 2012; E. G. Guba & Y. S. Lincoln, 1988). It also provides researchers with a level-ground understanding of perceptions and ways of participating in the social setting (Egon G. Guba & Yvonna S. Lincoln, 1988). Corbetta (2003) concisely describes interpretivism as

"The very elements that disturbed the scientific research of the positivist approach and were therefore excluded – individual, motivations and intentions, values, free will, in short, the subjective dimension that cannot be perceived by quantitative tools – become the primary objective of research".

The interpretivism approach favourably supports qualitative data in developing adequate knowledge in a study (Kaplan & Maxwell, 1994).

Looking at the specific context of this study, evolving nature of Nigeria, and the complexity of the industry's supply chain for oil and gas, the researcher accepts the approach of interpretivism for further investigation to identify the enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas industry leading to performance improvement.

3.2.2.2 Postmodernism

Postmodernism is an approach that focuses on the effective use of language and power relations in any given study. This approach explores questioning the manner of thinking and considering

alternative marginalised views (Saunders et al., 2020). The approach led the movement for poststructuralism. Postmodernism progressed further to challenge the conduct of positivism in an organisation, as it is more objective in nature. The approach believes that effective language use in any study is a priority. They went further to challenge the actions of the objectivist, the reality of a thing (ontology) and in the submission, emphasises the flux of chaotic primacy, change and fluidity (Chia, 2003).

Calas and Smircich (2018) stated, "*postmodernist researchers seek to expose and question the power relations that sustain dominant realities.*" Postmodern researchers look at the processes of conducting the studies which have been in existence, and they proceed with research knowing that knowledge shapes the subject of the research (Townley, 1994). This philosophical assumption will not be considered for this study because the researcher is not interested in shaping knowledge in identifying realities.

3.2.2.3 Pragmatism

"Asserts that concepts are only relevant in as much as they are relevant for action" (Kelemen & Rumens, 2008, p. 40).

This research philosophy is based on considering the theories, ideas, concepts, testing of the hypothesis and achievement of findings not in an abstract form but the role played by each tool in thoughts and actions. The pragmatist practices are outcome-driven and may include variables such as objectivist or subjectivist. Also, It is suitable for a study with unambiguous issues and can be applied to quantitative and qualitative methods (Saunders et al., 2020). However, this qualitative study aims to identify the enablers and inhibitors of the collaborative supply chain in the oil and gas industry, a complex sector. Therefore, the pragmatism approach is unsuitable. Instead, the complexity of supply chain collaboration of the oil and gas industry can be better understood by applying an interpretivism approach which will help unpack the richness, complexity, and social construct as well as in-depth world view contribution in the sector.

3.2.2.4 Axiological Position

This type of philosophy focuses on the role of value and ethics in carrying out a study (Saunders et al., 2020). It centred the view that every researcher puts effort into bringing value to a study. It has been applied differently by researchers. For example, a quantitative researcher tends to use statistical checks of results to avoid biases, while a qualitative researcher prefers to make those

values identified clearly explained (Creswell, 2014; Jankowicz, 2005), However, It is also significant to acknowledge that a qualitative researcher acknowledges the existence of a particular set of values in society and the biased nature of research rather than neglect them, which could be more unsafe in future (Collis & Hussey, 2013; Denzin & Lincoln, 1989; Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004; Karl Raimund Popper, 1959; Karl R. Popper, 1959; Schrag, 1992).

The researcher of this study believed that individual opinions and values tend to be primary motivators for the action and behaviours they express; hence qualitative researchers express their axiological position as a foundation for the decisions taken in the process of research conduct (Heron, 1996).

The connection between epistemological and axiological perspectives in scientific research is that knowledge produced by a study is studied, analysed, evaluated, and verified or justified by examining broader cultural values. (Carter & Little, 2007). Several studies highlighted that qualitative researchers are more fascinated by behaviours (Collis & Hussey, 2013). Oppong (2014) states that values need to be managed, and qualitative researchers adopt the following rules in any study. The rules include the avoidance of values that affect the authentication of information collected and, what role values play in the study, the acknowledgement of what effect those values have on the entire study process. Again, considering how values should be managed or treated and the promotion of those values should be closely related to the process of the study (Saunders et al., 2020).

3.3 Research Approach

The study employed an inductive research approach, which signifies using a process to explain an event while looking at ideas and facts that support a theory from the conceptual framework (Saunders et al., 2020). In order to understand the background and richness of the collaborative supply chain in the oil and gas industry, the inductive approach will be adopted. An inductive approach is a social science strategy based on two related arguments: the first argument is that it is worthless to explain the social incidence if they are not based on "observation and experience". Therefore, semi-structured interviews will be employed for the data collection, which will be analysed through the thematic analytical procedure. Glasser and Strauss (1967), which states that theory developed through the systematic empirical study is more likely to fit the data and is therefore likely to be acceptable as well as being useful to practitioners and managers (Gill &

Johnson, 2010; Partington, 2000). Semi-structured interviews are used for the data collection, which will be analysed through the thematic analytical procedure.

3.3.1 Research Strategy

The researcher chooses the research strategy to achieve the study goals and objectives given the limitations of time and resources as well as access to potential respondents and other necessary things for the orderly conduct of the study (Saunders et al., 2020). The strategy adopted for this study remains flexible to accommodate the changing nature of social actors (Saunders et al., 2020). The acceptance of the strategy will be based on information-gathering, which will lead to findings. The chosen research strategy for this study is a practical and proportional case study strategy with multiple methods (Saunders et al., 2020; R. Yin, 2003). This study will apply multiple study phases such as interviews, semi-structured interviews, archival research, observation, and document analysis relevant to the investigation. The research onion by Saunders et al. (2020) reviewed seven research strategies, including experiment, survey, case study, action research, ground theory, ethnography and archival research. Nevertheless, for this study, the researcher has adopted a case study research strategy to gain in-depth knowledge of the adaptation supply chain collaboration for performance improvement in the Nigerian oil and gas industry.

S/No	Research Methods	Approach	Justification
	Philosophies	Interpretivism	Interpretative approach was applied in this study to reveal the true nature and challenges of the adoption of supply chain collaboration in the Nigerian oil and gas industry by interpreting and transcribing the opinions of the respondents into words. It also allows the researcher to analyse the expertise's experiences and the interpretations they gave to the context of this research.
	Approaches	Inductive	The study employed an inductive research approach, which signifies using a process to explore an event while looking on ideas and facts that develop a theory from the conceptual framework
	Strategies	Case study	A case study was chosen in this research in order to gain an in- depth knowledge and facilitates the adoption, enablers, and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration in the Nigerian oil and gas industry.
	Choices	Mono methods (qualitative method)	Qualitative methods are discussed as a broad technique applied for data collection and analysis, involving interviews, observation, action research, and focus groups, and data collection are non-numerical. This study applied mono methods of qualitative method to come up with a rich and in- depth understanding of the research focus.
	Time Zone	Cross-Sectional	A cross-sectional study enables the researcher to collect valuable data, present or report the occurrence of an event in a precise manner and identifies factors that facilitate and inhibit supply chain performance within the timeframe.
	Techniques	Data Analysis	The collected data were subjected to several processes such as transcription, coding and display, data familiarisation, and the

Table 3-3: Highlight of Research Procedures

Pilot Study	construction of an initial thematic framework. This follows step-by-step indexing and sorting the data and arrived at themes that answered the research question A pilot study was conducted with some experts in the oil and gas industry and academics to shape, test the robustness of the questions
Semi-Structure Interviews	These questions were design to enable the researcher to gain more understanding and knowledge on how the supply chain collaboration is implemented in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria and identify the enablers and inhibitors to the supply chain collaboration which leads to performance improvement in the industry
Purposive Sampling	Purposive sampling is the process of selecting respondents which constitute the representative of a larger population of an organisation for a particular aim and purpose
Thematic Analysis	Thematic analysis is one of the most common forms of analysis within qualitative research. It emphasizes identifying, analysing, and interpreting patterns of meaning within qualitative data. The research qualitative data collection with thematic analysis to identify, analyse and transcribe themes and partners of the data collected

3.3.2 Choice of Secondary Data and Archival Research

A case study of secondary information was carried out in the literature review by the author of this study. The analysis of published information was based on the purposes of this research, and data collected was from newspapers, diaries, letters, University databases, google scholar, websites, and other approved academics database, which was in line with the existing procedures for the effective conduct of archival research (Corbetta, 2003; Kinnear, 1991). Easterby-Smith et al. (2002), state that quantitative and qualitative research with descriptive and expressive research adopt case studies, specifically secondary data. Corbetta (2003) and Ghauri et al. (2005) suggested that the case study strategy is applied in studies to a length of time, financial issues and low alteration but somewhat biased in reporting (Corbetta, 2003). Bell and Bryman (2007) stated that caution should be applied when dealing with secondary data as its interpretation could be difficult sometimes. The difficulties usually associated with secondary data include legitimacy, consistency and categorising events in the proper form and shape. Despite this deficiency of completeness, Patton (2008) and Ghauri et al. (2005) believe that secondary data are contextually rich when validated and can effectively support triangulation from literature, theories in the use and empirical data collected. The author of this study carefully studied case study publications, general reports, newspaper articles, government sources, information and policy documents on supply chain collaboration, supply chain management, supply chain performance and environmental uncertainties. In conclusion, the researcher identified the existing enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration, which are believed to impact an organisation's supply chain performance positively or negatively. The secondary data comprised significant archival studies and was considered to enhance and provide the researcher with insight into supply chain collaboration as a tool to improve performance. R. Yin (2003) presents that *"for case studies, the most important use of documents is to corroborate and provides evidence from other sources"* (p.87). The insertion of secondary information ensured a robust process to the general case and led to a practical interview-based approach that the researcher will employ.

3.4 Research Choices

A methodology is "an analysis of the assumptions, principles and procedures in a particular approach to an enquiry" (Schwandt, 2001). Harding (1987) argues that it is "a theory and analysis of how research should proceed" or methods adopted to achieve a study's specific goals and objectives. It is important to note that data analysis should produce knowledge, and appropriate emphasis must be applied throughout the process (Carter & Little, 2007). The epistemology approach shapes the methodology and validates the knowledge made. The epistemological position and the research in question determine the methods used. However, the author has adopted critical realism and its application for this study.

Qualitative methods are discussed as a broad technique applied for data collection and analysis, involving interviews, observation, action research, and focus groups, and data collection are non-numerical. Quantitative methods are usually suitable for extensive data and typically involve questionnaires for data collection and use a scientific approach in analysing the data, such as statistics or graphs that represent numerical data (Saunders et al., 2020). It is important to acknowledge that business and management research methodologies can take the form of a quantitative and qualitative approach as a pluralist methodology (Saunders et al., 2020). "Multiple methods" applies more than one source for data collection. The reason for selecting Nigeria as the location for the conduct of the study and specially selecting oil and gas industry was due to access to information and utilisation of new idea, the oil and gas industry in Nigeria is complex and diverse and the researcher believed in interacting one on one with the company's employee to have in-depth knowledge which could be achieved through qualitative interviews. The new ideas gained will be useful for model development. It involves techniques with matching analytical methods and is valid if the choices are constrained to those accepted for a qualitative or quantitative approach (Tashakkori & Teddlie, 2010). Jeffcutt (2004), presents that management studies involve

both multi-discipline and multi-contextual methods, which means the mixed method is suitable for the conduct of management research. Bell and Bryman (2007), argue that to achieve a robust result, researchers need to employ divergent methods. A mixed method is a combination of quantitative and qualitative methods. It involves many ways of examining an event ranging from simple to complex systems that seek to understand ignored or hidden issues than when applying a single method (Bryman, 2006; Saunders et al., 2020).

It is increasing advocacy Bell and Bryman (2007) stated that management research should involve many processes because there is a likelihood of overcoming weaknesses associated with monomethods and the need for a vigorous approach. However, this research identifies that qualitative methods are suitable for answering exploratory questions, as stated by Bryman (2006); Saunders et al. (2020). This method is suitable in the examination of the oil and gas industry supply chain which is diverse and complex and the willingness of the researcher to understand the market phenomena.

Qualitative research exhibits a set of divergent but contrasting concerns about what forms acceptable knowledge (Saunders et al., 2020). Van Maanen (1979) presents that the term qualitative has no definite meaning but includes a variety of techniques that describe and translate the observable situation into meaning. Norman and Yvonna (1994), define qualitative methods as empirical evidence that could be texts, words, or images. The author of this study examined the various research methods and agreed on the application of qualitative methods in the conduct of the study based on the need to understand arguments and the practical application of words meaning in a precise and concise manner as it applied to an event (Bell & Bryman, 2007). The method involves understanding the meaning and the events under investigation rather than forecasting and explaining to match the actual situation (Bhattacherjee, 2012; Denzin & Lincoln, 2000). This relate to oil and gas industry as it is more of practical activities that require collaborative efforts or teamwork rather than predicting previous activities. Therefore, this method is used to investigate and understand the designs and implementation of supply chain collaboration impacting performance improvement of the industry.

Applying the qualitative method makes the author create meaning in the socially constructed world (Bell & Bryman, 2007; Saunders et al., 2020). The application of qualitative method provides the

trust for participants and by making meaning from the information gathered from them through in-depth analysis for their knowledge and ideas (Bhattacherjee, 2012). The application of the qualitative method provides trust for participants by making meaning from the information gathered through in-depth analysis of their knowledge and ideas. Qualitative research connects the idiosyncratic world and provides a detailed understanding and expression of social and practical events. This is normally involving small groupings for a specific purpose and recognises human observation (Bell & Waters, 2018; Bell et al., 2018; Saunders et al., 2020). The qualitative investigation deals with opinions to uncover hidden trends. It also focuses on a particular case or a small number of cases to provide contextualised depth and detailed knowledge of a given study to solve the identified problem.

This study will focus on respondents' views, reflect on them, and their opinions will produce the theme-leading findings, which the research aim, and objectives will guide. The method that will be applied for the entire data collection and analysis will be based on the nature of the research objectives, which is to identify enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement. Face-to-face interviews will be conducted, using semi-structured research questions to understand how different are meaningfully involved in the realisation of intended goals of supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria. The study questions were drawn from a literature review grounded in the existing information within supply chain management, collaboration, and performance context. This considers the different perspectives of participants and their personal experiences on the supply chain collaboration in Nigeria's oil and gas industry.

Additionally, a qualitative study recognises the structure of social meanings, human behaviour, and perceptions; therefore, this method is suitable for this study because it provides an in-depth of the parties involved. Qualitative methods investigate events by answering "what," "how," and "why" inquiries rather than "how much" or "how many." The researcher will employ these important techniques for structure, question formation, administering semi-structured questions and conducting interviews, transcribing the recorded speech (audio) or behaviour, and data analysis of texts (Bryman et al., 2021; Saunders et al., 2020). The researcher believed that the qualitative research cycle would help provide greater insight into contextual organisational enablers and inhibiting factors, which were part of the research questions. This means the approach

will be as flexible and support the actualisation of the study aim and objectives shown in Figure 3-2.



Figure 3-2: The 'Flexible' Qualitative Research Process Source: Adopted from Bryman (2011, 2016), and Bryman et al. (2021)

3.5 Time Horizon

A time horizon, also known as a planning horizon, has a fixed time that directs and provides processes which are applied to evaluate a context or a time to start and end an investigation (Saunders et al., 2020). Saunders et al. (2020) present that time horizon is important in selecting a research topic or question, considering whether the research should be a "snapshot". This means the researcher is taking consideration of a shorter time as possible. Cross-sectional case studies involving a specific timeframe will be considered for the conduct of the study to understand the happening within a specific timeframe. A cross-sectional study enables the researcher to collect valuable data from the Nigerian oil and gas industry and presents the occurrence of an event in a precise manner. In addition, it identifies factors that facilitate and inhibit effective performance system of the Nigerian oil and gas industry within the timeframe. On the other hand, a longitudinal study is another option involving data collection over a longer period (series of snapshots or notes taken over a longer period of time) which cannot be used for the purpose of this study due to complexity of the oil and gas industry. This is achievable through observation, grounded and action theory, and robust secondary data gathering. Longitudinal studies offer highly contextual investigation and more in-depth scrutiny of key variables but were not accepted as their procedures

are not achievable within the study timeframe and are believed not to be a practical option for this study.

3.6 Data Collection

This is the final aspect of the research onion layer (Saunders et al., 2020). Data for this study will be collected for the aim and objectives of the research by answering the research questions or problems as discussed by Creswell and Clark (2007), This also outlined how a researcher is guided by a process and a systematic approach when conducting an empirical study to comprehend a research topic better and choose a solution (Bhattacherjee, 2012; Silverman, 2011).

The research location is Nigeria because it is a country that represents a typical developing economy that relies heavily on oil and gas for survival, supported by Kale (2020); Kasirim (2021). The researcher also recognised the importance of the oil and gas supply chain programme for the economy. Therefore, the location was chosen because the researcher strongly believes in having access to defendants or oil and gas industry participants to obtain the needed information for the study process. Furthermore, the country suited the purpose of robust and reliable research into adopting supply chain collaboration to improve industry performance. Nigeria may have an accepted application of supply chain collaboration in some sectors, but the oil and gas industry needs a better experience of success in supply chain collaboration.

Furthermore, the researcher conducted data collection in Nigeria's oil and gas industry between March 2021 to June 2021 with a few selected oil and gas companies to identify how supply chain collaboration leads to performance improvement of the industry supply chain system. The data collection outcome allows the author of this study to develop a model for providing an effective supply chain system in the Nigerian oil and gas industry. For further details about the companies used for data collection of this study, see **Appendix C.**

3.6.1 In-depth and Semi-Structured Interviews

The researcher chose to conduct interviews as a suitable approach for data collection for this research. The interviews for this study will range from structured (closed) to informal open interviews. A semi-structured interview will be applied for this study to enable flexibility in exploring the context and happenings in the oil and gas industry based on its supply chain collaboration as a tool for performance improvement. The participants were engaged in semi-

structure interviews for the researcher to gain more knowledge on the nature and operations of supply chain collaboration and how its contribution to performance improvement in the oil and gas industry through open communication. Broader themes or patterns were identified from the literature review, which led to the conduct of interviews to gain more insight. Questions will be asked differently depending on the level of interviewees in the organisations. For example, the different questions posed to managers and employees. These questions will enable the researcher to gain more understanding and knowledge on how the supply chain collaboration is implemented in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria and identify the enablers and inhibitors to the supply chain collaboration, which leads to performance improvement of the industry. These questions were drawn based on what was obtainable in the literature reviewed and believed to facilitate an effective supply chain system.

3.6.2 *Interview Guide*

An interview guide (protocol) wase developed for each respondent consisting of all the questions and themes to be explored and served to the selected respondents. The author will apply some flexibility, enabling him to compare the order in which questions will be probed to ensure the interview flow. Some of the interviews will necessitate additional probe questions to pursue upand-coming themes, which is supported by Eisenhardt (1989), who stated that

"If a new data collection opportunity arises or if a new line of thinking emerges during the research, it makes sense to take advantage by altering data collection, is such an alteration is likely to better ground the theory or to provide new theoretical insight."

In order to achieve a coherent interview, a follow-up will be adopted to probe or further investigate the emerging views to supplement the already standardised questions. In addition, the researcher will encourage respondents during the interview by asking open-ended questions from key-related studies and themes derived from the literature review.

3.6.3 *Pilot Study and Main Study*

The questions were refined, and their validity was tested in pilot research with oil and gas industry professionals and academics. Furthermore, the experts that participated in the pilot study were senior managers from the chosen companies for the interviews and two other university supply chain management experts. It was confirmed capable of delivering the quality and intended

outcome. This was to have the feelings of experts before going into the field for data collection, and Nigeria was chosen based on the access and fewer existing research in the area. It will be used in an academic environment which results in the involvement of academic experts to strike a balance between views.

3.6.4 *The pilot study.*

This section presents the pilot study conducted between experts in the oil and gas industry and academics which confirmed the validity of the questions be to suitable for the conduct of the research aimed at the adoption of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria. The question was designed to enable the researcher to have insight on how performance can be improved in the oil sector. The questions are as follows and coupled with the confirmation from experts and academic.

Question 1. How can supply chain collaboration improve performance in the oil and gas industry?

This question was confirmed by a supply chain manager with M-NNPC that: "*in my opinion this question is suitable for the understanding of how collaboration can lead to performance improvement*".

This question was seconded by a senior lecturer in university who equally confirmed that: "the question is designed with all captions to provide detailed understanding on how supply chain collaboration can lead to performance improvement in the oil and gas industry".

Question 2. What are the enablers of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas industry?

According to the logistics and supply chains Manager (M-AARano) who satisfied that: "the design questions 2 is capable of gathering relevant information and data that are related the enablers of supply chain collaboration for the improvement of the Nigerian oil and gas industry performance".

Also, question 2 was confirmed by the university lecturer on logistics and supply chain management who accepted that "the question 2 is appropriate because it is an open-ended question that it is capable of making the respondents to think verse towards providing the accurate enablers of supply chain collaboration within the oil and gas industry of Nigeria".

Question 3. What are the inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry?

Accord to the M-NNPC who approved that "the questions 3 is a critical question that it is capable of generating a valuable data for the main study on what are the inhibitor of supply chain collaboration preventing effective performance system in the industry".

This was also supported by the senior lecturer at the university who also declared that "the actual inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry can be achieved through *Question 3*".

Question 4: What other strategies you have employed in the implementation of supply chain performance improvement?

M-AARano responded by confirming that "this question will give room for discussion in identifying what other strategies can be implement in the system and industry if the identified supply chain collaboration design and implementation fails in order to have effective performance system in the industry".

As certified by the university lecturer on logistics and supply chain management that: "the identification of other strategies of supply chain management will serve as a recovery process for the industry if the initial supply chain collaboration fails in order to keep the supply chain system effective and this can also be achieved through question 4".

3.6.5 *The* summary *of a pilot study*

Question 1. How can supply chain collaboration improve performance in the oil and gas industry?

The design of supply chain collaboration by the Federal Government of Nigeria within its mainstream oil and gas company (NNPC) aims to caution against the burden experienced and allow the adequate flow of the product across the country to meet customers' demands. Collaborating with suppliers improves product lead time, order fulfilment, access to continuous supplies and efficient resource use. Our organisation's collaboration with customers enables continuous improvement in our service delivery method, meets market changes, and timely responds to new trends in the market.

Supply chain collaboration is crucial for performance improvement in the oil and gas industry because it brings about teamwork and transparency in the sector's operations and activities. Time

is crucial for any practical implementation at procurement and distribution levels. The key pillar for successful operation in the oil and gas industry focuses on time and quality product delivery which can be achieved when there is synergy among organisations.

Question 2. What are the enablers of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas industry?

The supply chain collaboration occupies a substantial position in the oil and gas companies' toolkit policy, enabling organisations to achieve their goals and objectives. The noticeable enablers include integrated transactions, effective information sharing and joint planning for a successful operation. In addition, the efficient and successful implementation could lead to several benefits such as time and quicker decision-making, lower out-of-stock levels as lead times are shortened, warehousing and transportation cost reduced, and accountability into demand and supplier performance.

Question 3. What are the inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry?

The key inhibitors of supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria can be categorised into three fords: infrastructure resulting in late and delayed delivery, communication affecting information sharing, trust and relationship, and security challenges leading to attacks on trucks, theft or vandalisation on the distribution channels resulting from breaching of agreement of not meeting customer's order. Finally, the industry policy can be significantly affected by the change in government regime as any administration change affects the sector's operation in terms of regulations and commitment. The oil and gas industry is the central pillar of Nigerian economics, and most of its policies must be formulated by the central government without involving other relevant stakeholders, especially the private sector.

From the academic viewpoint, it was established that supply chain collaboration is a vital element to organisation performance but has yet to be effectively adopted and implemented into the systems to produce the desired result (S. E. Fawcett et al., 2008; Singh et al., 2018). This area needs to be explored more, particularly in developing nations with challenges of physical infrastructure and communication channels.

Question 4: What other strategies you have employed in the implementation of supply chain performance improvement?

The key essence of question 4 was to explore whether there are other strategies to be employed in determining ways to improve performance in the oil and gas industry order than supply chain collaboration. Experts in the industry and academics advised keeping this question as an alternative question to gain more ideas from the respondents. This was confirmed to be a good question for the research.

Based on the pilot study's response, the researcher was convinced that the questions were suitable to produce the necessary outcome and could provide the needed answers. Furthermore, the researcher proceeded to the field for face-to-face data collection, observing the reality of things.

Face-to-face interviews were employed, which helped the researcher observe the respondents' non-verbal behaviours and determine whether questions were sufficiently answered, consistent with recommended guides by Saunders et al. (2020). Before conducting the fieldwork, a letter seeking approval was sent to the concerned parties, and approvals were granted. This was in accordance with the rules governing data collection in Nigeria.

3.6.6 *Sample Techniques*

Purposive sampling is the process of selecting respondents who represent a larger population of an organisation for a particular aim and purpose (Gall et al., 2007; Tongco, 2007). A body of people is referred to as a population where a sample was taken for the purpose of the research (Collis & Hussey, 2013). The author of this study constructed a sampling size that their ideas will be used as representative of the general population for this research.

The researcher has carefully selected 50 respondents who will be interviewed. The respondents are drawn from different states of Nigeria for adequate representation. The sample is made up of managers and employees.

The essence of sampling across the country's different states was to ensure true coverage and to have a spread of evidence from all the various respondents across Nigeria. As part of the validity of data for this research, effective sampling helps with the external and internal validity of the research data. It is worth acknowledging that it is possible to assess the intended number of interviewees for the interview.

It is essential to acknowledge that most organisational studies use samples of individuals who are willingly available, knowledgeable and ready to participate in the practice (Brislin et al., 1973).

Interviewing the entire managers and employee's population will be impossible for this study. Therefore, respondents will be reduced to a manageable figure through sampling techniques (Teddlie & Yu, 2007; Vogt, 1993). This will be one of the criteria to reduce the biased outcome of the study, as supported by Welman et al. (2005).

A purposive sampling is accepted and will be employed for this study because the selection decision will be structured in a manner that includes the concerned persons who are knowledgeable and have an insight into the oil and gas industry activities in Nigeria. This approach will enable the researcher to have an in-depth exploratory investigation of the issues faced by the oil and gas industry. Accessing some of the selected respondents may be challenging due to the distance travelling from one state to another, the rural settlement pattern of customers and time constraints. Still, the researcher will make every effort to reach all selected respondents. At the initial stage the researcher insisted on interviewing 50 respondents, seeing a breakdown in Table 3-4. Finally, the research ended up interviewed 30 respondents at the point the responses from the interviews started repeating its self which indicates to the researcher that the whole interview processes has reached the saturation point and no further novelty can be achieved in the process Table 3-5.

Distribution of Interviewees	NNPC MEGA	TOTAL NIGERIA	RAIN OIL	AA RANO	OANDO PLC	MOBIL	CAPITAL OIL	Total
Managers	3	2	2	2	2	2	2	15
Employees	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	35
Total of interviewees	8	7	7	7	7	7	7	50

 Table 3-4: The Planned Sample of Interviewees.

Table 3-5: The Sample of interviewees Interviewed.

Distribution of Interviewees	NNPC MEGA	TOTAL NIGERIA	RAIN OIL	AA RANO	Total
Managers	3	3	2	2	10
Employees	5	5	5	5	20
Total of interviewees	8	8	7	7	30

As mentioned in section 1.2 the researcher of this study has a good understanding of the issues facing the oil and gas industry, which is a subject under examination and is aware of the key actors

in the research. Therefore, the selection of participants is based on their knowledge of the oil and gas supply chain across the states.

Before the interview, it is expected that the researcher will take some time to explain the collection process and data handling and answer questions from the respondents. Respondents will be expected to willingly sign the consent form keeping one for themselves and a duplicate for the researcher. The researcher will verbally conduct the interview, and the communications will be recorded via written and audio recording at the convenience of the respondents. The interviews will take place in their offices or any secure, convenient location. They will last for approximately 1 hour per participant based on the openness and availability of the respondent. Suppose the process is interrupted by an emergency of meetings or sensitive calls. In that case, the researcher will ensure that the interview continues later, which means that it sometimes lasts more than 1 hour. Time will be of the essence for the researcher; therefore, all interviews will be focused, and the researcher will engage the respondents meaningfully in order not to compromise with the interview quality. It is important to note that interview duration is not a limiting factor and has no adverse effect on the quality of the information that will be provided to the intended questions. All will be sufficiently covered as supported by (Roscoe, 1975). The researcher will always thank the respondent for their acceptance to participate in the interview. The researcher will request the respondents' contact information at the conclusion of the interview in case further follow-up is necessary, which will be beneficial. The transcription of the data collected must be done within 72 hours to ensure consistency and effective interpretation of information in its original form.

3.7 Data Analysis

The collected data will be subjected to several processes, such as transcription, coding and display, data familiarisation, and constructing an initial thematic framework. This follows step-by-step indexing, sorting the data, and arriving at themes that answered the research question. Finally, the researcher will employ a formal analysis process to analyse the collected data, as shown in Figure 3-3. Transcription represents words and non-linguistic behaviours of an individual conversation in a graphic or words form (Kowal & O'connell, 2004). Transcription is a process of transferring the recorded interview information by manually typing word-for-word as it was presented and from reading evidence about an event (Lapadat & Lindsay, 1999; MacLean et al., 2004). Miles and Huberman (1994), stated that the research protocol support analysis of manually transcribed data

through coding for data display and data regression to a more precise and controllable size for effective handling. The three protocols will be applied to achieve results for this study. The procedures include data categorising, description, and explanation or verification to draw conclusions.



Figure 3-3: The formal analysis process Source: Adopted from Ritchie et al. (2013)

The researcher will develop means to familiarise himself with the data by observing the systematic process and constructing an initial thematic framework, including indexing and sorting the collected data. The data will be extracted, summarised, and displayed following a coherent process. Therefore, the researcher will construct categories or themes, identify the linkages, and finish with outcomes that answer the main study questions looking at enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration. A thematic analytical approach will be employed to support the researcher in arriving at the findings for this study.

Data coding is the process of shielding data and individual opinions to establish trends` (Auerbach & Silverstein, 2003). The researcher will use an open manual coding system; this implies that the researcher will read through the transcripts, identifying categories, and coding them. All assigned codes and statements relevant to the study will be arranged appropriately in accordance with themes coming from the data collected, and similar themes will be clustered together. This will

enable the researcher to gain better insight into the event and distinguish patterns and irregularities of activities.

3.8 Research Validity

This is a specific procedure employed by researchers to check data collected for validity and consistency to be used in the research. G. Gibbs (2007a, 2007b); G. R. Gibbs (2007a, 2007b) explain that reliability is a consistent approach used by researchers across situations and participants. It relates to how strategically a technique measures ideas so that other researchers will receive the same results when repeated (Perry, 2001; Yin, 1994). *Validity* is a process that researchers employ to determine the originality or exact nature of findings obtained from the research, considering the researcher's position, the respondents, and the reader's views (Creswell & Creswell, 2017; Creswell & Miller, 2000).

Reliability, validity, and generalisation are traditional perceptions used by qualitative research to determine an outcome of a study to establish confidence in the method used and to ensure rigour and richer data content in the context of the study (Creswell, 2014; Ritchie et al., 2013). However, some authors in recent years believe that qualitative research may have different philosophical positions and that the purpose differs. As a result, some prefer to use alternative frameworks for robust investigation (Creswell, 2014; Ritchie et al., 2013). These include avoiding the necessity for a test of validity and reliability method and dealing with credibility, dependability, trustworthiness, plausibility, transferability, and authenticity. After extensive and careful study, the researcher decided to embark on the validity and reliability approach, which will be applied to this study. Further detail can be found in Table 3-6.

Construct Type	Actions to be Taken by the Researcher
Construct Validity	Construct validity is relating to the process used to measure a situation successfully, which will capture the concepts meant to capture (Seale, 2012). The researchers will carefully listen to the interviews recorded many times and transcribed the interviews into manuscripts. The manuscripts will be read and analysed using thematic techniques (Attride-Stirling, 2001; Berg et al., 2004; Ritchie et al., 2013). This will be done to ensure the themes identify and keep with the main study objectives and identified the themes from the literature review.
Internal Validity	This is the extent to which a connecting statement enhanced the research. The researcher will combine opinions experts (managers and employees) on supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement. Consequently, interpretations drawn from the data of the study will be identified, examined, and contrasted with the use of multiple tools and informants to ensure robustness to the patterns mined for the purpose of the study.
External Validity	External validity involves the extent to which the study findings can be generalised to a population and other settings. The research scope and design will be done in such a way that enables the generalisation of findings (Ritchie et al., 2013). It is important that participants for this study will be drawn from different states of

Nigeria. This sampling will effectively enable the researcher to generalise the findings of the study. The
researcher will then declare the methodology employed to examine the issues of supply chain collaboration
in the oil and gas industry and to allow repetition or to be applied in different states of the country.

3.9 Reflexivity and the researcher

A study can be influenced by a researcher resulting in a bias of the research process, and therefore courtesy must be applied during reflexivity, which the researcher will critically reflect upon (E. G. Guba & Y. S. Lincoln, 1988; Ritchie et al., 2013; Shacklock & Smyth, 1998). This procedure will help prepare the researcher to apply caution not to influence the interviewees during data collection and after for effective presentation of precise information as supported by (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000, p. 183; Pillow, 2003, p. 173; Ritchie et al., 2013; Rose et al., 2014). The reflectivity process can be observed at multiple levels (Haynes, 2012; Johnson & Duberley, 2003; Lynch, 2000), as shown in Table 3-7.

Table 3-7: Types of Reflexivity

Types of Reflexivity	Description of the process
Philosophical	How present the researcher's commitments philosophically (ontological, epistemological, and
Reflexivity	axiological) influence how the research accepted the approach for the study? How the accepted
	approach influenced by the study project in turn?
Theoretical	How is the forming of the research problem and the accepted method is shaped by existing theories?
Reflexivity	How applied theories impacted by the study process?
Methodological	How are the researcher views and preferences regarding the accepted approach for the study shaped
Reflexivity	by the research process, and how do they shape the research process?
Standpoint	How does the researcher cultural, political, social, and emotional viewpoints shape the researcher
Reflexivity	method to the study?

Source: Haynes (2012); Johnson and Duberley (2003); Lynch (2000)

Reflexivity is crucial when a researcher has a devolved interest in the study, such as conducting a study in an organisation or country context that the researcher knows about. For example, the case of this thesis focuses on adopting supply chain collaboration as a tool for performance improvement. The direction of Rose et al. (2014) will be duly acknowledged, and the researcher has and will apply multiple levels of reflexivity at the design, fieldwork and analytical phases for the conduct of the research in order to ensure an unbiased method was undertaken (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000; Reinharz, 1997). This entire research will be supported by applying qualitative methods with multiple interviewees. The researcher will therefore accept to be an "Empathic Neutrality" researcher (Ritchie et al., 2013). This implies that the researcher's values are recognised in this thesis, and these are obvious steps and efforts to avoid deliberate or insensible biases.

3.10 Research Ethics

The definition of "Research Ethics" is a commonly used term in institutional and regulatory policy within an organisation that guides the behaviour or conducts of an individual to conform to the set terms and conditions (Pimple, 2002).

The researcher will apply for ethical approval and data protection approval from the University of Strathclyde. This is to establish the suitability of the field interview guide and overall methodological approach. Ethical issues are crucial for conducting any research, as supported by Busher and James (2002). In their study, Cohen et al. (2013) identify why some researchers cannot achieve all ethical problems. They went further to state the two qualities researchers need: "*the sensitivity to identify an ethical issue and the responsibility to feel committed to acting appropriately in regard to such issues*", as supported by Eisner and Peshkin (1990). The researcher will be careful in handling the data collected, and the confidentiality of gathered information will be a critical consideration. Observing all ethical issues will lead to the use of codes, which vary from society to society, person to person, and from one organisation to another (Busher & James, 2002). Cohen et al. (2013) suggested that ethical decisions are needed for "*a balance between demands placed on them as professional scientists in the pursuit of truth, and their subjects' rights and values potentially threatened by the research"* (Cohen et al., 2013).

The context and access to respondents involve ethical considerations, which are significant concerns of the qualitative researcher (Creswell & Clark, 2007; Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 1996). Eisner and Peshkin (1991, p. 215) researched and stated that:

"We all like the idea of informed consent, but we are less sure just who is to provide that consent, just how much consent is needed, and how we inform others so as to obtain consent when we have such a hard time predicting what we need to get consent about."

The researcher will try as much to assure respondents of their rights throughout the process of conducting the interview, and they are free to quit participation if they feel insecure because their contribution was voluntary. Respondents will be made to know about confidentiality, which the researcher considers primary by coding all participants with special codes for the purpose of this study. Anonymity will be one of the advantages of maximising reliability and inconspicuously enhancing responses concerning sensitive themes (Babbie, 2007; Saunders et al., 2020; Singer et al., 1999).

The researcher will comply with the research protocol and the University of Strathclyde Research Ethical requirements. Furthermore, the researcher will ensure the confidentiality of the information of the interviewees so that their responses cannot be identified. All data obtained from the field will be used solely to further the aims and objectives of this study and other publications in academic journals.

3.11 Chapter Summary

This chapter has presented the philosophical statements of valid knowledge and theory building from a critical realist viewpoint for selecting data collection techniques. The researcher adopted a pluralist approach and cross-comparative study strategy to support this research effectively. For quality assurance, the data collected will be validated using verifying sources and employing multiple interviewees, details in chapter 5 and appendix E and F. Huberman and Miles (1994) support the cross-case approach as the best strategy. This enables coding and identification of the themes used, leading to data display. The identification of the main themes will be manually coded and formed into study findings, then transformed into the model presented later in this thesis.

In conclusion, this study adopted an interpretative strategy to analyse the development of oil and gas sector supply chain collaboration as a social construction based on existing literature (Saunders et al., 2020; Van Manen, 1990). This implies that the benefit of interacting with oil and gas experts is learning from their experiences and developing meaning from the major factors that enable or inhibit effective supply chain collaboration in the industry. This means that the approach or process will help create knowledge, as supported by (Flowers et al., 2009; Geertz, 1973). This acceptance of this approach was in line with the decision of Blaikie (1993) who state that

"...knowledge is seen to be derived from everyday concepts and meanings – the social researcher enters the social world in order to grasp the socially constructed meanings and then reconstructs them in social scientific language. At one level, these latter accounts are regarded as redescriptions of everyday accounts; at another level, they are developed into theories."

This study was guided by supply chain theories such as resource dependence theory, transaction cost economics, systems theory, and network theories. these theories will develop strategies to support the components of findings that constitute the model development. Most notably, systems

theory will help develop supply chains in the oil and gas business. Further datils on supply chain theory that supports the research can be found in chapter 8.

The next chapter presents the data collection chapter, where the researcher accessed interviewees and collected data.

Chapter 4 : Data Collection, Analysis and Findings

4.1 Introduction

Chapter five presents how the research data was collected and its adopted approach for analysis and presentation of the findings.

This section of the thesis presents the views on the adaption of supply chain collaboration in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. This chapter presents the findings from the interviewees' views, which were answers to the research interview questions. The researcher analysed the data collected using a thematic approach following the step-by-step process to arrive at the findings. Interviewees were selected from four key oil and gas companies in Nigeria with a significant market share of approximately 75%, which encompasses Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation (NNPC), Total Nigeria, Rain Oil and A A Rano.

The chapter seeks to provide knowledge and insight on the effective implementation of supply chain collaboration in Nigeria's oil and gas industry to enable efficient and effective resource movement among stakeholders and a sustainable supply chain in the industry and nation.

4.2 The Key Participants of the Study

This section of the chapter presents the main participants from which data were collected. They were instrumental in identifying the enablers, inhibitors, and strategies for performance improvement in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. A total of 30 respondents were interviewed, involving the managers and other employees involved in the company's operations and supply chain management and are experts in their respective areas or units and as well involved in the decision-making company's decision-making.

The Managers

According to Shastri et al. (2021) a manager ensures effective management of organisation functions by fostering collaboration and connection with others. It is important to note that managers are responsible for directing and controlling organisational resources for positive performance (Bartlett & Ghoshal, 1992). The managers are senior staff working in the oil and gas companies, overseeing several units and departments, and they are involved in policy-making for the smooth operations of the companies. They ensure efficient and effective planning, control, and allocation of resources to achieve the company's desired success. Managers are responsible for

enabling working conditions by designing and implementing people-oriented programmes, coordinating the effort to make a positive impact, and promoting teamwork to boost productivity. Managers collaborate to ensure synergy in information and adequate product flow in Nigeria's oil and gas supply chains. They can provide solutions to challenges facing the sector and its performance. For this research, the managers are the top management team of the selected companies. They are heads of different departments or units that constitute the company's supply chain, such as the procurement department, logistics and transportation department, information and communication unit, finance department, and projects management unit.

Additionally, the managers are believed to be experts in logistics and supply chain management. Therefore, they must have a certain level of experience to be qualified to head any department. As such, the researcher was convinced to source data from them regarding supply chain collaboration for performance improvement.

Employees

This study refers to employees as supervisors or team leaders who are subordinate to managers but are part of companies' decision-making and have vast experience in expertise. They are responsible for the day-to-day functional operation of the company and building bridges (relationship creation) for the effective connectivity of companies. Employees have an overview of a group of people in the company, motivate them, give instruction as required and monitor performance. They are actively involved in delegating duties or activities to team members, and they are in charge of ensuring the team members have clear objectives, and front-line person, and promote harmony among members. Based on the selected supervisor's and team leaders' roles, it was important to interview them to gain more diverse opinions rather than interviewing only the top management team. The researcher's decision to involve top management and other staff gives him a deeper grasp of supply chain collaboration in Nigeria's oil and gas business.

A purposive sampling of experts around operations and supply chain in the oil and gas company was necessary to remain dedicated and comply with all procedures to achieve reasonable and valid analysis, which led to logical findings from the data collected. This approach granted the researcher the support to comprehensively examine all the aspects that enable and inhibit supply chain collaboration and its performance in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. The detailed breakdown of a total of 30 Managers and Employees from the four selected companies is shown in Table 3-5.

4.3 Interviews

The location and interviews for the data collection were conducted in Nigeria, involving four major oil and gas companies: **NNPC**, **Total Nigeria**, **Rain Oil and AA Rano**. The participants interviewed include some selected managers and employees who were directly involved in the operations of the oil and gas industries and their supply chain management. The interview exercise was successfully carried out by the researcher, respondents voluntarily participated by providing their opinions and views on the questions asked by the researcher. However, the researcher reached saturation when the interviewees' responses were constantly repeated, and there were no new or different ideas from the respondents. Therefore, the researcher decided to stop the interviewing process and concentrate on putting the views together—the stage where the questions asked guided the respondents' ideas. More detail of the flow chart is included in Appendix C.

4.4 Data Transcribe and Interpretations

The researcher collected data from respondents from the four selected oil and gas companies in Nigeria through recording; notes were taken (see appendix D). This stage of data management enables the researcher to listen to the recordings to have in-depth insight and understanding of the respondents' views and was able to transcribe the voice recorded into notes manually. The researcher interpreted the views of interviewees and ensured that the transcribed data were exactly the representation of respondents' opinions without any additional or contrasting views. The word-for-word procedure was to ensure that interviewees' actions through spoken words were captured in a text form to be used in the analysis and display, which will be shown later in the chapter. The researcher made educated decisions by triangulating responses with literature and theories.

4.5 Construction of Themes and Indexing and Sorting

The data collection was through interviews with managers and employees to collect qualitative data in the form of answers to particular questions pertaining to the topic that is the focus of the investigation. Transcription was the process of transforming audio recordings of interviews into written text by turning the spoken words into text. After completing this step, the researcher proceeds with further analysis knowing that the data are in a format that is easy to work with. Familiarisation of the date collected was conduct where the researcher read and go through the transcribed data numerous times, becoming familiar with the content and gaining a full knowledge of the collective opinions expressed by the respondents in the process. The researcher was able to

better grasp the primary ideas, concepts, and viewpoints that emerge from the data as a result of this repeated reading. An examination of the content, When the researcher was acquainted with the data, one of the first things was to look for initial themes or patterns that are present in the information from a more general standpoint. The respondents may have voiced repeating concepts, similar points of view, or similar experiences, all of which have serve as the basis for these themes. The objective was to acquire a general comprehension of the contents of the data as well as a picture of the data.

The researcher proceeded with more investigation and examination of the data to zero down on the most important recurring themes or patterns. This process is known as "theme reduction." This step entails refining and narrowing down the identified themes to the ones that are the most prominent and significant in capturing the essence of the views and opinions expressed by the participants.

After becoming acquainted with concepts, the researcher develops themes by identifying similar concepts, grouping them, and noting differences between each query. The construction of patterns in a thematic analysis enables the researcher to organise ideas flexibly and to effectively classify large amounts of collected data into compositions (Braun & Clarke, 2021a, 2021b; Braun et al., 2021). To achieve the aims and objectives of this study, the researcher classified each company's managers and employees according to their respective concepts and contributions. All respondents drew similar conclusions regarding four key areas, supported by a number of sub-questions pertaining to the adoption of supply chain collaboration, enablers, inhibitors, and performance enhancement in Nigeria's oil and gas industry.

Using a thematic approach, the researcher grouped the collected data to ensure that interviewee responses addressed the research questions and topic. This phase of data management allows the researcher to transmit the interview transcripts to the study's interviewees. Some managers were provided the opportunity to examine what they had said, and they agreed that the transcripts accurately represented their ideas. The researcher proceeded with follow-up questions after the initial interview of some respondents, where some responses needed to be clearly established. This was accomplished via phone calls and emails to ensure that the opinions of the respondents were plainly stated and added to the main data.

4.6 Data Summary and Display
The researcher started the data collection from a pilot study involving two academic experts from the university and two managers from the four selected oil and gas companies to sharpen and establish the nature and capability of the questions providing the intended answers for the research. It was established that the questions cover all aspects that constitute the aims and objectives of the research, see section 4.7.4 for pilot study results. Interviews were used to gather valuable data for this study, participants' responses were recorded, and notes taken were necessary. The researcher transcribed the data and followed all the due processes of data familiarisation, construction of themes, indexing and sorting, reviewing the data and displaying data summary Figure 3-3. The researcher ensures that the data displayed covers each of the main and sub-questions in full and well summarised, making it easier to identify the key themes and categories for the study.

The data was guided by four central questions which reflect the aims and objectives of the study as follows:

Question 1. How can supply chain collaboration improve performance in the oil and gas industry?

Question 2. What are the enablers of supply chain collaboration leading performance improvement in the oil and gas industry?

Question 3. What are the inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry?

Question 4 What are the key strategies utilised to enhance supply chain performance?

In accordance with the thematic approach, the interviews are summarised according to the themes which became obvious during the interviews.

The findings are centred on the four questions used to address the research topic. All the interviewees were asked the same questions. The questions are presented above and labelled as **Q1**, **Q2**, **Q3** and **Q4** in the remaining sections of this thesis.

Data collected from the industry were analysed using thematic analysis to arrive at the findings. The analysis included constructing patterns indexing and coding to sort the data, summarising the data and display, constructing categories, identifying linkages, and ending up with themes. In the following sections, opinions reported are denoted in italics and inverted commas and represent the interviewee's direct experience and understanding of supply chain collaboration and its impacts in the oil and gas industry—the tables below present data displayed in summary based on the interviewee's response to each question.

The codes M-NNPC, M-TOTAL, M-RAIN, M-RANO represent managers from their respective companies, E-NNPC, E-TOTAL, E-RAIN, E-RANO means employees from each of the selected companies in the oil and gas industry.

4.7 The Display

This section presents the display of summarised views of managers and employees as it was captured and identified. Some identified components overlap or are related but play a significant role in the organisation. The significance of the data display lies in the fact that it aids in recognising the study's findings, which are tabulated below.

M-NNPC M-TOTAL	Majority of the managers interviewed confirmed the adoption of supply chain collaboration in their various				
	Majority of the managers interviewed confirmed the adoption of supply chain collaboration in their various organisations, and one stated that effective goal alignment is achieved through collaboration.				
M-RAIN M-RANO	Most managers interviewed said supply chain collaboration is essential to company sustainability in Nigeria's oil and gas industry, as it fosters developing confidence, suppliers' and buyers' connectivity, and customer satisfaction.				
	Majority of the managers commented that effective operation and resource flow is vital when collaborating with partners.				
	Most managers suggested that customer satisfaction is prime for business collaboration.				
	Majority of the managers stated that collaboration could be achieved through trust and effective communication. One went further to suggest that collaboration is helpful in risk reduction, cost serving and good planning.				
	Most manager said that for any meaningful collaboration, a good relationship is necessary.				
	Majority of the managers suggested the essential role of teamwork in the success of an organisation, which is part of effective collaboration.				
	Most managers commented that collaboration adopted by their organisation has helped in effective information sharing and improved the industry's overall performance.				
	Most Manager mentioned trust with emphasis specifically as a tool for improving and permitting information sharing.				
	Majority of the managers mentioned cost reduction as a collaborative strategy for profit maximisation.				
	Good leadership is needed to develop supply chain collaboration, which improves performance, according to most managers.				
	Majority of the managers pointed out that performance management is essential in controlling activities at both internal and external levels.				
	Most manager pointed out that effective management of input and output is prime to supply chain collaboration which helps performance improvement. He further suggested that collaboration should be managed through trust and commitment.				
	Majority managers pointed out that adopting collaboration in their supply chain operation has helped their organisation to be flexible, keeping to time.				
	Majority of the managers stated that collaboration enables informed decision-making in an organisation.				
E-NNPC E-TOTAL E-RAIN E-RANO	Majority of the employees interviewed confirmed the adoption of supply chain collaboration in their various organisations or companies, and they were happy to present some of the enabling and inhibiting factors.				

Table 4-1: Data Display on Question 1 (The Managers and Employees View)





Figure 4-1: The Elements for the Adoptions of Supply Chain Collaboration in the Oil and Gas Industry As seen in Figure 4-1 and Table 4-1; the interviewed employees ranked teamwork, good leadership, efficient operations, connectivity of supplier, trust and decision-making as the most essential factors for adopting supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas industry. On the other hand, the interviewed employee's manager trust, flexibility, effective time management, information sharing, and customer satisfaction as the most critical factors.

Question 2: What are the enablers of supply chain collaboration leading performance Respondents improvement in oil and gas industry? M-NNPC Majority of managers commented that good leadership is essential for effective supply chain collaboration in Nigeria's oil and gas sector. Their different comments suggested that an organisation **M-TOTAL** M-RAIN cannot be a success without having good leadership in place. **M-RANO** Most managers interviewed in their opinions stated that trust is one of the key elements that keep their collaboration moving; in their submissions, they clearly stated the importance of trust for the success of collaboration in their organisation. Majority of managers acknowledged the significance of effective relationships in the conduct of their business collaboration with both customers and suppliers. Most managers mentioned target and goal alignment as sensitive components that enable business collaboration for performance improvement. Majority of managers commented that effective resource flow in the system is an essential thing that is needed in collaboration for effective business operation. It is one of the essential tools helping the organisation realise its desired success. Most managers interviewed commented that timeliness is the key component required in any meaningful collaboration in an organisation to succeed. Time is needed for planning, delivery, and distribution. Majority managers interviewed stated that effective planning provides enabling support to achieve success in the collaborative operation of their companies. Most managers interviewed believe that quality management is an important enabler in achieving supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas organisation. Majority of managers interviewed stated that continuous improvement is one of the components needed as enablers to facilitate effective collaboration. Most managers interviewed commented that effective communication is an enabler because, in collaboration, an organisation needs to communicate their policies in clear terms. Most interviewed managers suggested that channels of communication are needed for effective collaboration to enable effective communication into the system. More managers interviewed mentioned that information technology is the key element enabling the organisation's collaboration. Majority of managers interviewed said information sharing is an integral component that enables organisations to collaborate effectively and improve performance. Most managers interviewed believe that road network plays a vital role in enabling collaborative supply chain management. Most managers interviewed in their submissions presented that financial flow is crucial for enabling a firm's supply chain collaboration. Majority of managers commented that decision-making is important for performance improvement in the oil and gas industry. Managers identifies infrastructure as a key performance improvement element. E-NNPC Majority of the participants pointed out that collaborative Relationship management is important in E-TOTAL managing organisation activities as it can enable effective relation creation and sustain partners together E-RAIN to achieve the desired success. **E-RANO**

Table 4-2: Data Display on Question 2 (The Managers and Employees View)

effective supply chain management in the oil and gas industry.

Most interviewed employees described that excellent leadership in supply chain operation provides

More interviewed employees have mentioned trust as the key element that improves the performance of supply chain operations in their organisation.
Majority of the employees stated that collaboration enables the setting of organisational targets and goal alignment, which are vital elements for improving the performance of an organisation.
Majority of the interviewed employees showcase that an organisation's adequate flow of resources can better be achieved through collaboration. This means that the effective flow of resources enables the success of an organisation.
Most employees interviewed mentioned that timeliness enables an organisation the elimination of waste in the system, contributes to quicker delivery and improves customer satisfaction.
Majority of the employees interviewed indicate that effective planning enables an organisation to achieve its goals and effective supply chain system by knowing exactly what to do, how, when, and where.
Most interviewed employees identify quality management as an enabler used for improving the product quality of the organisation and maintaining a certain level of excellence and activities among the supply chain partners.
Majority of the interviewed employees indicate that continuous improvement enables the partners to sustain the supply chain process that tent to increase profits, reduce costs and improve innovation in the oil and gas industry. They further pinpointed that Continuous Improvement provides continuous safety and improves product quality.
Most interviewee identifies infrastructure development as a critical tool enabling supply chain collaboration and improving its performance.
High number of interrogated employees indicate that communication channels such as social media, text messages, emails, and video conferences have improved supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry.
Majority of the employees interviewed air their views stating that effective communication allows all the partners to have a clear goal, share vital information, plan, organise their supply chain activities, and encourage consumer feedback.
Most interviewed employed presented that information technology, such as computing systems, the internet of things, big data etc., has facilitated the movement of oil and gas products and information sharing among the partners as well as improving the organisational performance.
Majority of the employed to believe that information sharing allows supply chain partners to integrate and coordinate their supply chain processes effectively. They further added that information sharing among the partners reduces inventories, provides smooth operations and transparency, and improves supply chain performance.
Most employees interviewed suggested that an effective road network is essential to their organisation because it provides smooth operations and activities during the supply chain operations. In addition, the interviewed employee added that an effective road network in their organisation reduces inventory and overall lead time, as well as saves costs, contributing to performance improvement.
16. Four employees presented in their interviews that effective financial flow of cash among the supply chain stakeholders improves supply chain collaboration as well as improving overall organisational performance.
Majority of the employees interviewed believe that teamwork enables the organisation to collaborate effectively among the supply chain patterns of the oil and gas industry.
Most interviewed employees presented that Policymaking becomes clearer when partners are drawn to a round table decision making which displays a high level of inclusiveness or involvement.
Majority of the employees interviewed mentioned that key performance indicators are used in their organisation to evaluate the level of supply chain collaboration among the supply chain partners of the industry.
More interviewed employees affirmed that Decision Making is used to provide an effective decision on information, products, and funds across the supply chain partners of the organisations. Also, it is used to resolve supply chain issues and establish a favourable policy among the supply chain partners.

Most employees interviewed showcase their views, stating that partnership in the supply chain enables the chain members to develop effective trust and Commitment among each other, which also leads to effective relationships and performance.

Most interrogated employees pointed out that cost management as an enabler of supply chain collaboration allows them to plan effectively, monitor and control their organisational budgets.

Majority interrogated employees demonstrated that Commitment among the partners improves the level of trust and provides a durable relationship which leads to performance improvement in the organisation.



Figure 4-2: The Enablers of Supply Chain Collaborations in the Oil and Gas Industry

The Figure 4-2 and Table 4-2 show that employees value trust, collaborative relationship management, target and goal alignment, continuous improvement, effective communication, information sharing, commitment, decision-making, and timeliness as supply chain collaboration enablers. At the same time, the managers pointed out that good leadership, trust, collaborative relationship, and effective communication are the most ranked enablers of supply chain collaboration in the Nigerian oil and gas industry.

Respondents	Question 3. What are the inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry?		
M-NNPC	Majority of managers interviewed pointed out clearly that the Covid-19 pandemic has impacted		
M-TOTAL	negatively on supply chain performance due to border closure, restricted movement, social distancing,		
M-RAIN	and countries lockdowns as a means to control the spread, which in turn affected so many businesses.		
M-RANO	Most interviewed managers believe poor security in the country negatively impacts the operations and performance of the supply chain, which influences collaboration.		

Table 4-3: Data Display on Question 3 (The Managers and Employees View)

	Majority of interviewed managers commented that poor transportation systems as a form of inhibitor in the oil and gas industry affect effective and smooth operation.
	Most interviewed managers pointed poor communication can significantly affect collaboration because collaboration can only be effective when there is information flow in the system.
	Majority of managers lamented that the lack of clear policies as a failure in leadership and trust could affect collaboration.
	Most interviewed managers said that lack of working capital could affect many units vital for collaboration, such as order management and day-to-day operations.
	Majority of managers interviewed stated that lack of manpower constitutes part of the inhibitors of the collaborative supply chain in Nigeria's oil and gas industry.
	Most managers interviewed mentioned a lack of commitment from the parties involved in the collaboration creating distrust among members and the team.
	Majority of managers interviewed commented that a lack of innovation is an inhibitor to supply chain collaboration and can negatively impact the performance of an organisation if innovation is not prioritised.
	Most managers commented that lack of information sharing is an inhibitor in the supply chain collaboration, pointing out that collaboration can only be effective when information is shared among the parties involved.
	Majority of managers interviewed mentioned order placement as an inhibitor to collaboration, especially when orders are placed late or pressure demand.
E-NNPC E-TOTAL E-RAIN E-RANO	Most interrogated employees made mention of border closure because of covid-19, and the country lockdown has caused a delay in the delivery of oil and gas products from the point of production to the end users. In addition, the employees noted that border closure had affected supply chain planning, time management, logistics and distribution as well as decision making of the organisation.
	Majority of the interviewed employees pointed out that restricted movement has negatively impacted the mode of operations in their organisation through movement restrictions imposed by the government to stop the spread of Covid-19 and thereby limit the industry's activities.
	More interviewed respondents said that social distancing is one of the rules and regulations implemented by the government as a measure for the spread control of Covid-19. However, it turns out to be an inhibitor to business operation as it limits the level of interaction in business activity.
	Most respondents identified countries' lockdowns as a barrier to the effective execution of local and international business operations, as a fleet or entire logistics were unable to distribute products and services efficiently, thereby affecting supply chain flows.
	Majority of the employees that participated in the interview stated that the lack of security in the country has posed a threat to the effective supply chain and thereby limits the movement of oil and gas products from one location to another.
	More interviewed employees said that poor transport systems in their organisation have slowed down distribution channels and damaged lots of goods due to poor road infrastructure and inadequate transportation channels in some parts of the country, which has cost the industry a lot during the supply chain process. They further added that poor transportation system also contributes to inadequate delivery of products and services to the appropriate location.
	Greater number of the employees interviewed stated that poor communication affects organisational productivity, decision-making, and teamwork and discourages partners' connectivity, which also leads to a lack of performance improvement in the organisation. They added that effective collaboration could only be achieved if adequate communication is practised among the supply chain stakeholders.
	Majority of the employees interviewed noted that poor planning because of lack of leadership in their organisation is the reason why most supply chain processes failed in their organisation.
	More employees that part takes in the interview mentioned that lack of clear policies due to poor leadership in their organisation affects the level of collaboration with their partners. They further added that a situation whereby clear and favourable policy is not established among the partners would lead to not improving the overall performance of the industry.

Greater number of the employees interviewed presented that lack of working capital among the stakeholders has made supply chain operations more difficult to be achieved. The employee further added that due to a lack of working capital, businesses might be unable to cover overhead costs or fund expansion initiatives.
Most employees interviewed discuss that lack of manpower affects the collaboration process in their organisation because unskilled personnel occupy most positions. They went on to say that the staff should have additional training in the future so they can develop their talents.
Most senior interviewed employees mentioned that lack of commitment (not consistency) affected organisational goals, achievement, partnership relationship, trust, collaboration, and organisational performance.
Majority of the interviewed employees stated that lack of innovation and creativity affects collaboration and performance as no new skills, ideas and knowledge is acquired to further enhanced the overall organisational performance.
Most employees that were interrogated indicate that lack of information sharing in an organisation inhibits collaboration and the firm's overall performance. They further added that the absence of information sharing also affects the level of trust and relationships among the partners, product quality and, lastly, it affects the goals and visions of the company.
Majority of the employee interviewed made mention of order placement as one of the collaborative supply chain barriers in their organisation whereby if the products ordered by the clients are not managed well will cause chaos and lead to customers' unsatisfaction.



Figure 4-3: The Inhibitors of Supply Chain Collaboration in the Oil and gas Industry

Table 4-3 and Figure 4-3 show that the lack of security, the Covid-19 Pandemic, poor communication, and lack of clear policies are the key inhibitors of supply chain collaboration in

Nigeria's oil and gas industry. The participants added that the above inhibitors constrain some of the industry activities and the distribution of industrial products.

Table 4-4: Data Display on Question 4 (The Managers and Employees View)

Respondents	Question 4: What are the key strategies utilised to enhance supply chain performance?			
M-NNPC M-TOTAL M-RAIN	Majority of managers agreed with some of the components identified in the informed literature, which could be enablers or inhibitors to supply chain collaboration. They further suggested other strategies for implementing supply chain performance improvement, as stated below.			
M-RANO	Most managers mentioned key performance indicators as other strategies to improve performance rather than a collaborative effort.			
	A manager interviewed mentioned monitoring and evaluation as other strategies for implementing supply chain performance improvement.			
	Majority of managers interviewed commented that management of business structure is another strategy for implementing supply chain performance improvement, which can be achieved through environmental analysis.			
	Most managers interviewed mentioned honesty as a critical strategy employed for implementing supply chain performance improvement.			
	Majority of managers interviewed believe that effective communication is used in implementing supply chain performance improvement.			
	Most managers interviewed mentioned internal development as a strategy for implementing the supply chain performance improvement.			
	Most manager interviewed commented that effective decision-making is a strategy for implementing supply chain performance improvement.			
	Most manager interviewed mentioned that value creation is a strategy for implementing supply chain performance improvement.			
	Majority of the managers interviewed stated that avoiding risk-taking is a strategy for implementing supply chain performance improvement.			
	Most managers interviewed motioned that cost reduction and unnecessary expenditures can help implement supply chain performance improvement.			
	Majority of the managers stated that a review of performance help in the identification of opportunities that will be useful for the implementation of supply chain performance improvement.			
	Most managers mentioned that good planning is needed to ensure effective coordination of the organisation's mission, individual strength, and effective communication.			
E-NNPC E-TOTAL E-RAIN E-RANO	Most interviewed employees presented that key performance indicators are used by their organisation to perform business strategy and improve its performance. They also added that key performance indicators are used to set up standard measures and targeted goals for their organisation to achieve in a particular period. Furthermore, the supply chain collaborator uses key performance indicators to evaluate and monitor the collaborative firms' and partners' strategies, processes, and activities.			
	Greater number of the employees interviewed stated that monitoring and evaluation are used in their organisations to identify the linkages between the supply chain planning, processes, and implementation to satisfy their customer need and improve the performance of the entire organisation and the industry at larger. Also, it is used to identify any existing gaps or failures in any supply chain operations.			
	Majority of the interviewed employees demonstrated that their organisation's performance could improve through order strategies such as management of business structure and environmental analysis. The level of business structure affects the activities of the supply chain and the relationships between the company's clients and other supply chain partners.			
	Majority of the employees interviewed, Good Planning through sharing the organisation's mission is a strategy used to improve product quality, the firm's objectives, and goals. In addition, individual strength enables organisations to understand where their strength lies in their business processes and after considering outsourcing the other businesses that they are not good at to their most trusted partner.			

r	
	Most interviewed employees believe that sharing the organisation's mission among the participating partners is another strategy that is used to improve the firm performance. They further added that it is important that all the chain members understand the collaborative mission, which will enable each of them to work towards it to have unified goals and outcomes as well as meet customer demands and satisfaction.
	Greater number of the employees presented that honesty is a strategy that an organisation can use to improve their organisational performance as it is the medium in which the partners develop a long-lasting relationship and meet the targeted goals such as maximising profits and customer satisfaction. Furthermore, honesty creates self-accountability and integrity for the firms and their partners. As a result, honesty improves the company's reputation and how the organisation's leaders develop confidence. It also allows the organisation to identify the problems and work together to solve them.
	Most interviewed employees demonstrated that Effective communication was used in their organisation as a strategy for an effective performance system before the invention of collaboration. This allowed the supply chain members to effectively share vital information, develop targeted goals, and make effective decisions. Additionally, organisational performance is improved through effective communication because it encourages functional clarity, project continuity and effective teamwork among the concerned stakeholders.
	Majority of the employees believe that the major goal of Internal development as another strategy for performance improvement is to enhance sales, improve efficiency, improve customer service, and assist the organisation's general growth.
	Most employees agreed that most organisations use effective decision-making to improve their organisational performance. They further added that effective decision-making contributes to effective organisational management, leadership, good planning, selection of appropriate resources and logistic mapping.
	Most participating employees argued that Value creation is a strategy for performance improvement in the absence of collaboration because it is regarded as the foundation of any successful business. It also ensures long-term customer relationships and gives your brand strong relevance among competitors.
	Greater number of the employees interviewed, avoiding risk-taking is another strategy the organisation employs to eliminate hazards, unwanted activities, and exposures that hurt an organisation's assets, leading to cost reduction and meeting customers' expectations. They further stated that the company's assets might be vulnerable to losses if a risk management strategy is not applied.
	Most participating interviewed employees, noted that avoiding unnecessary expenditures in an organisation leads to effective management of the company's production, improving customer relationships and overall organisational performance.
	Most employees mentioned that consistent review of performance and its measurement in their organisation had become another strategy for improving organisational performance. Performance reviews provide valuable inputs to the company as well as getting valuable feedback from their most trusted clients or customers. However, performance evaluations as a strategy in an organisation reveal problem areas and offer remedies.

The Figure 4-4 and

Table 4-4 highlighted the other strategies for performance improvement, such as good planning, monitoring and evaluation, key performance indicators and effective communication. The participant added that this other strategy enables them to overcome the organisational uncertainties where some of these partners may need more capacity to meet the requirement for effective supply chain collaboration. Also, some participants pointed out that most of these strategies for effective performance systems had been placed in their organisations before the invention of supply chain collaboration.



Figure 4-4: The other strategies for performance improvement in the oil and gas industry

4.8 Data Pattern Identification

A theme is a pattern that captures the associated information in data and groups them based on their similarities or closely related to the subject of discussion (Braun & Clarke, 2006). A theme in the thematic analysis is a pattern that describes ideas that are important in research or areas that sufficiently capture the critical views in data and research questions (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Braun and Clarke (2006), further state that themes are constructed to summarise the components that represent the overall views of participants. The data revealed 16 key components identified as findings, and elements such as trust, information sharing, communication, commitment and infrastructure and risk management in some areas of the research questions were overlapped and merged. For example, as mentioned by the interviewees, trust and good leadership are good enabling factors and could be found as inhibitors to the organisation.

At the end of the data summary and display in broader views, as highlighted above, a thematic pattern identification process is applied to bring the data to something specific about these research questions (Q1-Q4). The frequency is presented in percentage in the tables below, see appendix D. This research predominately uses descriptive themes, which explain patterns in the data

appropriate to the research questions. The tables below display themes that are identified in question 1 to 4 based on the response of managers and employees interviewed. The key patterns and findings are presented in Tables below.

Alignment of Goals

Determine and Defining Key Themes was the first stage which the researcher determine and identify the key themes or areas of concentration that are critical to the success of the organisation. Alignment of Goals, Trust, Connectivity with Suppliers, Effective Operations, Customers' Satisfaction, and Good Relationship are the core areas in this scenario mentioned by majority of the respondents. These themes stand for several elements that affect how well the organisation performs overall.

Setting precise goals for each topic comes after the themes have been selected. Objectives give direction and specify the goals or objectives for each subject. Establishing trustworthy and open lines of communication with stakeholders, for instance, can be a target under the topic of trust.

Alignment is a process that is continuous. The company need to promote a culture of ongoing development and education. To collect feedback from diverse stakeholders and incorporate it into the alignment process, feedback loops should be built. This makes it possible for the organisation to adjust to shifting conditions while staying committed to attaining its objectives.

Teamwork

The idea was to decide on the concept of teamwork as a primary area of attention. Understanding the value of teamwork is crucial for promoting cooperation and attaining shared objectives inside the organisation.

Once the teamwork theme was established, it was crucial to specify specific goals for strengthening and fostering effective teamwork. These goals include enhancing communication through information sharing, cost reduction, and good leadership that fosters respect for one another, encourages teamwork, and advances a sense of purpose that is universal which were drawn from the majority views of respondents. It was critical to comprehend the obstacles and difficulties that prevent productive collaboration. This can be caused by things like a lack of channels for communication, competing priorities or goals, insufficient leadership backing, or a culture that doesn't encourage cooperation.

Performance Management

Here, it was considered to identify the themes that make performance management a major area of concern. Input and output, flexibility, effective time management, and decision-making are just a few of the activities and processes that are included in performance management, which aims to boost both individual and organisational performance.

It was crucial to establish precise goals for improving performance after the theme of performance management has been determined. These goals involve defining precise performance benchmarks, developing performance measures and indicators, offering feedback, and coaching, and coordinating team and individual goals with those of the organisation which captured by majority of the respondents.

These results from the defined processes can assist organisations in setting up a strong performance management system that focuses on enhancing both individual and organisational performance. It guarantees that teams and people are supported to succeed, that performance objectives are transparent, and that feedback is delivered often. Increased output, staff engagement, and overall organisational success are all influenced by effective performance management. Summary of the key patterns and findings in the table 5.5 below.

Key patterns	Frequencies in %	Findings
Goals Alignment (GA)	3%	Alignment of goals
Trust	43%	
Connectivity with Suppliers (CWS)	17%	
Effective Operations (EO)	17%	
Customers' Satisfaction (CS)	17%	
Good Relationship (GR)	7%	
Teamwork	13%	Teamwork
Information Sharing (IS)	47 %	
Costs Reduction (CR)	13%	
Good Leadership (GL)	17%	
Performance Management (PM)	7%	Performance Management
Input and Output (I&O)	7%	

 Table 4-5: Q1-Adoption of supply chain collaboration for performance improvement in the oil and gas industry

 Key patterns
 Frequencies in %

Flexibility	30%	
Effective Time Management	30%	
Decision Making (DM)	13%	

Collaborative relationship management

The establishment and maintenance of fruitful and productive partnerships with internal and external stakeholders are part of collaborative relationship management. This was accomplished by choosing respondents' opinions that shared the majority perspective.

Specific objectives for collaborative relationship management are developed once the subject has been determined. These aims include encouraging open communication, creating a sense of trust, advancing understanding between parties, developing collaboration, and accomplishing common objectives with stakeholders. Teamwork and collaborative relationship management are among the topics. In response to the question on the facilitators of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement, respondents highlighted the importance of good leadership, trust, collaborative relationships, target and objective alignment, and effective resource flow.

Timeliness and order planning

Planning for timeliness and order include setting priorities for activities, managing time efficiently, and developing a structured workflow. Effective time management and good planning, which were frequently highlighted by respondents, can, nevertheless, help achieve this objective.

Specific goals pertaining to timeliness and order planning are set once the subject has been determined. These goals could include completing tasks before the deadline, making the most use of available time, avoiding procrastination, boosting productivity, and keeping a tidy workspace.

Quality Management

The designation of the topic of quality management as a crucial area of concentration. In order to guarantee that goods, services, and processes meet or exceed consumer expectations and organisational requirements, quality management procedures must be put into place. The selected Quality Management and Quality management were determined by the respondents' opinions. The most often highlighted areas were continuous improvement.

Specific quality management objectives are developed once the subject has been determined. These goals may include raising customer happiness, minimising mistakes, or faults, and fostering a culture of ongoing improvement.

Infrastructure

Infrastructure is a basic concept that includes all physical facilities, processes, and structures required for a society or organisation to function. It entails the development, upkeep, and administration of critical infrastructure, such as buildings, roads, bridges, power plants, water supply networks, and others. The infrastructure theme lays the groundwork for societal advancement, economic expansion, and general advancement.

Most respondents' views centred on effective communication, communication channels, information technology, information sharing, and road network. Because these themes were related in nature and clustered together, infrastructure development could be carried out methodically and effectively if these issues were considered. Each subject is essential for making sure infrastructure projects are properly planned, communicated, backed by the right technology, and carried out in a way that encourages cooperation and information exchange among stakeholders.

Decision Making

The process of choosing among several options and picking a plan of action is the main emphasis of the decision-making subject. It entails assessing the information that is available, weighing the pros and drawbacks of various possibilities, and eventually deciding on the best course of action to take in order to accomplish the intended results. This theme was identified from the group of ideas presented by majority respondents who mentioned Policy Making, Key Performance Indicators, Costs Management, and Effective Commitment as part of decision making that is an essential part of every organisation's or person's operations.

Analysing performance indicators, controlling expenses, keeping decision makers actively engaged, and considering policies and standards are all part of the thematic process that precedes decision-making. By incorporating these elements, organisations may create a structured decisionmaking process where decisions are backed by the right resources, based on trustworthy information, and aligned with policies. This procedure makes it possible to make decisions that are successful for the organisation and are efficient and effective.

Finance

17

The planning, organising, directing, and managing of all financial operations inside an organisation constitutes the essential topic of financial management. Financial decision-making, budgeting, financial analysis, and resource management are all part of it. Achieving organisational objectives requires efficient and strategic resource allocation, which is ensured by effective financial management. This theme was mentioned by majority of the respondents for this study. Summary of the key patterns and findings in the table 5.6 below.

Key patterns	Frequencies in %	Findings
Teamwork	17%	Collaborative
Good Leadership (GL)	23%	Relationship
Trust	40%	management
Collaborative Relationship (CR)	43%	
Target and goal alignment (TGA)	27%	
Effective Flow of resources (EFR)	20%	
Time management (TM)	27%	Timeliness and order planning
Good Planning	17%	
Quality Management (QM)	13%	Quality
Continuous Improvement (CI)	30%	management
Infrastructure	7%	Infrastructure
Effective Communication (EC)	43%	7
Communication Channels (CC)	23%	
Information Technology (IT)	13%	-
Information Sharing (IS)	23%	
Road Network (RN)	17%	
Decision Making (DM)	20%	Decision Making
Policy Making (PM)	13%	
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)	7%]
Costs Management (CM)	13%]
Effective Commitment (EC)	20%	
Effective Financial Flow (EFF)	23%	Finance

Table 4-6: Q2-The enablers of supply chain collaboration leading performance improvement in the oil and gas industry

Covid-19 Pandemic

Disruptions in the supply chain are problems that businesses have when sourcing, producing, and distributing their products and services. Due to several constraints like plant closures, workforce

shortages, transportation limitations, and decreased consumer demand, the Covid-19 epidemic created substantial disruptions throughout supply chains. The focus of the subject is on how these interruptions impacted the flow of products and services and decreased the efficiency of the supply chain.

The global health crisis, which prompted supply chain disruptions, produced demand-supply imbalances, imposed logistics and transportation constraints, and highlighted the need for resilience and adaptability, is the thematic process that led to the Covid-19 pandemic as an inhibitor of supply chain performance. These related ideas highlight the many difficulties supply networks had throughout the pandemic, which resulted in a decline in their overall performance.

Infrastructural Development

Infrastructural development is the product of a conceptual process that also addresses issues with security, transportation, and communication infrastructure. Governments, organisations, and stakeholders can encourage and support infrastructure development by taking into account and addressing these topics. To complete this process, it is necessary to put security measures in place to inspire trust, invest in transportation infrastructure to increase connection and accessibility, and build trustworthy communication networks to aid in project coordination and information exchange. When combined, these initiatives help an area or nation's infrastructure to advance and grow.

Poor Leadership

The thematic process resulting in poor leadership as theme was from elements like unclear policies, a lack of operating capital, a lack of personnel, a lack of dedication, a lack of innovation and creativity, a lack of information sharing, issues with order placement, and poor planning mentioned by participants are all part of the theme process that leads to poor leadership. Organisations can work to enhance leadership techniques, cultivate a culture of wise decision-making, and promote the overall development and success of the organisation by recognising and addressing these topics. Summary of the key patterns and findings in the table 5.7 below.

Key patterns	Frequencies in %	Findings
Covid-19 pandemic	90%	Covid-19 pandemic
Lack of Security (LS)	23%	Infrastructural development
Poor Transport Systems (PTS)	13%	
Poor Communication (PC)	37%	
Lack of Clear Policies (LCP)	30%	Poor Leadership
Lack of Working Capital (LWC)	13%	
Lack of Manpower (LM)	17%	-
Lack of Commitment (LC)	13%	-
Lack of Innovation and Creativity (LIC)	7%	
Lack of Information Sharing (LIS)	13%	-
Order placement (OP)	13%	
Poor Planning (PP)	7%	-

Table 4-7: Q3-The inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry.

Process Monitoring and Evaluation

The key pattern was identified through the thematic process that leads to process monitoring and evaluation. Key performance indicators (KPIs) are used to measure performance, monitoring and evaluation (M&E) processes are put into place to collect data and evaluate results, and a strong business structure is established to support these activities which frequently mentioned by majority of participants and their views were cluster together and form the finding. By incorporating these elements, organisations can create a methodical monitoring and evaluation methodology, allowing them to pinpoint areas of success, areas for development, and take the required steps to enhance performance. Enhancing efficiency, effectiveness, and overall organisational performance requires careful process monitoring and assessment.

Business Strategy

Incorporating honesty and fostering good communication as mentioned by majority of respondents. This can be achieved by doing market analysis, participating in financial planning, and encouraging innovation and flexibility are all part of the conceptual process that results in business strategy. Together, these themes influence how a business strategy is developed and carried out, ensuring that it is in line with the organisation's beliefs, goals, and market realities.

Business strategy offers a road map for attaining long-term success, competitiveness, and sustainable growth.

Training

Internal development efforts, effective decision-making, skill development, information transfer, and performance improvement which was mentioned by majority of participants as part of the theme process that leads to training. Organisations may promote a culture of learning and development, strengthen staff competencies, and promote continuous improvement by identifying and addressing these issues. Training programmes are advantageous to both individual employees and the development, growth, and competitiveness of the organisation as a whole.

Good Planning

Consideration of value creation, avoiding risk-taking, minimising unnecessary expenditures, and incorporation of a performance assessment which was frequently mentioned by majority of respondents as parts of the theme process that leads to excellent planning. By including these elements, organisations may construct thorough and efficient plans that support their objectives, benefit stakeholders, and reduce possible risks. Organisations may manage difficulties, grasp opportunities, and achieve long-term success with the help of good planning.

Summary of the key patterns and findings in the table 5.8 below.

Key patterns	Frequencies in	Findings
	%	
Key Performance Indicators	20%	Process
Monitoring and Evaluation	23%	monitoring and
Management of Business Structure	17%	evaluation
Honesty	13%	Business
Effective Communication	20%	Strategy
Internal Development	13%	Training
Effective Decision Making	13%	
Good Planning	40 %	Good planning
Value Creation	13%	
Avoid risk Taking	10%	
Unnecessary Expenditures	10%	
Review of Performance	10%	

Table 4-8: Q4- What are the key strategies utilised to enhance supply chain performance?

4.9 Analysis and Findings

The above-mentioned findings are analysed and explored in connection to the four primary study issues stated. These research questions serve as a foundation for investigating the issue at hand and give a thorough comprehension of it.

Question 1

Based on the information supplied by respondents, the researcher performed a study to identify key themes or areas of focus that are crucial to the organisation's performance. Goals Alignment, Trust, Connectivity with Suppliers, Effective Operations, Customer Satisfaction, and Good Relationship were among the themes stated by most respondents.

To answer question 1, after identifying the results, the next step was to create specific goals for each finding. These objectives are specified in each area and offer guidance.

The process of alignment is regarded as continual, and the business is urged to foster a culture of constant learning and development. To gather feedback from many stakeholders and incorporate it into the alignment process, feedback loops should be built. This enables the organisation to adjust to changing circumstances while remaining dedicated to attaining its goals.

The emphasis is placed mostly on teamwork. It is underlined how important collaboration is for fostering cooperation and attaining common goals within an organisation. There are listed specific objectives for developing and cultivating successful cooperation, such as improving communication, cutting expenses, and supporting excellent leadership that encourages respect, teamwork, and a shared sense of purpose.

Another significant area is performance management which is with the objective of enhancing both individual and organisational performance, it includes actions and procedures including input and output, adaptability, efficient time management, and decision-making. It is advised to set specific performance improvement objectives, such as establishing performance benchmarks, creating performance metrics and indicators, giving feedback, and coaching, and coordinating team and individual goals with organisational objectives.

The results indicate that the business should concentrate on matching its objectives with important ideas, encouraging cooperation, and putting in place a successful performance management

system. By doing this, the firm may succeed, improve overall performance, and boost employee engagement.

Question 2

The researcher established a number of important elements that are crucial and act as enablers for the development of the business to solve concerns linked to question 2 based on the information supplied. These areas covered include decision-making, infrastructure, quality management, timely and orderly planning, collaborative relationship management, and finances. According to the results, these areas should get focus, and precise objectives should be established to boost performance of the organisation.

The development and maintenance of successful alliances with internal and external stakeholders are stressed in collaborative relationship management. Promoting open communication, trust, understanding, cooperation, and attaining shared goals with stakeholders are the specific goals as the enablers of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement, it was noted that strong leadership, trust, collaborative relationships, target and objective alignment, and efficient resource flow were important.

Planning for timeliness and orderliness focuses on creating an organised process, identifying priorities, and effectively managing time. Goals in this area might be as specific as meeting deadlines, making the most of free time, preventing procrastination, increasing productivity, and keeping a clean workstation. Time management skills and thorough planning were frequently mentioned by respondents.

To make sure that products, services, and procedures meet or exceed customer expectations and organisational standards, quality management is seen as a vital area of focus. The significance of continuous improvement was emphasised as a crucial component of quality management. Raising customer happiness, reducing errors or flaws, and promoting a culture of continuous improvement are some examples of specific goals.

The physical procedures, buildings, and facilities required for a society or organisation to operate are referred to as infrastructure. Road networks, information technology, knowledge exchange, and effective communication were cited as key elements in infrastructure development. These are necessary for effectively organising, informing, and executing infrastructure projects in a way that promotes collaboration and information sharing among stakeholders.

Making decisions entails evaluating information, considering benefits and drawbacks, and deciding on the best course of action. The decision-making process was described in terms of key performance metrics, cost management, and effective commitment. Important elements in the decision-making process include analysing performance indicators, managing expenditures, keeping decision-makers involved, and taking rules and standards into account.

Planning, coordinating, directing, and managing all financial processes within an organisation are all parts of financial management. Key elements include resource management, budgeting, financial analysis, and financial decision-making. Achieving organisational goals requires efficient and strategic resource allocation, which is ensured by effective financial management.

The results indicate that as enablers of organisational performance development, focus should be placed on collaborative relationship management, timeliness and order planning, quality management, infrastructure, decision making, and financial management. For each selected enabling theme, specific objectives should be established to boost organisational success and performance.

Question 3

The results show how the Covid-19 epidemic has affected supply chains, causing interruptions in the sourcing, production, and distribution procedures. Constraints that had a substantial impact on the flow of goods and services and reduced supply chain effectiveness include plant closures, labour shortages, transportation issues, and a decline in consumer demand. Disruptions in the supply chain brought forth by the pandemic led to demand-supply mismatches, transportation and logistical problems, and the need for resilience and adaptation.

It is emphasised that infrastructure development is a crucial component in solving problems with infrastructure related to security, transportation, and communications. To make project coordination and information sharing easier, governments, organisations, and stakeholders are urged to invest in security measures, transportation infrastructure, and reliable communication networks. These programmes may help an organisation's infrastructure develop and improve.

Another important factor influencing organisational effectiveness is poor leadership. Poor leadership is characterised by factors including ambiguous policies, a lack of operational capital, a lack of staff, a lack of commitment, a lack of invention and creativity, a lack of information sharing, problems with order placement, and bad planning. Organisations are recommended to enhance leadership practises, encourage a culture of sensible decision-making, and support overall organisational development and success to address this issue.

The research points out the difficulties the Covid-19 epidemic poses for supply chains, the significance of infrastructure development, and the demand for strong leadership. By addressing these problems, organisations may better manage interruptions, improve supply chain efficiency, and guarantee long-term success.

Question 4

The findings emphasise numerous key aspects relating to process monitoring and assessment, corporate strategy, training, and excellent planning to overcome the problems connected to question 4.

A crucial trend is the identification of process monitoring and assessment. It entails developing a solid corporate structure to support these operations, putting monitoring and evaluation (M&E) systems in place to gather data and analyse results, and employing key performance indicators (KPIs) to measure performance. By embracing these components, organisations may create a systematic framework for monitoring and evaluating its performance that helps them pinpoint areas where they are succeeding and where they can make improvements. This improves their efficiency, effectiveness, and overall organisational performance.

The finding of business strategy also came up. It entails embracing integrity, creating effective communication, performing market research, taking part in financial planning, and supporting creativity and adaptability. These themes have an impact on the formulation and application of a business strategy that is consistent with the organisation's values, objectives, and market realities. For long-term success, competitiveness, and sustainable growth, a well-defined company strategy offers a road map.

The enhancement of performance, internal development initiatives, efficient decision-making, skill development, and knowledge transmission are all regarded as essential themes that relate to

training. By addressing these problems, organisations may encourage a culture of learning and growth, boost staff capabilities, and support continuous improvement. The development, expansion, and competitiveness of the organisation as well as the individual workers gain from training programmes.

The need of good planning is emphasised as a finding that includes taking performance assessment into account, keeping risk to a minimum, and not taking unnecessary risks. Organisations may create complete and effective plans that support its aims, benefit stakeholders, and reduce possible risks by including these components into their planning processes. Organisations may handle difficulties, grasp opportunities, and achieve long-term success with the help of good planning.

The results point to the significance of corporate strategy, planning, training, process monitoring and evaluation, and excellent planning in raising organisational performance. Organisations may increase its effectiveness, competitiveness, and long-term success by addressing these areas and adopting them into its operations.

4.10 Model development

After the original data has been analysed, the findings are presented in broad strokes or in sections based on the research's major issues. 16 important parts of the findings were identified during thematic process. Alignment of goals, teamwork, decision-making, performance management, collaborative relationship management, timeliness and order management, quality management, finance, process monitoring and evaluation, management of business strategy, training and development, infrastructure, good planning, Covid-19, infrastructural development, and other novel ideas that have been researched and added to the body of knowledge and practise in the oil and gas industry. The study findings are summarised and presented in the model development in Figure 4-5.

Numerous academic research paradigms were discovered by Creswell and Creswell's 2003 study. The long-standing models for supply chain collaboration needed to be updated after a careful analysis of the current ones. This allows the researcher to take advantage of new technologies, adapt to shifting market dynamics, increase efficiency, boost customer satisfaction, manage risks like pandemics, and use alternative practises for performance improvement. It is important to know that a business environment is always changing. The new model brings together components to

enable businesses to remain resilient and competitive. In order to visualise the relationships between various items in a system, the domain model diagram presented in this study helps pinpoint possible areas for development and offers a thorough grasp of how the various parts of a system interact. Development of a domain model for supply chain collaboration that can improve performance in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria presented below.



Figure 4-5: Model Development for Effective Supply Chain Collaboration leading to performance Improvement.

Operations Performance

Operational performance is used to describe the efficacy and efficiency of a company's primary operations and procedures. It focuses on how successfully an organisation carries out its regular tasks to meet its strategic goals. Productivity, quality, customer happiness, cycle time, and on-time delivery are a few examples of key operational performance metrics. High operational performance suggests that a company is efficiently using its resources, streamlining operations, and providing goods or services.

Financial Performance

An organisation's financial success is determined by its ability to turn a profit, control expenses, and increase shareholder value. In order to evaluate an organisation's overall financial health and viability, financial statements and indicators must be analysed. Revenue growth, profitability,

return on investment (ROI), gross margin, liquidity ratios, and the debt-to-equity ratio are important financial performance metrics. Positive financial performance demonstrates that a company is bringing in money, controlling costs, and producing long-term profits.

Non-Financial Performance

Non-financial performance is the assessment of an organisation's success or development based on elements unrelated to financial metrics. It includes a larger range of metrics that evaluate the organisation's influence on key constituencies, society, and the environment. Social responsibility programmes, employee happiness, environmental sustainability practises, innovation, and brand reputation are examples of non-financial performance measures. Organisations may comprehend their influence beyond financial results and consider their social and environmental obligations by evaluating non-financial performance.

4.11 Novelty of the research

The study revealed a good relationship between the literature and the primary data, as sixteen important parts of the findings were identified during the thematic process, which include alignment of goals, teamwork, decision-making, performance management, collaborative relationship management, timeliness and order management, quality management, finance, process monitoring and evaluation, management of business strategy, training and development, infrastructure, and good planning. These parts were found to be similar and consistent with the existing literature. The COVID-19 pandemic, infrastructural development, and poor leadership were novel ideas as barriers to supply chain collaboration, and the development of or highlighting other strategies that have been researched and added to the body of knowledge was a unique contribution that has not in the existing models.

It is crucial to remember that uniqueness is typically evaluated in the context of a particular industry or area of expertise. The primary topic of this study is supply chain collaboration as a crucial element of performance improvement in the oil and gas sector. As a result, something that may be original in one discipline but not in another may not be unique in that field. Furthermore, novelty alone does not guarantee the significance or influence of study results. Research's relevance is based on more than simply its uniqueness; it also involves its contribution to knowledge, its applicability in daily life, and its potential consequences on further studies or applications, of which both aspects are true and reflected in this study.

A unique contribution is the creation of a performance improvement model specifically designed for the Nigerian oil and gas industry. The complexity of the industry is taken into account in this approach, providing exact instructions on how to improve cooperation for performance growth.

In conclusion, the novelty of this research lies in its industry-specific focus, the development of a customised performance improvement model, and its ability to provide insightful knowledge for supply chain collaboration in other challenging and dynamic industries, in addition to the Nigerian oil and gas industry. Furthermore, Local context sensitivity, performance improvement perspective, validation through a real-world Validation, holistic framework, and scalability and adaptability are the main novelty in comparison with the existing one. These factors combine to present our concept as a cutting-edge solution for improving collaboration and performance in this vital area.

The linkages between components of supply chain collaboration and performance improvement.

The effects of each result on operational performance, financial performance, and non-financial performance may differ depending on the industry, setting, and unique organisational features. The connections between the findings of supply chain collaboration and performance improvement are summarised in the Table 4-9.

Findings	Operational Performance	Financial Performance	Non-Financial Performance
Alignment of goals	Improves coordination, efficiency, and goal attainment	Enhances cost management and resource allocation	Promotes organisational cohesion and employee satisfaction
Teamwork	Enhances collaboration, communication, and productivity	Reduces costs through streamlined processes and reduced errors	Fosters a positive work environment and employee engagement
Decision-making	Supports effective and informed decision-making processes	Optimises resource allocation and cost control	Enhances organisational agility and responsiveness

 Table 4-9: Research Findings leading to Performance Improvement

 Findings
 Operational Performance
 Financial Performance

Performance	Enables performance monitoring,	Supports cost control and	Encourages individual and
management	evaluation, and improvement	resource optimisation	team performance improvement
Collaborative relationship mgmt.	Enhances coordination, trust, and cooperation among supply chain partners	Improves cost efficiency and resource utilisation	Builds long-term partnerships and enhances customer satisfaction
Timeliness and order management	Ensures timely delivery of products and services	Minimises costs through efficient order fulfilment	Enhances customer satisfaction and loyalty
Quality management	Ensures high product/service quality and customer satisfaction	Reduces costs associated with rework, returns, and customer complaints	Builds brand reputation and customer trust
Finance	Optimises financial resources, budgeting, and cost control	Drives profitability and financial stability	Supports investment decisions and growth strategies
Process monitoring and evaluation	Facilitates continuous process improvement and performance tracking	Identifies cost-saving opportunities and efficiency gaps	Drives process efficiency and optimisation
Business strategy management	Aligns operations with strategic objectives and market demands	Supports revenue growth and competitive advantage	Ensures organisational sustainability and market relevance
Training and development	Enhances employee skills, knowledge, and performance	Reduces costs associated with employee turnover and low productivity	Fosters employee satisfaction, loyalty, and career growth
Infrastructure	Provides necessary physical and technological resources for operations	Impacts capital expenditure and operational costs	Supports efficient and effective operations
Good planning	Optimizes resource allocation, scheduling, and capacity management	Reduces costs associated with inefficiencies and disruptions	Enhances operational efficiency and delivery performance
COVID-19	Highlights the need for resilience, adaptability, and risk management	Impacts financial stability and operational costs	Addresses the well-being and safety of employees and customers
Infrastructural development	Supports expansion, efficiency, and technological advancements	Influences capital expenditure and operational costs	Enhances operational capacity and competitiveness

Γ	Poor leadership	Negatively impacts	Can lead to financial	Affects employee morale,
		organisational culture, decision-	mismanagement and	engagement, and overall
		making, and performance	inefficiencies	organisational health

4.12 Chapter Summary

In summary, operational performance focuses on the effectiveness and efficiency of an organisation's core operations, financial performance assesses the company's financial stability and profitability, and non-financial performance evaluates the business's effect on stakeholders and society beyond financial measures. When assessing a company's overall performance and sustainability, all three factors are crucial.

The next chapter presents the validation of the Interview findings, which details the validation process, means of validation and validation outcome. Also, the next chapter presents the model development and validation processes and procedures involved in the Model validation leading to the implementation of an effective supply chain system in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. In addition, the next chapter explores a domain model, which displays the interconnections between the interview findings leading to performance improvement in Nigeria's oil and gas sector.

Chapter 5 : Validation of Research Findings, And Model Development 5.1 Validation Process for Research Findings

This chapter presents a validation process of the interview findings of the study. This validation aims to confirm whether the interview designs are appropriate and the findings are properly obtained to support the research aim (Saunders et al., 2020). Validity of findings are crucial because they determine whether or not a given approach or metric is adequate for determining whether or not a given system will succeed in accomplishing its goals by using the identified components. It is essential to note that the measures for the suitability of any data set are the determination of validity, which implies providing the required answers to the questions (Shafer & Herrera, 2009). The summary of the validity process and data triangulation adopted by the researcher is shown in Table 5-1.

Methods	Measurement	Outcomes
Validity	To understand the accuracy of a	Determine whether the results of a
	measure	study do correspond to what they are
		meant to measure.
Data triangulation	To have an in-depth understanding of	Make use of data from various spaces,
	the subject matter	times, and population

Table 5-1: The summary of the validity and reliability process and data triangulation

It is obvious that the main research findings should be validated through the triangulation method, and it enables the researcher to display fair judgment over the subjective data that the participants or respondents have communicated during the interview process. After collecting interview data, it was important to revisit them and inquire if the researcher got their ideas right as they had been revealed or communicated. The researcher contacted four respondents from the four studied companies, and the respondents confirmed the information's originality.

Saunders et al. (2016) suggest that the validity and reliability of study findings or collected data can be affected by reasons such as history, testing, subject error, time error, observer effects, instrumentation, mortality, maturation, and indecision about the fundamental objective of the study context. Therefore, the researcher considers all the elements and carefully follows the structure of the study from data collection, transcription and interpretation, pattern development and identification of the findings.

This subsection reviews the sixteen findings driven from the interview which include alignment of goals, teamwork, performance management, relationship management, timeliness and order management, quality management, finance, infrastructure, process monitoring and evaluation, business strategy management, decision-making, training and development, good planning, Covid-19, infrastructure development, and poor leadership. These findings were identified through thematic patterns from the data collected, as summarised in Figure 5-1.



Figure 5-1: The Framework of the Thematic Analysis Summary. Source: Adapted from the Blandford et al. (2016); Clarke and Braun (2013)

The main purpose of validation is to make sure that the interview findings is validated thorough and holds the highest quality standard and provides exact solutions to a problem. The stages for achieving quality include planning the conduct by selecting the right companies, executing the study as it should be, and evaluating whether the study findings are measured and valid.

5.2 Validation Questions

The questions below were asked of respondents to obtain a proper response from the industry. The validation questions further provide clarity, consistency, and reliability of the research findings. *Question 1* looks at the respondents' understanding of performance improvement and examines how well the findings on the relationship between supply chain collaboration and performance improvement aligned with their understanding. *Question 2* seeks to validate the identified enablers

of the research findings that tend to contribute to the overall performance improvement of the industry. While *Question 3* aimed at validating the identified inhibitors of the research findings that inhibit the effective performance of the oil and gas industry in Nigeria. The respondents were selected from the four selected oil and gas companies in Nigeria.

The Q1 to Q4 below are the questions used to validate research findings from the research context.

- Q1: What is your understanding of performance improvement?
- Q2: Can you confirm that the identified components from the research constitute enablers of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas supply chain?
- Q3: Can you confirm that the identified components from the study are inhibitors of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas supply chain?
- Q4: Can you confirm that the identified other strategies from the study can employed for performance improvement?

5.3 Means of Validation

A sample of four participants working within the same oil and gas companies in Nigeria was selected. They were supplied with the interview findings to analyse and validate against what they have in place. This made it easy to return and collect all the validated data sets.

After successfully identifying the study patterns that form the findings, the researcher decided to validate the findings to ensure their viability in solving the problems and the findings are components for the development of the study model that provides the necessary elements for improving performance in the oil and gas industry. As a result, semi-structured interview questions were sent out to participants through "google form" and the validation interview process were followed later with the selected senior managers who were not involved in the first data collection process (see Table 5-2).

5.4 Selection of Respondents for validation

Four different senior managers from the same companies interviewed were selected for the validation of the information collected to establish the validity of the study findings. The selected managers were in the field of operations and supply chain in Nigeria's oil and gas sector. The

selected managers were chosen based on their experience, role and responsibilities in the oil and gas companies and their capability to participate in the validation process. The employee was not included in the data validation process as it was in chapter 5 is due to limited selection of the participants (Interviewees). Top executives in their respective businesses often have a wealth of knowledge and experience in supply chain management. Because they have a thorough awareness of the intricacies and difficulties associated with supply chain operations, their views and understanding can be a significant source of validation for the study's findings. For any suggested policies or changes to be implemented successfully, top managers must provide their input and approval as decision-makers inside their organisations. They are included to make that the study's suggestions are feasible to implement and correspond with the organisation's strategic goals. The supply chain activities of the company are frequently seen holistically by managers. They are able to determine how various elements of the supply chain, such as distribution, inventory control, and logistics, may be impacted by the suggested modifications or results of the study.

Furthermore, this study outcome was validated through the top management (Managers) with vase knowledge of supply chain activities in the oil and gas industry who were decision makers and have ability to implement policies of the organisation. It was necessary to conduct the validation using the same companies but involving different participants to have a broader perspective, avoid research bias and improve validity. Using the same companies to verify the interview findings was a priority for the researcher because they are major oil and gas corporations, and the researcher could easily reach out to the top chosen managers through the google form for validation of the opinions or views.

Companies	Initials	Positions	Genders	Years of experience	Functions	Level of education	Locations
NNPC	MNNPC	Managing Director	Male	25	Logistics and operations	Ph.D.	Lagos
TOTAL	MTOTAL	Manager	Female	15	Purchasing	Ph.D.	Benue
Rain Oil	MRainoil	Director	Female	20	Supply chain management	Ph.D.	Enugu

 Table 5-2: The biography of Research findings Validation respondents

A A Rano	MAARano	Deputy	Male	18	Operations	Ph.D.	Abuja
		Director			and supply		
					chain		

It was necessary to conduct the validation using the same companies but involving different participants to have a broader perspective, avoid research bias and improve validity. Using the same companies to verify the interview findings was a priority for the researcher because they are major oil and gas corporations, and the researcher could have access to the chosen managers more quickly.

5.5 Validation outcomes

The summary of validation to question 1 shown in Table 5-3. The outcomes confirm their understanding of performance improvement, which is compatible with our interview findings showing a good level of validity. The four respondents' views on question 1 are presented in appendix E.

have good ideas about performancewas noted that respondents' opinionsthe validation ideas of the respondents. Therefore respondents had a good understanding o operformancehave good ideas about performancewas noted that respondents' opinions were similar to study findings, Alignment of goals.the validation ideas of the respondents had a good understanding o performance managementincreasing efficiency, and due process that organisations should adopt to improve their performance and supply chain process and meetProcess management Policy makingSee Appendix E for furthe details.	Summary	Similarities	Difference
market dynamics. Consistency Reliability Continuous development	It was confirmed that the selected respondents have good ideas about performance management and how to improve it. They identified steps such as aligning goals, increasing efficiency, and due process that organisations should adopt to improve their	During the validation of the findings, it was noted that respondents' opinions were similar to study findings, Alignment of goals. Process management Policy making Transparency Consistency Reliability	There was no difference in the validation ideas of the respondents. Therefore, respondents had a good understanding of performance management. See Appendix E for further

Table 5-3: The summary of validation to question 1.

The summary of validation to question 2 can be found in Table 5-4. This question was designed to confirm their understanding of the enabler of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement. They further confirmed that the enablers of supply chain collaboration within their organisations are the same as those identified by this research findings. The four respondents' views on question 2 are presented below.

 Summary
 Similarities
 Differences

Question 2 was specifically designed to confirm	Information Sharing	There are no differences;
the key elements that can enable supply chain collaboration to improve the performance of the	Top management supports.	instead, could have been expected that performance
oil and gas industry. It was confirmed that the	Performance management	improvement should have
identified enablers should be taken seriously and implemented to achieve adequate improvement.	Quality management	come from quality, speed, dependability, flexibility,
Also, the enablers identified can be used to manage information flow effectively, enhance	Relationship management	and cost. However, they are all captured in the
the relationships among the supply chain		elements of collaboration.
partners, and fulfil customer expectations. The respondents were also pleased with the quality		See Appendix E for further details.
and the pattern in which the study elements were		uctalis.
generated.		

The validation summary of question 3 is reported in Table 5-5. This question was designed to confirm the inhibitors to supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in Nigeria's oil and gas sector. This study's identified elements were confirmed to be inhibiting factors if not carefully managed by an organisation. The four respondents' opinions on the question are presented below.

Table 5-5: The summary of findings validation to question 3.

Summary	Similarities	Difference
The question 3 was directed at understanding the	Covid-19, Poor leadership, lack	There were not many differences;
critical inhibitors of supply chain collaboration	of Finance, inadequate	instead, they suggested of approach to
leading to performance improvement in the oil	of Finance, madequate	be considered, which was identified in
and gas industry. The respondents confirmed the	Teamwork, poor Infrastructure,	their organisation, such as "The
identified findings of the study and suggested	Ineffective Relationship	possible inhibitors of performance
that if inhibitors are properly managed well, in	meneeuve keiadolisinp	improvement can be unrealistic
turn, be enablers that will facilitate performance	management.	expectations or under-used resources".
improvement. In addition, the respondents		Nevertheless, this was covered in the
confirmed that the identified inhibitors are		poor leadership as a bigger picture. See
currently the major challenge faced in the		Appendix E for further details.
industry.		

Summary	Similarities	Difference
The question 4: This research question aims to provide significant insights into effective supply chain management practises by analysing various methodologies and their consequences. Supply chain management is crucial to the success of organisations in a variety of industries. Organisations continually strive to improve their supply chain strategy in order to remain competitive. The purpose of this question is to investigate alternate strategies used by businesses to improve supply chain performance.	Process Monitoring and Evaluation, Management of business structure, Training, and Good Planning.	There were no differences.

5.6 Research Model Development

This section presents the process for Model development which is a process that involves several sequences of operations. It is repetitive to ensure the model is completely derived, validated, tested, and built upon a system to meet the desired outcomes or fashion. Subsequent modification work may need to start by looking at the same components that constitute the original model. Proposing a model may be done for many reasons, a common one being that the existing model needs to be updated, is unsuitable for current challenges or needs help understanding the process (Foss, 1998).

The study of Creswell and Creswell (2003) identified several academic research models. However, domain model diagrams are employed for this current study to envision the relationships between diverse objects in a system. They provide an in-depth understanding of how the several components in a system work together and help identify potential areas of improvement. Domain model development for supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas sector in Nigeria is shown in Figure 4-5.

5.7 Model Validation

The bigger picture about model development is to understand that there must be a business reason for building a model, which could be making a unique change, improving a process of operation, or presenting a simpler way of doing business and eliminating waste and risk. Once the researcher identified the need for business performance improvement in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria, he decided to develop a model using the identified components from this study, particularly the enablers and inhibitors to supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria. These components imputed into the model are useful in showing the direction of what is needed to improve performance.

The model was developed with the understanding that supply chain collaboration required some essential elements which can lead to performance improvement (operational performance, financial performance, and non-financial performance). And it is expected that the enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration can be effective managed by other strategies, it was suggested that other strategies should be employed which include monitoring and evaluation, business strategy, training, and good planning. This model is designed with unique feature different from existing models as it has indicated the other strategies to be employed if the main components failed to produce result and its always better for every business to have a safety net.
5.8 Procedures for model Validation

This section presents the validation process that examines the uncertainties and risks associated with the model and confirms how realistic or viable the model's components can solve the organisation's real-time challenge.

The model development considers the following: the procedure a business needs, the model design was simple to eliminate waste and effective management of risk, ensure that the developed research model is validated by supply chain management and operations experts of the oil and gas industry in Nigeria. The confirmation was to express the validity of the model components for implementation.

The timeframe for the validation of the model was three months (from June to September 2022). The validation questions were sent to selected respondents in the selected oil and gas companies in Nigeria, and the results were all returned and interpreted by the researcher. However, it was confirmed that respondents agreed with the findings and components of the model presented by the research. Table 5-6 below presents the selected managers, companies, years of experience, roles, and educational level of participants.

Companies	Initials	Positions	Genders	Years of experience	Functions	Level of education	Locations
NNPC	MNNPC	Manager	Male	13	Operations and supply chain	MSc	Edo
TOTAL	MTOTAL	Manager	Male	17	Logistics and supply chain	Ph.D.	Jos

 Table 5-6: The biography of Research Model Validation respondents

5.9 Questions for model Validation

These predetermined questions were employed for the validation of the model. The questions were designed to seek confirmation of the expectations from the industry and whether the model is capable of providing direction for performance improvement in the oil and gas industry.

Q1: Can you confirm how this model can lead to performance improvement in the oil and gas supply chain?

Q2: Are the model's identified elements capable of any organisational performance improvement of the oil and gas supply chain?

5.10 Model Validation Transcribes

This section presents the summary of the validation outcomes per question, observing similarities and differences shown in Table 5-7 and Table 5-8 and for details, see appendix .

This question was developed to confirm this study model, which contains key elements identified as enablers and inhibitors to supply chain collaboration. It was suggested that implementing those elements can improve supply chain performance in the oil and gas sector. It is important to note that Nigeria's oil and gas supply chain is a complex sector that requires a viable and functional operating system. This model is transparent and clear to provide the flow of what collaboration can achieve and classify the main levels of performance, which could be operational, financial, and non-financial.

The model outlines other key strategies to facilitate effective performance improvements, such as process monitoring and evaluation, business strategy, training, and good planning. The model presents a unique dimension of flow and structure capable of providing the necessary support to supply chain performance.

Summary of model leading to	Similarities in the validation process	Differences
performance improvement		
- The model presented the understanding	- Respondents agreed with the model as	-The difference suggested that the
of supply chain collaboration by	performance improvement can be	model would be general to improve
identifying the adoption process,	achieved through the captured enablers	overall business performance by
enablers, and inhibitors. It shows that if	and inhibitors of the collaborative	identifying the key contributors to
effectively managed can lead to	supply chain.	business economic losses. For
performance improvement.	- Agreed with other strategies identified	example, operations performance
- It presents other strategies to be	to be employed	engineers or industrial engineers use
employed in case of collaboration fails	- Confirmed that supply chain	c down on the highest (top 20%)
and can lead to performance	collaboration ensures an enhancement in	contributors of losses, breakdowns,
improvement	operational, financial, and non-financial	inefficiencies, and outputs.
- Effective performance systems should	performance improvement in the supply	
consider operational performance,	chain, which is important in the effective	
financial performance, and non-financial	supply chain system.	
performance, which all plots together can		
result in an effective supply chain system		
in the oil and gas industry.		

 Table 5-7: Summary of Respondent Views on Model Validation Question 1

The summary of the participants for question 2 is presented in Table 5-8 outlining the similarities and differences below and more detailed in the appendix F. The question was designed and sent to participants via a google form mainly to validate the proposed model for this study, which is

believed to be useful in improving supply chain performance in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. The respondents confirmed that the model components captured factors that could enable and inhibit organisational performance. Therefore, it is capable of delivering the intended outcomes.

Summary of the key elements in the	Similarities in the validation process	Differences
model capable organisational		
improvement		
The key elements and understanding of the model are that: Supply Chain Collaboration led Performance Improvement = Effective Supply Chain. Or Other Strategies led to Performance Improvement = Effective Supply Chain	Respondents were given three months to try on the factors identified in the model. They agreed that the components could deliver the required improvement, and few suggested that identified inhibitors should be worked upon to realise the intended performance improvement.	One respondent agreed with the model's components and added that "Analysis of variable data, employing correct leadership elements to drive improvement in all facets of operations including managing quality, optimising resources such as talent (people), and closing the loop with planning, checking processes, and acting on needs to be adjusted (PDCA Model)".

 Table 5-8: Summary of Respondent Views on Model Validation Question 2

5.11 Chapter summary

The chapter presents the validation summarises of the interview findings' outcome from the industry practitioners mentioned above. The respondents validated that the identified elements of the supply chain collaboration can provide an effective performance system in the Nigerian oil and gas industry if they are adequately implemented. Recurring from chapter 5, the said factors of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement were relayed back to the same interviewees to validate if the interview findings were indeed their thoughts and capable of boosting the industry's performance. It was suggestive that when properly implemented, the identified elements of supply chain collaboration can improve the industry's operational performance, financial performance, and non-financial performance (see Table 4-9).

The chapter summarises the key interview findings and the findings were based on the key patterns identified through the thematic process. The elements identified were then used for the model development which shows how enablers and inhibitors can be managed to improve performance in the oil and gas industry, Nigeria. The finding was validated by company managers who confirm the suitability of the identified components and then other strategies in the model were meant to support the process to achieve effective performance.

Furthermore, it was evident from the validation that the model is designed with components capable and simple enough to deliver performance improvement in the oil and gas supply chain.

The model uniquely provides that other strategies could be introduced to manage both enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement. It also provides other strategies to be employed if collaboration fails, such as process monitoring and evaluation, business strategy, training, and good planning. The model's effective application of the identified factors should lead to performance improvement in Nigeria's oil and gas industry.

The next chapter discusses the study's findings supported by the supply chain management theories and the literature review outcome.

Chapter 6 : Research Discussion

6.1 Introduction

This chapter discusses the main research findings based on the data gathered from industrial practitioners and the literature with a focus on supply chain collaboration. This helps to explore supply chain collaboration from both organisational and theoretical perspectives, and support the researcher to triangulate among interview, literature and supply chain theories justifying the key elements in supply chain collaboration such as trust, network, communication, information sharing, goal congruence, infrastructure, finance, and environmental factors.

The research was based on the researcher's interest in understanding the effect of effective supply chain collaboration on performance improvement in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. The adoption of supply chain collaboration was aimed at performance improvement, which is implemented by the top management to provide enabling support for the effective operation of the sector in terms of performance improvement. Consequently, the key goals of this research are to examine the adoption of collaborative supply chain in the oil and gas in Nigeria and to explore the possible ways for performance improvement. The research assesses the level of collaboration adopted and identifies enablers and inhibitors for performance improvement in the sector (Hudnurkar et al., 2014).

In Particular, this research was accomplished by addressing the following research questions.

Question 1. How can supply chain collaboration improve performance in the oil and gas industry? **Question 2.** What are the enablers of supply chain collaboration leading performance improvement in the oil and gas industry?

Question 3. What are the inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry?

Question 4. What are the key strategies utilised to enhance supply chain performance?

This research is one of the pioneers in breaking down supply chain collaboration into key components that are essential to enable performance improvement in oil & gas industry. These components are: alignment of goals, teamwork, decision Making, performance management, relationship management, timeliness and order management, quality management, finance, process monitoring and evaluation, management of business strategy, training and development, Infrastructure, good planning, Covid-19, infrastructural development, and poor leadership.

185

6.2 Discussion of question 1

The oil and gas industry in Nigeria deserve a better performance that will enable the effective flow of its resources as it is critical for the survival of the nation economy, export, and job creation. The key considerations for performance improvement in the oil and gas industry should focus on expanding supply chain visibility, developing a good relationship with suppliers, developing robust supply chain processes, and implementing supply chain key performance indicators and seeking experts' knowledge on how to better service delivery.

The adoption of collaborative effort in the supply chain was purposefully implemented to improve operation, productivity, quality, and performance (Uzochukwu & Ossai, 2016). Additionally, the intended benefits of adopting supply chain collaboration are evident in the consistent and functional operation of the sector. The oil and gas industry activities are managed by the host company and the government of Nigeria in terms of policy development, regulation, and supervision of its activities. National oil and gas are facing many transformations; however, there are notable enablers and inhibitors that this study examines. This is significant as the sector contributes immensely to the nation's development and employment export earnings. Therefore, the essence of this study is to identify the key enablers and inhibitors as it solves performance challenges and presents the happenings.

An organisation can adopt a strategy or approach, but if it is not managed correctly, it could work against its performance; therefore, it is important to carefully implement its policies with the aim of meeting the targeted result. Nigeria's oil and gas is a complex sector which requires careful attention from company managers and government officials responsible for policy making. By ensuring the alignment of goals, teamwork, and performance management as important elements to effective supply chain collaboration to achieve efficient performance of the sector.

6.3 Discussion of question 2

This study has significance to companies' behaviour as it is affected by the external resources acquired. These emphasise that oil and gas companies in Nigeria should create strong relationships with their partners, effective time management, quality control, infrastructural development, and effective decision-making to control financial flow. These are critical areas that enable performance improvement in the oil and gas sector, and they are directly connected to the resources

which is wise to state that the oil and gas supply chain in Nigeria is controlled by the government and the suppliers at external level. Presently, despite Nigeria been one of the largest exporters of crude oil in Africa, still the finished petrol products consumed in Nigeria are imported from foreign nations. This is partly due to the non-functional refineries in the country and has established more reasons for supply chain collaboration by creating good relationship with supplying nations such as Netherlands, Belgium, India, Norway, and United Arab Emirates and have called for huge infrastructural development in the country. To ensure effective flow of the petrol product in the country decision on the quantity and quality to be ordered must be timely and there must be enough finance to enable the transaction.

This position was established in the literature by Elisha (2020), stated that a non-functional refinery is due to a lack of maintenance culture, which in turn inhibits optimal performance of the supply chain of oil and gas companies in Nigeria, impacting on availability, and flows. The interviewee endorsed this point that the main underlying element attributed to lack of infrastructural development that inhibits adequate supply chain flow and results in underperformance (Femi, 7th September 2021). As the over dependence continues Nigeria imported 12.3 million metric tons of petrol in the first seven months of 2022, which sum to 202.9 million metric tons since 2015 and it is impacting on cost which there is need to control resources.

The application of resource dependence theory is to lay a strategy for effective management to achieve performance management. It is important to note that performance management can be actualised through efficient management of quality, speed, dependability, flexibility, and cost which are largely dependent on an organisation managing its processes.

Resource dependence theory is one of the most known theories that describe an organisation. A resource dependence theory presents that the goal of an organisation is to minimise its dependence on other organisations for scarce resources in its environment (Pfeffer, 1987). The key ideas behind this theory are to understand that scarce resources should be effectively utilised and minimise over-dependence on others. Scarce resources could be raw materials, staff, finances, and machinery needed for functional operation. It is only possible for organisation may depend on another for supplies but not wholly or over-dependent. The goal of resource-dependent theory seeks to lower or minimise over-dependence, resource utilisation and adequate flow of inputs.

The application of resource dependence theory to support argument of the study findings and serves as a lens or strategy to explore how crucial resources are to organisations. The extent to which organisations control the supply and availability of resources is vital, and it is believed that it can be actualised through effective collaboration revealed in the literature. For example, collaboration promotes good planning, information sharing among parties, effective resource flow, and a good relationship between partners.

Normally, the oil and gas supply in Nigeria is controlled by the government and the suppliers and essential to state that the present finished products of oil and gas consumed in Nigeria are imported. This is partly due to the non-functional refinery in the country. This position was established in the literature by Elisha (2020) who stated that a non-functional refinery is due to a lack of maintenance culture, which inhibits the optimal supply chain of oil and gas companies' performance, availability, and flows. The interviewee agreed that poor infrastructure hinders supply chain movement and results in underperformance.

6.4 Discussion of question 3

This study has presented the impact of Covid-19 pandemic, infrastructural development as the greater challenge facing the companies and the country at large and as well as poor leadership.

These findings are relevant to organisational success as identifying them will help an organisation to plan by monitoring, controlling and manage the associated costs to operation and maintain its productivity. The high of uncertainty as a result of pandemic has great impact on cost, delay in product flow and most importantly this argument can be supported by transaction cost theory.

A transaction cost theory presents that an organisation seeks to minimise the costs of exchanging resources in the business environment and managing an organisation's day-to-day internal operational costs (Williamson, 2008a). Therefore, an organisation operates on guidelines within the transaction costs theory that focuses on cost reduction and maintaining good performance in its business activities. The practice of exchanging resources in a business environment encompasses financial flow, supply chain management, and marketing of the oil and gas company's products. The costs linked with the supply chain procedure of the products are negotiations to align goals, communication, monitoring, and transportation of the products.

Cutting operating costs will increase profits because these charges do not contribute value to the supply chain; any delay in a supply chain unit will influence lead times, quality, and overall profitability.

Likewise, additional costs acquired by an organisation are internal management and sometimes could be through a lack of information sharing within the supply chain. This implies that communication or information-sharing delays can negatively impact an organisation's supply chain and performance. For example, an organisation's inability to control its costs and untimely release of finances may impact the supply chain outcome because an organisation cannot effectively function without the key components. An organisation can cut costs by reducing the frequency of transactions, reducing system uncertainty, focusing on certain assets, rational decision-making, and looking out for new opportunities, as shown in Figure 2-14.

Furthermore, the study revealed that Covid-19 was another challenge faced by the supply chain in Nigeria's oil and gas sector, which inhibited collaboration. This was attributed to several factors, such as restricted movement, countries lockdown, border closure, social distancing, hand washing and frequent use of sanitisers. These have negatively impacted organisation performance due to a lack of strong relationships, and during the Covid-19 pandemic, it was challenging to control the use of resources. In addition, there was a delay in the supply chain systems affecting performance due to high uncertainties and interrupted distribution and delivery channels. Furthermore, there was a scarcity and shortage of oil and gas products, and optimisation was required to maintain performance. The interviewees confirmed that the Covid-19 pandemic had caused much damage to the effective supply chain systems, affected connectiveness with partners, and slowed down the entire performance activities in the industry. Therefore, it is important for organisations always to prioritise scarce resources and employ horizon scanning of the industry to know possible disruptions or changes in the market environment, enabling better forecasting and improving performance.

Consequently, looking at the suggestions revealed and confirmed by an interviewee, it is easier to prioritise scarce resources and adopt a collaborative supply chain to improve productivity and general performance.

This study revealed that supply chain performance could be improved. However, key factors contributing to delays in the chain should be addressed to minimise cost, such as infrastructural

development, quality management, effective financial allocation and monitoring and evaluation, to achieve organisational goals and objectives. These experiences reveal that costs can be minimised and, in turn, improve performance.

The deterioration of infrastructural systems, especially transportation, deters access and quick distribution, thereby increasing costs, inhibiting distribution, and slowing market performance. Consequently, the underdevelopment of infrastructure in the country inhibits supply chain performance and negatively impacts the collaborative effort of partners.

Therefore, based on the ideas from the study suggestions, supply chain collaboration aims to improve organisational performance. At the same time, transaction costs theory suggests that the best way for organisational performance improvement is through cost minimisation and effective allocation of finance, improved communication and information sharing among partners. This was equally confirmed by interviewees, saying that cost minimisation is one of the critical strategies that can be instrumental for supply chain performance improvement.

6.5 Discussion of Question 4

The study contributed that the oil and gas industries in Nigeria should integrate process monitoring, business strategy (inputs and outputs management), continuous training of staff and good planning in order to achieve the needed performance which are consideration in Organisation Systems Theory categorises or considers an organisation as a system. In its explanation, an organisation can be a closed or open system involving internal and external (Rice, 2013). This study treats an organisation as an open system that interacts with its environment considering the operation process taking inputs, transformation, and outputs into account. An organisation operates with resources such as equipment, natural materials, and employees, which are referred to as inputs. The inputs are transformed into finished products following a process that produces a result or outcome distributed to warehouses or markets. Every organisation values feedback as an essential element, and information sharing among organisations connects the inputs to output and effects changes where necessary (Hong et al., 2003). The management role is an open system which should be clear to manage to enable the flow of inputs such as raw material resources, employees, finances, and equipment. This area captured the aspect of the supply chain, and for adequate flow, there is a need for efficient monitoring of the transformation process as shown in Figure 6-1.





Figure 6-1: Organisation Systems Theory and Network Theory Framework Source: Adopted from Hatch (2018)

The theory revealed that the supply chain collaboration operates as an open system that ensures that information is effectively shared among partners. In order to achieve long-lasting relationships, organisations are connected to themselves for a common goal and guided by process and procedure for performance sustainability.

Lack of information sharing can result in failure in planning and effective connectivity of the organisation. Consequently, information exchange is essential for supply chain collaboration to work efficiently. This consideration will enable performance improvement when adequate information flows within the system. The Figure 6-1 shows the organisation systems information flow.

Interviewees confirmed this position of information sharing as a critical function for performance during verification and validation exercise that information sharing fosters decision, planning, and management of organisation difficulties. It was confirmed that information sharing plays a significant role in an organisation's improvement, which is needed for the collaborative supply chain. Validation of information sharing as a finding for performance improvement is detailed in the appendix E, which shows that information sharing safeguards an organisation's operation.

6.6 Network Theory

Network theory is one of the adopted theories in the supply chain that illustrates the relationship between organisations. Håkansson and Snehota (1989) state that

"...some of the organisation's relationship with other organisations in the network constitute in themselves one of the most – if not the most – valuable resources that it possesses."

Similarly, an organisation network theory provides connectivity and deals with important factors that support organisations in planning and decision-making, as shown in Figure 2-16.

The theory supports organisations in achieving their competitive advantage by enabling adequate information and knowledge sharing within the business, which helps effective organisational decision-making (Gulati et al., 2000). In addition, the theory is appropriate in supply chain management as vital decisions are made on time, enabling effective resource flow (Monczka et al., 2015).

The main position of the theory is that it helps demand planning and effective allocation of resources because of the long-term relationship of organisations. However, organisations in a network theory provide the freedom to select from a set of suppliers, which the organisation can be sure of, to supply the required products for production (Monczka et al., 2015). On the other hand, the relationships among organisations are based on trust, which can lead to value-added for both parties and simplify supply strategy selections (R. Monczka, R. Trent, et al., 1998; R. M. Monczka et al., 1998).

Therefore, network theory is essential in the supply chain decision-making process and relates to this study as it explores supply chain collaboration in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. Figure 2-16 shows the connectivity key partners.

The application of network theory as a lens for this study revealed that the chain's lack of teamwork and inclusive decision-making process and the Covid-19 pandemic had caused a lot of changes in the supply chain, policymaking, planning and implementation of solid relationships. During the Covid-19 pandemic, industries and organisations were faced with uncertainty and a lack of continuity of existing programmes in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria. However, this position will result in more significant performance improvement if carefully managed. It was confirmed by interviewees saying that effort put into managing the Covid-19 pandemic era if

sustainably, can make the supply chain strong, if not stronger (See appendix D for details). Similarly, some of the teamwork-related factors are supported by the literature. For instance, Beulens et al. (2005), state that when there is a lack of teamwork or close relationships between parties and a lack of planning to facilitate decision-making, there are negative effects on the supply chain operations.

Another evidence from the literature is how improper planning can affect supply chain flows. Inadequacies in policy or improper planning are key barriers to effective monitoring and evaluation in an organisation. Every organisation operates with structures, and individuals have different roles and responsibilities. For any meaningful assessment, the methods employed are crucial and should consider the context and activities involved, the timeline and effective resource allocation, and the business strategy and planning for success (Colin Robson, 2016; Gray, 2013). Moreover, these expose more reasons why performance improvement has not been achieved fully in Nigeria's oil and gas industry due to infrastructural development, good planning, policy, and decision-making that will strengthen and foster trust and teamwork among partners.

Finally, it is evident that the supply chain performance improvement in Nigeria's oil and gas industry has not achieved its goals and objectives of making its products available to customers, easily accessible, and affordable always. These difficulties can stress poor information sharing in the system, lack of alignment, insecurity issues, unsatisfactory financial allocation, and entire business strategy management. These problems are prominent inside the oil and gas production supply chain due to over-dependence on suppliers and a lack of value-adding processes for sustainability. Therefore, this study's contribution to knowledge is that a highly dependent system is prone to failure and failures by delays in exchanges. In addition, insecure operations, such as transportation losses, were also discovered in this study, but they were partly caused by a lack of infrastructure and the Covid-19 pandemic's effects.

The existing literature only focused on the preliminary factors that affect the supply chain flow of oil and gas products without looking for ways to improve performance. However, the government can always employ more sophisticated and reliable monitoring and forecasting mechanisms to evaluate the market and observe all changes or event disruptions.

The supply chain of oil and gas industry operations monitoring, and supervision can be improved with the help of effective financial allocation, good planning, alignment of goals and teamwork.

Similarly, it is suggestive that the supply chain should be straightforward, avoiding complicated issues and risks. This will make transactions easier, create relationships, build trust, and promote teamwork. The main contributions of the study and the relevance of the applied theories are summarised in Table 6-1.

Theoretical Perspective	Contributions	Relevance
Resource dependence theory	This study helped organisations create strong connections with their partners, effective time management, quality control, infrastructural development, and effective decision-making to control cash flow since it shows that organisations' behaviour affects external resources.	The resource dependence theory justifies how organisations' behaviour is affected by the external resources they possess. Furthermore, it is suggested that organisations vary in how they negotiate with their external environment to obtain access to the resources they require for survival.
Transaction cost theory	This study outcome contributed to the organisation of the impact of Covid-19 during the pandemic era. Organisations faced regulations and government policies resulting in delays in suppliers and deliveries to customers. In addition, infrastructural development significantly impacts the organisation through transportation and communication and poor leadership to implement a better policy to support organisations for success.	Transaction cost theory suggests that the ideal is for an organisational structure to accomplish economic efficiency by reducing exchange costs. The theory states that every form of transaction makes up coordination costs such as monitoring, controlling, and managing the entire transaction.
Organisation systems theory	The notable contributions of the theory are that the oil and gas industries in Nigeria should integrate process monitoring and business strategy with an emphasis on the flow of inputs and outputs, encourages continuous training of employees and cultivate good planning to actualise effective performance. These are key components for a successful organisation which are considered in Organisation Systems Theory. An organisation works with resources such as equipment, natural materials, and employees, which are transformed into outputs.	Open systems theory is essential for organisations because it presents a framework that enables critical thinking about processes that occur in an organisation and equips them for any change that could impact the part of running an organisational activity. Open systems always watch out for the change process and adapt to shifting situations.

Table 6-1: Theoretical Contribution and Their Relevance to this Research

Network theory	The significant contribution of this theory covers almost	The relevance of the network theory is that
	all aspects of the supply chain that are identified to be	it explains the relationships in which
	related to oil and gas operations. The theory contributes	businesses, suppliers, customers, or buyers
	the monitoring and supervision, which are crucial to	are involved and connected.
	improving financial flows within the system, facilitating	
	good planning, aligning goals, and promoting teamwork.	
	Also, it is suggested that the supply chain should be	
	straightforward, preventing complex issues and risks.	
	Implementing the theory by the organisation will make	
	transactions easier by creating a good relationship that	
	builds trust and promotes teamwork.	
	contas a dos una promotos commontes	

6.7 Chapter Summary

The main discussion of the key components of the study findings concentrates on the four study questions employed to support the conduct of the study throughout. Therefore, this chapter begins by presenting the findings, establishing what informs supply chain collaboration, and identifying the factors that can lead to performance management in Nigeria's oil and gas industry.

Four study questions were employed to help the researcher to arrive at the unique sixteen findings. The study findings are grouped into factors such as alignment of goals, teamwork, performance management, relationship management, timeliness and order management, quality management, finance, infrastructure, process monitoring and evaluation, business strategy management, decision making, training and development, good planning, Covid-19, infrastructure development, and poor leadership, enhanced the research's originality.

The identified component can lead to performance improvement when implemented, and the applied theories help increase collaboration. It helps managers and leaders encourage team participation as collaboration improves performance. Understanding components of the study findings and blend will increase objectivity and provide organisation leaders to make logically and scientifically proven changes more accurately than relying on personal judgment.

The next chapter presents a conclusion focusing on the study's reflection on the journey and its implications. The concluding chapter provides suggestions for oil and gas industries, supply chain collaboration and security, and contributions to teaching and researching supply chains in

Nigeria's oil and gas industry. Finally, this presents the list of references and appendixes which were utilised for the conduct of the study.

Chapter 7 : Conclusion

7.1 Introduction

This chapter summarises and presents the main ideas in the context of the thesis and sums up the argument of the critical findings of the research. The main reason behind this study focused on examining the adoption of supply chain collaboration, identifying enablers and inhibitors in the oil gas sector in Nigeria and how performance can be improved. In order to effectively manage the enablers of supply chain collaboration and achieve the performance improvement, it is important to logically mange costs associated in the supply chain operations in the oil and gas sector, promote networking among partners and create visible market channels, encourage clear communication of goals and objects. It is also important to put in place measures that will help prevent or identify potential issues that could impact negatively to the performance of supply chain in the oil and gas industry such as accurate budgeting, right reporting channels and management of uncertainties such as war, pandemic and change sudden changes in government policies. It reflects to supply chain and identifies inhibitors and their effects to supply chain performance improvement.

The unique environment and requirements of the company will determine how to prioritise these variables. Here is a suggested sequence based on overall relevance and influence, though, and following it may assist an organisation adopt a step-by-step implementation strategy.

- Alignment of Goal: For overall success, it is essential that all team members understand and support the organisation's objectives. It provides a unifying goal and course of action for everyone to follow.
- Good planning: Clear objectives, strategies, and timetables are made possible by effective preparation. In order to attain desired results, it aids in determining priorities, allocating resources, and coordinating activities.
- Collaborative relationship management: Promoting successful communication, cooperation, and problem-solving inside the team as well as with external stakeholders requires the development and maintenance of strong connections. It improves collaboration and overall output.
- 4. Quality management: Maintaining high standards in goods or services is crucial for ensuring customer satisfaction and preserving an organisation's good name.

- 5. Process monitoring, ongoing improvement, and achieving customer expectations are all part of it.
- 6. Performance management: Evaluating and overseeing team and individual performance helps to pinpoint advantages, resolve disadvantages, and offer constructive criticism for improvement. Accountability, inspiration, and production are encouraged.
- Teamwork is essential for efficient issue resolution and resource allocation. These decisions should be supported by data analysis. It entails analysing possible risks and advantages while considering various viewpoints.
- 8. Timeliness and order management: Meeting deliverables, sustaining productivity, and preventing bottlenecks or delays are all facilitated by effectively managing timelines, deadlines, and job prioritisation.
- Training and development: Investing in an employee's growth and development improves their talents, skills, and knowledge. Overall performance, flexibility, and employee happiness all improve.
- 10. Management of company strategy: Creating and putting into action a sound business plan promotes long-term success and a competitive edge. It entails researching market trends, picking out prospects, and allocating resources appropriately.
- 11. Finance: Managing financial resources efficiently is crucial for the organisation's long-term viability and profitability. This includes budgeting, cost management, and financial planning.
- 12. Monitoring and evaluating processes on a regular basis may assist to spot inefficiencies, cut down on waste, and boost production. It entails tracking key performance indicators and putting process optimisation techniques into action.
- 13. Infrastructure is crucial for a seamless workflow and effective resource use. It must be both physical and technical to support operations and encourage cooperation.
- 14. COVID-19: Considering the ongoing worldwide pandemic, businesses must prioritise health and safety precautions, make adjustments for remote work settings, and deal with the difficulties and interruptions brought on by COVID-19.
- 15. Infrastructure development: Depending on the organisation's growth objectives and future requirements, long-term infrastructure development efforts, such as enlarging facilities or updating technical systems, may be prioritised.

16. Poor leadership: While leadership is crucial, poor leadership negatively impacts all aspects of the organization. Addressing leadership issues should be a priority to ensure effective decision-making, communication, and overall organisational success.

It is also crucial to keep in mind that prioritising varies based on the particular conditions, sector, and organisational objectives. It's critical to frequently revaluate priorities and make adjustments as necessary.

7.2 Reflections on the Research Journey

The researcher acknowledges that this study is a personal learning experience and that it is valuable to reflect on it as someone who studies supply chain collaboration in Nigeria's oil and gas industry, which is the country's principal source of income and means of basic survival. The researcher was always hoping to see an efficient supply chain system where oil and gas from industry could be distributed swiftly, affordably, and without affecting the quality of its distribution to the market, but this rarely occurred.

This revealed that the oil and gas industry was dysfunctional and deserved further examination and inquiry out of personal interest and because of its national significance for the national revenue and importance to individual businesses and their continued existence.

The outcome of the literature revealed that there are limited publications on supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas industry. The enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas industry were missing from the literature review. In addition to this, there are no existing supply chain collaboration model for mitigating supply chain issues and improving performance in the oil and gas industry from the literature review. Table 2-1 further detailed that there is limited publication for supply chain publication in the Nigeria oil and gas industry leading to performance improvement. Therefore, the researcher considered this as a gap in the literature publication on supply chain collaboration and supply chain performance.

Furthermore, literature uncovered a gap in examining supply chain performance in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. In an influential journal by Amue and Ozuru (2014), in which they examine the three levels of integration of supply chain such as process integration, knowledge integration and information integration which are all geared towards performance improvement with specific focus on oil and gas industry in Nigeria. This information further strengthened the researcher's

interest and stimulated further inquiry into understanding impact of supply chain collaboration leading performance improvement in Nigeria's oil and gas industry more especially at the downstream.

Having reflected on the nature of the problems facing oil and gas in Nigeria, the researcher decided to utilise a qualitative method and interview the key actors of the oil and gas industry to gain better insight from their experiences. The interviewees were consistently interested and supportive of the study and indicated that the study was timely and valuable.

The transcription of oral interviews was slower and more time-consuming than the researcher had expected. However, the process provided the opportunity and discipline to contemplate more carefully and understand what the interviewees had said.

The researcher has realised that data collection, especially if done personally at distant and widely dispersed locations, and its management can be challenging. The writing stage was a unique experience the author enjoyed by clearly expressing thoughts, arguments, discussion, and conclusions.

7.3 Implications of the Study

By identifying sixteen elements of supply chain collaboration (enablers and inhibitors) that affect organisations' operations and performances, this research has produced some useful new provisions for understanding and developing supply chain collaboration models that contribute to supply chain performance improvement in the oil and gas industry.

7.4 Implications for Research

Applying several theoretical lenses to programme performance was also helpful. The methodological approach used in this thesis to examine the adoption of supply chain collaboration for performance improvement in the oil and gas industry in the Nigerian context was a novel contribution on its own. The existing literature on studies of similar organisations uses a single view to study a narrow section of the whole organisation. This study examined the four largest oil and gas companies interviewed managers and employees that were involved in the policymaking rather than focusing small and one company which may be difficult to generalise the findings and was able to identify enablers and inhibitors of supply chain performance.

This study presents a further novel contribution by creating a model that provides a more transparent representation of the supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas sector and identifies

linkages between the components. It has shown that for an organisation to achieve performance improvement, it requires teamwork, clear communication and develop its infrastructure etc which are elements of the study findings.

Anything that hinders the progress or performance of an organisation or research output is considered a limitation. This includes the time, finances, materials, size, etc. Every study has limitations, and the perceived limitations to this study could be pragmatic issues such as the time allocated to conduct the entire doctoral research. Furthermore, it might not be practical to undertake longitudinal research or to interview every supply chain participant in the Nigerian oil and gas supply chain. Generally, Nigeria is a vast and populous country for data collection, and it is impossible to collect data from individual states considering the duration of the doctoral research. Therefore, the researcher chooses six states across the country to effectively represent and generalise findings.

One of the study's strengths is that it draws on the opinions of 30 interviewees for data collection, four interviewees for research findings validation and two for study model validation, which were gathered from a large purposive sample and analysed using a thematic approach. In addition, the number of participants enabled the author to understand the subject matter in-depth.

7.5 Implication for Teaching

The study reveals that the research context is important for management decision-making. Therefore, students should be taught using crucial studies to express how inhibitors can affect organisational performance. Moreover, teaching should include several viewpoints that demonstrate how to apply academic theories into practice. For example, the application of a system theory is to examine complex organisational factors that work together for the benefit of the organisation as whole. Transaction cost theory seeks to examine costs associated with the organisation operations and minimising them create an opportunity for maximising profit. The application of resource dependence theory guide an organisation on factors that could impact negatively to its performance particularly dealings with external resources, while the application of network theory is to promote teamwork which are the needed components for supply chain collaboration leading performance improvement as such the supply chain of oil and gas industry in Nigeria is a complex organisation that requires teamwork, costs reduction and prioritise resources in order to be successful. Students should be able to use multiple lenses to examine

supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement while considering the views of various actors, such as managers and employees. They should also have access to practical studies on industrial-related issues, effective management, and the identification of issues affecting the success of a programme. This study could be considered as case study for both undergraduate and postgraduate students.

7.6 Research Contribution

Nigerian Oil and Gas industry supply chain collaboration is examined in this study, with a focus on strategies to improve performance. Overall, this study adds to the theoretical and practical understanding of supply chain collaboration in the Nigerian oil and gas industry by providing insightful information and practical suggestions for enhancing performance in this crucial industry. This study primary research contribution includes:

- **Empirical Insights**: This study sheds light on current possibilities and difficulties in the Nigerian oil and gas industry by offering empirical insights about the state of supply chain collaboration in that sector for performance improvement.
- **Performance Improvement Model**: The research creates a practical model for enhancing supply chain performance through collaboration, providing a systematic method that can be utilised in the industry.
- **Contextual Relevance**: By concentrating on the Nigerian oil and gas sector, the study acknowledges the special difficulties and dynamics of this industry, making its conclusions particularly applicable to stakeholders operating in comparable resource-intensive industries around the world.
- **Managerial Implications**: The research provides industrial expertise, businesses, and policymakers with effective strategies on how to improve collaboration between the supply chains, which can boost productivity and operational efficiency, cut costs, and improve competitiveness.
- Academic Contribution: By offering a performance improvement model that can be used as a reference in future research projects and educational initiatives, this study contributes to the academic debate on supply chain collaboration.

7.6.1 Novel Contribution

The study revealed a good relationship between the literature and the primary data, as sixteen important parts of the findings were identified during the thematic process, which include

alignment of goals, teamwork, decision-making, performance management, collaborative relationship management, timeliness and order management, quality management, finance, process monitoring and evaluation, management of business strategy, training and development, infrastructure, and good planning. These parts were found to be similar and consistent with the existing literature. The COVID-19 pandemic, infrastructural development, and poor leadership were novel ideas as barriers to supply chain collaboration, and the development of or highlighting other strategies that have been researched and added to the body of knowledge was a unique contribution that has not in the existing models.

It is crucial to remember that uniqueness is typically evaluated in the context of a particular industry or area of expertise. The primary topic of this study is supply chain collaboration as a crucial element of performance improvement in the oil and gas sector. As a result, something that may be original in one discipline but not in another may not be unique in that field. Furthermore, novelty alone does not guarantee the significance or influence of study results. Research's relevance is based on more than simply its uniqueness; it also involves its contribution to knowledge, its applicability in daily life, and its potential consequences on further studies or applications, of which both aspects are true and reflected in this study.

7.7 Advice for the Oil and Gas Companies in Nigeria

These research findings may serve as a guideline to the oil and gas in Nigeria in its effort to improve effective supply chain flows of these crucial products nationwide. In order to realise effective supply chain performance of oil and gas in the country, the oil and gas companies must adopt all the sixteen elements of supply chain collaboration used for model development to improve the industry's overall performance. The key steps to help organisation adopt or manage the enablers successfully is by its important to pay attention to detail rather than surface approach, be ready to change, empower employee's communication, promote vertical integration, and ensure active leadership.

7.8 Limitation and Further Research

It is hoped that this research provides insight into the factors enabling and inhibiting the supply chain performance in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. However, the limitations identified have provided a new direction for future studies. This study has examined the adoption of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement. The information was based on the views of managers and employees in the oil and gas companies and who were also policymakers in the various companies interviewed. This highlights the need for future studies to extensively examine challenges in the oil and gas sector in Nigeria as it is very crucial sector that has much impact on the development of the nation as it accounts for 85% of the nation export, job opportunities, and 90% of the nation's income is generated from oil.

Due to organisational resource constraint, it may not be possible to implement all the sixteen findings of the study at once therefore, step by step priority of the findings was suggested which can be easy for implementation.

It is suggested that future research should focused on quantifying the relationship between supply chain collaboration factors and performance indicators.

Further researchers should employ a quantitative and/or comparative techniques to establish the validity of the developed model.

Further research should adopt case-based approach in examining how supply chain performance can be improved.

The study uses a "cross-sectional" case study approach to analyse how supply chain collaboration was adopted in Nigeria's oil and gas industry, which led to performance improvement. It is important to note that it may be novel for future researchers to conduct "longitudinal research" via long-term observation of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry to prove the validity of these findings and to determine if there are any potential variances in the outcome.

Finally, it may be significant for future researchers to conduct quantitative research to test variables identified in this study especially the enabling factors of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas sector. This will determine whether the outcomes would be the same as this current study and further authenticate the identified sixteen findings of this study for the generalisation of the ideas.

7.9 Recommendation

This thesis is a demonstration of my research journey. It has captured and developed a new model, which provides an understanding of the supply chain performance improvement in Nigeria's oil and gas industry.

This study exposes some details that had not been observed by previous researchers in the context of Nigerian performance improvement in the oil and gas industry or which were overlooked by researchers possibly due to their complexity. Thus, this study contributes toward filling a gap of understanding into the reasons why effective performance has not been achieved in the supply chain and its intended objectives of efficient flow in Nigeria.

The work has been an enjoyable study of a significant real-world problem which had not been previously studied and has generated conclusions that it is hoped are of value and interest to stakeholders in the oil and gas industry and future researchers in this area and related topics.

To further knowledge in this field, recommendations are provided for future studies, such as use of quantitative research method, comparative or mixed-method research, to further examine supply chain problems in the Nigerian oil and gas sector and related themes using case studies.

Reference

- Abdulsalam, Y. J., & Schneller, E. S. (2021). Of barriers and bridges: Buyer-supplier relationships in health care. *Health Care Management Review*, 46(4), 358-366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.00000000000278</u>
- Adams, D., Donovan, J., & Topple, C. (2021). Achieving sustainability in food manufacturing operations and their supply chains: Key insights from a systematic literature review. Sustainable Production and Consumption, 28, 1491-1499. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2021.08.019
- Adams, K. M., Hester, P. T., Bradley, J. M., Meyers, T. J., & Keating, C. B. (2014). Systems Theory as the Foundation for Understanding Systems [<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sys.21255</u>]. Systems Engineering, 17(1), 112-123. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/sys.21255</u>]
- Agarwal, V., Govindan, K., Darbari, J. D., & Jha, P. C. (2016). An optimization model for sustainable solutions towards implementation of reverse logistics under collaborative framework. *International Journal of System Assurance Engineering and Management*, 7(4), 480-487. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13198-016-0486-3</u>
- Agrawal, V., Mohanty, R. P., & Agrawal, A. M. (2020). Identification and analysis of enablers of SCM by using MCDM approach. Benchmarking, 27(6), 1681-1710. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-05-2019-0232
- Agyemang, M., Zhu, Q., Adzanyo, M., Antarciuc, E., & Zhao, S. (2018). Evaluating barriers to green supply chain redesign and implementation of related practices in the West Africa cashew industry. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 136, 209-222.
- Ahmad, S., & Ullah, A. (2013). Driving forces of collaboration in supply chain: a review. Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business, 5(7), 39-69.
- Ahmad, W. N. K. W., de Brito, M. P., & Tavasszy, L. A. (2016). Sustainable supply chain management in the oil and gas industry: A review of corporate sustainability reporting practices. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*.
- Ahmad, W. N. K. W., Rezaei, J., Tavasszy, L. A., & de Brito, M. P. (2016). Commitment to and preparedness for sustainable supply chain management in the oil and gas industry. *Journal of environmental management*, 180, 202-213.
- Ahn, G., Park, Y.-J., & Hur, S. (2017). Probabilistic Graphical Framework for Estimating Collaboration Levels in Cloud Manufacturing. Sustainability, 9(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su9020277</u>
- Ahn, J. M., Kim, D.-b., & Moon, S. (2017). Determinants of innovation collaboration selection: a comparative analysis of Korea and Germany. *Innovation*, 19(2), 125-145.
- Ahn, J. M., Lee, W., & Mortara, L. (2020). Do government R&D subsidies stimulate collaboration initiatives in private firms? *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 151, 119840-119840.
- Ahn, J. M., Mortara, L., & Minshall, T. (2018). Dynamic capabilities and economic crises: has openness enhanced a firm's performance in an economic downturn? *Industrial and corporate change*, 27(1), 49-63.
- Ajayi, A. P. (2016). Analytical study of supply chain collaboration guiding forestry products supply in a developing economy. International Journal of Business Performance and Supply Chain Modelling, 8(4), 277-298. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBPSCM.2016.081288
- Akintoye, A., McIntosh, G., & Fitzgerald, E. (2000). A survey of supply chain collaboration and management in the UK construction industry. *European journal of purchasing & supply management*, 6(3-4), 159-168.
- Aksoy, A., & Öztürk, N. (2011). Supplier selection and performance evaluation in just-in-time production environments. *Expert Systems with Applications*, *38*(5), 6351-6359.
- Al-Abdallah, G. M., Abdallah, A. B., & Bany Hamdan, K. (2014). The Impact of Supplier Relationship Management on Competitive Performance of Manufacturing Firms. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v9n2p192
- Al-Douri, J. A. (2018). The impact of supply chain management approaches on supply chain performance in Iraq [Article]. International Journal of Supply Chain Management, 7(5), 13-21. <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85060845490&partnerID=40&md5=f43de48933ebfa3ab566cec5751a652f</u>
- Al-Refaie, A. (2014). Examining factors affect supply chain collaboration in Jordanian organizations. *Journal of Management Analytics*, 1(4), 317-337.
- Al Adem, S., Childerhouse, P., Egbelakin, T., & Wang, B. (2018). International and local NGO supply chain collaboration: An investigation of the Syrian refugee crises in Jordan. *Journal of Humanitarian Logistics and Supply Chain Management*, 8(3), 295-322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jhlscm-05-2017-0020</u>
- Alan, B. (2012). Social Research Methods.
- Alaskar, T. H., Mezghani, K., & Alsadi, A. K. (2021). Examining the adoption of Big data analytics in supply chain management under competitive pressure: evidence from Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Decision Systems*, 30(2-3), 300-320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/12460125.2020.1859714</u>
- Albertson, K., & Aylen, J. (2003). Forecasting the behaviour of manufacturing inventory. *International Journal of Forecasting*, 19(2), 299-311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-2070(01)00147-9</u>
- Albishri, D. Y., Sundarakani, B., & Gomisek, B. (2020). An empirical study of relationships between goal alignment, centralised decision-making, commitment to networking and supply chain effectiveness using structural equation modelling. *International Journal of Logistics-Research and Applications*, 23(4), 390-415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13675567.2019.1700219</u>
- Aldrich, H. E., & Pfeffer, J. (1976). Environments of organizations. Annual review of sociology, 79-105.

- Ali, I., Nagalingam, S., & Gurd, B. (2017). Building resilience in SMEs of perishable product supply chains: enablers, barriers and risks. Production Planning & Control, 28(15), 1236-1250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2017.1362487</u>
- Ali, S. S., Kaur, R., & Jaramillo, A. B. (2018). An assessment of green supply chain framework in Indian automobile industry using interpretive structural modelling and its validation using MICMAC analysis. *International Journal of Services and Operations Management*, 30(3), 318-356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJSOM.2018.092607</u>
- Allaoui, H., Guo, Y., & Sarkis, J. (2019). Decision support for collaboration planning in sustainable supply chains. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 229, 761-774. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.04.367</u>
- Alonso-Muñoz, S., González-Sánchez, R., Siligardi, C., & García-Muiña, F. E. (2021). New circular networks in resilient supply chains: An external capital perspective. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 13(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13116130</u>
- Alsharif, A. A., Hassan, W. A., & Almaktoom, A. T. (2019). Identifying enablers of supply chain alignments. Proceedings of the International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations Management,
- Ambrose, E., Marshall, D., & Lynch, D. (2010). Buyer supplier perspectives on supply chain relationships. *International Journal of Operations and Production Management*, 30(12), 1269-1290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/01443571011094262</u>
- Amini, M., Wakolbinger, T., Racer, M., & Nejad, M. G. (2012). Alternative supply chain production-sales policies for new product diffusion: An agent-based modeling and simulation approach. *European journal of operational research*, 216(2), 301-311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2011.07.040</u>
- Amue, G. J., & Ozuru, H. (2014). Supply chain integration in organizations: An empirical investigation of the Nigeria oil and gas industry. *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 6(6), 129-129.
- Ananno, A. A., Masud, M. H., Chowdhury, S. A., Dabnichki, P., Ahmed, N., & Arefin, A. M. E. (2021). Sustainable food waste management model for Bangladesh. Sustainable Production and Consumption, 27, 35-51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2020.10.022</u>
- Andalib Ardakani, D., Soltanmohammadi, A., & Seuring, S. (2022). The impact of customer and supplier collaboration on green supply chain performance. *Benchmarking*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-12-2020-0655</u>
- Angeles, R., & Nath, R. (2001). Partner congruence in electronic data interchange (EDI)-enabled relationships. *Journal of business logistics*, 22(2), 109-127.
- Angkiriwang, R., Pujawan, I. N., & Santosa, B. (2014). Managing uncertainty through supply chain flexibility: reactive vs. proactive approaches. *Production & Manufacturing Research*, 2(1), 50-70.
- Annosi, M. C., Brunetta, F., Bimbo, F., & Kostoula, M. (2021). Digitalization within food supply chains to prevent food waste. Drivers, barriers and collaboration practices. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 93, 208-220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2021.01.005</u>
- Aouadni, S., Aouadni, I., & Rebaï, A. (2019). A systematic review on supplier selection and order allocation problems. *Journal of Industrial Engineering International*, 15(1), 267-289.
- Apornak, A., & Hezaveh, M. A. (2019). Extension of the model of manufacturing supply chain quality management: An empirical study. *International Journal of Productivity and Quality Management*, 28(4), 417-437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJPOM.2019.103686</u>
- Aravindaraj, K., & Rajan Chinna, P. (2022). A systematic literature review of integration of industry 4.0 and warehouse management to achieve Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). *Cleaner Logistics and Supply Chain*, 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clscn.2022.100072</u>
- Arias Bustos, C., & Moors, E. H. M. (2018). Reducing post-harvest food losses through innovative collaboration: Insights from the Colombian and Mexican avocado supply chains. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 199, 1020-1034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.06.187
- Arora, A., Arora, A., Anyu, J., & McIntyre, J. (2021). Global value chains' disaggregation through supply chain collaboration, market turbulence, and performance outcomes. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 13(8). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13084151</u>
- Asgary, A., Anjum, M. I., & Azimi, N. (2012). Disaster recovery and business continuity after the 2010 flood in Pakistan: Case of small businesses. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 2(1), 46-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdtr.2012.08.001
- Attaran, M. (2012). Critical success factors and challenges of implementing RFID in supply chain management. *Journal of supply chain and operations management*, *10*(1), 144-167.
- Attride-Stirling, J. (2001). Thematic networks: an analytic tool for qualitative research. *Qualitative research*, 1(3), 385-405.
- Auerbach, C., & Silverstein, L. B. (2003). Qualitative data: An introduction to coding and analysis (Vol. 21). NYU press.
- Baah, C., Acquah, I. S. K., & Ofori, D. (2021). Exploring the influence of supply chain collaboration on supply chain visibility, stakeholder trust, environmental and financial performances: a partial least square approach. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 29(1), 172-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-10-2020-0519</u>
- Baah, C., Opoku Agyeman, D., Acquah, I. S. K., Agyabeng-Mensah, Y., Afum, E., Issau, K., Ofori, D., & Faibil, D. (2022). Effect of information sharing in supply chains: understanding the roles of supply chain visibility, agility, collaboration on supply chain performance. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 29(2), 434-455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-08-2020-0453</u>
 Babbie, E. (2007). Tile practice of social research. *Istanbul Bilgi University Library*.
- Bagchi, P. K., Chun ha, B., Skjoett-Larsen, T., & Boege Soerensen, L. (2005). Supply chain integration: A European survey [Article]. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 16(2), 275-294. https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090510634557

- Baharmand, H., Maghsoudi, A., & Coppi, G. (2021). Exploring the application of blockchain to humanitarian supply chains: insights from Humanitarian Supply Blockchain pilot project. *International Journal of Operations and Production* Management, 41(9), 1522-1543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-12-2020-0884</u>
- Bahinipati, B. K., & Deshmukh, S. G. (2012). E-markets and supply chain collaboration: a literature-based review of contributions with specific reference to the semiconductor industries. *Logistics Research*, 4(1-2), 19-38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12159-012-0067-z
- Bahinipati, B. K., & Deshmukh, S. G. (2014). Lateral Collaboration in Semiconductor Industry Supply Networks. International Journal of Information Systems and Supply Chain Management, 7(3), 39-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/ijisscm.2014070103</u>
- Bahinipati, B. K., & Panigrahi, S. S. (2018). A framework for sustainable supply chains: Evaluation of implementation barriers. International Journal of Intelligent Enterprise, 5(3), 231-265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJIE.2018.093401</u>
- Bai, C., Sarkis, J., Yin, F., & Dou, Y. (2020). Sustainable supply chain flexibility and its relationship to circular economy-target performance. *International Journal of Production Research*, 58(19), 5893-5910. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1661532
- Balaji, M., & Arshinder, K. (2016). Modeling the causes of food wastage in Indian perishable food supply chain. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 114, 153-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2016.07.016</u>
- Balasubramanian, R. (2001). Concurrent engineering A powerful enabler of supply chain management. *Quality Progress*, 34(6), 47-53.
- Balasubramanian, S. (2014). A structural analysis of green supply chain management enablers in the UAE construction sector. International Journal of Logistics Systems and Management, 19(2), 131-150. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJLSM.2014.064655
- Ballou, R. H., Gilbert, S. M., & Mukherjee, A. (2000). New managerial challenges from supply chain opportunities. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 29(1), 7-18.
- Barratt, M. (2004). Unveiling Enablers and Inhibitors of Collaborative Planning. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 15(1), 73-90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090410700248</u>
- Barratt, M., & Oliveira, A. (2001). Exploring the experiences of collaborative planning initiatives. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 31(4), 266-289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030110394932</u>
- Bartlett, C. A., & Ghoshal, S. (1992). What is a global manager? Harvard Business School.
- Barua, M. E. (2022). Enhancing Resource Advantage Theory's Explanatory Power: A Step Toward "A General Theory of Marketing". *International Society of Marketing*.
- Bayode, B., & Joseph, B. (2014). Supply Chain Relationships Management and Performance of NNPC's Retail Outlets in South-West Nigeria. ISSN 2224-6096 (Paper) ISSN 2225-0581 Vol, 4.
- Beal Partyka, R. (2022). Supply chain management: an integrative review from the agency theory perspective. *Revista de Gestao*, 29(2), 175-198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/REGE-04-2021-0058</u>
- Bell, E., & Bryman, A. (2007). The ethics of management research: an exploratory content analysis. *British Journal of management*, 18(1), 63-77.
- Bell, J., & Waters, S. (2018). Ebook: doing your research project: a guide for first-time researchers. McGraw-hill education (UK).
- Bell, S. J., Instone, L., & Mee, K. J. (2018). Engaged witnessing: Researching with the more-than-human. Area, 50(1), 136-144.
- Berg, B. L., Lune, H., & Lune, H. (2004). Qualitative research methods for the social sciences Pearson Boston. In: MA.
- Bergene, A. (2007). Towards a critical realist comparative methodology: Context-sensitive theoretical comparison. *Journal of critical realism*, 6(1), 5-27.
- Bernardes, E. S., & Zsidisin, G. A. (2008). An examination of strategic supply management benefits and performance implications. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 14(4), 209-219.
- Bertalanffy, L. v. (1956). General System Theory/L. von Bertalanffy. General Systems, 1, 1-10.
- Beulens, A. J. M., Broens, D.-F., Folstar, P., & Hofstede, G. J. (2005). Food safety and transparency in food chains and networks Relationships and challenges. *Food control*, 16(6), 481-486.
- Bhaskar, R. (1978). On the possibility of social scientific knowledge and the limits of naturalism. *Journal for the Theory of social Behaviour*, 8(1), 1-28.
- Bhaskar, R. (1989). 1989: Reclaiming reality. London: Verso.
- Bhatnagar, R., & Sohal, A. S. (2005). Supply chain competitiveness: measuring the impact of location factors, uncertainty and manufacturing practices. *Technovation*, 25(5), 443-456.
- Bhatt, G. D., & Grover, V. (2005). Types of information technology capabilities and their role in competitive advantage: An empirical study. *Journal of management information systems*, 22(2), 253-277.
- Bhattacharya, A., & Fayezi, S. (2021). Ameliorating food loss and waste in the supply chain through multi-stakeholder collaboration. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 93, 328-343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2021.01.009</u>
- Bhattacherjee, A. (2012). Social science research: Principles, methods, and practices.
- Bhuyan, A., Tripathy, A., Padhy, R. K., & Gautam, A. (2022). Evaluating the lithium-ion battery recycling industry in an emerging economy: A multi-stakeholder and multi-criteria decision-making approach. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 331, 130007-130007. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.130007</u>
- Bimha, H., Hoque, M., & Munapo, E. (2020). The impact of supply chain management practices on industry competitiveness: A mixed-methods study on the Zimbabwean petroleum industry. *African Journal of Science, Technology, Innovation and Development*, 12(1), 97-109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20421338.2019.1613785</u>

- Birasnav, M., & Bienstock, J. (2019). Supply chain integration, advanced manufacturing technology, and strategic leadership: An empirical study. *Computers and Industrial Engineering*, 130, 142-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2019.01.021</u>
- Biswas, T. K., & Das, M. C. (2020). Selection of the barriers of supply chain management in Indian manufacturing sectors due to Covid-19 impacts. Operational Research in Engineering Sciences: Theory and Applications, 3(3), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.31181/oresta2030301b</u>
- Björnfot, A., & Torjussen, L. (2012). Extent and effect of horizontal supply chain collaboration among construction SME.
- Bjornfot, A., Torjussen, L., & Erikshammar, J. (2011). Horizontal supply chain collaboration in Swedish and Norwegian SME networks. 19th annual conference of the International Group for Lean Construction proceedings, July. Lima: IGLC,
- Blagojevic, B., Nesbakken, T., Alvseike, O., Vågsholm, I., Antic, D., Johler, S., Houf, K., Meemken, D., Nastasijevic, I., Vieira Pinto, M., Georgiev, M., & Alban, L. (2021). Drivers, opportunities, and challenges of the European risk-based meat safety assurance system. *Food control*, 124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2021.107870</u>
- Blaikie, N. (1993). Research Strategies: Retroductive and Abductive Strategies. N. Blaikie.
- Blaikie, N. (2007). Approaches to social enquiry: Advancing knowledge. Polity.
- Blandford, A., Furniss, D., & Makri, S. (2016). Qualitative HCI Research: Going Behind the Scenes. *Synthesis Lectures on Human-Centered Informatics*, 9(1), 1-115. <u>https://doi.org/10.2200/S00706ED1V01Y201602HCI034</u>
- Bleady, A., Ali, A. H., & Ibrahim, S. B. (2018). Dynamic Capabilities Theory: Pinning Down a Shifting Concept. abacademies.org. Retrieved 11 from <u>https://www.abacademies.org/articles/dynamic-capabilities-theory-pinning-down-a-shifting-concept-7230.html</u>
- Boddy, D., Macbeth, D., & Wagner, B. (2000). Implementing collaboration between organizations: an empirical study of supply chain partnering. *Journal of Management studies*, *37*(7), 1003-1018.
- Borgatti, S. P., & Halgin, D. S. (2011). On network theory. Organization science, 22(5), 1168-1181.
- Boudahri, F., Sari, Z., Maliki, F., & Bennekrouf, M. (2011). Design and optimization of the supply chain of agri-foods: Application distribution network of chicken meat. 2011 International conference on communications, computing and control applications (CCCA),
- Boudi, M., Laoubi, K., & Chehat, F. (2016). A value chain analysis for sustainable development of olive oil agro-industry: The case of Algeria. Journal of Agriculture and Environment for International Development, 110(2), 267-292. https://doi.org/10.12895/jaeid.20162.469
- Bowersox, D. J. (1990). The strategic benefits of logistics alliances. Harvard Business Review, 68(4), 36-43.
- Bowersox, D. J., Closs, D. J., & Stank, T. P. (2003). How to master cross-enterprise collaboration. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT REVIEW, V. 7, NO. 4 (JULY/AUG. 2003), P. 18-27: ILL.
- Boyabatlı, O., Nasiry, J., & Zhou, Y. (2019). Crop planning in sustainable agriculture: Dynamic farmland allocation in the presence of crop rotation benefits. *Management Science*, 65(5), 2060-2076.
- Boyce, W. S. (2016). Supply chain relationships: From conflict to collaboration. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-9639-6.ch013
- Bragg, S., Stone, R., & Van Geersdaele, J. (2011). Seven signs your supply chain needs a redesign. Supply Chain Quarterly.
- Braithwaite, A. (2005). Maximising performance-the power of supply chain collaboration. EPCA, Cefic. In.
- Brandon, N. P., & Kurban, Z. (2017). Clean energy and the hydrogen economy. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 375(2098). <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2016.0400</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a
- Braziotis, C., & Tannock, J. (2011). Building the extended enterprise: key collaboration factors. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 22(3), 349-372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09574091111181363</u>
- Brislin, R. W., Brislin, R. W., Lonner, W. J., & Thorndike, R. M. (1973). *Cross-cultural research methods* (Vol. 11). New York: J. Wiley.
- Bryman, A. (2003). Quantity and quality in social research. Routledge.
- Bryman, A. (2006). Integrating quantitative and qualitative research: how is it done? Qualitative research, 6(1), 97-113.
- Bryman, A. (2011). Research methods in the study of leadership. The SAGE handbook of leadership, 15-28.
- Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods. Oxford university press.
- Bryman, A., Clark, T., Foster, L., & Sloan, L. (2021). Bryman's Social Research Methods. In: Oxford: OUP.
- Bryman, A., & Cramer, D. (2001). Quantitative Data Analysis with SPSS Release 10 for Windows: A Guide for Social Scientists Taylor & Francis. *Hove, England*, 295.
- Buijs, P., & Wortmann, J. C. (2014). Joint operational decision-making in collaborative transportation networks: the role of IT. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 19(2), 200-210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/scm-08-2013-0298</u>
- Busher, H., & James, N. (2002). Ethics of research in education. *Research methods in educational leadership and management*, 73-89.
- Butt, A. S., Shah, S. H. H., & Ahmad, A. B. (2021). Does knowledge hiding undermine buyer-supplier relationship performance in supply chains? A dyadic perspective. VINE Journal of Information and Knowledge Management Systems. https://doi.org/10.1108/VJIKMS-06-2020-0118
- Bvepfepfe, B. S. (2019). Supply chain network and logistics management. In *Logistics and Global Value Chains in Africa* (pp. 45-89). Springer.
- Cachon, G. P., & Fisher, M. (2000). Supply chain inventory management and the value of shared information. *Management Science*, 46(8), 1032-1048.

- Cagliano, R., Caniato, F., & Spina, G. (2003). E-business strategy: How companies are shaping their supply chain through the Internet. International Journal of Operations and Production Management, 23(10), 1142-1162. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443570310496607
- Cai, J., Sun, H., Hu, X., Jin, K., & Ping, M. (2022). Demand information sharing in a two-echelon supply chain with a risk-averse retailer: retail price decision versus retail quantity decision. *International Transactions in Operational Research*, 29(6), 3657-3680. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/itor.13083</u>
- Cai, S., Jun, M., & Yang, Z. (2010). Implementing supply chain information integration in China: The role of institutional forces and trust*. *Journal of operations management*, 28(3), 257-268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2009.11.005
- Calas, M. B., & Smircich, L. (2018). Opening Spaces and Living in the Limits: Attempts at Intervening in Organization Studies. In *Research in Organizational Change and Development*. Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Caniato, F., Crippa, L., Pero, M., Sianesi, A., & Spina, G. (2015). Internationalisation and outsourcing of operations and product development in the fashion industry. *Production Planning and Control*, 26(9), 706-722. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2014.971524</u>
- Caniels, M. C. J., & Gelderman, C. J. (2005). Purchasing strategies in the Kraljic matrix—A power and dependence perspective. Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, 11(2-3), 141-155.
- Cao, M., Vonderembse, M. A., Zhang, Q., & Ragu-Nathan, T. S. (2010). Supply chain collaboration: conceptualisation and instrument development. *International Journal of Production Research*, 48(22), 6613-6635.
- Cao, M., & Zhang, Q. (2013). Supply chain collaboration: Roles of interorganizational systems, trust, and collaborative culture (Vol. 9781447145912). Springer-Verlag London Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-4591-2</u>
- Cao, M. and Zhang, Q., 2011. Supply chain collaboration: Impact on collaborative advantage and firm performance. *Journal of operations management*, 29(3), pp.163-180.
- Carino, S., Collins, J., Malekpour, S., & Porter, J. (2021). Environmentally sustainable hospital foodservices: Drawing on staff perspectives to guide change. *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, 25, 152-161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2020.08.003
- Carr, A. S., & Kaynak, H. (2007). Communication methods, information sharing, supplier development and performance: an empirical study of their relationships. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*.
- Carter, C. R., Ellram, L. M., & Tate, W. (2007). THE USE OF SOCIAL NETWORK ANALYSIS IN LOGISTICS RESEARCH. Journal of business logistics, 28(1), 137-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2158-1592.2007.tb00235.x</u>
- Carter, S. M., & Little, M. (2007). Justifying knowledge, justifying method, taking action: Epistemologies, methodologies, and methods in qualitative research. *Qualitative health research*, *17*(10), 1316-1328.
- Carvajal-Arango, D., Bahamón-Jaramillo, S., Aristizábal-Monsalve, P., Vásquez-Hernández, A., & Botero, L. F. B. (2019). Relationships between lean and sustainable construction: Positive impacts of lean practices over sustainability during construction phase. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 234, 1322-1337.
- Carvalho, N. L., Mendes, J. V., Akim, E. K., Mergulhão, R. C., & Vidal Vieira, J. G. (2021). Supply chain collaboration: differing perspectives of Brazilian companies. *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 32(1), 118-137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-10-2019-0284</u>
- Casciaro, T., & Piskorski, M. J. (2005). Power imbalance, mutual dependence, and constraint absorption: A closer look at resource dependence theory. *Administrative science quarterly*, *50*(2), 167-199.
- Cedillo-Campos, M. G., Piña-Barcenas, J., Pérez-González, C. M., & Mora-Vargas, J. (2022). How to measure and monitor the transportation infrastructure contribution to logistics value of supply chains? *Transport Policy*, 120, 120-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2022.03.001
- Cellier, F. E. (2001). Discrete event modeling and simulation technologies: a tapestry of systems and AI-based theories and methodologies. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Chabowski, B. R., Gabrielsson, P., & Mena, J. A. (2022). Using bibliometric research to advance the business-to-business sustainability literature: Establishing an integrative conceptual framework for future application. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *102*, 527-545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2022.01.009</u>
- Chaka, A., Kenea, T., & Gebresenbet, G. (2016). Analysis of the supply chain and logistics practices of warqe food products in Ethiopia. *International Journal on Food System Dynamics*, 7(3), 213-228. <u>https://doi.org/10.18461/ijfsd.v7i3.733</u>
- Chakuu, S., Masi, D., & Godsell, J. (2019). Exploring the relationship between mechanisms, actors and instruments in supply chain finance: A systematic literature review. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 216, 35-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.04.013</u>
- Chalker, M., & Loosemore, M. (2016). Trust and productivity in Australian construction projects: a subcontractor perspective. Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management, 23(2), 192-210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ecam-06-2015-0090</u>
- Chalyvidis, C. E., Ogden, J. A., & Johnson, A. W. (2013). Using supply chain interoperability as a measure of supply chain performance. *Supply Chain Forum*, 14(3), 52-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16258312.2013.11517321</u>
- Chan, F. T. S., & Prakash, A. (2012). Inventory management in a lateral collaborative manufacturing supply chain: a simulation study. *International Journal of Production Research*, 50(16), 4670-4685.
- Chan, F. T. S., & Zhang, T. (2011). The impact of collaborative transportation management on supply chain performance: A simulation approach. *Expert Systems with Applications*, *38*(3), 2319-2329. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2010.08.020</u>
- Chand, P., & Tarei, P. K. (2021). Do the barriers of multi-tier sustainable supply chain interact? A multi-sector examination using resource-based theory and resource-dependence theory. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 27(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2021.100722

- Chang, C.-W., Chiang, D. M., & Pai, F.-Y. (2012). Cooperative strategy in supply chain networks. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 41(7), 1114-1124.
- Chang, Y.-H. (2010). Adopting co-evolution and constraint-satisfaction concept on genetic algorithms to solve supply chain network design problems. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 37(10), 6919-6930.
- Chao, C. M., Yu, C. T., Cheng, B. W., & Chuang, P. C. (2013). Trust and commitment in relationships among medical equipment suppliers: Transaction cost and social exchange theories. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 41(7), 1057-1070. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.2013.41.7.1057
- Chen, I. J., & Paulraj, A. (2004). Towards a theory of supply chain management: the constructs and measurements. *Journal of operations management*, 22(2), 119-150.
- Chen, J., Sohal, A. S., & Prajogo, D. I. (2013). Supply chain operational risk mitigation: a collaborative approach. *International Journal of Production Research*, *51*(7), 2186-2199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2012.727490</u>
- Chen, L., Jia, F., Li, T., & Zhang, T. (2021). Supply chain leadership and firm performance: A meta-analysis. *International Journal* of Production Economics, 235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2021.108082</u>
- Chen, L. J., Zhao, X. D., Tang, O., Price, L. D., Zhang, S. S., & Zhu, W. W. (2017). Supply chain collaboration for sustainability: A literature review and future research agenda. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 194, 73-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.04.005
- Chen, S., Shi, R., Ren, Z., Yan, J., Shi, Y., & Zhang, J. (2017). A Blockchain-Based Supply Chain Quality Management Framework. Proceedings - 14th IEEE International Conference on E-Business Engineering, ICEBE 2017 - Including 13th Workshop on Service-Oriented Applications, Integration and Collaboration, SOAIC 207,
- Chen, T.-H. (2015). Effects of the pricing and cooperative advertising policies in a two-echelon dual-channel supply chain. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 87, 250-259.
- Chen, X., & Wang, X. (2016). Effects of carbon emission reduction policies on transportation mode selections with stochastic demand. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 90, 196-205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2015.11.008</u>
- Chen, X., Zhang, R., & Lv, B. (2021). Dual-Channel Green Supply Chain Decision-Making and Coordination considering CSR and Consumer Green Preferences. Discrete Dynamics in Nature and Society, 2021, Article 5301461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/5301461</u>
- Cheng, Y. H., Liao, H. W., & Chen, Y. S. (2006). Implementation of a back-propagation neural network for demand forecasting in a supply Chain - A practical case study. 2006 IEEE International Conference on Service Operations and Logistics, and Informatics, SOLI 2006,
- Cheung, Y. L., Haw, I. M., Hu, B., Swink, M., & Zhang, W. (2020). Common institutional investors and supplier performance in supply chains. *Journal of operations management*, 66(6), 670-696.
- Chia, R. (2003). Organization theory as a postmodern science. The Oxford handbook of organization theory, 113-140.
- Chien, L. C., Beÿ, C. K., & Koenig, K. L. (2020). A Positive-Pressure Environment Disposable Shield (PEDS) for COVID-19 Health Care Worker Protection. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, 35(4), 434-437. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049023X20000643
- Chiu, M. L., Fu, C. Y., & Wu, I. L. (2013). An Analysis of Supply Chain Collaboration and Its Impact on Firm Performance An Integration of Social Capital, Justice, and Technology Use. *Iceis: Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems, Vol 1*, 5-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.5220/0004400500050012</u>
- Chkanikova, O., & Sroufe, R. (2021). Third-party sustainability certifications in food retailing: Certification design from a sustainable supply chain management perspective. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.124344
- Choi, T. Y., & Hong, Y. (2002). Unveiling the structure of supply networks: case studies in Honda, Acura, and DaimlerChrysler. *Journal of operations management*, 20(5), 469-493.
- Chopra, S., & Meindl, P. (2001). Strategy, planning, and operation. Supply Chain Management, 13-17.
- Chopra, S., & Meindl, P. (2007). Supply chain management. Strategy, planning & operation. In *Das summa summarum des management* (pp. 265-275). Springer.
- Chopra, S., Sodhi, M., & Lücker, F. (2021). Achieving supply chain efficiency and resilience by using multi-level commons. Decision Sciences, 52(4), 817-832.
- Chowdhury, M. M. H., & Quaddus, M. (2017). Supply chain resilience: Conceptualization and scale development using dynamic capability theory. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 188, 185-204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.03.020
- Christopher, M., & Juttner, U. (2000). Supply chain relationships: making the transition to closer integration. *International Journal of Logistics*, *3*(1), 5-23.
- Chung, S.-L., Wee, H.-M., & Yang, P.-C. (2008). Optimal policy for a closed-loop supply chain inventory system with remanufacturing. *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, 48(5-6), 867-881.
- Claassen, M. J. T., Van Weele, A. J., & Van Raaij, E. M. (2008). Performance outcomes and success factors of vendor managed inventory (VMI). *Supply Chain Management*, *13*(6), 406-414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540810905660</u>
- Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2013). Teaching thematic analysis: Overcoming challenges and developing strategies for effective learning. *The psychologist*, 26(2).
- Claro, D. P., & De Oliveira Claro, P. B. (2004). Coordinating B2B cross-border supply chains: The case of the organic coffee industry. *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, 19(6), 405-414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/08858620410556345</u>

- Cohen, S. E., Klausner, J. D., Engelman, J., & Philip, S. (2013). Syphilis in the modern era: an update for physicians. *Infectious Disease Clinics*, 27(4), 705-722.
- Colautti, M., Luppi, I., Salamano, M., Traverso, M. L., Botta, C., & Palchik, V. (2009). Antiretroviral drug supply in Argentina: National Program to Combat Human Retroviruses, AIDS, and STDs | Suministro de antirretrovirales en Argentina: Programa Nacional de Lucha contra los Retrovirus del Humano, SIDA y ETS. *Revista Panamericana de Salud Publica/Pan American Journal of Public Health*, 25(1), 62-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/S1020-49892009000100010</u>
- Colin Robson, K. M. (2016). Real World Research. In: WILEY. Collins, R. (2009). Value Chain Management and Postharvest Handling: Partners in Competitiveness.
- https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374112-7.00006-8 Collis, J., & Hussey, R. (2013). Business research: A practical guide for undergraduate and postgraduate students. Macmillan
- International Higher Education. Cooper, M. C., Lambert, D. M., & Pagh, J. D. (1997). Supply Chain Management: More Than a New Name for Logistics. *The*
- International Journal of Logistics Management, 8(1), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09574099710805556</u> Corallo, A., Latino, M. E., Menegoli, M., & Pontrandolfo, P. (2020). A systematic literature review to explore traceability and lifecycle relationship. *International Journal of Production Research*, 58(15), 4789-4807.
 - https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2020.1771455
- Corbetta, P. (2003). Social research: Theory, methods and techniques. Sage.
- Costantino, F., Di Gravio, G., Shaban, A., & Tronci, M. (2014). The impact of information sharing and inventory control coordination on supply chain performances. *Computers and Industrial Engineering*, 76, 292-306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2014.08.006
- Cousins, P., Lamming, R., & Squire, B. (2008). *Strategic supply management: principles, theories and practice*. Pearson Education.
- Cozzolino, A., Wankowicz, E., & Massaroni, E. (2017). Logistics service providers' engagement in disaster relief initiatives. International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences, 9(3/4), 269-291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijqss-04-2017-0040</u>
- Creswell, J. W. (1994). Research design: Qualitative and quantitative approach. London: Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches. In: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Clark, P. (2007). VL Designing and conducting mixed methods research. In: Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. (2003). Research design. Sage publications Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Sage publications.
- Creswell, J. W., Hanson, W. E., Clark Plano, V. L., & Morales, A. (2007). Qualitative research designs: Selection and implementation. *The counseling psychologist*, 35(2), 236-264.
- Creswell, J. W., & Miller, D. L. (2000). Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. Theory into practice, 39(3), 124-130.
- Croft, S. A., West, C. D., & Green, J. M. H. (2018). Capturing the heterogeneity of sub-national production in global trade flows. Journal of Cleaner Production, 203, 1106-1118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.08.267
- Croxton, K. L., Lambert, D. M., García-Dastugue, S. J., & Rogers, D. S. (2002). The Demand Management Process. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 13(2), 51-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090210806423</u>
- Daudi, M., Hauge, J. B., & Thoben, K.-D. (2016). Behavioral factors influencing partner trust in logistics collaboration: a review. *Logistics Research*, 9(1), 19.
- Daugherty, P. J., Richey, R. G., Roath, A. S., Min, S., Chen, H., Arndt, A. D., & Genchev, S. E. (2006). Is collaboration paying off for firms? *Business Horizons*, 49(1), 61-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2005.06.002</u>
- de Almeida, M. M. K., Marins, F. A. S., Salgado, A. M. P., Santos, F. C. A., & da Silva, S. L. (2015). Mitigation of the bullwhip effect considering trust and collaboration in supply chain management: a literature review. In *International Journal of* Advanced Manufacturing Technology (Vol. 77, pp. 495-513): Springer London.
- de Camargo Fiorini, P., Roman Pais Seles, B. M., Chiappetta Jabbour, C. J., Barberio Mariano, E., & de Sousa Jabbour, A. B. L. (2018). Management theory and big data literature: From a review to a research agenda. *International Journal of Information Management*, 43, 112-129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2018.07.005</u>
- De Freitas, D. C., De Oliveira, L. G., & Alcântara, R. L. C. (2019). A theoretical framework to adopt collaborative initiatives in supply chains. *Gestao e Producao*, 26(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/0104-530X-4194-19</u>
- de Leeuw, S., & Fransoo, J. (2009). Drivers of close supply chain collaboration: one size fits all? *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 29(7-8), 720-739. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/01443570910971397</u>
- De, S., Ramakrishnan, P. R., & Das, K. (2011). Next generation supply chain for the emerging economies: Overriding local constraints to optimize inventories. SAE 2011 World Congress and Exhibition,
- De Toni, A., Nassimbeni, G., & Tonchia, S. (1994a). New trends in the supply environment. *Logistics Information Management*, 7(4), 41-50.
- De Toni, A., Nassimbeni, G., & Tonchia, S. (1994b). Service Dimensions in the Buyer-Supplier Relationship: A Case Study. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management.
- Defee, C. C., Esper, T., & Mollenkopf, D. (2009). Leveraging closed-loop orientation and leadership for environmental sustainability. Supply Chain Management, 14(2), 87-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540910941957</u>
- Delavar, H., Gilani, H., & Sahebi, H. (2022). A system dynamics approach to measure the effect of information sharing on manufacturing/remanufacturing systems' performance. *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 35(8), 859-872. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0951192X.2022.2027015</u>

Delke, V. F. (2015). The resource dependence theory: Assessment and evaluation as a contributing theory for supply management. Dell, J., & Hart, V. (2014). Leveraging sustainability in the oil and gas supply chain.

- Deng, L., Wang, R., Dong, T., Feng, J., & Weisong, M. (2016). Assessing the table grape supply chain performance in China a value chain analysis perspective. *British Food Journal*, 118(5), 1129-1145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-09-2015-0310</u>
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. (1989). The biographical method. The Research Act. A Theoretical Introduction to Sociological Methods, 182-209.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2000). Handbook of qualitative research., 2nd edn.(Sage Publications: Thousand Oaks, CA).
- Derrouiche, R., Neubert, G., Bouras, A., & Savino, M. (2010). B2B relationship management: a framework to explore the impact of collaboration. *Production Planning & Control*, 21(6), 528-546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2010.488932</u>
- Dixit, S., Pandey, A. K., Mandal, S. N., & Bansal, S. (2017). A Study of Enabling Factors Affecting Construction Productivity: Indian Scenario. International Journal of Civil Engineering and Technology (IJCIET), 8(6), 741-758. http://www.iaeme.com/IJCIET/index.asp741http://www.iaeme.com/IJCIET/issues.asp?JType=IJCIET&VType=8&IType=6 http://www.iaeme.com/IJCIET/index.asp742http://www.iaeme.com/IJCIET/issues.asp?JType=IJCIET&VType=8 &IType=6
- Dube, A. S., & Gawande, R. R. (2016). ISM-fuzzy MICMAC approach for analysis of GSCM enablers. International Journal of Logistics Systems and Management, 24(4), 426-451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJLSM.2016.077281</u>
- Dubey, R., Gunasekaran, A., Papadopoulos, T., & Childe, S. J. (2015). Green supply chain management enablers: Mixed methods research. Sustainable Production and Consumption, 4, 72-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2015.07.001</u>
- Dubey, R., Gunasekaran, A., & Samar Ali, S. (2015). Exploring the relationship between leadership, operational practices, institutional pressures and environmental performance: A framework for green supply chain. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 160, 120-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2014.10.001</u>
- Dugoua, E., & Dumas, M. (2021). Green product innovation in industrial networks: A theoretical model. Journal of Environmental Economics and Management, 107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2021.102420</u>
- Dung, L. T. (2015). Factors Affecting the Collaboration in Supply Chain of Mechanical Enterprises in Vietnam. International Journal of Managing Value and Supply Chains, 6(4), 17-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.5121/ijmvsc.2015.6402</u>
- Duong, L. N. K., & Chong, J. (2020). Supply chain collaboration in the presence of disruptions: a literature review. *International Journal of Production Research*, 1-20.
- Durmaz, A., Demir, H., & Sezen, B. (2021). The role of negative entropy within supply chain sustainability. *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, 28, 218-230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2021.04.014</u>
- Duryan, M., & Smyth, H. (2019). Service design and knowledge management in the construction supply chain for an infrastructure programme. Built Environment Project and Asset Management, 9(1), 118-137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BEPAM-04-2018-0060</u>
- Dwivedi, Y. K., Shareef, M. A., Mukerji, B., Rana, N. P., & Kapoor, K. K. (2018). Involvement in emergency supply chain for disaster management: A cognitive dissonance perspective. *International Journal of Production Research*, 56(21), 6758-6773. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1378958</u>
- Dyer, J. H. (1996). Specialized supplier networks as a source of competitive advantage: Evidence from the auto industry. *Strategic* management journal, 17(4), 271-291.
- Easterby-Smith, M., Cooper, D. R., & Schindler, P. S. (2002). Business research methods. In: California: SAGE Publications.
- Easton, G. (2010). Critical realism in case study research. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 39(1), 118-128.

Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Building theories from case study research. Academy of management review, 14(4), 532-550.

- Eisner, E., & Peshkin, A. (1991). Qualitative inquiry and the enhancement of educational practice. In: Thousand Oaks, CA: Prentice Hall.
- Eisner, E. W., & Peshkin, A. (1990). Qualitative inquiry in education: The continuing debate. Teachers College Press.
- Elbarkouky, M. M. G., & Abdelazeem, G. (2013). A green supply chain assessment for construction projects in developing countries. WIT Transactions on Ecology and the Environment, 179 VOLUME, 1331-1341. <u>https://doi.org/10.2495/SC131132</u>
- Elisha, O. D. (2020). THE NON-PERFORMING PORT HARCOURT REFINING COMPANY AND THE DEPRESSED NIGERIA ECONOMY.
- Ellram, L. M. (1991). Supply Chain Management: The Industrial Organisation Perspedive. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & amp; Logistics Management, 21*(1), 13-22. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600039110137082
- Elrod, C., Murray, S., & Bande, S. (2013). A review of performance metrics for supply chain management. *EMJ Engineering Management Journal*, 25(3), 39-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10429247.2013.11431981</u>
- Emerson, T. I. (1962). Toward a general theory of the First Amendment. Yale Lj, 72, 877-877.
- Eskandari, M., Lehoux, N., & Cloutier, C. (2021). Inter-firm Collaboration in the Forest Products Industry: A Literature Review. Proceedings of the International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations Management,
- Esmaeilikia, M., Fahimnia, B., Sarkis, J., Govindan, K., Kumar, A., & Mo, J. (2016). A tactical supply chain planning model with multiple flexibility options: an empirical evaluation. *Annals of Operations Research*, 244(2), 429-454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10479-013-1513-2</u>
- Fachrunnisa, O., Mutamimah, & Gunawan. (2013). Digital collaboration network for SMEs: Awareness of ICT and perceived outcome. Proceedings - 2013 7th International Conference on Complex, Intelligent, and Software Intensive Systems, CISIS 2013,

- Farahani, R. Z., & Elahipanah, M. (2008). A genetic algorithm to optimize the total cost and service level for just-in-time distribution in a supply chain. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 111(2), 229-243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2006.11.028</u>
- Fargnoli, M., Haber, N., & Tronci, M. (2022). Case Study Research to Foster the Optimization of Supply Chain Management through the PSS Approach. Sustainability (Switzerland), 14(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su14042235</u>
- Farouk, I. I. E., Moufad, I., Frichi, Y., Arif, J., & Jawab, F. (2020). Proposing a supply chain collaboration framework for synchronous flow implementation in the automotive industry: A moroccan case study. *Information (Switzerland)*, 11(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/INFO11090431
- Fawcett, S. E., Allred, C., Magnan, G. M., & Ogden, J. (2009). Benchmarking the viability of SCM for entrepreneurial business model design. *Benchmarking: An International Journal.*
- Fawcett, S. E., Magnan, G. M., & Fawcett, A. M. (2010). Mitigating resisting forces to achieve the collaboration-enabled supply chain. *Benchmarking*, 17(2), 269-293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/14635771011036348</u>
- Fawcett, S. E., Magnan, G. M., & McCarter, M. W. (2008). Benefits, barriers, and bridges to effective supply chain management. Supply Chain Management-an International Journal, 13(1), 35-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540810850300</u>
- Fawcett, S. E., Magnan, G. M., & McCarter, M. W. (2008). Supply chain alliances and social dilemmas: Bridging the barriers that impede collaboration. *International Journal of Procurement Management*, 1(3), 318-341. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJPM.2008.017528
- Fawcett, S. E., Ogden, J. A., Magnan, G. M., & Cooper, M. B. (2006). Organizational commitment and governance for supply chain success. *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management*, 36(1), 22-35. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030610642913
- Fawcett, S. E., Waller, M. A., & Fawcett, A. M. (2010). Elaborating a dynamic systems theory to understand collaborative inventory successes and failures. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 21(3), 510-537. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09574091011089835</u>
- Fayezi, S., Zutshi, A., & O'Loughlin, A. (2010). Collaboration and risk mitigation capability in supply chains: A conceptual framework. 24th Annual Australian and New Zealand Academy of Management (ANZAM), 16.
- Fayezi, S., Zutshi, A., & O'Loughlin, A. (2017). Understanding and Development of Supply Chain Agility and Flexibility: A Structured Literature Review. International Journal of Management Reviews, 19(4), 379-407. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12096
- Fazli-Khalaf, M., Mirzazadeh, A., & Pishvaee, M. S. (2017). A robust fuzzy stochastic programming model for the design of a reliable green closed-loop supply chain network. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment*, 23(8), 2119-2149. https://doi.org/10.1080/10807039.2017.1367644
- Florez-Lopez, R. (2007). Strategic supplier selection in the added-value perspective: A CI approach. *Information sciences*, 177(5), 1169-1179.
- Flowers, R. M., Ketcham, R. A., Shuster, D. L., & Farley, K. A. (2009). Apatite (U–Th)/He thermochronometry using a radiation damage accumulation and annealing model. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica acta*, 73(8), 2347-2365.
- Flynn, B. B., & Flynn, E. J. (2005). Synergies between supply chain management and quality management: Emerging implications. International Journal of Production Research, 43(16), 3421-3436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540500118076</u>
- Foo, P.-Y., Lee, V.-H., Tan, G. W.-H., & Ooi, K.-B. (2018). A gateway to realising sustainability performance via green supply chain management practices: A PLS–ANN approach. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 107, 1-14.
- Foss, N. J. (1998). The resource-based perspective: An assessment and diagnosis of problems. Scandinavian journal of management, 14(3), 133-149. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0956-5221(97)00030-4
- Fosso Wamba, S., & Akter, S. (2019). Understanding supply chain analytics capabilities and agility for data-rich environments. International Journal of Operations and Production Management, 39, 887-912. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-01-2019-0025</u>
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (1996). Research methods in the social sciences . NY: St. In: Martin's Press.
- Freeman, L. (2004). The development of social network analysis. A Study in the Sociology of Science, 1(687), 159-167.
- Freemann, R. E. (1984). Strategic management: A stakeholder approach. Boston: Pitman, 25.
- Friday, D., Ryan, S., Sridharan, R., & Collins, D. (2018). Collaborative risk management: a systematic literature review. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 48(3), 231-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijpdlm-01-2017-0035</u>
- Gabler, C. B., Richey, R. G., & Stewart, G. T. (2017). Disaster Resilience Through Public-Private Short-Term Collaboration. Journal of business logistics, 38(2), 130-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jbl.12152</u>
- Gadde, L.-E., & Håkansson, H. (2008). Business relationships and resource combining. The IMP journal, 2(1), 31-45.
- Galbraith, C. S., & Stiles, C. H. (1984). Merger strategies as a response to bilateral market power. Academy of Management Journal, 27(3), 511-524.
- Gall, M. D., Gall, J. P., & Borg, W. R. (2007). Educational research : an introduction (8th ed.). Pearson/Allyn & Bacon.
- Gao, D., Wang, N., Jiang, B., Gao, J., & Yang, Z. (2022). Value of Information Sharing in Online Retail Supply Chain Considering Product Loss. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 69(5), 2155-2172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.2020.3004885</u>
- Gao, S., Qiao, R., Lim, M. K., Li, C., Qu, Y., & Xia, L. (2021). Integrating corporate website information into qualitative assessment for benchmarking green supply chain management practices for the chemical industry. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.127590</u>

- Garg, C. P., & Kashav, V. (2022). Modeling the supply chain finance (SCF) barriers of Indian SMEs using BWM framework. Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 37(1), 128-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-05-2020-0248</u>
- Garvin, D. A. (1988). Managing quality: The strategic and competitive edge. Simon and Schuster.
- Garzon, F. S., Enjolras, M., Camargo, M., & Morel, L. (2019). A green procurement methodology based on Kraljic matrix for suppliers evaluation and selection: A case study from the chemical sector. Supply Chain Forum: An International Journal, Geertz, C. (1973). *The interpretation of cultures* (Vol. 5019). Basic books.
- Geng, R., Mansouri, S. A., Aktas, E., & Yen, D. A. (2017). The role of Guanxi in green supply chain management in Asia's emerging economies: A conceptual framework. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 63, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.01.002
- Gezdur, A., & Bhattacharjya, J. (2017). Digitization in the Oil and Gas Industry: Challenges and Opportunities for Supply Chain Partners. In *Collaboration in a Data-Rich World* (pp. 97-103). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-65151-4_9</u>
- Ghauri, P., Gronhaug, K., & Kristanslund, I. (2005). Research Methods in business research. In: Harlow: Prentice Hall.
- Ghoshal, S., & Moran, P. (1996). Bad for practice: A critique of the transaction cost theory. *Academy of management review*, 21(1), 13-47.
- Giannakis, M., Doran, D., & Chen, S. (2012). The Chinese paradigm of global supplier relationships: Social control, formal interactions and the mediating role of culture. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 41(5), 831-840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2012.06.008
- Gibbs, G. (2007a). Data preparation. Analysing Qualitative Data. London: Sage, 10-22.
- Gibbs, G. (2007b). The nature of qualitative analysis. Analyzing qualitative data, 1-9.
- Gibbs, G. R. (2007a). Getting started with computer-assisted qualitative data analysis. In *Analyzing qualitative data* (pp. 105-124): London: SAGE.
- Gibbs, G. R. (2007b). Thematic coding and categorizing. Analyzing qualitative data, 703, 38-56.
- Gill, J., & Johnson, P. (2010). Research Methods for Managers (Electronic Resource). SAGE Publications.
- Giunipero, L., Handfield, R. B., & Eltantawy, R. (2006). Supply management's evolution: Key skill sets for the supply manager of the future. International Journal of Operations and Production Management, 26(7), 822-844. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443570610672257
- Glasser, B., & Strauss, A. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. Mill Valley. In: CA: Sociology Press.
- Gligor, D., Tan, A., & Nguyen, T. N. T. (2018). The obstacles to cold chain implementation in developing countries: insights from Vietnam. International Journal of Logistics Management, 29(3), 942-958. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-02-2017-0026
- Goffin, K., Lemke, F., & Szwejczewski, M. (2006). An exploratory study of 'close'supplier-manufacturer relationships. *Journal* of operations management, 24(2), 189-209.
- Golicic, S. L., Foggin, J. H., & Mentzer, J. T. (2003). Relationship magnitude and its role in interorganizational relationship structure. *Journal of business logistics*, 24(1), 57-75.
- Gong, Z. (2008). An economic evaluation model of supply chain flexibility. *European journal of operational research*, 184(2), 745-758. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2006.11.013</u>
- Gopal, P. R. C., & Thakkar, J. (2016). Sustainable supply chain practices: an empirical investigation on Indian automobile industry. *Production Planning & Control*, 27(1), 49-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2015.1060368</u>
- Gorski, P. S. (2013). What is critical realism? And why should you care? In: SAGE Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA.
- Gosling, J., Jia, F., Gong, Y., & Brown, S. (2016). The role of supply chain leadership in the learning of sustainable practice: toward an integrated framework. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 137, 1458-1469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.10.029
- Gosling, J., Jia, F., Gong, Y., & Brown, S. (2017). The role of supply chain leadership in the learning of sustainable practice: Toward an integrated framework. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 140, 239-250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.101</u>
- Govindan, K. (2018). Sustainable consumption and production in the food supply chain: A conceptual framework. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 195, 419-431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.03.003</u>
- Govindan, K., Kannan, D., & Haq, A. N. (2010). Analyzing supplier development criteria for an automobile industry. *Industrial Management and Data Systems*, 110(1), 43-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02635571011008399</u>
- Grahovac, J., & Chakravarty, A. (2001). Sharing and lateral transshipment of inventory in a supply chain with expensive lowdemand items. *Management Science*, 47(4), 579-594. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.47.4.579.9826</u>
- Gray, D. (2013). Barriers to online postsecondary education crumble: Enrollment in traditional face-to-face courses declines as enrollment in online courses increases. *Contemporary Issues in Education Research (CIER)*, 6(3), 345-348.
- Green, R., & Keogh, W. (2000). Five years of collaboration in the UK upstream oil and gas industry. *Strategic Change*, 9(4), 249-263.
- Gregory, D. I., & Bumb, B. (2006). Factors affecting supply of fertilizer in Sub-Saharan Africa. Agriculture & Rural Development Department, World Bank.
- Griesinger, D. W. (1990). The human side of economic organization. Academy of management review, 15(3), 478-499.
- Grimm, J. H., Hofstetter, J. S., & Sarkis, J. (2014). Critical factors for sub-supplier management: A sustainable food supply chains perspective. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 152, 159-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.12.011</u>
- Gripsrud, G., Jahre, M., & Persson, G. (2006). Supply chain management-back to the future? *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*.

Grix, J. (2010). Demystifying postgraduate research. A&C Black.

- Grover, V., Lim, J., & Ayyagari, R. (2006). The Dark Side of Information and Market Efficiency in E-Markets. *Decision Sciences*, 37(3), 297-324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5414.2006.00129.x</u>
- Grover, V., & Malhotra, M. K. (2003). Transaction cost framework in operations and supply chain management research: theory and measurement. *Journal of operations management*, 21(4), 457-473.
- Guba, E. G. (1990). The paradigm dialog. Alternative paradigms conference, mar, 1989, indiana u, school of education, san francisco, ca, us,
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1988). Do inquiry paradigms imply inquiry methodologies?. DM Fetterman (Ed.), Qualitative approaches to evaluation in education. In: New York: Praeger.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1988). Naturalistic and rationalistic enquiry. *Educational research, methodology and measurement:* An international handbook, 81-85.
- Gul, P. (2013). Stakeholder Collaboration Modeling for Efficient Supply Chain Management. In. Montreal, Quebec, Canada.
- Gulati, R., Nohria, N., & Zaheer, A. (2000). Strategic networks. Strategic management journal, 21(3), 203-215.
- Gulyani, S. (2001). Effects of poor transportation on lean production and industrial clustering: Evidence from the Indian auto industry. *World Development*, 29(7), 1157-1177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(01)00028-6</u>
- Gunasekaran, A., Patel, C., & Tirtiroglu, E. (2001). Performance measures and metrics Performance measures and metrics in a supply chain environment (International Journal of Operations & Production Management, Issue. <u>http://www.emerald-library.com/ft</u>
- Guojun, J. (2008). Study on 4PL as coordinating and constructing agent for supply chain System A transaction cost theory approach. 5th International Conference Service Systems and Service Management - Exploring Service Dynamics with Science and Innovative Technology, ICSSSM'08,
- Gupta, A., Agarwal, R. K., & Whitman, L. (2001). Supply chain agent decision aid system (SCADAS). Proceeding of the 2001 Winter Simulation Conference (Cat. No. 01CH37304),
- Gupta, A., Maranas, C. D., & McDonald, C. M. (2000). Mid-term supply chain planning under demand uncertainty: customer demand satisfaction and inventory management. *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, 24(12), 2613-2621.
- Gupta, S., & Starr, M. K. (2014). Production and operations management systems (Vol. 1). CRC Press Boca Raton.
- Håkansson, B. E. W. (1987). Adjustable fastening device. In: Google Patents.
- Håkansson, H., & Ford, D. (2002). How should companies interact in business networks? Journal of Business Research, 55(2), 133-139.
- Håkansson, H., & Snehota, I. (1989). No business is an island: The network concept of business strategy. *Scandinavian journal of management*, 5(3), 187-200.
- Halldorsson, A., Kotzab, H., Mikkola, J. H., & Skjøtt-Larsen, T. (2007). Complementary theories to supply chain management. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal.
- Halloran, A., Clement, J., Kornum, N., Bucatariu, C., & Magid, J. (2014). Addressing food waste reduction in Denmark. Food Policy, 49(P1), 294-301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2014.09.005</u>
- Hameri, A.-P., & Paatela, A. (2005). Supply network dynamics as a source of new business. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 98(1), 41-55.
- Hammersley, M. (1992). On feminist methodology. Sociology, 26(2), 187-206.
- Handfield, R. B. (1993). A resource dependence perspective of just-in-time purchasing. *Journal of operations management*, *11*(3), 289-311.
- Handfield, R. B., & Bechtel, C. (2002). The role of trust and relationship structure in improving supply chain responsiveness. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *31*(4), 367-382.
- Handfield, R. B., Monczka, R. M., Giunipero, L. C., & Patterson, J. L. (2011). Sourcing and supply chain management. South-Western Cengage Learning Boston, MA.
- Handfield, R. B., & Pannesi, R. T. (1995). Antecedents of leadtime competitiveness in make-to-order manufacturing firms. *The International Journal of Production Research*, 33(2), 511-537.
- Hanga, K. M., & Kovalchuk, Y. (2019). Machine learning and multi-agent systems in oil and gas industry applications: A survey. *Computer Science Review*, 34, 100191-100191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosrev.2019.08.002</u>
- Happonen, A., & Salmela, E. (2009). Logistics service provider as a business growth raiser of small and medium sized companies. PICMET: Portland International Center for Management of Engineering and Technology, Proceedings,
- Harding, S. G. (1987). Feminism and methodology: Social science issues. Indiana University Press.
- Harland, C., Knight, L., & Cousins, P. (2004). Supply chain relationships. Understanding Supply Chains: Concepts, Critiques & Futures, 209-227.
- Harland, C., Zheng, J., Johnsen, T., & Lamming, R. (2004). A conceptual model for researching the creation and operation of supply networks 1. *British Journal of management*, 15(1), 1-21.
- Harland, C. M. (1996). Supply chain management: relationships, chains and networks. British Journal of management, 7, S63-S80.
- Harland, C. M., & Knight, L. A. (2001). Supply network strategy: role and competence requirements. International Journal of Operations & Production Management.
- Harvey, T., & Gray, J. (1992). The cost of quality. Journal of Performance Management, 5(3), 24-24.
- Hassini, E., Surti, C., & Searcy, C. (2012). A literature review and a case study of sustainable supply chains with a focus on metrics. International Journal of Production Economics, 140(1), 69-82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2012.01.042</u>
- Hatch, M. J. (2018). Organization theory: Modern, symbolic, and postmodern perspectives. Oxford university press.
- Haynes, K. (2012). Reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative organizational research: Core methods and current challenges*, 72-89.
- Hazen, B. T., Skipper, J. B., Ezell, J. D., & Boone, C. A. (2016). Big data and predictive analytics for supply chain sustainability: A theory-driven research agenda. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 101, 592-598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2016.06.030</u>
- Heide, J. B. (1994). Interorganizational governance in marketing channels. Journal of marketing, 58(1), 71-85.
- Heron, J. (1996). Co-operative inquiry: Research into the human condition. Sage.
- Herrera, M., Pérez-Hernández, M., Parlikad, A. K., & Izquierdo, J. (2020). Multi-agent systems and complex networks: Review and applications in systems engineering. *Processes*, 8(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/pr8030312</u>
- Hertz, S., Johansson, J. K., & De Jager, F. (2001). Customer-oriented cost cutting: Process management at Volvo. Supply Chain Management, 6(3), 128-141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540110399174</u>
- Heuer, M., & Joly, M. (2018). Improvement of Sustainability by Vertical Supply Chain Collaboration at Logistics Service Providers:-A Multiple Case Study. In.
- Heydari, J., Govindan, K., & Aslani, A. (2019). Pricing and greening decisions in a three-tier dual channel supply chain. International Journal of Production Economics, 217, 185-196.
- Hillman, A. J., Withers, M. C., & Collins, B. J. (2009). Resource dependence theory: A review. *Journal of Management*, 35(6), 1404-1427.
- Hobbs, J. E., & Young, L. M. (2000). Closer vertical co-ordination in agri-food supply chains: a conceptual framework and some preliminary evidence. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*.
- Hofman, D., & Aronow, S. (2012). The supply chain top 25: Raising the bar. *Logistics management (Highlands Ranch, Colo.:* 2002), 51(9).
- Hollmann, R. L., Luiz Felipe, S., & Antônio Márcio Tavares, T. (2015). Collaborative planning, forecasting and replenishment: a literature review. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 64(7), 971-993. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-03-2014-0039
- Hong, K. S., Chi, Y. P., Chao, L. R., & Tang, J. H. (2003). An integrated system theory of information security management. Information Management & Computer Security.
- Hosoda, T., & Disney, S. M. (2009). Impact of market demand mis-specification on a two-level supply chain. International Journal of Production Economics, 121(2), 739-751. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2009.04.024</u>
- Hosseini, S., Al Khaled, A., & Sarder, M. D. (2016). A general framework for assessing system resilience using Bayesian networks: A case study of sulfuric acid manufacturer. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, 41, 211-227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmsy.2016.09.006
- Hsiao, H. I., Kemp, R. G. M., Van Der Vorst, J. G. A. J., & Omta, S. W. F. (2009). Make-or-buy decisions and levels of logistics outsourcing: An empirical analysis in the food manufacturing industry. *Journal on Chain and Network Science*, 9(2), 105-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.3920/JCNS2009.x165</u>
- Hsiao, H. I., Kemp, R. G. M., van der Vorst, J. G. A. J., & Omta, S. W. F. (2010). A classification of logistic outsourcing levels and their impact on service performance: Evidence from the food processing industry. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 124(1), 75-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2009.09.010</u>
- Huang, Y., Han, W., & Macbeth, D. K. (2020). The complexity of collaboration in supply chain networks. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal.
- Huberman, A. M., & Miles, M. B. (1994). Data management and analysis methods.
- Hudnurkar, M., Jakhar, S., & Rathod, U. (2014). Factors Affecting Collaboration in Supply Chain: A Literature Review. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 133, 189-202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.04.184</u>
- Hughes, J. A., & Sharrock, W. W. (1997). The Philosophy of Social Research.(3rd edn) Harlow. *Essex: Addison Wesley Longman Ltd.*
- Hughes, J. A., & Sharrock, W. W. (2016). The philosophy of social research. Routledge.
- Hui, Z., He-Cheng, W., & Min-Fei, Z. (2015). Partnership management, supply chain collaboration, and firm innovation performance: an empirical examination. *International Journal of Innovation Science*, 7(2), 127-138.
- Hult, G. T. M., Ketchen, J. D. J., & Slater, S. F. (2004). Information Processing, Knowledge Development, and Strategic Supply Chain Performance. *JSTOR*.
- Hussain, M., Khan, M., Ajmal, M., Sheikh, K. S., & Ahamat, A. (2019). A multi-stakeholders view of the barriers of social sustainability in healthcare supply chains: Analytic hierarchy process approach. Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal, 10(2), 290-313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SAMPJ-05-2018-0140</u>
- Hwang, Y.-D., Lin, Y.-C., & Lyu, J. (2008). The performance evaluation of SCOR sourcing process—The case study of Taiwan's TFT-LCD industry. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 115(2), 411-423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2007.09.014
- Iakovou, E., Vlachos, D., & Toka, A. (2012). A Methodological Framework for Integrating Waste Biomass into a Portfolio of Thermal Energy Production Systems. In (pp. 59-82). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-2306-4_3</u>
- Igwe, S. R., Robert, C. P., & God'swill, C. C. (2016). Improving on-time delivery through supply chain collaboration: The experience of brewery firms in South-South, Nigeria. *Journal of Asian Business Strategy*, 6(7), 136-149.
- Imran, M., Habib, M. S., Hussain, A., Ahmed, N., & Al-Ahmari, A. M. (2020). Inventory Routing Problem in Supply Chain of Perishable Products under Cost Uncertainty. *Mathematics*, 8(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/math8030382</u>

- Irani, Z., Kamal, M. M., Sharif, A., & Love, P. E. D. (2017). Enabling sustainable energy futures: factors influencing green supply chain collaboration. *Production Planning & Control*, 28(6-8), 684-705. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2017.1309710</u>
- Ireland, R. D., & Webb, J. W. (2007). A multi-theoretic perspective on trust and power in strategic supply chains. Journal of operations management, 25(2), 482-497.
- Islam, M. A., & van Staden, C. J. (2018). Social movement NGOs and the comprehensiveness of conflict mineral disclosures: evidence from global companies. *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, 65, 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aos.2017.11.002</u>
- Islam, S. (2017). Empty truck trips problem at container terminals: A review of causes, benefits, constraints and solution approaches [Review]. *Business Process Management Journal*, 23(2), 248-274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-06-2015-0086</u>
- Iyer, K. N. S., Srivastava, P., & Srinivasan, M. (2019). Performance implications of lean in supply chains: Exploring the role of learning orientation and relational resources. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 216, 94-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.04.012</u>
- Jadav, K. S., Leua, A. K., & Darji, V. B. (2011). Economic analysis of supply chain of fresh potato in middle Gujarat. Indian Journal of Animal Research, 45(4), 266-274.
- Jaeger, B., Menebo, M. M., & Upadhyay, A. (2021). Identification of environmental supply chain bottlenecks: a case study of the Ethiopian healthcare supply chain. *Management of Environmental Quality*, 32(6), 1233-1254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/meq-12-2019-0277</u>
- Jain, R., Verma, M., & Jaggi, C. K. (2021). Impact on bullwhip effect in food industry due to food delivery apps. OPSEARCH, 58(1), 148-159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12597-020-00469-2</u>
- Jajja, M. S. S., Brah, S. A., Hassan, S. Z., & Kannan, V. R. (2014). An examination of product innovation and buyer-supplier relationship in pakistani firms. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 63(8), 1031-1045. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-02-2013-0023</u>
- Jankowicz, A. D. (2005). Business research projects: Cengage Learning Business Press.
- Jap, S. D. (2001). "Pie sharing" in complex collaboration contexts. Journal of Marketing Research, 38(1), 86-99.
- Jaradat, R., Adams, F., Abutabenjeh, S., & Keating, C. (2017). The complementary perspective of system of systems in collaboration, integration, and logistics: A value-chain based paradigm of supply chain management. Systems, 5(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/systems5040050
- Jayaram, J., Kannan, V. R., & Tan, K. C. (2004). Influence of initiators on supply chain value creation. International Journal of Production Research, 42(20), 4377-4399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540410001716516</u>
- Jayaram, J. K., & Sankaranarayanasamy, K. (2009). Influence of 3PL in tolerance synthesis of an assembly: a successive case study. International Journal of Services, Technology and Management, 12(1), 81-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJSTM.2009.025037</u>
- Jeffcutt, P. (2004). The foundations of management knowledge. Routledge London.
- Jena, S. K., & Ghadge, A. (2021). An integrated supply chain human resource management approach for improved supply chain performance. *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 32(3), 918-941. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-03-2020-0151</u>
- Jermsittiparsert, K., & Pithuk, L. (2019). Exploring the link between adaptability, information technology, agility, mutual trust, and flexibility of a humanitarian supply chain. *International Journal of Innovation, Creativity and Change*, 5(2), 432-447.
- Jia, F., Gong, Y., & Brown, S. (2019). Multi-tier sustainable supply chain management: The role of supply chain leadership. International Journal of Production Economics, 217, 44-63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jipe.2018.07.022
- Jia, Z.-Z., Deschamps, J.-C., & Dupas, R. (2016). A negotiation protocol to improve planning coordination in transport-driven supply chains. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, 38, 13-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmsy.2015.10.003
- Jifroudi, S. A. S., Teimoury, E., & Barzinpour, F. (2020). Designing and planning a rice supply chain: a case study for Iran farmlands. *Decision Science Letters*, 9(2), 163-180. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.dsl.2020.1.001
- Johnson, L. L., & Kelly, S. (2020). Student Predispositions as Predictors of Dissent Behaviors in Supply Chain Courses*. Decision Sciences Journal of Innovative Education, 18(2), 270-290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dsji.12201</u>
- Johnson, P., & Duberley, J. (2003). Reflexivity in management research. Journal of Management studies, 40(5), 1279-1303.
- Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2004). Mixed methods research: A research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational researcher*, 33(7), 14-26.
- Jones, C., Hesterly, W. S., & Borgatti, S. P. (1997). A general theory of network governance: Exchange conditions and social mechanisms. Academy of management review, 22(4), 911-945.
- Jose, S., & Bhaskar, T. (2015). Biomass and biofuels: Advanced biorefineries for sustainable production and distribution. https://doi.org/10.1201/b18398
- Jum'a, L., & Kilani, S. (2022). Adoption enablers of big data analytics in supply chain management practices: the moderating role of innovation culture. Uncertain Supply Chain Management, 10(3), 711-720. <u>https://doi.org/10.5267/j.uscm.2022.5.004</u>
- Kache, F., & Seuring, S. (2014). Linking collaboration and integration to risk and performance in supply chains via a review of literature reviews. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 19(5/6), 664-682. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/scm-12-2013-0478</u>
- Kaim, E., & Mueller, S. (2009). Analysis of supply chain management: Case studies of the market for nursery products in Germany (Vol. 831). https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2009.831.13

- Kalaitzi, D., Matopoulos, A., Bourlakis, M., & Tate, W. (2019). Supply chains under resource pressure: Strategies for improving resource efficiency and competitive advantage. *International Journal of Operations and Production Management*, 39(12), 1323-1354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-02-2019-0137</u>
- Kalaitzi, D., Matopoulos, A., & Clegg, B. (2019). Managing resource dependencies in electric vehicle supply chains: a multi-tier case study. Supply Chain Management, 24(2), 256-270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-03-2018-0116</u>

Kale, Y. (2020). Nigerian Gross Domestic Product Report.

- Kamble, S., Desai, A., & Vartak, P. (2015). Data mining and data warehousing for Supply Chain Management. Proceedings 2015 International Conference on Communication, Information and Computing Technology, ICCICT 2015,
- Kannan, G., Noorul Haq, A., & Devika, M. (2009). Analysis of closed loop supply chain using genetic algorithm and particle swarm optimisation. International Journal of Production Research, 47(5), 1175-1200. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540701543585
- Kanungo, S., & Jain, V. (2007). General Systems Theory: a guiding framework for IS research. AMCIS 2007 Proceedings, 141.
- Kaplan, B., & Maxwell, J. A. (1994). Qualitative Study Methods for Evaluating Computer Information System in Evaluating Health Care Information Systems: Methods and Applications. In: San Francisco Sage: Thousand Oaks.
- Karamshetty, V., De Vries, H., Van Wassenhove, L. N., Dewilde, S., Minnaard, W., Ongarora, D., Abuga, K., & Yadav, P. (2022). Inventory Management Practices in Private Healthcare Facilities in Nairobi County. *Production and Operations Management*, 31(2), 828-846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/poms.13445</u>
- Kärkkäinen, M., Laukkanen, S., Sarpola, S., & Kemppainen, K. (2007). Roles of interfirm information systems in supply chain management. International Journal of Physical Distribution & amp; Logistics Management, 37(4), 264-286. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030710752505
- Kasirim, N. (2021). Nigeria's Petroleum Industry Act: Addressing old problems, creating new ones. In Brookings.
- Kaufman, A., Wood, C. H., & Theyel, G. (2000). Collaboration and technology linkages: a strategic supplier typology. *Strategic management journal*, 21(6), 649-663.
- Kayikci, Y., Kazancoglu, Y., Gozacan-Chase, N., & Lafci, C. (2022). Analyzing the drivers of smart sustainable circular supply chain for sustainable development goals through stakeholder theory. *Business Strategy and the Environment*. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.3087
- Kaynak, H. (2003). The relationship between total quality management practices and their effects on firm performance. *Journal of operations management*, 21(4), 405-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-6963(03)00004-4</u>
- Kazancoglu, I., Sagnak, M., Kumar Mangla, S., & Kazancoglu, Y. (2021). Circular economy and the policy: A framework for improving the corporate environmental management in supply chains. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 30(1), 590-608. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2641</u>
- Kelemen, M. L., & Rumens, N. (2008). An introduction to critical management research. Sage.
- Kembro, J., Selviaridis, K., & Näslund, D. (2014). Theoretical perspectives on information sharing in supply chains: A systematic literature review and conceptual framework. Supply Chain Management, 19, 609-625. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-12-2013-0460</u>
- Kessler, E. H., & Chakrabarti, A. K. (1996). Innovation speed: A conceptual model of context, antecedents, and outcomes. *Academy* of management review, 21(4), 1143-1191.
- Khan, M. I., Khan, S., & Haleem, A. (2022). Analysing barriers towards management of Halal supply chain: a BWM approach. *Journal of Islamic Marketing*, 13(1), 66-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JIMA-09-2018-0178</u>
- Khan, N., Silva, S., & Kandl, T. (2012). A software based solution to facilitate end to end information supply chain visibility. 2012 9th International Conference on Service Systems and Service Management - Proceedings of ICSSSM'12,
- Kim, C. S., Dinwoodie, J., & Seo, Y. J. (2018). Inter-firm cooperation and collaboration in shipper-shipping company relationships for enhancing sustainability. Sustainability (Switzerland), 10(10). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su10103714</u>
- Kim, D. Y. (2013). Relationship between supply chain integration and performance. *Operations Management Research*, 6(1-2), 74-90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12063-013-0079-0
- Kim, D. Y., & Fortado, B. (2021). Outcomes of supply chain dependence asymmetry: a systematic review of the statistical evidence. International Journal of Production Research, 59(19), 5844-5866. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2020.1791999</u>
- Kim, K. K., & Umanath, N. S. (2005). Information transfer in B2B procurement: an empirical analysis and measurement. Information & Management, 42(6), 813-828.
- Kim, M., & Chai, S. (2017a). The impact of supplier innovativeness, information sharing and strategic sourcing on improving supply chain agility: Global supply chain perspective. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 187, 42-52.
- Kim, M., & Chai, S. (2017b). Implementing Environmental Practices for Accomplishing Sustainable Green Supply Chain Management. Sustainability, 9(7), Article 1192. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su9071192</u>
- Kimsey, D. B. (2010). Lean Methodology in Health Care. *AORN Journal*, 92(1), 53-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aorn.2010.01.015</u> Kinnear, T. (1991). Marketing Reaserch, an Applied method. In: USA: Mc Graw–Hill.
- Kitazawa, S., & Sarkis, J. (2000). The relationship between ISO 14001 and continuous source reduction programs. *International*
- Journal of Operations & Production Management, 20(2), 225-248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/01443570010304279</u>
 Klawer, K. (2013). New business model for horizontal supply chain collaboration in the commodity industry.
- Klein, L. L., & Pereira, B. A. D. (2021). Dependence of companies on inter-organisational networks: An analysis beyond the benefits generated [Article]. *International Journal of Networking and Virtual Organisations*, 24(1), 22-39. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJNVO.2021.111615

- Knoppen, D., & Christiaanse, E. (2007). Interorganizational adaptation in supply chains: a behavioral perspective. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*.
- Koçoğlu, İ., İmamoğlu, S. Z., İnce, H., & Keskin, H. (2011). The effect of supply chain integration on information sharing:Enhancing the supply chain performance. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 24, 1630-1649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.09.016</u>
- Kormych, B., Averochkina, T., Savych, O., & Pivtorak, H. (2019). Barriers and drivers of green supply chain management: A case study of Ukraine. *International Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 8(5), 305-313.
- Koronis, E., & Ponis, S. T. (2012). Introducing corporate reputation continuity to support organizational resilience against crises. Journal of Applied Business Research, 28(2), 283-290. <u>https://doi.org/10.19030/jabr.v28i2.6850</u>
- Koskela, L. J., & Howell, G. (2002). The underlying theory of project management is obsolete. Proceedings of the PMI research conference,
- Kotzab, H., Teller, C., Grant, D. B., & Sparks, L. (2011). Antecedents for the adoption and execution of supply chain management. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 16(4), 231-245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/1359854111139053</u>
- Kotzé, T., Botes, A., & Niemann, W. (2017). Buyer-supplier collaboration and supply chain resilience: A case study in the petrochemical industry. South African Journal of Industrial Engineering, 28(4), 183-199.
- Kowal, S., & O'connell, D. C. (2004). 5.9 the transcription of conversations. A Companion to, 248-248.
- Kraljic, P. (1983). Purchasing Must Become Supply Management. In: Harvard Busi-ness Review 61 (1983) 5. In: S.
- Krolikowski, M., & Yuan, X. (2017). Friend or foe: Customer-supplier relationships and innovation. *Journal of Business Research*, 78, 53-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.04.023</u>
- Kuei, C. H., Madu, C. N., Chow, W. S., & Chen, Y. (2015). Determinants and associated performance improvement of green supply chain management in China. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 95, 163-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.02.030</u>
- Kumar, G., Banerjee, R. N., Meena, P. L., & Ganguly, K. K. (2017). Joint Planning and Problem Solving Roles in Supply Chain Collaboration. *IIMB Management Review*, 29(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iimb.2017.03.006</u>
- Kumar, S., Mitra, B., & Kumar, N. (2019). Application of GRA method for multi-objective optimization of roller burnishing process parameters using a carbide tool on high carbon steel (AISI-1040). *Grey Systems: Theory and Application*.
- Kumar, S., Raut, R. D., Nayal, K., Kraus, S., Yadav, V. S., & Narkhede, B. E. (2021). To identify industry 4.0 and circular economy adoption barriers in the agriculture supply chain by using ISM-ANP. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 293, 126023-126023.
- Kumar, S. A., & Suresh, N. (2006). Production and operations management. New Age International.
- Kumar, V., Chibuzo, E. N., Garza-Reyes, J. A., Kumari, A., Rocha-Lona, L., & Lopez-Torres, G. C. (2017). The Impact of Supply Chain Integration on Performance: Evidence from the UK Food Sector. *Procedia Manufacturing*, 11, 814-821. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2017.07.183
- Kummer, S., Herold, D. M., Dobrovnik, M., Mikl, J., & Schäfer, N. (2020). A systematic review of blockchain literature in logistics and supply chain management: Identifying research questions and future directions. *Future Internet*, 12(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/fi12030060
- Kuteyi, D., & Winkler, H. (2022). Logistics Challenges in Sub-Saharan Africa and Opportunities for Digitalization. *Sustainability* (*Switzerland*), 14(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/su14042399
- Kwofie, T. E., Aigbavboa, C. O., & Matsane, Z. S. S. (2019). Key drivers of effective collaborative working in construction supply chain in South Africa. *International Journal of Construction Supply Chain Management*, 9(2), 81-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.14424/ijcscm902019-81-93</u>
- Kwon, O., Im, G., & Lee, K. (2007). MACE-SCM: A multi-agent and case-based reasoning collaboration mechanism for supply chain management under supply and demand uncertainties. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 33(3), 690-705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2006.06.015
- Laaksonen, T., Jarimo, T., & Kulmala, H. I. (2009). Cooperative strategies in customer-supplier relationships: The role of interfirm trust. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 120(1), 79-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jipe.2008.07.029
- Lai, P.-L., Su, D.-T., Tai, H.-H., & Yang, C.-C. (2020). The impact of collaborative decision-making on logistics service performance for container shipping services. *Maritime Business Review*.
- Lakshminarasimha, A. (2017). A Concept Note on the Relationship Between Empowerment, Collaboration and Selected Outcomes in a Supply Chain. *IUP Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 14(3).
- Lambert, D. M., & Cooper, M. C. (2000). Issues in Supply Chain Management. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 29(1), 65-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0019-8501(99)00113-3
- Lambert, D. M., Emmelhainz, M. A., & Gardner, J. T. (1999). Building successful logistics partnerships. Journal of business logistics, 20(1), 165-165.
- Lambin, E. F., Gibbs, H. K., Heilmayr, R., Carlson, K. M., Fleck, L. C., Garrett, R. D., le Polain de Waroux, Y., McDermott, C. L., McLaughlin, D., Newton, P., Nolte, C., Pacheco, P., Rausch, L. L., Streck, C., Thorlakson, T., & Walker, N. F. (2018). The role of supply-chain initiatives in reducing deforestation. *Nature Climate Change*, 8(2), 109-116. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-017-0061-1
- Lamming, R. (1996). Squaring lean supply with supply chain management. International Journal of Operations & Production Management.
- Lamming, R., Johnsen, T., Zheng, J., & Harland, C. (2000). An initial classification of supply networks. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*.

- Langeveld, J. W. A., Kalf, R., & Elbersen, H. W. (2010). Bioenergy production chain development in the Netherlands: Key factors for success. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*, 4(5), 484-493. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.240</u>
- Lapadat, J. C., & Lindsay, A. C. (1999). Transcription in research and practice: From standardization of technique to interpretive positionings. *Qualitative inquiry*, 5(1), 64-86.
- Large, R. O., Kramer, N., & Hartmann, R. K. (2011). Customer-specific adaptation by providers and their perception of 3PLrelationship success. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 41(9), 822-838. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600031111175807
- Lee, E., Han, S., Nam, H. U., & Rho, J. J. (2013). Building capabilities via suppliers' effective management of relationships. Industrial Marketing Management, 42(5), 805-813. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2013.01.003
- Lee, G. L. (1995). The 'pros' and 'cons' of total quality management for smaller firms in manufacturing: Some experiences down the supply chain. *Total Quality Management*, 6(4), 427-434. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09544129550035350</u>
- Lee, H. L., So, K. C., & Tang, C. S. (2000). The Value of Information Sharing in a Two-Level Supply Chain. *Management Science*, 46(5), 626-643. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.46.5.626.12047</u>
- Lee, H. L., & Whang, S. (2001). Winning the last mile of e-commerce. MIT Sloan management review, 42(4), 54-62.
- Léger, P. M., Cassivi, L., Hadaya, P., & Caya, O. (2006). Safeguarding mechanisms in a supply chain network. Industrial Management & Camp; Data Systems, 106(6), 759-777. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02635570610671461</u>
- Leihn, P. (2003). Connecting the design chain online. Civil Engineers Australia, 75(5), 46-46.
- Leising, E., Quist, J., & Bocken, N. (2018). Circular Economy in the building sector: Three cases and a collaboration tool. *Journal* of Cleaner Production, 176, 976-989. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.12.010</u>
- Leising, E. J. (2016). Circular Supply Chain Collaboration In the Built Environment.
- Lejeune, M. A., & Yakova, N. (2005). On characterizing the 4 C's in supply chain management. *Journal of operations management*, 23(1), 81-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2004.09.004</u>
- Li, C. (2013). Controlling the bullwhip effect in a supply chain system with constrained information flows. *Applied Mathematical Modelling*, *37*(4), 1897-1909. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apm.2012.04.020
- Li, D. C., & Dai, W. L. (2009). Determining the optimal collaborative benchmarks in a supply chain [Article]. *International Journal* of Production Research, 47(16), 4457-4471. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540801918588</u>
- Li, F., Dong, P., & Hu, T. (2005). Preliminary study on the model of supply chain collaboration management. *Proceedings of 2005 Chinese Control and Decision Conference, Vols 1 and 2*, 1766-1769. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000244064500455
- Li, L. (2012). Effects of enterprise technology on supply chain collaboration: analysis of China-linked supply chain. *Enterprise* Information Systems, 6(1), 55-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17517575.2011.639904</u>
- Li, S., & Lin, B. (2006). Accessing information sharing and information quality in supply chain management. *Decision support* systems, 42(3), 1641-1656.
- Liao, S. H., Hu, D. C., & Shih, Y. S. (2021). Supply chain collaboration and innovation capability: the moderated mediating role of quality management. *Total Quality Management and Business Excellence*, 32(3-4), 298-316. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2018.1552515</u>
- Lin, C. Y., & Ho, Y. H. (2009). RFID technology adoption and supply chain performance: An empirical study in China's logistics industry. *Supply Chain Management*, *14*(5), 369-378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540910980288</u>
- Lin, H. F. (2014). Understanding the determinants of electronic supply chain management system adoption: Using the technologyorganization-environment framework. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 86, 80-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2013.09.001</u>
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (2000). The only generalization is: There is no generalization. Case study method, 27, 44-44.
- Linder, S., & Foss, N. J. (2013). Agency theory. Available at SSRN 2255895.
- Liu, J., Hu, H., Tong, X., & Zhu, Q. (2020). Behavioral and technical perspectives of green supply chain management practices: Empirical evidence from an emerging market. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2020.102013</u>
- Liu, P., Hendalianpour, A., Hafshejani, M. F., Yaghoobi, F., & Feylizadeh, M. (2022). System dynamics model: developing model for supplier selection with a focus on CSR criteria. *Complex & Intelligent Systems*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40747-022-00788-5</u>
- Liu, W., Heugens, P. P. M. A. R., Wijen, F., & van Essen, M. (2022). Chinese Management Studies: A Matched-Samples Meta-Analysis and Focused Review of Indigenous Theories. *Journal of Management*, 48(6), 1778-1828. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/01492063211073067</u>
- Liu, W., Yan, X., Si, C., Xie, D., & Wang, J. (2020). Effect of buyer-supplier supply chain strategic collaboration on operating performance: evidence from Chinese companies. *Supply Chain Management*, 25(6), 823-839. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-12-2019-0430
- Lockamy, A., & McCormack, K. (2004). Linking SCOR planning practices to supply chain performance: An exploratory study. International Journal of Operations & Production Management.
- Lockström, M., Schadel, J., Moser, R., & Harrison, N. J. (2010). Successful supplier integration in the Chinese automotive industry: A theoretical framework. *International Journal of Integrated Supply Management*, 5(3), 260-283. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJISM.2010.033978
- Logie, D. E., & Harding, R. (2005). An evaluation of a morphine public health programme for cancer and AIDS pain relief in Sub-Saharan Africa. *BMC Public Health*, 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-5-82</u>

- Loury-Okoumba, W. V., & Mafini, C. (2021). Supply chain management antecedents of performance in small to medium scale enterprises. South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences, 24(1), Article a3661. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajems.v24i1.3661
- Lu, H. E., Potter, A., Sanchez Rodrigues, V., & Walker, H. (2018). Exploring sustainable supply chain management: a social network perspective. Supply Chain Management, 23(4), 257-277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-11-2016-0408</u>
- Lummus, R. R., Duclos, L. K., & Vokurka, R. J. (2003). Supply chain flexibility: Building a new model. *Global Journal of Flexible* Systems Management, 4(4), 1-13.
- Lummus, R. R., & Vokurka, R. J. (1999). Defining supply chain management: a historical perspective and practical guidelines. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 99(1), 11-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/02635579910243851</u>
- Luo, Z., Gunasekaran, A., Dubey, R., Childe, S. J., & Papadopoulos, T. (2017). Antecedents of low carbon emissions supply chains. International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management, 9(5), 707-727. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCCSM-09-2016-0142</u>
- Luthra, S., Kumar, V., Kumar, S., & Haleem, A. (2011). Barriers to implement green supply chain management in automobile industry using interpretive structural modeling technique-an Indian perspective. *Journal of Industrial Engineering and Management*, 4(2), 231-257. <u>https://doi.org/10.3926/jiem.2011.v4n2.p231-257</u>
- Luthra, S., Mangla, S. K., Xu, L., & Diabat, A. (2016). Using AHP to evaluate barriers in adopting sustainable consumption and production initiatives in a supply chain. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 181, 342-349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2016.04.001
- Lynch, M. (2000). Against reflexivity as an academic virtue and source of privileged knowledge. *Theory, Culture & Society, 17*(3), 26-54.
- Lyons, A. C., Mondragon, A. E. C., Piller, F., & Poler, R. (2012). Customer-driven supply chains: From glass pipelines to open innovation networks. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Ma, S., Hao, L., & Aloysius, J. A. (2021). Women are an Advantage in Supply Chain Collaboration and Efficiency. Production and Operations Management, 30(5), 1427-1441. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/poms.13329</u>
- Machalek, R., & Martin, M. W. (2015). Sociobiology and Sociology: A new synthesis.
- MacLean, L. M., Meyer, M., & Estable, A. (2004). Improving accuracy of transcripts in qualitative research. *Qualitative health* research, 14(1), 113-123.
- Madadi, R., Torres, I. M., & Zúñiga, M. Á. (2022). Is Love Extendable to Relationship Marketing and Supply Chain Management? Services Marketing Quarterly, 43(3), 374-388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332969.2021.1993561</u>
- Madill, A., Jordan, A., & Shirley, C. (2000). Objectivity and reliability in qualitative analysis: Realist, contextualist and radical constructionist epistemologies. *British journal of psychology*, *91*(1), 1-20.
- majorwavesen. (2019). AA RANO: THE MAKING OF A DOWNSTREAM GIANT Majorwaves Energy Report. In majorwavesen Energy Report.
- Majumdar, A., Ali, S. M., Agrawal, R., & Srivastava, S. (2022). A triple helix framework for strategy development in circular textile and clothing supply chain: an Indian perspective. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.132954</u>
- Malatesta, D., & Smith, C. (2014). Designing contracts for complex services. Public Administration, 92(3), 531-548.
- Malatesta, D., & Smith, C. R. (2014). Lessons from and nonprofit management. Public Administr.
- Malhotra, A., Gosain, S., & Sawy, O. A. E. (2005). Absorptive capacity configurations in supply chains: Gearing for partnerenabled market knowledge creation. *MIS Quarterly*, 145-187.
- Manders, J. H. M., Caniëls, M. C. J., & Ghijsen, P. W. T. (2017). Supply chain flexibility: A systematic literature review & amp; identification of directions for future research. *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 28(4), 964-1026. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-07-2016-0176
- Mangla, S. K., Kazancoglu, Y., Ekinci, E., Liu, M., Özbiltekin, M., & Sezer, M. D. (2021). Using system dynamics to analyze the societal impacts of blockchain technology in milk supply chainsrefer. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2021.102289</u>
- Mansoor, Y. (2013). A case study on exploring the effects of sales and distribution. *International Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 2(1), 87-95.
- Manthou, V., Vlachopoulou, M., & Folinas, D. (2004). Virtual e-Chain (VeC) model for supply chain collaboration. International Journal of Production Economics, 87(3), 241-250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0925-5273(03)00218-4</u>
- Marbouh, D., Abbasi, T., Maasmi, F., Omar, I. A., Debe, M. S., Salah, K., Jayaraman, R., & Ellahham, S. (2020). Blockchain for COVID-19: Review, Opportunities, and a Trusted Tracking System. *Arabian Journal for Science and Engineering*, 45(12), 9895-9911. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13369-020-04950-4</u>
- Mason, R., Lalwani, C., & Boughton, R. (2007). Combining vertical and horizontal collaboration for transport optimisation. *Supply Chain Management*, *12*(3), 187-199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540710742509</u>
- Matthews, R., & Ross, E. (2010). Research methods: A practical guide for the social sciences. Pearson Education Ltd.
- McFarland, R. G., Bloodgood, J. M., & Payan, J. M. (2008). Supply chain contagion. *Journal of marketing*, 72(2), 63-79. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.72.2.63
- McMullen, J. (2020). Business trends: Managing risk and uncertainty: The importance of optimizing your value chain. *Hydrocarbon Processing*.

- Mehdiyeva, I., Kerimli, V., Gafarov, N., Sultanova, N., Heydarova, K., & Taghiyev, A. (2020). Barriers and drivers of the implementation and management of green agri-food supply chains in Azerbaijan. *International Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 9(4), 527-535.
- Melo, M. T., Nickel, S., & Saldanha-Da-Gama, F. (2009). Facility location and supply chain management–A review. *European journal of operational research*, 196(2), 401-412.
- Mentzer, J. T., DeWitt, W., Keebler, J. S., Min, S., Nix, N. W., Smith, C. D., & Zacharia, Z. G. (2001). DEFINING SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT. Journal of business logistics, 22(2), 1-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2158-1592.2001.tb00001.x</u>
- Mentzer, J. T., Soonhong, M., & Zacharia, Z. G. (2000). The Nature of Interfirm Partnering in Supply Chain Management. *Journal* of retailing, 549-568.
- Mentzer, J. T., Stank, T. P., & Esper, T. L. (2008). Supply chain management and its relationship to logistics, marketing, production, and operations management. *Journal of business logistics*, 29(1), 31-46.
- Michalakoudis, I. (2019). Enhancing Collaborative Practice In SMEs Through Functional Analysis
- Midttun, A., Dirdal, T., Gautesen, K., Omland, T., & Wenstøp, S. (2007). Integrating corporate social responsibility and other strategic foci in a distributed production system: A transaction cost perspective on the North Sea offshore petroleum industry. *Corporate Governance*, 7(2), 194-208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/14720700710739822</u>
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook. sage.
- Miles, R. D., Butcher, G. D., Henry, P. R., & Littell, R. C. (2006). Effect of antibiotic growth promoters on broiler performance, intestinal growth parameters, and quantitative morphology. *Poultry Science*, 85(3), 476-485.
- Miles, R. E., & Snow, C. C. (2007). Organization theory and supply chain management: An evolving research perspective. *Journal* of operations management, 25(2), 459-463.
- Min, H. (2015). The essentials of supply chain management: New business concepts and applications. FT Press.
- Min, S., Kim, S. K., & Chen, H. (2008). DEVELOPING SOCIAL IDENTITY AND SOCIAL CAPITAL FOR SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT. Journal of business logistics, 29(1), 283-304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2158-1592.2008.tb00079.x</u>
- Min, S., Roath, A. S., Daugherty, P. J., Genchev, S. E., Chen, H., Arndt, A. D., & Glenn Richey, R. (2005). Supply chain collaboration: what's happening? *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 16(2), 237-256. https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090510634539
- Miranda, P. A., & Garrido, R. A. (2004). Incorporating inventory control decisions into a strategic distribution network design model with stochastic demand. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 40(3), 183-207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2003.08.006
- Miri-Lavassani, K., Movahedi, B., & Kumar, V. (2009). Developments in theories of supply chain management: The case of B2B electronic marketplace adoption. *International Journal of Knowledge, Culture and Change Management*, 9(6), 85-97. https://doi.org/10.18848/1447-9524/cgp/v09i06/49753
- Mirzabeiki, V., He, Q., & Sarpong, D. (2021). Sustainability-driven co-opetition in supply chains as strategic capabilities: drivers, facilitators, and barriers. *International Journal of Production Research*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2021.1988749</u>
- Moberg, C. R., & Speh, T. W. (2003). Evaluating the relationship between questionable business practices and the strength of supply chain relationships. *Journal of business logistics*, 24(2), 1-19.
- Mohammed, M. (2018). AA RANO NIGERIA LIMITED SWOT ANALYSIS. In Linkedin.
- Mohr, J., & Nevin, J. R. (1990). Communication strategies in marketing channels: A theoretical perspective. *Journal of marketing*, 54(4), 36-51.
- Mokheseng, M., Horn, G. S., & Klopper, A. G. (2017). Supply chain solutions to improve the distribution of antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) to clinics in rural areas: A case study of the QwaQwa district. *Health SA Gesondheid*, 22, 93-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hsag.2016.11.001
- Mokhtar, A. R. M., Genovese, A., Brint, A., & Kumar, N. (2019). Supply chain leadership: A systematic literature review and a research agenda. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 216, 255-273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.04.001</u>
- Moktadir, M. A., Ali, S. M., Mangla, S. K., Sharmy, T. A., Luthra, S., Mishra, N., & Garza-Reyes, J. A. (2018). Decision modeling of risks in pharmaceutical supply chains. *Industrial Management and Data Systems*, 118(7), 1388-1412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-10-2017-0465</u>
- Moktadir, M. A., Ali, S. M., Rajesh, R., & Paul, S. K. (2018). Modeling the interrelationships among barriers to sustainable supply chain management in leather industry. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 181, 631-651. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.01.245
- Monczka, R., Peterson, K., Handfield, R., & Ragatz, G. (1998). Determinants of successful vs. non-strategic supplier alliances. Decis Sci, 29, 553-577.
- Monczka, R., Trent, R., & Handfield, R. (1998). Purchasing and Supply Chain Management, Cincinnati, OH: South. In: Western College Publishing.
- Monczka, R. M., Handfield, R. B., Giunipero, L. C., & Patterson, J. L. (2009). Sourcing and supply chain management. *New Delphi, South Western*.
- Monczka, R. M., Handfield, R. B., Giunipero, L. C., & Patterson, J. L. (2015). Purchasing and supply chain management. Cengage Learning.
- Monczka, R. M., Handfield, R. B., Giunipero, L. C., Patterson, J. L., & Waters, D. (2009). Purchasing and Supply Chain Management", South Western Cengage Learning. *ISBN-13*, 978-978.

- Monczka, R. M., Petersen, K. J., Handfield, R. B., & Ragatz, G. L. (1998). Success factors in strategic supplier alliances: the buying company perspective. *Decision Sciences*, 29(3), 553-577.
- Montgomery, N., Squires, G., & Syed, I. (2018). Disruptive potential of real estate crowdfunding in the real estate project finance industry: A literature review. *Property Management*.
- Montoya-Torres, J. R., Muñoz-Villamizar, A., & Vega-Mejía, C. A. (2016). On the impact of collaborative strategies for goods delivery in city logistics. *Production Planning & Control*, 27(6), 443-455.
- Montoya-Torres, J. R., & Ortiz-Vargas, D. A. (2014). Collaboration and information sharing in dyadic supply chains: A literature review over the period 2000–2012. *Estudios Gerenciales*, *30*(133), 343-354.
- Moon, C., Kim, J., & Hur, S. (2002). Integrated process planning and scheduling with minimizing total tardiness in multi-plants supply chain. *Computers and Industrial Engineering*, 43(1-2), 331-349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-8352(02)00078-5</u>
- Moons, K., Waeyenbergh, G., Pintelon, L., Timmermans, P., & De Ridder, D. (2019). Performance indicator selection for operating room supply chains: An application of ANP. *Operations Research for Health Care*, 23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orhc.2019.100229</u>
- Morgan, G., & Smircich, L. (1980). The case for qualitative research. Academy of management review, 5(4), 491-500.
- Morris, S. J., Davies, W. P., & Baines, R. N. (2013). Challenges and opportunities for increasing competitiveness of vegetable production in Cambodia. In Acta Horticulturae (Vol. 1006, pp. 253-260).
- Movahedipour, M., Zeng, J., Yang, M., & Wu, X. (2017). An ISM approach for the barrier analysis in implementing sustainable supply chain management: An empirical study. *Management Decision*, 55(8), 1824-1850. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-12-2016-0898</u>
- Muckstadt, J. A., Murray, D. H., Rappold, J. A., & Collins, D. E. (2001). Guidelines for collaborative supply chain system design and operation. *Information systems frontiers*, *3*(4), 427-453.
- Muduli, K. K., Luthra, S., Kumar Mangla, S., Jabbour, C. J. C., Aich, S., & de Guimarães, J. C. F. (2020). Environmental management and the "soft side" of organisations: Discovering the most relevant behavioural factors in green supply chains. Business Strategy and the Environment, 29(4), 1647-1665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2459</u>
- Munim, Z. H., Balasubramaniyan, S., Kouhizadeh, M., & Ullah Ibne Hossain, N. (2022). Assessing blockchain technology adoption in the Norwegian oil and gas industry using Bayesian Best Worst Method. *Journal of Industrial Information Integration*, 28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jii.2022.100346</u>
- Muñoz-Villamizar, A., Montoya-Torres, J. R., & Faulin, J. (2017). Impact of the use of electric vehicles in collaborative urban transport networks: A case study. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, *50*, 40-54.
- Murphy, H., Edwards, E., & Collacott, B. (2020). Company and supply chain labour rights guidance Engaging workforces and working collaboratively. Society of Petroleum Engineers - SPE International Conference and Exhibition on Health, Safety, Environment, and Sustainability 2020, HSE and Sustainability 2020,
- Muskhsin, M., & Peranginangin, J. (2021). Improving Operational Performance Through Supply Chain Collaboration. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/350808736
- Narasimhan, R., & Das, A. (1999). An empirical investigation of the contribution of strategic sourcing to manufacturing flexibilities and performance. *Decision Sciences*, 30(3), 683-718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5915.1999.tb00903.x</u>
- Narwane, V. S., Yadav, V. S., Raut, R. D., Narkhede, B. E., & Gardas, B. B. (2021). Sustainable development challenges of the biofuel industry in India based on integrated MCDM approach. *Renewable Energy*, 164, 298-309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2020.09.077
- Naspetti, S., Lampkin, N., Nicolas, P., Stolze, M. and Zanoli, R., 2011. Organic supply chain collaboration: A case study in eight EU countries. *Journal of Food Products Marketing*, *17*(2-3), pp.141-162.
- Neilson, J., Pritchard, B., Fold, N., & Dwiartama, A. (2018). Lead Firms in the Cocoa–Chocolate Global Production Network: An Assessment of the Deductive Capabilities of GPN 2.0. *Economic Geography*, 94(4), 400-424. https://doi.org/10.1080/00130095.2018.1426989
- Nguyen, H., Onofrei, G., & Truong, D. (2021). Supply chain communication and cultural compatibility: performance implications in the global manufacturing industry. *Business Process Management Journal*, 27(1), 253-274. https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-08-2019-0314
- Nienhüser, W. (2008). Resource dependence theory-How well does it explain behavior of organizations? management revue, 9-32.
- Niglas, K. (2010). The multidimensional model of research methodology. SAGE handbook of mixed methods in social & behavioral research, 215-236.
- Nimmy, J. S., Chilkapure, A., & Pillai, V. M. (2019). Literature review on supply chain collaboration: comparison of various collaborative techniques. *Journal of Advances in Management Research*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jamr-10-2018-0087</u>
- Ning, Z., & Baowen, S. (2008). Key factors for the selection of logistics service provider in a closed-loop supply chain. 2008 International Conference on Wireless Communications, Networking and Mobile Computing, WiCOM 2008,
- Njume, C. A., Ngosong, C., Krah, C. Y., & Mardjan, S. (2020). Tomato food value chain: Managing postharvest losses in Cameroon. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science,
- NNPC. (2022). NNPC LTD | Home. In NNPCgroup.

Nnpc, N. N. P. C. (2019a). Major Refineries In Nigeria. https://www.nnpcgroup.com/Refining/Pages/PHRC.aspx

Nnpc, N. N. P. C. (2019b). Nigeria National Petroleum Corporation (NNPC). https://www.nnpcgroup.com/Refining/Pages/PHRC.aspx

- Nooteboom, B., Berger, H., & Noorderhaven, N. G. (1997). Effects of trust and governance on relational risk. Academy of Management Journal, 40(2), 308-338.
- Nooteboom, B., Van Haverbeke, W., Duysters, G., Gilsing, V., & van den Oord, A. (2007). Optimal cognitive distance and absorptive capacity. *Research Policy*, *36*(7), 1016-1034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.04.003</u>
- Norman, K. D., & Yvonna, S. L. (1994). Handbook of qualitative research. In Thousand Oaks : Sage Publications.
- Nwokeji, G. U. (2007). The NNPC and the Development of the Nigerian Oil and Gas Industry: History, Strategy and Current Directions. *The James A. Baker III Institute for Public Policy. Rice University*, 7-19.
- Nyaga, G. N., Whipple, J. M., & Lynch, D. F. (2010). Examining supply chain relationships: do buyer and supplier perspectives on collaborative relationships differ? *Journal of operations management*, 28(2), 101-114.
- Obeth, E., & Dunne, T. (2008). The comparative performance of banana supply chains in East Kalimantan, Indonesia (Vol. 794). https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2008.794.34
- Oguche, H. (2018). Managing Supply Chain Disruptions in Nigerian Seaport Companies. In. Walden.
- Ogunmola, O. S., & Arogundade, K. K. (2019). Effects of Supply Chain Design and Collaboration on Customers' Satisfaction of Instant Noodles in Ekiti State, Nigeria. *Logistics-Basel*, *3*(1), Article 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/logistics3010002</u>
- Oh, S., Moon, H. C., & Zhong, Y. (2020). Contingency Management and Supply Chain Performance in Korea: A COVID-19 Pandemic Approach. Sustainability, 12(23), Article 9823. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12239823</u>
- Ojha, R., Ghadge, A., Tiwari, M. K., & Bititci, U. S. (2018). Bayesian network modelling for supply chain risk propagation. International Journal of Production Research, 56(17), 5795-5819. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1467059</u>
- Okdinawati, L., Simatupang, T. M., & Sunitiyoso, Y. (2015). Modelling collaborative transportation management: Current state and opportunities for future research. *Journal of Operations and Supply Chain Management (JOSCM)*, 8(2), 96-119.
- Olanrewaju, A., Yeow, S., & Lim, L. (2016). Rethinking Affordable Housing Delivery: An Analytical Insight. *MATEC Web of Conferences*, 47, 04002-04002. https://doi.org/10.1051/matecconf/20164704002
- Olugu, E. U., & Wong, K. Y. (2012). An expert fuzzy rule-based system for closed-loop supply chain performance assessment in the automotive industry. *Expert Systems with Applications*, *39*(1), 375-384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2011.07.026
- Omta, S., Trienekens, J., & Beers, G. (2002). A research and management agenda for chain and network science. *Journal on Chain and Network Science*, 2(1), 1-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3920/JCNS2002.x013</u>
- Omta, S. W. F., Trienekens, J. H., & Beers, G. (2001). Chain and network science: A research framework. *Journal on Chain and Network Science*, 1(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.3920/JCNS2001.x001
- Oppong, S. (2014). A critique of the philosophical underpinnings of mainstream social science research. *Academicus International Scientific Journal*(10), 242-254.
- Orriens, B., & Yang, J. (2006). A rule driven approach for developing adaptive service oriented business collaboration. 2006 IEEE International Conference on Services Computing (SCC'06),
- Osuala, U. S. (2013). The sublimeness of sleaze in the NNPC in the fourth republic, 1999–2007: A historical conspectus. *Evolution*, 2.
- Oumaima, B., Abdellah, E. B., & Ahmed, E. B. (2019). Modelization of the spare parts supply performance by petri nets. International Colloquium on Logistics and Supply Chain Management, LOGISTIQUA 2019,
- Oyedijo, A., Francois Koukpaki, A. S., Kusi-Sarpong, S., Alfarsi, F., & Yang, Y. (2021). Restraining forces and drivers of supply chain collaboration: evidence from an emerging market. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, aheadof-print(ahead-of-print). <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-06-2020-0263</u>
- Paillin, D. B., Tupan, J. M., Paillin, J. B., Latuny, W., & Lawalata, V. O. (2022). Risk Assessment And Risk Mitigation In A Sustainable Tuna Supply Chain. Acta Logistica, 9(1), 51-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v9i1.270</u>
- Palmieri, A., Pomponi, F., & Russo, A. (2019). A triple-win scenario for horizontal collaboration in logistics: Determining enabling and key success factors. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 28(6), 1166-1178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2309</u>
- Panahifar, F., Byrne, P., & Heavey, C. (2015). A hybrid approach to the study of CPFR implementation enablers. *Production Planning & Control*, 26(13), 1090-1109.
- Panahifar, F., Byrne, P. J., & Heavey, C. (2014). ISM analysis of CPFR implementation barriers. International Journal of Production Research, 52(18), 5255-5272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2014.886789</u>
- Panahifar, F., Heavey, C., Byrne, P. J., & Fazlollahtabar, H. (2015). A framework for Collaborative Planning, Forecasting and Replenishment (CPFR). Journal of Enterprise Information Management, 28(6), 838-871. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jeim-09-2014-0092</u>
- Park, J., Sarkis, J., & Wu, Z. (2010). Creating integrated business and environmental value within the context of China's circular economy and ecological modernization. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 18(15), 1494-1501. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2010.06.001
- Partington, D. (2000). Building grounded theories of management action. British Journal of management, 11(2), 91-102.
- Parung, J., & Bititci, U. S. (2006). A conceptual metric for managing collaborative networks. *Journal of Modelling in Management*. Patel, E., Nathan, O., & Moses, O. (2018). The role of supply chain process in the goal attainment among United Nations Missions in conflict situations: A case study of United Nations Mission in South Sudan (UNMISS). *International Journal of Supply*
 - Chain Management, 7(6), 82-91.

Patton, M. Q. (2008). Utilization-focused evaluation. Sage publications.

Paulraj, A., Lado, A. A., & Chen, I. J. (2008). Inter-organizational communication as a relational competency: Antecedents and performance outcomes in collaborative buyer–supplier relationships. *Journal of operations management*, 26(1), 45-64.

- Peck, H., & Jüttner, U. (2000). Strategy and relationships: Defining the interface in supply chain contexts. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*.
- Perrin, B., & Pervan, G. (2005). IT outsourcing relationship management and performance measurement system effectiveness. ACIS 2005 Proceedings - 16th Australasian Conference on Information Systems,
- Perry, J. (2001). Reference and reflexivity. CSLI Stanford.
- Perry, P. (2012). Exploring the influence of national cultural context on CSR implementation. Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management, 16(2), 141-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13612021211222806</u>
- Perry, P., & Towers, N. (2013). Conceptual framework development: CSR implementation in fashion supply chains. *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management*, 43(5), 478-501. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-03-2012-0107</u>
- Petersen, K. J., Ragatz, G. L., & Monczka, R. M. (2005). An examination of collaborative planning effectiveness and supply chain performance. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, *41*(2), 14-25.
- Petersson, E., & Baur, K. (2018). Impacts of blockchain technology on supply chain collaboration: A study on the use of blockchain technology in supply chains and how it influences supply chain collaboration. In.
- Pfeffer, J. (1987). A resource dependence perspective on intercorporate relations. MS Mizruchi, M. Schwartz, eds. Intercorporate Relations: The Structural Analysis of Business. In: Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Pfeffer, J., & Salancik, G. R. (1978). A resource dependence perspective. In *Intercorporate relations. The structural analysis of business*. Cambridge University Press Cambridge.
- Pfeffer, J., & Salancik, G. R. (2003). *The external control of organizations: A resource dependence perspective*. Stanford University Press.
- Piboonrungroj, P. (2012). Supply Chain Collaboration: Impacts and Mediation on Firm Performance. In. Cardiff.
- Piboonrungroj, P., Buranasiri, B., Moonpim, W., Chawalit, P., & Sankakorn, K. (2016). A structural model of cultural tourism supply chain collaboration on the R3A route. *International Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 5(3), 11-17.
- Pilling, B. K., Crosby, L. A., & Jackson Jr, D. W. (1994). Relational bonds in industrial exchange: an experimental test of the transaction cost economic framework. *Journal of Business Research*, 30(3), 237-251.
- Pillow, W. (2003). Confession, catharsis, or cure? Rethinking the uses of reflexivity as methodological power in qualitative research. *International journal of qualitative studies in education*, 16(2), 175-196.
- Pimple, K. D. (2002). Six domains of research ethics. Science and engineering ethics, 8(2), 191-205.
- Pirttila, M., Virolainen, V. M., Lind, L., & Karri, T. (2020). Working capital management in the Russian automotive industry supply chain. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 221, Article 107474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.08.009
- Pitelis, C. N., & Wahl, M. W. (1998). Edith Penrose: Pioneer of stakeholder theory. Long range planning, 31(2), 252-261.
- Piya, S., Shamsuzzoha, A., & Khadem, M. (2022). Analysis of supply chain resilience drivers in oil and gas industries during the COVID-19 pandemic using an integrated approach. Applied Soft Computing, 121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asoc.2022.108756</u>
- Pizarro, J., Sainsbury, B., Hodgkinson, J. H., & Loechel, B. (2018). Climate change vulnerability assessment for the uranium supply chain in Australia. *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, 109, 53-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnucene.2018.07.009</u>
- Pomponi, F., Fratocchi, L., & Rossi Tafuri, S. (2015). Trust development and horizontal collaboration in logistics: a theory based evolutionary framework. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 20(1), 83-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/scm-02-2014-0078</u>
- Popper, K. R. (1959). Logic of Scientific Discovery: Basic Books.
- Popper, K. R. (1959). The propensity interpretation of probability. *The British journal for the philosophy of science*, 10(37), 25-42.
- Pradabwong, J., Braziotis, C., Pawar, K. S., & Tannock, J. (2015). Business process management and supply chain collaboration: a critical comparison. *Logistics Research*, 8(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12159-015-0123-6</u>
- Pradabwong, J., Braziotis, C., Tannock, J. D. T., & Pawar, K. S. (2017). Business process management and supply chain collaboration: effects on performance and competitiveness. *Supply Chain Management-an International Journal*, 22(2), 107-121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/Scm-01-2017-0008</u>
- Prahinski, C., & Benton, W. C. (2004). Supplier evaluations: communication strategies to improve supplier performance. *Journal* of operations management, 22(1), 39-62.
- Prajogo, D., Huo, B., & Han, Z. (2012). The effects of different aspects of ISO 9000 implementation on key supply chain management practices and operational performance. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 17(3), 306-322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598541211227135</u>
- Prajogo, D., & Olhager, J. (2012). Supply chain integration and performance: The effects of long-term relationships, information technology and sharing, and logistics integration. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 135(1), 514-522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2011.09.001
- Prasanna, S. R., & Haavisto, I. (2018). Collaboration in humanitarian supply chains: an organisational culture framework. International Journal of Production Research, 56(17), 5611-5625. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1475762</u>
- Pratt, C. B. (2009). Using the personal influence model to guide theory building for participatory communication in Africa. *Communicatio: South African Journal for Communication Theory and Research*, 35(1), 30-49.
- Premus, R., & Sanders, N. (2008). Information sharing in global supply chain alliances. *Journal of Asia-Pacific Business*, 9(2), 174-192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10599230801981928</u>

Priefer, C., Jörissen, J., & Bräutigam, K.-R. (2016). Food waste prevention in Europe–A cause-driven approach to identify the most relevant leverage points for action. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 109, 155-165.

Primo, M. A. M. (2010). Supply chain integration mechanisms for alleviating supply problems in manufacturing firms. *Operations Management Research*, 3(1), 43-59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12063-009-0027-1

Proctor, S. (1998). Linking philosophy and method in the research process: the case for realism. Nurse researcher, 5(4), 73-90.

- Psychology. (2022). Social Exchange Theory Definition. psychology.iresearchnet.com. Retrieved 22/11/2022 from https://psychology.iresearchnet.com/social-psychology/social-psychology-theories/social-exchange-theory/
- Qi, J., Ling, Y., Ji, B., Liu, Y., Shen, Z., Xu, B., Xue, Y., & Sun, Y. (2022). Research on a collaboration model of green closedloop supply chains towards intelligent manufacturing [Article]. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11042-021-11727-w</u>
- Qu, W. G., & Yang, Z. Y. (2015). The effect of uncertainty avoidance and social trust on supply chain collaboration. *Journal of Business Research*, 68(5), 911-918. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.09.017</u>
- Quarshie, P. T., Abdulai, A. R., & Fraser, E. D. G. (2021). Africa's "Seed" Revolution and Value Chain Constraints to Early Generation Seeds Commercialization and Adoption in Ghana. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2021.665297
- Qureshi, M. N., Kumar, D., & Kumar, P. (2007). Modeling the logistics outsourcing relationship variables to enhance shippers' productivity and competitiveness in logistical supply chain. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 56(8), 689-714. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/17410400710833001</u>
- Radzuan, K., Rahim, M. K. I. A., Yaakob, M., Anuar, H. S., Osman, W. N., & Ahmad, M. F. (2021). A Potential Practices of Vendor Managed Inventory Elements in Construction Industry. *Central Asia and the Caucasus*, 22(5), 66-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.37178/ca-c.21.5.08</u>
- Rai, Patnayakuni, & Seth. (2006). Firm Performance Impacts of Digitally Enabled Supply Chain Integration Capabilities. MIS Quarterly, 30(2), 225-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/25148729</u>
- Raible, M. (2013). Industrial Organization theory and its contribution to decision-making in purchasing.
- Rainoil Web, P. Rainnet Networth. In.
- Rainoil Web, P. Rainoil Nigeria. In Rainoil Website.
- Ralston, P. M., Richey, R. G., & Grawe, S. J. (2017). The past and future of supply chain collaboration: A literature synthesis and call for research. In *International Journal of Logistics Management* (Vol. 28, pp. 508-530): Emerald Group Publishing Ltd.
- Ramanathan, U. (2013). Aligning supply chain collaboration using Analytic Hierarchy Process. Omega-International Journal of Management Science, 41(2), 431-440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omega.2012.03.001</u>
- Ramanathan, U. (2014). Performance of supply chain collaboration A simulation study. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 41(1), 210-220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2013.07.022</u>
- Ramanathan, U., & Gunasekaran, A. (2014). Supply chain collaboration: Impact of success in long-term partnerships. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 147, 252-259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2012.06.002</u>
- Ramesh, A., Banwet, D. K., & Shankar, R. (2010). Modeling the barriers of supply chain collaboration. *Journal of Modelling in Management*, 5(2), 176-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/17465661011061014</u>
- Ranga, V., Jain, S., & Venkateswarlu, P. (2019). Exploration of Entrepreneurial Intentions of Management Students Using Shapero's Model. *Theoretical Economics Letters*, 9(04), 959-959.
- Rani, P. D. L. (2015). Supply Chain Collaboration Practices (A Study on Manufacturing Companies-Ethiopia).
- Rathnasiri, S., Ray, P., Vega-Mejía, C. A., Islam, S. M. N., Rana, N. P., & Dwivedi, Y. K. (2022). Optimising small-scale electronic commerce supply chain operations: a dynamic cost-sharing contract approach. *Annals of Operations Research*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10479-022-04662-y</u>
- Ravi, V., & Shankar, R. (2017). An ISM-based approach analyzing interactions among variables of reverse logistics in automobile industries. *Journal of Modelling in Management*, 12(1), 36-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JM2-08-2014-0066</u>
- Reddy, J., Jagadish, N, C., M.N, P., D. Sai Rohith, Y., & Kumar. B, S. (2018). Factors Affecting Implementation of Green Supply Chain Management In Tech Manora Packing: a Case Study. *International Journal of Engineering & Technology*, 7(3.12), 171-171. <u>https://doi.org/10.14419/ijet.v7i3.12.15912</u>
- Reichheld, F. (2009). Closing the customer feedback loop. Harvard Business Review, 87(12), 43-47.
- Reinharz, J. (1997). A better way of judging colleges. Boston Globe, December, 27, A19-A19.
- Rejeb, A., Keogh, J. G., Simske, S. J., Stafford, T., & Treiblmaier, H. (2021). Potentials of blockchain technologies for supply chain collaboration: a conceptual framework. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 32(3), 973-994. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-02-2020-0098</u>
- Rendon, R., & Steven, B. (2005). Graduate Education and Research. Contract.
- Rice, A. L. (2013). The enterprise and its environment: a system theory of management organization. Routledge.
- Richey, R. G., Adams, F. G., & Dalela, V. (2012). Technology and Flexibility: Enablers of Collaboration and Time-Based Logistics Quality. *Journal of business logistics*, 33(1), 34-49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0000-0000.2011.01036.x</u>
- Ritchie, G. R. S., Dunham, I., Zeggini, E., & Flicek, P. (2014). Functional annotation of noncoding sequence variants. *Nature methods*, 11(3), 294-296.
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C. M., & Ormston, R. (2013). Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers. sage.

Ro, Y. K., Liker, J. K., & Fixson, S. K. (2007). Modularity as a strategy for supply chain coordination: The case of U.S. auto. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 54(1), 172-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.2006.889075</u>

Robson, P. (2002). The economics of international integration. Routledge.

- Rodríguez-López, N., Diz-Comesaña, M. E., & Mondragón, A. E. C. (2017). Exploring quality generating factors in customersupplier relationships. *Gospodarka Surowcami Mineralnymi*, 33(4), 157-176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/gospo-2017-0046</u>
 Roscoe, J. T. (1975). Fundamental research statistics for the behavioral sciences [by] John T. In: Roscoe.
- Rose, S., Spinks, N., & Canhoto, A. (2014). *Management research: Applying the principles*. Routledge.
- Ruben, R., Boselie, D., & Lu, H. (2007). Vegetables procurement by Asian supermarkets: a transaction cost approach. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, *12*(1), 60-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540710724365</u>
- Safarzadeh, S., & Rasti-Barzoki, M. (2019). A game theoretic approach for pricing policies in a duopolistic supply chain considering energy productivity, industrial rebound effect, and government policies. *Energy*, 167, 92-105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2018.10.190
- Sahin, F., & Robinson Jr, E. P. (2005). Information sharing and coordination in make-to-order supply chains. *Journal of operations* management, 23(6), 579-598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2004.08.007
- Sahni, H., & Chopra, N. (2019). Geetanjali Woollens Pvt Ltd: In the Pursuit of Sustainability. In Green Behavior and Corporate Social Responsibility in Asia (pp. 27-46). Emerald Publishing Limited. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-78756-683-520191005</u>
- Sakuramoto, C., Di Serio, L. C., & Bittar, A. d. V. (2019). Impact of supply chain on the competitiveness of the automotive industry. *Rausp Management Journal*, 54(2), 205-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/rausp-07-2018-0051</u>
- Salancik, G. R. (1995). Wanted: A good network theory of organization. In: JSTOR.
- Samaddar, S., & Kadiyala, S. S. (2006). An analysis of interorganizational resource sharing decisions in collaborative knowledge creation. *European journal of operational research*, *170*(1), 192-210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2004.06.024</u>
- Samaranayake, P., & Laosirihongthong, T. (2016). Configuration of supply chain integration and delivery performance. *Journal of Modelling in Management*, 11(1), 43-74. https://doi.org/10.1108/JM2-01-2014-0005
- Samdantsoodol, A., Cang, S., Yu, H., Eardley, A., & Buyantsogt, A. (2017). Predicting the relationships between virtual enterprises and agility in supply chains. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 84, 58-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2017.04.037
- Sanchez Rodrigues, V., Harris, I., & Mason, R. (2015). Horizontal logistics collaboration for enhanced supply chain performance: an international retail perspective. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 20(6), 631-647. https://doi.org/10.1108/scm-06-2015-0218
- Sarfaraz, A. H., Karbassi Yazdi, A., Wanke, P., Ashtari Nezhad, E., & Hosseini, R. S. (2022). A novel hierarchical fuzzy inference system for supplier selection and performance improvement in the oil & amp; gas industry. *Journal of Decision Systems*. https://doi.org/10.1080/12460125.2022.2090065
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). Research methods for business students (Seventh). Nueva York: Pearson Education.
- Saunders, M. N., Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2020). Research methods for business students, 2011. 5/e. In: Pearson Education India.
- Schiele, H. (2006). How to distinguish innovative suppliers? Identifying innovative suppliers as new task for purchasing. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 35(8), 925-935.
- Schmidt, C. G., & Wagner, S. M. (2019). Blockchain and supply chain relations: A transaction cost theory perspective. Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, 25(4), 100552-100552.
- Schoenherr, T., Narasimhan, R., & Bandyopadhyay, P. P. (2015). The assurance of food safety in supply chains via relational networking: A social network perspective. *International Journal of Operations and Production Management*, 35(12), 1662-1687. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-02-2014-0051</u>
- Schrag, F. (1992). In defense of positivist research paradigms. Educational researcher, 21(5), 5-8.
- Schwandt, T. A. (2001). Dictionary of qualitative inquiry. In Dictionary of qualitative inquiry (pp. xxxiv-281).
- Scupola, A. (2003). The adoption of internet commerce by SMES in the south of Italy: An environmental, technological and organizational perspective. *Journal of Global Information Technology Management*, 6(1), 52-71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1097198X.2003.10856343</u>
- Seale, C. (2012). Secondary analysis and official statistics. Researching Society and Culture, 3, 302-316.

Seethamraju, R. (2006). Do Enterprise Systems Enable Supply Chain Integration?

- Sengupta, K., Heiser, D. R., & Cook, L. S. (2006). Manufacturing and service supply chain performance: a comparative analysis. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 42(4), 4-15.
- Seo, Y.-J. (2014). Northeast Asian containerised maritime logistics: supply chain collaboration, collaborative advantage and performance.
- Seo, Y.-J., Dinwoodie, J., & Roe, M. (2015). Measures of supply chain collaboration in container logistics. *Maritime Economics* & *Logistics*, *17*(3), 292-314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/mel.2014.26</u>

Sethi, S. P., Yan, H., & Zhang, H. (2005). Inventory and Supply Chain Models with Forecast Updates. Springer.

- Seuring, S., & Müller, M. (2008). Core issues in sustainable supply chain management a Delphi study. Business Strategy and the Environment, 17(8), 455-466. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.607</u>
- Shaban, A., Costantino, F., Di Gravio, G., & Tronci, M. (2019). A new efficient collaboration model for multi-echelon supply chains. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 128, 54-66.
- Shacklock, G., & Smyth, J. (1998). Being reflexive in critical educational and social research (Vol. 18). Psychology Press.

- Shafer, K., & Herrera, R. (2009). Testing the Validity and Robustness of Wordscore to Derive the Ideological Positions of Governors: Are Female Governors More Liberal Than Their Male Counterparts? APSA 2009 Toronto Meeting Paper. <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=1450069</u>
- Shahi, A., Aryan, A., West, J. S., Haas, C. T., & Haas, R. C. G. (2012). Deterioration of UWB positioning during construction. *Automation in Construction*, 24, 72-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2012.02.009</u>
- Shahzad, F., Du, J., Khan, I., Shahbaz, M., & Murad, M. (2020). Untangling the influence of organizational compatibility on green supply chain management efforts to boost organizational performance through information technology capabilities. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.122029</u>
- Shareef, M. A., Dwivedi, Y. K., Kumar, V., Hughes, D. L., & Raman, R. (2020). Sustainable supply chain for disaster management: structural dynamics and disruptive risks. *Annals of Operations Research*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10479-020-03708-3</u>
- Sharma, A., Kumar, V., Borah, S. B., & Adhikary, A. (2022). Complexity in a multinational enterprise's global supply chain and its international business performance: A bane or a boon? *Journal of International Business Studies*, 53(5), 850-878. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41267-021-00497-0</u>
- Shastri, Y., Hoda, R., & Amor, R. (2021). The role of the project manager in agile software development projects. *Journal of Systems and Software*, 173, 110871-110871.
- Shaw, E. (1999). A guide to the qualitative research process: evidence from a small firm study. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal.*
- Shaw, N. C., Meixell, M. J., & Tuggle, F. D. (2003). A case study of integrating knowledge management into the supply chain management process. Proceedings of the 36th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, HICSS 2003,
- Sheppard, J. P. (1995). A resource dependence approach to organizational failure. Social science research, 24(1), 28-62.
- Sheu, C., Lee, L., & Niehoff, B. (2006). A voluntary logistics security program and international supply chain partnership. *Supply Chain Management-an International Journal*, *11*(4), 363-374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540610671815</u>
- Sheu, C., Rebecca Yen, H., & Chae, B. (2006). Determinants of supplier-retailer collaboration: evidence from an international study. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 26(1), 24-49. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443570610637003
- Sheu, C., Yen, H. R., & Chae, B. (2006). Determinants of supplier-retailer collaboration: Evidence from an international study [Article]. International Journal of Operations and Production Management. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443570610637003
- Shin, N., Park, S. H., & Park, S. (2019). Partnership-Based Supply Chain Collaboration: Impact on Commitment, Innovation, and Firm Performance. Sustainability, 11(2). <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 449
- 10.3390/su11020449
- Shook, C. L., Adams, G. L., Ketchen, D. J., & Craighead, C. W. (2009). Towards a "theoretical toolbox" for strategic sourcing. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal.
- Siawsh, N., Peszynski, K., Young, L., & Vo-Tran, H. (2021). Exploring the role of power on procurement and supply chain management systems in a humanitarian organisation: a socio-technical systems view. *International Journal of Production Research*, 59(12), 3591-3616. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1634293</u>
- Silverman, D. (2011). A guide to the principles of qualitative research. In: Sage, London.
- Simatupang, T. M. (2007). A taxonomy of supply chain collaboration. Journal of Technology Management, 6(2), 113089-113089.
- Simatupang, T. M., & Sridharan, R. (2002). The Collaborative Supply Chain. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 13(1), 15-30. https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090210806333
- Simatupang, T. M., & Sridharan, R. (2005). An integrative framework for supply chain collaboration. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, *16*(2), 257-274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090510634548</u>
- Simatupang, T. M., & Sridharan, R. (2008). Design for supply chain collaboration. *Business Process Management Journal*, 14(3), 401-418. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/14637150810876698</u>
- Simatupang, T. M., & Sridharan, R. (2011). A drama theory analysis of supply chain collaboration. *International Journal of Collaborative Enterprise*, 2(2-3), 129-146.
- Singer, E., Van Hoewyk, J., Gebler, N., & McGonagle, K. (1999). The effect of incentives on response rates in interviewer-mediated surveys. *Journal of official statistics*, 15(2), 217-217.
- Singh, H., Garg, R. K., & Sachdeva, A. (2018). Supply chain collaboration: A state-of-the-art literature review. *Uncertain Supply Chain Management*, 149-180. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.uscm.2017.8.002
- Singh, R. K., & Acharya, P. (2013). Supply chain flexibility: A frame work of research dimensions. *Global Journal of Flexible* Systems Management, 14(3), 157-166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40171-013-0039-4</u>
- Singhry, H. B. (2015). Effect of Supply Chain Technology, Supply Chain Collaboration and Innovation Capability on Supply Chain Performance of Manufacturing Companies. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 7(2).
- Singhry, H. B., Rahman, A. A. B. D., & Siew Imm, N. G. (2015). Measurement for Supply Chain Collaboration and Supply Chain Performance of Manufacturing Companies. *International Journal of Economics & Management*, 9.
- Skipper, J. B., & Hanna, J. B. (2009). Minimizing supply chain disruption risk through enhanced flexibility. *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management*, 39(5), 404-427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030910973742</u>
- Slangen, L. H. G., Loucks, L., & Slangen, A. H. L. (2008). Institutional economics and economic organisation theory: An integrated approach. Wageningen Academic Publishers.

- Slowinski, G., Hummel, E., Gupta, A., & Gilmont, E. R. (2009). Effective practices for sourcing innovation. *Research-Technology Management*, 52(1), 27-34.
- Smirnova, M., Henneberg, S. C., Ashnai, B., Naudé, P., & Mouzas, S. (2011). Understanding the role of marketing-purchasing collaboration in industrial markets: The case of Russia. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 40(1), 54-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2010.09.010</u>
- Soares, A., Soltani, E., & Liao, Y. Y. (2017). The influence of supply chain quality management practices on quality performance: an empirical investigation. *Supply Chain Management*, 22(2), 122-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-08-2016-0286</u>
- Soliman, K. S., & Janz, B. D. (2004). An exploratory study to identify the critical factors affecting the decision to establish Internetbased interorganizational information systems. *Information and Management*, 41(6), 697-706. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2003.06.001</u>
- Sooriyamudalige, N., Domingo, N., Shahzad, W., & Childerhouse, P. (2020). Barriers and enablers for supply chain integration in prefabricated elements manufacturing in New Zealand. *International Journal of Construction Supply Chain Management*, 10(1), 73-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.14424/ijcscm100120-73-91</u>
- Soosay, C. A., & Hyland, P. (2015). A decade of supply chain collaboration and directions for future research. *Supply Chain Management-an International Journal*, 20(6), 613-630. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/Scm-06-2015-0217</u>
- Soosay, C. A., Hyland, P. W., & Ferrer, M. (2008). Supply chain collaboration: capabilities for continuous innovation. *Supply Chain Management-an International Journal*, *13*(2), 160-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540810860994</u>
- Spalanzani, A., & Samuel, K. E. (2007). Absorbing uncertainty within supply chains. International Journal of Productivity and Quality Management, 2(4), 441-458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJPQM.2007.013337</u>
- Spekman, R. E., Kamauff, J. W., & Myhr, N. (1998). An empirical investigation into supply chain management: a perspective on partnerships. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*.
- Spieske, A., Gebhardt, M., Kopyto, M., & Birkel, H. (2022). Improving resilience of the healthcare supply chain in a pandemic: Evidence from Europe during the COVID-19 crisis. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2022.100748
- Srivastava, D. K., Kumar, V., Ekren, B. Y., Upadhyay, A., Tyagi, M., & Kumari, A. (2022). Adopting Industry 4.0 by leveraging organisational factors. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.121439
- Sroufe, R., & Curkovic, S. (2008). An examination of ISO 9000:2000 and supply chain quality assurance. Journal of operations management, 26(4), 503-520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2007.06.006</u>
- Stadtler, H., & Kilger, C. (2008). Supply chain management and advanced planning (Fourth edition): Concepts, models, software, and case studies. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-74512-9</u>
- Stank, T. P., Keller, S. B., & Daugherty, P. J. (2001). Supply Chain Collaboration And Logistical Service Performance. Journal of business logistics, 22(1), 29-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2158-1592.2001.tb00158.x</u>
- Stella, D. (2019). Optimized food supply chains to reduce food losses. In Saving Food (pp. 227-248). Elsevier.
- Stoelzle, W., & Burkhardt, J. (2021). Sub-Supplier Management. Springer.
- Stuart, F. I., & McCutcheon, D. (1996). Sustaining strategic supplier alliances: profiling the dynamic requirements for continued development. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*.
- Stultz, G. R., Bono, R. W., & Peres, M. A. S. (2003, 2003/11//). Total Quality with Rapid Through-put of Powdered Metal and Cast Parts for Whole Part Flaw Detection via Resonant Acoustic Method of Inspection.
- Subramani, M. (2004). How do suppliers benefit from information technology use in supply chain relationships? *MIS Quarterly: Management Information Systems*, 28(1), 45-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/25148624</u>
- Sun, Y., Wang, J., Wu, J., Shi, W., Ji, D., Wang, X., & Zhao, X. (2020). Constraints hindering the development of high-rise modular buildings. *Applied Sciences (Switzerland)*, 10(20), 1-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/app10207159</u>
- Surakhi, O. M., & Alkhanafseh, M. Y. (2021). Review on the Application of Blockchain Technology to Compact COVID-19 Pandemic. 2021 IEEE Jordan International Joint Conference on Electrical Engineering and Information Technology, JEEIT 2021 - Proceedings,
- Susanto, E., & Othman, N. A. (2021). The factors influencing modeling of collaborative performance supply chain: A review on fresh produce. Uncertain Supply Chain Management, 9(2), 373-392. <u>https://doi.org/10.5267/j.uscm.2021.2.005</u>
- Suyo, J. G. B., Le Masson, V., Shaxson, L., Luhan, M. R. J., & Hurtado, A. Q. (2021). Navigating risks and uncertainties: Risk perceptions and risk management strategies in the Philippine seaweed industry. *Marine Policy*, 126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104408</u>
- Svanberg, M., & Halldorsson, Á. (2013). Supply chain configuration for biomass-to-energy: The case of torrefaction. *International Journal of Energy Sector Management*, 7(1), 65-83. https://doi.org/10.1108/17506221311316489
- Swatton, M. J. R., Van Soest-Vercammen, E., & Nagelvoort, R. K. (2009). Innovation and integration in LNG technology solutions. Society of Petroleum Engineers - International Petroleum Technology Conference 2009, IPTC 2009,
- Taieb, N. H., & Affes, H. (2013). Approaches to improve the performance of the collaborative supply chain management: Literature review. 2013 International Conference on Advanced Logistics and Transport, ICALT 2013,
- Talluri, S., & Sarkis, J. (2002). A model for performance monitoring of suppliers. International Journal of Production Research, 40(16), 4257-4269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540210152894</u>
- Tan, Y. (2014). Corporate governance in the banking sector. In *Performance, Risk and Competition in the Chinese Banking Industry* (pp. 39-64). <u>https://doi.org/10.1533/9781780634463.39</u>

- Tann, W., Shaw, H.-J., & Bronsart, R. (2005). Integrating the Collaborative Environment in Shipbuilding: An Implementation Strategy. *Journal of Ship Production*, 21(01), 37-45. <u>https://doi.org/</u>
- Tanriverdi, H. (2006). Performance effects of information technology synergies in multibusiness firms. MIS Quarterly, 57-77.
- Tashakkori, A., & Teddlie, C. (2010). Putting the human back in "human research methodology": The researcher in mixed methods research. In *Journal of mixed methods research* (Vol. 4, pp. 271-277): Sage Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA.
- Tatoglu, E., Bayraktar, E., Golgeci, I., Koh, S. C. L., Demirbag, M., & Zaim, S. (2016). How do supply chain management and information systems practices influence operational performance? Evidence from emerging country SMEs. *International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications*, 19(3), 181-199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13675567.2015.1065802</u>
- Tavana, M., Mirzagoltabar, H., Mirhedayatian, S. M., Farzipoor Saen, R., & Azadi, M. (2013). A new network epsilon-based DEA model for supply chain performance evaluation. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 66(2), 501-513. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2013.07.016</u>
- Taylor, T. A., & Xiao, W. (2010). Does a manufacturer benefit from selling to a better-forecasting retailer? *Management Science*, 56(9), 1584-1598. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.1100.1204
- Teddlie, C., & Yu, F. (2007). Mixed methods sampling: A typology with examples. *Journal of mixed methods research*, *1*(1), 77-100.
- Terlau, W., & Hirsch, D. (2015). Sustainable consumption and the attitude-behaviour-gap phenomenon-causes and measurements towards a sustainable development. *International Journal on Food System Dynamics*, 6(3), 159-174.
- Testa, M. R., & Sipe, L. J. (2006). A systems approach to service quality: tools for hospitality leaders. *Cornell Hotel and Restaurant Administration Quarterly*, 47(1), 36-48.
- Thorelli, H. B. (1986). Networks: between markets and hierarchies. Strategic management journal, 7(1), 37-51.
- Tongco, M. D. C. (2007). Purposive sampling as a tool for informant selection. *Ethnobotany Research and applications*, *5*, 147-158.
- Total, N. (2022). TotalEnergies in Nigeria | TotalEnergies.com. In Total Nigeria Web page.
- Totobesola, M., Delve, R., Nkundimana, J. d. A., Cini, L., Gianfelici, F., Mvumi, B., Gaiani, S., Pani, A., Barraza, A. S., & Rolle, R. S. (2022). A holistic approach to food loss reduction in Africa: food loss analysis, integrated capacity development and policy implications. *Food Security*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-021-01243-y</u>
- Townley, B. (1994). Reframing human resource management: Power, ethics and the subject at work. SAGE Publications Limited.
- Trent, R. J., & Monczka, R. M. (1998). Purchasing and supply management: trends and changes throughout the 1990s. *International Journal of Purchasing and Materials Management*, 34(3), 2-11.
- Trienekens, J. H., & Beulens, A. J. M. (2001). Views on inter-enterprise relationships. Production Planning and Control, 12(5 SPEC.), 466-477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09537280110042693</u>
- Trienekens, J. H., Hagen, J. M., Beulens, A. J. M., & Omta, S. W. F. (2003). Innovation through (international) food suppy chain development: A research agenda. *International Food and Agribusiness Management Review*, 6(1), 84-98.
- Tripathi, S., & Talukder, B. (2020). Supply Chain Performance and Profitability in Indian Automobile Industry: Evidence of Segmental Difference. *Global Business Review*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0972150919898302</u>
- Tseng, M. L., Bui, T. D., Lim, M. K., Fujii, M., & Mishra, U. (2022). Assessing data-driven sustainable supply chain management indicators for the textile industry under industrial disruption and ambidexterity. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2021.108401</u>
- Tserng, H. P., Yin, S. Y. L., & Li, S. (2006). Developing a resource supply chain planning system for construction projects. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 132(4), 393-407. <u>https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9364(2006)132:4(393)</u>
- Tung, A., Alliance, A. C., & Otto, C. (2020). Decommissioning cost reduction by effective planning of decommissioning projects using facility removal date as a reference point. Society of Petroleum Engineers - SPE Symposium: Decommissioning and Abandonment 2019,
- Tuten, T. L., & Urban, D. J. (2001). An expanded model of business-to-business partnership formation and success. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 30(2), 149-164.
- Tyagi, M., Kumar, P., & Kumar, D. (2015). Assessment of critical enablers for flexible supply chain performance measurement system using fuzzy DEMATEL approach. *Global Journal of Flexible Systems Management*, *16*(2), 115-132.
- Udin, Z. M., Khan, M. K., & Zairi, M. (2006). A collaborative supply chain management framework: Part 1 Planning stage. Business Process Management Journal, 12(3), 361-376. https://doi.org/10.1108/14637150610668015
- Ugolo, O. J. (2021). Application of LEAN Supply Chain Management as a Panacea to Sustainable Future Profitability in the Nigerian Oil and Gas Industry. SPE Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition,
- Um, J., Han, N., Grubic, T., & Ghalib, A. (2018). Aligning product variety with supply chain and business strategy. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 67(9), 1837-1853. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-01-2018-0020</u>
- Umar, M., & Wilson, M. (2021). Supply Chain Resilience: Unleashing the Power of Collaboration in Disaster Management. Sustainability, 13(19), Article 10573. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su131910573</u>
- Uzochukwu, O. C., & Ossai, I. F. (2016). Lean production: A frontier for improving performance of oil and gas companies in Nigeria. *Pyrex Journal of Business and Finance Management Research*, 2(5), 35-41.
- Vaaland, T. I., & Heide, M. (2007). Can the SME survive the supply chain challenges? Supply Chain Management, 12(1), 20-31. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540710724374
- van der Vorst, J. G. A. J. (2000). Effective food supply chains: generating, modelling and evaluating supply chain scenarios.

- van Engelenburg, S., Janssen, M., & Klievink, B. (2018). A Blockchain Architecture for Reducing the Bullwhip Effect (Vol. 319). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94214-8_5
- Van Maanen, J. (1979). Qualitative methodology. Administrative Science Quarterly Ithaca, NY, 24(4), 519-671.
- Van Manen, M. (1990). Beyond assumptions: Shifting the limits of action research. Theory into practice, 29(3), 152-157.
- van Weele, A. J., & van Raaij, E. M. (2014). The future of purchasing and supply management research: About relevance and rigor. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 50(1), 56-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jscm.12042</u>
- Verma, R., & Pullman, M. E. (1998). An analysis of the supplier selection process. Omega, 26(6), 739-750.
- Verstrepen, S., Cools, M., Cruijssen, F., & Dullaert, W. (2009). A dynamic framework for managing horizontal cooperation in logistics. *International Journal of Logistics Systems and Management*, 5(3-4), 228-248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJLSM.2009.022497</u>
- Villena, V. H., Revilla, E., & Choi, T. Y. (2011). The dark side of buyer-supplier relationships: A social capital perspective. *Journal of operations management*, 29(6), 561-576. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2010.09.001</u>
- Vogt, B. A. (1993). Structural organization of cingulate cortex: areas, neurons, and somatodendritic transmitter receptors. In *Neurobiology of cingulate cortex and limbic thalamus* (pp. 19-70). Springer.
- Vollrath, C. (2021). Digitalization and Sub-supplier Management. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-75575-1 7
- Vora, D. K., Patel, J. H., Shah, D., & Mehta, P. (2022). Application of Blockchain in Different Segments of Supply Chain Management (Vol. 840). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-9012-9_43</u>
- Vriens, T. (2021). Collaboratively towards a circular building environment A qualitative research of the relationship between supply chain collaboration and value retention options influenced by barriers and triggers for CE.
- Wadhwa, S., Kanda, A., Bhoon, K. S., & Jagannath, B. (2006). Impact of supply chain collaboration on customer service level and working capital. *Global Journal of Flexible Systems Management*, 7(1/2), 27-35.
- Wagner, B. A., Fillis, I., & Johansson, U. (2003). E-business and e-supply strategy in small and medium sized businesses (SMEs). Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 8(4), 343-354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540310490107</u>
- Walker, B., Bovet, D., & Martha, J. (2000). Unlocking the Supply Chain to Build Competitive Advantage. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 11(2), 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090010806119</u>
- Walker, G., & Weber, D. (1984). A transaction cost approach to make-or-buy decisions. *Administrative science quarterly*, 373-391.
- Wan Ahmad, W. N. K., Pati, N., de Brito, M. P., & Tavasszy, L. A. (2016). Sustainable supply chain management in the oil and gas industry. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 23(6), 1423-1444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/bij-08-2013-0088</u>
- Wang, J., Hu, Y., Qu, W., & Ma, L. (2022). Research on Emergency Supply Chain Collaboration Based on Tripartite Evolutionary Game [Article]. Sustainability (Switzerland). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su141911893</u>
- Wang, K. J., Lin, Y. S., & Yu, J. C. P. (2011). Optimizing inventory policy for products with time-sensitive deteriorating rates in a multi-echelon supply chain. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 130(1), 66-76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2010.11.009
- Wang, Y., Potter, A., Naim, M., & Beevor, D. (2011). A case study exploring drivers and implications of collaborative electronic logistics marketplaces. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 40(4), 612-623. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2010.12.015</u>
- Wang, Y., Yang, H., Liu, J., Xu, Y., Wang, X., Ma, J., Xu, J., Yi, K., & Tao, S. (2020). Analysis of multiple drivers of air pollution emissions in China via interregional trade. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 244, 118507-118507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.118507</u>
- Wang, Y. M., Wang, Y. S., & Yang, Y. F. (2010). Understanding the determinants of RFID adoption in the manufacturing industry. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 77(5), 803-815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2010.03.006</u>
- Wei, H. L., Wong, C. W. Y., & Lai, K. H. (2012). Linking inter-organizational trust with logistics information integration and partner cooperation under environmental uncertainty. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 139(2), 642-653. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2012.05.036</u>
- Wei, J., & Ou, G. (2010). Logistics organization mode boundary definition on the basis of transaction cost theory. Logistics and Supply Chain Research in China - Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Logistics and Supply Chain Management 2010, ILS 2010,
- Wei, O. C., Idrus, R., & Abdullah, N. L. (2017). Extended ERP for inventory management: The case of a multi-national manufacturing company. International Conference on Research and Innovation in Information Systems, ICRIIS,
- Wellenbrock, M. (2013). Theoretical basis of supply management: the netwerk theory in supply management.
- Welman, C., Kruger, F., & Mitchell. (2005). Research methodology (3rd / ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Whipple, J. M., & Russell, D. (2007). Building supply chain collaboration: A typology of collaborative approaches. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 18(2), 174-196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090710816922</u>
- Wichmann, B. K., Carter, C. R., & Kaufmann, L. (2015). How to become central in an informal social network: An investigation of the antecedents to network centrality in an environmental SCM initiative. *Journal of business logistics*, 36(1), 102-119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jbl.12079</u>
- Wigand, R. T. (2003). Electronic Commerce. In D. H. Johnston (Ed.), Encyclopedia of International Media and Communications (pp. 489-503). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-387670-2/00077-7</u>
- Williams, R. G., & Lilley, M. M. (1993). Partner selection for joint-venture agreements. International Journal of Project Management, 11(4), 233-237.

- Williamson, O. E. (2008a). Outsourcing: Transaction cost economics and supply chain management. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 44(2), 5-16.
- Williamson, O. E. (2008b). Transaction cost economics. In Handbook of new institutional economics (pp. 41-65). Springer.
- Woehner, H., Darkow, I. L., & Kaiser, G. (2013). How do Information Technology and Integrative Planning drive performance in today's supply chains? *International Journal of Integrated Supply Management*, 8(1/2/3), 5-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJISM.2013.055067</u>
- Wong, C., Skipworth, H., Godsell, J., & Achimugu, N. (2012). Towards a theory of supply chain alignment enablers: A systematic literature review. Supply Chain Management, 17(4), 419-437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13598541211246567</u>
- Wood, D. A. (2020). The natural gas sector needs to be mindful of its sustainability credentials. *Advances in Geo-Energy Research*, 4(3), 229-232.
- Wright, V. O. N. (1976). Georg Henrik von Wright: Determinism and the Study of Man. Manninen/Tuomela.
- Wu, F., Yeniyurt, S., Kim, D., & Cavusgil, S. T. (2006). The impact of information technology on supply chain capabilities and firm performance: A resource-based view. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 35(4), 493-504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2005.05.003</u>
- Wu, H., Cao, J., Yang, Y., Tung, C. L., Jiang, S., Tang, B., Liu, Y., Wang, X., & Deng, Y. (2019). Data management in supply chain using blockchain: challenges and a case study. Proceedings - International Conference on Computer Communications and Networks, ICCCN,
- Wu, L., Yue, X., Jin, A., & Yen, D. C. (2016). Smart supply chain management: A review and implications for future research. International Journal of Logistics Management, 27(2), 395-417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-02-2014-0035</u>
- Xiao, C., Petkova, B., Molleman, E., & van der Vaart, T. (2019). Technology uncertainty in supply chains and supplier involvement: the role of resource dependence. *Supply Chain Management*, 24(6), 697-709. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-10-2017-0334</u>
- Xiaoli, W. (2012, 2012/10//). Research on the construction of supply chain collaboration system based on information sharing. 2012 International Conference on Information Management, Innovation Management and Industrial Engineering,
- Xu, S., Zhao, X., Liu, Z., & Iop. (2020, 2020
- Sep 18-20). The impact of blockchain technology on the cost of food traceability supply chain.*IOP Conference Series-Earth and Environmental Science* [2020 international conference on green development and environmental science and technology]. International Conference on Green Development and Environmental Science and Technology (ICGDE), Changsha, PEOPLES R CHINA.
- Xu, X., Zhang, M., & He, P. (2020). Coordination of a supply chain with online platform considering delivery time decision. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 141, 101990-101990.
- Yang, Y., Chen, L., Jia, F., & Xu, Z. (2019). Complementarity of circular economy practices: an empirical analysis of Chinese manufacturers. *International Journal of Production Research*, 57(20), 6369-6384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1566664</u>
- Yang, Y., & Cui, W. (2022). Digital Transformation of Listed Agricultural Companies in China: Practice, Performance, and Value Creation. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 2022. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/4429937</u>
- Yang, Y., Zheng, Y., Xie, G., & Tian, Y. (2022). The Influence Mechanism of Strategic Partnership on Enterprise Performance: Exploring the Chain Mediating Role of Information Sharing and Supply Chain Flexibility. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 14(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/su14084800
- Yazar Soyadı, Y. A., & Ince, H. (2015). The role of supply chain collaboration on sustainable supply chain management performance. *Pressacademia*, 2(3), 223-223. <u>https://doi.org/10.17261/pressacademia.2015312952</u>
- Yee, C. L., & Platts, K. W. (2006). A framework and tool for supply network strategy operationalisation. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 104(1), 230-248.
- Yelland, P. M. (2010). Bayesian forecasting of parts demand. International Journal of Forecasting, 26(2), 374-396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijforecast.2009.11.001
- Yin, R. (2003). Case study research: Design and methods. In: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Yin, R. K. (1994). Discovering the future of the case study. Method in evaluation research. Evaluation practice, 15(3), 283-290.
- Yin, R. K. (2003). Designing case studies. Qualitative research methods, 5(14), 359-386.
- Youn, S., Hwang, W., & Yang, M. G. (2012). The role of mutual trust in supply chain management: Deriving from attribution theory and transaction cost theory. *International Journal of Business Excellence*, 5(5), 575-597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBEX.2012.048804</u>
- Yousefi, S., & Mohamadpour Tosarkani, B. (2022). An analytical approach for evaluating the impact of blockchain technology on sustainable supply chain performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2022.108429
- Yu, B., Xu, H., & Dong, F. (2019). Vertical vs. Horizontal: how strategic alliance type influence firm performance? *Sustainability*, *11*(23), 6594-6594.
- Yu, W., Jacobs, M. A., Salisbury, W. D., & Enns, H. (2013). The effects of supply chain integration on customer satisfaction and financial performance: An organizational learning perspective. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 146(1), 346-358. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.07.023</u>
- Yu, Z., Khan, S. A. R., & Umar, M. (2022). Circular economy practices and industry 4.0 technologies: A strategic move of automobile industry. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 31(3), 796-809. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2918</u>

- Yuen, K. F., & Thai, V. (2017). Barriers to supply chain integration in the maritime logistics industry oa. *Maritime Economics and Logistics*, 19(3), 551-572. https://doi.org/10.1057/mel.2016.10
- Yusuf, Y. Y., Gunasekaran, A., Musa, A., Dauda, M., El-Berishy, N. M., & Cang, S. (2014). A relational study of supply chain agility, competitiveness and business performance in the oil and gas industry. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 147, 531-543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2012.10.009</u>
- Zacharia, Z. G., Nix, N. W., & Lusch, R. F. (2011). Capabilities that enhance outcomes of an episodic supply chain collaboration. *Journal of operations management*, 29(6), 591-603. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2011.02.001</u>
- Žákovská, M. (2015). System theory approach integrated into the supply chain management. Proceedings of the 26th International Business Information Management Association Conference - Innovation Management and Sustainable Economic Competitive Advantage: From Regional Development to Global Growth, IBIMA 2015,
- Zenkova, Z., Andrievskaya, A., & Tarima, S. (2022). Accounting for deficit and a known demand quantile in ABC-XYZ analysis. 2022 IEEE 6th International Conference on Logistics Operations Management, GOL 2022,
- Zhang, C., Hong, S.-J., & Ohana, M. (2021). Guanxi and supply chain collaboration: an analysis of the Sino-Franco buyer–supplier relationship. Supply Chain Forum: An International Journal, 22(2), 157-170. https://doi.org/10.1080/16258312.2021.1902242
- Zhang, D., Yang, L., Lee, C. H., Lee, S. H., Kuo, B. J., Kitta, K., & Tachikawa, M. (2012). Labelling and Detection of GM Crops and Derived Products: Regulatory Frameworks and Research Issues in East Asia. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118373781.ch27
- Zhang, J., Xiong, Q., Xu, W., Zheng, P., & Jin, Y. (2021). Relationship Between Supply Chain Contract, Supply Chain Behavior and Agricultural Supply Chain Performance. In *Lecture Notes on Data Engineering and Communications Technologies* (Vol. 79, pp. 489-507). Springer Science and Business Media Deutschland GmbH. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-79206-0_37</u>
- Zhang, M., Tse, Y. K., Dai, J., & Chan, H. K. (2019). Examining Green Supply Chain Management and Financial Performance: Roles of Social Control and Environmental Dynamism. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 66(1), 20-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.2017.2752006</u>
- Zhang, Q., & Cao, M. (2018). Exploring antecedents of supply chain collaboration: Effects of culture and interorganizational system appropriation. International Journal of Production Economics, 195, 146-157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.10.014
- Zhang, X. (2004). Evolution of ARMA demand in supply chains. *Manufacturing & Service Operations Management*, 6(2), 195-198.
- Zhang, X., Chen, W., Tong, J., & Liu, X. (2012). Relational mechanisms, market contracts and cross-enterprise knowledge trading in the supply chain: Empirical research based on Chinese manufacturing enterprises. *Chinese Management Studies*, 6(3), 488-508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/17506141211259159</u>
- Zhao, G., Feng, T., & Wang, D. (2015). Is more supply chain integration always beneficial to financial performance? *Industrial Marketing Management*, 45(1), 162-172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.02.015</u>
- Zhao, M., Dröge, C., & Stank, T. P. (2001). The effects of logistics capabilities on firm performance: customer-focused versus information-focused capabilities. *Journal of business logistics*, 22(2), 91-107.
- Zhao, X., Pan, J., & Song, Y. (2018). Dependence on supplier trust and green supplier integration: The moderating role of contract management difficulty. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *10*(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su10051673</u>
- Zhou, C., Xia, W., Feng, T., Jiang, J., & He, Q. (2020). How environmental orientation influences firm performance: The missing link of green supply chain integration. *Sustainable Development*, 28(4), 685-696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.2019</u>
- Zhu, X., Mukhopadhyay, S. K., & Kurata, H. (2012). A review of RFID technology and its managerial applications in different industries. Journal of Engineering and Technology Management, 29(1), 152-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jengtecman.2011.09.011</u>
- Zou, P. X. W., & Couani, P. (2012). Managing risks in green building supply chain. Architectural Engineering and Design Management, 8(2), 143-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17452007.2012.659507</u>

Appendix A Literature Review Search Criteria

Keywords	Database							Number of Articles	
		Subject Areas	Document Type	Publication stage	Keywords	Country/Te rritory	Source Type	Language	
Supply Chain Management Accessed 05/07/2022	Scopus	Engineering, Business, Management and Accounting	Articles, Books, Books reviews, Peer Reviews	Final	Supply Chain Management, Supply Chains, Supply Chain		Journals, Book Series, Books	English	10,919
	Judgement	For the purpose of and above) and rele			CM, the researcher co	nsidered the ar	ticles with high	gh citations (300	281
		After a critical revie	ew and reading of	f the 281 articles	s, 100 articles were con	nsidered at the	end		100
Supply Chain Management And Oil and Gas Industry Accessed 05/07/2022	Scopus	Engineering Energy Business, Management and Accounting	Articles, Books, Books reviews, Peer Reviews	Final	Supply Chain Management, Supply Chains, Oil and Gas, Gases, Petroleum Industry, Gas Industry, Oil and Gas Industry		Journals, Book Series, Books	English	75
	Judgement	All the documents we their relevance to the		d the relevant or	es were selected. Furt	hermore, few a	rticles were s	elected based on	47
"Supply Chain Collaboration" OR "Collaborative Supply Chain" Accessed 06/07/2022	Scopus	Engineering, Business, Management and Accounting,	Articles, Books, Books reviews, Peer Reviews	Final	Supply Chain Management, Supply Chains, Supply Chain Collaboration, Collaborative Supply Chains, Supply Chain		Journals, Book Series, Books	English	490
	Judgement	All the 490 articles were selected which			les, abstracts, keywor	ds, and conclus	sions. In the	end, 195 articles	195

SupplyChainCollaborationORCollaborativeSupply ChainSupplyChainOil and GasIndustryAccessed	Scopus								51
06/07/2022									
Supply Chain Collaboration OR Collaborative Supply Chain AND Oil and Gas Industry	Judgement	After carefully exa sections	mining the whol	e 51 documents	by considering their	Titles, abstract	s, keywords	and concluding	
Accessed 06/07/2022									
"Supply Chain Performance" Accessed	Scopus	Engineering, Business, Management and Accounting,	Articles, Books, Books reviews, Peer Reviews	Final	Supply chain performance, Supply Chain Management		Journals, Book Series, Books	English	1,441
06/07/2022		Accounting,	Keviews		Wanagement		DOOKS		
	Judgement	For the purpose of u high citations (100			pply chain performance a of study	ce, the researche	er considered	the articles with	143
"Supply Chain									18
Performance" AND Oil and Gas Industry									
Accessed 07/07/2022									
Supply chain uncertainty AND Oil and Gas Industry	Scopus								65
Accessed on 07/07/2022									
	Judgement	After carefully exa sections, 30 articles			by considering their	Titles, abstract	s, keywords	and concluding	30
"SCM" AND "SC"	Scopus								1
AND "SCC" AND	Judgement								

	r		1			1		1	
"SCP" AND "OGI"									
AND "SCU"	9								
"SCM" AND "SC" AND "SCC" AND	Scopus								6
"SCP" AND "OGI"	Judgement								4
Supply chain									0
management AND									
Supply chain									
Performance AND									
Supply chain									
collaboration AND									
oil and gas industry Supply chain	Scopus								
Supply chain management AND	-								
Supply chain	Judgement								0
Performance AND									
Supply chain									
collaboration AND									
Supply Chain									
Uncertainty									
Supply chain	Scopus								0
management AND									
Supply chain									
Performance AND Supply chain									
collaboration AND									
Organisational									
Uncertainty									
"Supply Chain	OnePetrol								410
Management"	Judgement	The number of the	article was limite	d to 10 articles a	fter selecting title sear	ch only			10
	Ū				C	•			
								<u> </u>	
"Supply chain"	OnePetrol								2341
	Judgement	These search criteri	ia was carried ou	t because the ab	ove keyword resulted	to very few ar	icles. The nu	mber of articles	
	U				only. 15 articles were				
		proceedings articles	8						
"Supply Chain									0
Management" AND									-
"Supply Chain"									
AND Oil and Gas									
Industry									

SupplyChainManagementANDSupplyChainOil and GasIndustry									0
Nigeria AND	OnePetrol								5
Supply chain	Judgement	2 papers were select	ed after reading	and reviewing		•	•	•	2
Nigeria Supply Chain	OnePetrol								544
	Judgement	The search outcome was further limited to conference proceedings papers (494) because the journals papers (50) did not contain the keywords in the titles which makes it not essential to the study					494		
		For the purpose of understanding the supply chain system in the Nigerian oil and gas industry, the above judgement articles were critically reviewed and the articles that discuss only the Nigerian oil and gas context with a focus on the supply chain and other irrelevant articles were removed which ended up to 50 articles.					50		

Appendix B Research Location and Companies

The research location is Nigeria because it is a country that represents a typical developing economy that relies heavily on oil and gas for survival, as shown in Figure 7-1 and supported by Kale (2020); Kasirim (2021). The researcher also recognised the importance of the oil and gas supply chain programme for the economy. Therefore, the location was chosen because the researcher strongly believes in having access to defendants or oil and gas industry participants to obtain the needed information for the study process. Furthermore, the country suited the purpose of robust and reliable research into adopting supply chain collaboration to improve industry performance. Nigeria may have an accepted application of supply chain collaboration in some sectors, but the oil and gas industry needs a better experience of success in supply chain collaboration. Figure 7-1 show the impact of oil and gas industry to National GDP as compared to other oil sectors. Also, this figure analysis the quarterly oil GDP between 2018 to 2020 and the price of oil sold per barrel between 2017 to 2020.









SHARE OF OIL AND NON-OIL SECTORS



Figure 7-1: The Impact of the Oil and Gas Industry on Nigeria's GDP Source: Kale (2020); Kasirim (2021)

Furthermore, the author conducted data collection in Nigeria's oil and gas industry with a few selected oil and gas companies to identify how supply chain collaboration leads to performance improvement. The data collection outcome allows the author of this study to develop a model for providing an effective supply chain system in the Nigerian oil and gas industry.

Companies Backgrounds

The web search conducted by the researcher indicated that there are 101 oil and gas companies in Nigeria (Joseph, 2022). Four notable companies in the country were selected as the researcher underwent purposive sampling for the data collection. These companies have several oil and gas outlets and operate across the three sectors (upstream, mainstream, and downstream) of Nigeria's oil and gas industry. Above all, the selected companies are well vase in the supply chain activities, which effectively coordinates the movement of oil and gas products from one location to another. The capabilities and backgrounds of the selected four companies are further discussed below.

Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation

The Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation (NNPC) is owned by the government of the Federal Republic of Nigeria. It is one of Nigeria's most giant oil corporations, established in 1977 and the primary asset holder in the Nigerian oil and gas industry (Bayode & Joseph, 2014; Osuala, 2013). Despite its primary exploration and operational endeavours', the company has been involved in refining, product logistics, transportation and supply chain, petrochemicals, and marketing of refined products across the nation. As a result, it has contributed immensely to revenue generation and development, such as human capital, scholarships, job opportunities and university infrastructure. Figure below shows the operations and activities of Nigeria National Petroleum Corporation.



Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation Source: (NNPC, 2022; Nnpc, 2019a, 2019b)

Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation has been managed as a joint venture between the Nigerian federal government and several foreign multinational corporations, which include Royal Dutch Shell, Agip, ExxonMobil, TotalEnergies, Chevron, and Texaco (now merged with Chevron) by law. This is possible because, in collaboration with these companies, the Nigerian government conducts petroleum exploration and production (Nwokeji, 2007). This has clearly shown the importance of collaboration to business or industry operations. The assets and oil blocs are managed and supervised by the Federal Ministry of Petroleum and Finance. Its assets' worth is estimated to be \$60 billion (about N25.27 trillion), contributing 76% of federal government revenue and 40% of the country's GDP (Bayode & Joseph, 2014; NNPC, 2022; Nnpc, 2019a, 2019b; Osuala, 2013). Furthermore, Table 1-1 detailed the milestones of Nigerian national petroleum corporation and its functionalities.

Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation					
Founded	1977 (44 years of Experience)				
Company's Products	Crude Oil, Gas, Petroleum Products, Petrochemicals, Liquid Hydrocarbon and Sustainable Energy				
Industry	Oil and Gas Industry				
Oil and Gas Sectors	Upstream, Mainstream and Downstream				

Table 1-1: Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation Milestone

Туре	State-Owned Company			
Headquarter	Abuja, Nigeria			
Assets' Worth	N 25.27 trillion			
GDP Contribution	40% of the country's GDP			
Employee Capacity	More Than 7000 Workforce			
The Largest Africa Oil Producer and Supplier				

Rainoil

Rainoil Limited is a well-known integrated downstream company in Nigeria's oil and gas industry. The Rainoil Group of companies operates throughout the downstream value chain. Retail sales are among them, in addition to bulk storage, logistics and shipping, haulage and distribution (Rainoil Web; Rainoil Web). Petrol (PMS), Diesel (AGO), Kerosene (DPK), Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG), and naphtha are among Rainoil's principal products. Rainoil Limited was founded in 1994 and began marketing petroleum products in 1997. Figure below highlight the milestone and activities of Rain oil from 1994 to date.



Rainoil Milestone Source: Rainoil Web

A. A. Rano

The company first opened for business in 1994 and was incorporated in 2002. AA RANO is a significant force in the Nigerian oil industry as one of the country's largest downstream oil trading firms. More than 600 fleets operated by the corporation travel the highways of Nigeria in the transportation industry (Mohammed, 2018). AA RANO has more than 120 oil and gas filling stations in Nigeria. Over three thousand to four thousand jobs have been made available to Nigerians by the company. The company's primary focus is oil and lubricants, but they also dabble in automotive maintenance, liquid petroleum gas (used for cooking), retail, transportation, and logistics (majorwavesen, 2019).

Table 1-2: A A Rano Milestone

A. A. Rano				
Founded	1994 and was incorporated in 2002			
Company's Products	Petroleum Products, oil and gas products logistics and transportation,			
	more than 120 oil and gas filling stations, oil and gas storage, and			
	Petrochemicals.			
Industry	Oil and Gas Industry			
Oil and Gas Sectors	Downstream			
Туре	State-Owned Company			
Headquarter	Abuja, Nigeria			
Assets' Worth	\$2 billion			
Employee Capacity	More Than 3000 Workforce			

Total Nigeria

Total Nigeria Plc, now called TotalEnergies Marketing Nigeria Plc, is a marketing and services.

subsidiary of Total, a global integrated oil and gas business and one of the seven leading oil firms worldwide. Total petrol, diesel, and kerosene supplies in 130 countries, including Nigeria. Total's global business activities include oil and gas exploration, refining, production, and trading. Total is also a major producer of chemicals and low-carbon energy. For more than 50 years, Total Nigeria Plc has been a pioneer in the downstream area of Nigeria's oil and gas business. Total opened its first gas station in Lagos, Nigeria, in 1956.

Company's Activities



Total Nigeria Milestone Source: Total (2022) The company maintains 500 service stations, 19 customer service stations, several industrial outlets, five gasoline depots, distribution factories, and warehouses in Western, Northern, and Eastern Nigeria. Lagos state in Nigeria is where the headquarter of Total Nigeria is located. Figure below illustrates the crucial aspect of Total Nigeria Plc. Total Nigeria generates and distributes electricity, natural gas, and petroleum in Nigeria. The company claims its 100,000 employees are dedicated to making energy better, cheaper, more reliable, cleaner, and available to as many people as possible. The company's long-term goal is to become a reputable energy powerhouse. The company's net worth is estimated to be \$120.2billion (Total, 2022).

Appendix C Data Transcribe and Interpretation

Appendix C.1 NNPC Respondent Views

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for NNPC on Question 1

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 1. How can supply chain collaboration improve performance in the oil and gas industry?

Question 1: Have supply chain collaboration been fully adopted in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria? If yes, how?

No Respondents MNNPC

2

Yes, supply chain collaboration has been fully implemented in our organisation because as an organisation that is involved in the distribution of oil and gas which is a national most needed products so there is every need to ensure the effective and efficient flow of the product nationwide. For the sustainability of our operation in this oil and gas industry collaboration is highly needed with both our customers and suppliers. The organisation valued its relationship with partners and try its best to close any gap that could be found in chains of operations by creating trust and good relationship for effective delivery and satisfaction.

Question 2: Do you think the collaborative supply chain's adoption will help improve performance in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria?

Yes, based on my experience I think supply chain collaboration is beneficial to our organisation performance in terms of efficiency, cost reduction and shortened leadtime in the delivery and distribution of oil and gas products. It is important to state here that collaboration has been helping our organisation and will continue to support our organisation achieve success in other areas of our operations.

Question 3: How can you measure performance in the oil and gas sector?

In my opinion, performance can be measured in two ways which include internal and external. From the view of the internal operation of our company it is important to keep an eye on quality product distribution and effective customer satisfaction, which is more of good planning, while from the external viewpoint of external measures our organisation try as much to ensure flexibility, timeliness and good relationship with suppliers and customers for efficient allocation of resources and responsiveness.

MNNPC Yes, it is fully adopted in my opinion the major areas I can confirm to you on our collaboration include the goal alignment, invest in the infrastructure and people to training which help the organisation in performance management.

Yes, performance can be improved through effective collaboration with suppliers by sharing sensitive information such as better order fulfilment. For example, continuous supplies and better resource utilisation.

Based on my experience, performance can be measured by setting up KPIs and they are reviewed annually for effective improvement if there is need. The KPIs that are much important to our operation include consistent supplies, lead time and quality management. **3 MNNPC** Yes, it has been adopted and this is eminent in our operations. Collaboration is the main approach that has been facilitating our cordial relationship with suppliers and customers.

Yes, it is possible that adopted collaboration can enable efficient supply chain and when resources such as information flow among partners and timely order management results in performance improvement in the supply chain.

I think the important strategies employed for performance measurement should be based on input and output. This is all about the effective management of internal and external factors that enables smooth flow of resources and profit making.

4 ENNPC Yes, it is having been adopted and our organisation was one of the first to implement collaboration in Nigerian oil and gas sector because we are the major company oil and gas distribution. It was necessary for us to set the pace for other to follow and it is paying off.

Yes, but I want you to what is supply chain collaboration first, this typically means organisations working together in the supply chain, sharing objectives, and focusing on costs reduction. These brief strategies if managed well can improve customer service and the supply chain performance to some extent. I have been working with this organisation for several years, there are several ways for performance measurement and largely in different context, it could be financial success, operation success and administrative which are evaluated using different standard and measure, but overall measures should focus on achieving the objectives, organisation consistency, and sustainability.

5 ENNPC Yes, it has been fully adopted and it is working for relationship creation and ensure orderly conduct of business activities. It also facilitates the teamwork and stability of our organisation performance.

Yes, it has been fully adopted

ENNPC

6

I totally agreed that collaboration will help performance improvement in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria because it has been implemented in many organisations proven to be working for the betterment of the organisation. I think it is a sure way for performance improvement and business sustainability

Yes, supply chain collaboration adopted has been yielding fruits because it has been helping our organisation to overcome strike by keeping consistent supply which can be achieved by good leadership resulting to teamwork and clear policies on issues. For an organisation like ours which is involved with distribution of product, performance can be measured by availability of product, effective warehouse operation and transportation to enable effective distribution of oil and gas.

Performance is a difficult thing to be measured because it involves many challenging steps, but our organisation is trying. We normally conduct quarterly review on policy, financial flows, and relationship with partners.

7	ENNPC	Yes, it has been adopted	Yes, supply chain collaboration is very important tool in the success of an organisation, there is a saying that a tree cannot make a forest, therefore, collaboration enables information sharing leading to enhanced knowledge across the chain that allows performance improvement.	My experience is more in the operation section which performance can be measured considering input and output. It is expected that an organisation should have effective input to sustain its operation and the transformation should be efficient to enable quality output.
8	ENNPC	Yes, it has been adopted.	Yes, for effective demand chain management, the supply chain structure must be aligned considering the need customers which can be better managed in collaboration rather than isolation. I agree that collaboration can lead to performance improvement.	It is obvious that performance can be measured by the level of efficiency, customer satisfaction and accountability in the system. This accountability could result to clear policy, structure alignment.
		Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 1	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 2	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 3
		The first sub-question 1 was the confirmation of the fully implementation of supply chain collaboration in the organisation and it was confirmed by the respondents that the collaboration is key element required for the success and sustainability of the organisation by pointing out the roles played such as connectivity of suppliers, customers, and their organisation for effective operation.	From the interviews, respondents all agreed that collaborative supply chain adopted can help in performance in their organisation through information sharing, cost reduction, good leadership and enhance knowledge.	The third sub-question was designed to bring out the how performance can be measured. The researcher was made to understand that there are different ways of measuring performance which include internal and external measures, input and output, flexibility, and timeliness.

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for NNPC on Question 2

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 2. What are the enablers of supply chain collaboration leading performance improvement in oil and gas industry?

		Question 1: What are the key enablers of supply chain collaboration in your organisation?	Question 2: How sustainable is the collaboration between you and your partners?	Question 3: Can supply chain performance be improved without collaboration? If yes, what are the alternatives?
No 1	Respondents MNNPC	My view could be cantered on inclusive decision making, which means involving all partners in decision making. This is vital in the organisation operation as it takes care of risks, costs and flow of resources which ensure sustainability.	One of the ways to sustain collaboration with partners is thrust trust. It is important to keep level trust among parties especially with customers and suppliers.	Yes, in as much as collaboration is important business can survive without it. The key elements that can improve an organisation performance are focus to meeting customers demand, strategic location, and value of the product.
2	MNNPC	Clear policies and communication are our primary enablers in the business, but I must state clear that collaboration enablers differ from sections and department because what may work here may not work in another unit or department. Clear policies and communication can strengthen trust and transparency resulting to effective allocation of resources.	It is important to avoid complicated policy and we ensure to create relationship that can stand test of time.	Yes, it is possible to improve business performance without collaboration especially an organisation operating a monopolistic business and the nature of environment. In this situation such organisation can improve its performance without partnership, but it is very difficult in a highly competitive environment.
3	MNNPC	Leadership quality play a very vital role in actualisation of organisation goals and objectives which is evidence in operation and success recorded so far. A good leader tries to implement what will lead to success of the organisation and always looking for effective channels of partners with credible suppliers for consistent supplies.	Our collaboration with partners rest on the effective management of relationship and trust. These are the key aspects to be consider superior in any partnership.	Collaboration is needed, but an organisation can still improve its performance without partnering with another by focusing on its operation and doing what is needed and committed in delivery quality product timely to customers.
4	ENNPC	Internal and external alignment of objectives is important in the effective operation looking at the internal structure and external factors (employees and suppliers) which are crucial for the success of every organisation.	It is important to understand a stable collaboration require that level of inclusiveness. For collaboration to last long the parties must be involved in common decision making which will enable transparency and accountability leading to sustainability.	Collaboration is just one of several aspect to improving an organisation performance and organisations can improve their performance without collaboration by doing what is right and coordinating business activities justly. They can be achieved the effective monitoring and development and as well as research and

development.
5	ENNPC	Costs management is one our strong strategies which allows us to predict future expenses to reduce the chances of budget speed over.	Our collaboration with partners has been successful in so many areas as evidence in the consistent distribution and customers satisfaction.	Collaboration is important but it soes not mean that an organisation should dependent collaboration to improve its performance. Organisations can improve their performance by prioritising on things that are relevant for success.
6	ENNPC	Information and financial flows. Collaboration can be successful when there is effective information sharing about what is needed, when it is needed and how to implement it and the finally the financial availability to ensure payment as required.	I have been involved in the monitoring and distribution of our products and I discover the importance of collaboration as culture of organisations differs therefore partnership is needed to balance operation. The success of collaboration in our organisation is evidence in the consistent supplier to our customers.	Yes, effective planning is important because if an organisation did not plan its resources and have collaboration with partners therefore the performance will not improvement. Effective planning is the foundation for collaboration.
7	ENNPC	Infrastructural development, this is crucial because an organisation may have the best policies and plans but without good infrastructure the organisation can still face set back or delays in delivery of its goods and services as expected. Therefore, infrastructural development is needed for effective supply chain collaboration.	I was involved in the supervision of the distribution of oil and gas product, and it has been successful which the level of achievement can be actualised through effective partnership.	Yes, in fact a business can still improve its performance by acknowledge/understanding it strengths and weaknesses which is very important.
8	ENNPC	Infrastructure and trust an organisation like ours need infrastructure and trust to enable efficient distribution of our product, order placement and receiving supplies.	I can say our collaboration with partners is 95% success because we always received supplies as expected and we try as much to deliver quality product to customers as a result of commitment.	Yes, another alternative for performance improvement includes clear communication of organisation vision and mission.

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 1

From the transcribed data the researcher understand that the mention supply chain collaboration includes inclusive decision making, clear policies and communication, leadership quality, internal and external alignment of objectives, costs management, information and financial flows, and infrastructural development.

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 2

This question makes the researcher to understand that there is success collaboration with partners which has been helping in the effective flows of resources in the organisation

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 3

Most of the responses pointed out clearly that collaboration is important, but businesses can survive and improve performance through focus, commitment, research and development, monitoring, monopolistic operation, and strategic location. Data Transcribe and Interpretation for NNPC on Question 3

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 3. What are the inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry?

No	Respondents	Question 1: What are the supply chain
		collaboration inhibitors which affect your
		organisational performance?

Question 2: How do you manage challenges in the supply chain collaboration which inhibit you from achieving the targeted goals? Question 3: How does lack of collaboration affect your organisational performance?

1 MNNPC

As a manager, I can categorically tell you that Covid-19 is the primary inhibitor of our operations and has impacted negatively in several aspects or elements of the organisation. Each of our sector operating unit is affected due to rules and regulations of conducting businesses. These effects cut across so many areas beginning from planning, decision making, logistics and distribution, marketing, staffing and labour force. time management and delay delivery in the system which is the major challenges faced by organisations not only our company. How and why? You should be aware that a lot has happened in this period of Pandemic which include restricted movement, work at home, boarder closure and countries lockdown has affected the operations at various stages. Mind you with lack of planning, inadequate communication and labour force shortage supply chain is and will continue to be greatly affected leading to delay in delivery of products and services, marketing, logistics and distributions of products which is exactly what we are facing currently in our company. An organisation can have good collaboration with its partners, have the best plan, policies, and ideas but with these mentioned inhibitors in place it will be very hard to achieve the desire success.

There is no easy way in business, therefore our organisation is determined to remain focus, consistent in our operations and committed in doing what work better for us again and again which is part of continues improvement. Let me bring to your understanding the importance of collaboration in this way that "a tree cannot make a foresting" making it vital for organisations to come together and work in unity in order to achieve the desire success. Please get me right here, there are still companies that are operating independently without collaborating and they are doing well, but it better for organisations to collaborate with each other by sharing information that will promote unity of purpose. A lack of collaboration can affect organisation performance and discourages teamwork, lose trust and motivation of staff.

MNNPC The key inhibitors of supply collaboration noticeable in our organisation that can affect our business performance are lack of information flow in the system which makes it very difficult to understand the happenings in the business environment resulting to inaccurate forecasting and poor market prediction. Poor infrastructure is another sensitive aspect that could hinder effective operation of an organisation. Looking at it in detail, supply chain collaboration can only be effective when there is an effective delivery of products and services which can be actualised through good road network for timely transportation and distribution of products, good internet connectivity for speedy communication among parties involved in business and avoid delays in the system therefore saving cost. It is important to let you know that in our contemporary society Covid-19 pandemic has impacted negatively to the overall performance of organisations including our company in terms of policy and decision making, logistics and other risks encountered leading to business losses particularly finances.

> I want to put to it you in a very simple term that non-availability of the factors that enables effective supply chain collaboration of an organisation is a barrier or an inhibitor. There are several factors that without them an organisation does not function or will underperform such as information sharing, finance or working capital, suppliers' relationship, trust, knowledge, and good planning. We must not ignore the impact of Covid-19 in destroying the good operation performance recorded by companies due to stringent operation conditions for business. The rules of stay at home, restricted movement and nations lockdown were not good for business operations.

Order placement and market survey is an integral part of managing business. When order placement is well managed it makes our organisation to better position its operation to achieve desire success. Having a good market survey guide the operation our organisation and direct its activities which allows managers plan effectively to meet the objectives of the company business. In short without collaboration in business especially in the oil and gas industry where actions are needed, decision making can be difficult in the system because collaboration help build unity of purpose, effective flow of information and promote standard and quality which without it could result to confusion.

Flexibility in our mode of operation permit us to collaborate effectively with our partners. Flexibility enables us to share sensitive information regarding business transactions. It is important for every organisation allow flexibility in its activities which provide transparency that result to performance improvement. Slow productivity and response to demand can be challenging as supplier tend to treat their collaborative partner with urgency and dignity. When there is lack of collaboration in the system, the organisation in its operation face indecision and unclear direction and road map. These will hinder the organisation under perform.

3 MNNPC

2

4 ENNPC I have been working in the operation unit of the company for several years now and the prominent inhibitors in the supply chain collaboration include lack of alignment of goals because companies in collaboration sometimes never have same ideology making it very difficult to align them. Lack of risk acceptance by parties in the collaboration therefore many companies decided not to collaborate in order to avoid risk. Collaboration with parties in the supply chain result to bureaucracy as all parties are required to contribute in each of the operation procedure or process which decision making become too complex resulting to delays in the system.

5

6

ENNPC One primary factor that could act against the operation success of our organisation is time which we never underestimate it. Time can affect structure of the organisation, put the company out of market, keep the company in the state of uncertainty. Therefore, it is important for organisations to understand that timely collaboration, suppliers' selection, and decision making is key to overcoming business barriers.

ENNPC The main supply chain collaboration inhibitors include lack of information sharing, relationship management and trust, poor quality products and services offered, poor decision making and unclear company goals and objectives. An organisation performance can be affected when there is lack of customer focus, people engagement, good leadership and continuous improvement of products and services.

Effective communication is one of the strategies we employed in managing challenges. When communication is effectively administered in the conduct of an organisation activities it has several ways of impacting meaningfully to the performance of the organisation through control of resource, its allocation and effective decision making.

Effective time management is the key for success. In very business time is vital for planning, decision making, allocation of resources timely is key and activity monitoring and evaluation.

Transfer of skills and training is another area I will suggest being the best approach in managing challenges. As a supervisor in the field of operations and logistics of the company, I can tell that skills transfer help me and other managers to relate with our fellow co-workers and has helped us to deal with our subordinates, customers and partners which allows for smooth flow of activities in our organisation. The success of an organisation is determined by vital skills employed to effectively manage the affairs of the organisation for success of its objectives. The organisation may find it difficult to achieve wider targets and goals that can lead to success. A lack of collaboration in a company will make it difficult to market the best ideas. Collaboration is so vital in the day to day running of an organisation as it provides the link between parties for mutual operation. it is right organisations align their goals and target in a collaborative manner to achieve desire outcome.

In a situation where there is lack of collaborative in an organisation the staff become disengaged, set back in policy making, customer and partners lose trust and motivation of both parties become weak. the simple fact is that an organisation can succeed in its project when there is teamwork and avoiding taking huge risk.

A lack of collaboration affects productivity of an organisation when there is unclear direction and no planning in place. This becomes very obvious that collaboration help organisations to overcome these challenges as collaborative approaches enable companies to align their goals, vision, and mission through reduction of uncertainty.

7	ENNPC	Am very much aware that you have interviewed some of our staff and they must have provided you with some inhibitors that are working against our collaboration performance, but I will still emphasis on some of them such as relationship management and trust. These are two difficult areas to manage in any successful collaboration and you may be aware that collaborating with unreliable and unfaithful partner can be dangerous to operation as there are high chances of failure.	Sincerely your questions are somehow challenging to me, but I must be put it to you that managing challenges is not as easy as you may think but an organisation must maintain consistency in its policy and commitment to ensure that the organisation goals are achieved.
8	ENNPC	Channel of communication in an inhibitor we are	It is very important that organisations understand

Channel of communication in an inhibitor we are facing. I as a supervisor I can tell you that the effective channel we reach out customers and other business associate is by phone or text message. However, the challenge is that most areas in Nigeria experience poor network services such MTN, Glo and Airtel network connectivity in some cities making it difficult communicate effective when issue urgent business opportunities arise.

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 1

From the transcribed data, the researcher understands that factors inhibiting supply chain collaboration include Covid-19 pandemic, information sharing, infrastructural development, decision making, unclear policies, communication, leadership quality, alignment of goals and objectives, financial flows, and relationship management and trust. It is very important that organisations understand that managing relationship is crucial for the success of the organisation operations. We at our level, our organisation prioritised relationship management which is key is teamwork management, build creditability and respect to customers and partners.

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 2

From the transcribed data, the researcher understands that some of the approaches employed by managers and supervisors in managing challenges faced by the company include commitment, order placement, flexibility, effective communication, effective time management, transfer of skills, consistency, and relationship management. Lack of collaboration affection innovation and creativity as organisation needed connectivity, information sharing and effective communication to be able the achieve the required performance. So, a lack of collaboration even the organisation employees, customers and partners may not be aware of happenings in the organisation as there is limited ideas and understanding which affect creativity and innovative mind.

This has greater influence on any organisation performance. It can impact negatively to the performance of an organisation when there is poor communication in the system. Collaboration cannot be successful without effective communication.

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 3

From the transcribed data, the researcher understand that a lack of collaboration can affect organisation performance as it discourages teamwork, decision making can be difficult, slow productivity, difficult to achieve organisational wider targets, organisation become disengaged, lack of connectivity to each other and resulting to poor communication.

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for NNPC on Question

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria.

Question 1: What other strategies you have employed in the implementation of supply chain collaboration?

No 1	Respondents MNNPC	Yes, I totally agreed that the main enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaborations are lack of mobile phone network service providers which in most cases customers are un-able to receive mobile messages. This is due to poor net or no network services because most of the of our partners operate in the outskirts of cities which make it difficult to be reached by phone call or text message. In a case where network services are available is an enabler and unavailability become an inhibitor. Am happy to let you know that at our organisation level we try as much prioritise quality products distribution and good services to client as enablers which are other strategies employed by our organisation.
2	MNNPC	I agree with your identified inhibitors of supply chain collaboration especially trust, information sharing, and communication plays a significant role in the sustenance of our collaboration, but it important to note we are operating in a dynamic environment therefore we try to be flexible and proactive on issues of manging supply chain. In regard to your question on

- environment therefore we try to be flexible and proactive on issues of manging supply chain. In regard to your question on other strategies employed by our organisation in the implementation of supply chain collaboration, we consider effective and efficient time management to be our top priority. The organisation ensure order management are timely and paperwork is well coordinated to avoid delays due to bureaucratic processes involved in the operations of the organisation. The respondent still maintained his position that the greatest inhibitors to supply chain collaboration in the oil and gas industry include managing trust among parties or at internal organisation level, information sharing, and communication become difficult when there is lack of commitment but when there is full integration and functional operation it is considered as enablers.
- 3 MNNPC It is accepted that those identified enablers from the literature are key in supply chain collaboration but the absence of them become inhibiting factors. In my opinion, I strongly believed that collaboration should be more focused on quality management which is a major tool that bind organisations together and it is equally one of our criteria for partnership. The above mentioned are other strategies to employed in order to successful collaboration.
- 4 ENNPC I have been working for this organisation for several years and I can agree with you that the identified factors can facilitate collaboration among organisations as enablers and also serve as inhibitors to the same system especially information sharing. So, one has to be careful to whom to share sensitive information with, which is one reason that some organisations found it so difficult to share. Our strategies toward supply chain collaboration implementation are more focused on customers satisfaction and effective product delivery.

5	ENNPC	The strategies employed by our organisation for the implementation of supply chain collaboration include determination and focus, goal alignment and continuous improvement. I 100% agreed with your identified enablers because effective collaboration or partnerships needed trust, infrastructural development teamwork and efficient information sharing in order to achieve common goal.
6	ENNPC	Yes, am aware of some of the key factors you have identified in your literature review, but I want to add that for sustainable collaboration there must be effective innovation and quality management to keep the business moving. These two factors are important for short- and long-term collaboration with partners. Innovation and quality management enable an organisation to remain focus on effective service delivery and customers satisfaction.
7	ENNPC	My personal views to this question are that our organisation always pride itself with accountability and transparent operations which is our prime factors for success. I wish to make my point very clear that accountability and transparency are fundamental to achieving trust, information sharing and others as you rightly identified in your literature reviewed.
8	ENNPC	Yes, it is obvious that collaboration is the strategy for organisation supply chain sustainability. At our level of operation, we consider inclusiveness which result to effective policy and decision making and as well as goal or target setting. This is important in our organisation but not ignoring the fact that infrastructure, communication, and finance has vital roles to play in the sustainability and effectiveness of supply chain.

Summary of the Transcribed Data for question 4

The respondents interviewed expressed their understanding of the already identified factors which could be enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration and they were able to point out some novel strategies employed for the implementation of supply chain collaboration which include accountability and transparency, time management, quality management and goal setting.

Appendix C.2 Total Nigeria Views

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for Total Nigeria on Question 1

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 1. How can supply chain collaboration improve performance in the oil and gas industry?

	Question 1: Have supply chain collaboration	Question 2: Do you think the	Question 3: How can you measure
	been fully adopted in the oil and gas industry	collaborative supply chain's adoption	performance in the oil and gas sector?
	in Nigeria? If yes, how?	will help improve performance in the	
5		oil and gas industry in Nigeria?	

No Respondents

	MTOTAL	The manager accepted and stated the following reasons: effective communication, trust among parties and quality product and services are key in the supply chain collaboration.	Yes, the respondent pointed out the elements that connect to decision making include, costs minimisation, good connectivity, and risk avoidance.	The respondent suggested some key points for measuring performance which include target, evaluation, timeliness, and good planning
2	MTOTAL	Yes, Through the following reasons: customer satisfaction, teamwork, and effective joint venture.	Yes, it is helpful in monitoring and evaluation which essential for the improvement of an organisation performance.	The manager noted that the performance measurement in the oil and gas industry is identified as constant learning, quality improvement, monitoring and reporting
3	MTOTAL	yes, the performance of our logistics service unit was hence through collaboration with the company's logistic partnerships	Yes, it supplies chain performance can be improved when there is trust the can enable effective collaboration among organisations the unity of purpose, observing all the key performance indicators.	The respondent presented that performance can be measured by the level of success record by achieving the KPIs.
4	ETOTAL	Yes, communication and information sharing are the key to success. Promote product standard and its effective flow.	Yes, it is obvious that it can help in performance improvement by considering the key components such as effective communication and making the right decision.	Trust me, performance can be measured financial flow of the organisation and its successful operation.
5	ETOTAL	Yes, effective information sharing, market survey or piloting and effective distribution channel is necessary.	Yes, it is possible, performance can be improved when their effective communication in the system, free expressing of views among parties.	the interviewee stated that performance can be measured by capabilities to deliver on its commitment.
6	ETOTAL	Yes, communication is the first thing to be considered in the collaboration process and followed by trust between members.	Yes, an organisation performance can be improved if and only trust exist in the collaboration.	Performance can be measured when an organisation optimally in the business with losses at most operate at break-even.
7	ETOTAL	Yes, effective policy implementation through clear communication in the system	Yes, but the prime tool for performance improvement is teamwork and it include trust, effective communication and timely decision making and as well knowing what to do at the right time. Therefore, is of important in this case to consider teamwork as the fundamental factor for collaboration.	An organisation performance can be measured by actualising the KPIs and target set for the business year.
8	ETOTAL	Yes, clear policy will sustain every of the collaborative elements in the supply chain	Yes, controlling the levels of operation by ensuring that decision about the business is jointly taken and timely.	Performance can be measured an organisation carry out self-assessment to determine it gain and loss.
		Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 1	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 2	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 3

The first sub-question 1 was the confirmation of the fully implementation and respondents recommended the following components such as communication, information sharing, clear policy implementation, trust, and effective distribution channels. From the interviews, respondents all agreed that collaborative supply chain adopted can help in performance through trust, timely decision making, effective communication and risk management. The third sub-question was designed to bring out the how performance can be measured. The researcher was made to understand that there are different ways of measuring performance which include KPIs, gain and loss, financial flow timeliness and customers satisfaction.

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for Total Nigeria on Question 2

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 2. What are the enablers of supply chain collaboration leading performance improvement in oil and gas industry?

No	Respondents	Question 1: What are the key enablers of supply chain collaboration in your organisation?	Question 2: How sustainable is the collaboration between you and your partners?	Question 3: Can supply chain performance be improved without collaboration? If yes, what are the alternatives?
1	MTOTAL	Information technology, finance and effective within the system (internal) and relationship management with our partners.	It is well connected which is important for the passage of information ourselves and sharing of sensitive company communications. This actually help us in the decision-making process.	Yes, an organisation should focus on quality management.
2	MTOTAL	Total control on resources which could be human, finance and raw materials. Every organisation must develop the culture that allow the effective application and allocation of resource that yield a positive result needed by the organisation which is what collaboration is helping us to achieve	Goal alignment provide our organisation with commitment and fucus on the core values of the organisation is the key to me. This has been helping us to operate effectively with our partners	Yes, quality management through continuous improvement, leadership, people engagement, customers satisfaction and relationship management.
3	MTOTAL	Trust and leadership management is very important. This must be supported by good policy, effective communication, and information sharing. Organisation culture must be promoted by managing resources effectively to ensure success achieved.	The effective management of time is essential in any collaboration, and I believe that is the only thing that keep us moving.	Yes, it better for companies to build internal teamwork and be able to prioritise on bottle neck items or operation for success.
4	ETOTAL	Organisational goals and objectives must meet the expected quality. This will help the organisation to target and monitor its operation. The key ideas should be focus on innovation and quality management.	Sustainable supply chain collaboration lies solely on trust and building relationships but not forgetting that other factors play some important role for the success of a collaboration such finance and communication.	An organisation can succeed with or without collaboration when it focusses to identify its strength, weakness, opportunities, and threats (SWOT).

5	ETOTAL	Trust, accountability, costs management, good planning, clear policy, and performance measurement through KPIs should be encouraged. An organisation can succeed in its goals when there is full implementation of these components that cement or glue the foundation of any collaboration.	channels of communication are necessary for the maintenance of company's collaboration. It important to note that a business cannot survive without getting the rightful information and the spreading the information without stress to partners.	Doing the right thing at the right time.
6	ETOTAL	Relationship management and trust are prime factors needed in collaboration, but for a business to succeed you more than that: this includes strategic thinking and friendly environment for business survival.	Inclusive decision making with parties in the business, teamwork, trust, and clear policy communication can unite different companies together which is part of our strategy.	Yes, when things are well coordinated. An organisation should ensure that products and services meet the standard.
7	ETOTAL	A company is required to partner with right partners who have the capacity, willingness and trustworthy to perform. This consideration is very important in the collaboration and not only in supply chain management by general operation.	Collaboration can be sustained when their constant review of policy, trust among parties and promoting core company's values.	Yes, focusing on what works better for you.
8	ETOTAL	Communication and information sharing is the vital tool to be considered in the collaboration of partners. It is important that organisations consider communication as prime factor for success.	Effective decision making can result to inclusiveness, good planning, and relationship management.	Yes, avoid complication ideas and concentrate build the brand of you company.
		Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 1	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 2	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 3
		From the transcribed data the researcher understands that the mention supply chain collaboration trust, communication, capacity to deliver, good planning and affection of resources and relationship management.	This question makes the researcher to understand that company's collaboration with partners can be sustained by trust, good planning, communication, promoting core values of the company, clear decision, and information sharing	Most of the responses pointed out clearly that collaboration is important, but businesses can survive and improve performance through quality management, focus, commitment, time management, coordination and conducting SWOT.

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for Total Nigeria on Question 3

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 3. What are the inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry?

No	Respondents	Question 1: What are the supply chain collaboration inhibitors which affect your organisational performance?	Question 2: How do you manage challenges in the supply chain collaboration which inhibit you from achieving the targeted goals?	Question 3: How does lack of collaboration affect your organisational performance?
1	MTOTAL	I wish to state here that Covid-19 as impacted negatively to our operation, and we are still yet to recover from its effect on our operation. During the period of lockdown and restriction even when we have collaborative effort with our suppliers, but it was still difficult to achieve the flow of materials and information as most of the workers were working at home and the concentration was lost. Operations were not smooth, for example, here in Nigeria it was challenge as people believe on face to face which was not there again.	There is no easy way in business, therefore our organisation is determined to remain focus, consistent in our operations and committed in doing what work better for us again and again which is part of continues improvement.	Let me bring to your understanding the importance of collaboration in this way that "a tree cannot make a foresting" making it vital for organisations to come together and work in unity in order to achieve the desire success. Please get me right here, there are still companies that are operating independently without collaborating and they are doing well, but it better for organisations to collaborate with each other by sharing information that will promote unity of purpose. A lack of collaboration can affect organisation performance and discourages teamwork, lose trust and motivation of staff.
2	MTOTAL	There should be access control to prevent unauthorised user for accessing key information about our organisation operations particularly in era of online operations. A society like ours, it is difficult to effectively control cybercrime and whenever such violations/breaches occur between collaborative parties is cause doubt and as a result of lack of security to operation organisations are not willing to collaboration with each other.	Order placement and market survey is an integral part of managing business. When order placement is well managed it makes our organisation to better position its operation to achieve desire success. Having a good market survey guide the operation our organisation and direct its activities which allows managers plan effectively to meet the objectives of the company business.	In short without collaboration in business especially in the oil and gas industry where actions are needed, decision making can be difficult in the system because collaboration help build unity of purpose, effective flow of information and promote standard and quality which without it could result to confusion.

MTOTAL I want to put to it you in a very simple term that non-availability of the factors that enables effective supply chain collaboration of an organisation is a barrier or an inhibitor. There are several factors that without them an organisation does not function or will underperform such as information sharing, finance or working capital, suppliers' relationship, trust, knowledge, and good planning. We must not ignore the impact of Covid-19 in destroying the good operation performance recorded by companies due to stringent operation conditions for business. The rules of stay at home, restricted movement and nations lockdown were not good for business operations.

3

4

ETOTAL I have been working in the operation unit of the company for several years now and the prominent inhibitors in the supply chain collaboration include lack of alignment of goals because companies in collaboration sometimes never have same ideology making it very difficult to align them. Lack of risk acceptance by parties in the collaboration therefore many companies decided not to collaborate in order to avoid risk. Collaboration with parties in the supply chain result to bureaucracy as all parties are required to contribute in each of the operation procedure or process which decision making become too complex resulting to delays in the system.

Flexibility in our mode of operation permit us to collaborate effectively with our partners. Flexibility enables us to share sensitive information regarding business transactions. It is important for every organisation allow flexibility in its activities which provide transparency that result to performance improvement.

Effective communication is one of the strategies we employed in managing challenges. When communication is effectively administered in the conduct of an organisation activities it has several ways of impacting meaningfully to the performance of the organisation through control of resource, its allocation and effective decision making.

Slow productivity and response to demand can be challenging as supplier tend to treat their collaborative partner with urgency and dignity. When there is lack of collaboration in the system, the organisation in its operation face indecision and unclear direction and road map. These will hinder the organisation under perform.

The organisation may find it difficult to achieve its vision and goals when there is bad leadership. this may possible impact negatively to collaboration of a company. poor leadership will make it difficult to an organisation to make use of its best ideas. it operates against collaboration that connect members together, but parties may not feel comfortable leadership without vision. 5 ETOTAL One primary factor that could act against the operation success of our organisation is time which we never underestimate it. Time can affect structure of the organisation, put the company out of market, keep the company in the state of uncertainty. Therefore, it is important for organisations to understand that timely collaboration, suppliers' selection, and decision making is key to overcoming business barriers.

Effective time management is the key for success. In very business time is vital for planning, decision making, allocation of resources timely is key and activity monitoring and evaluation.

Capital is needed for effective day to day running of an organisation. When there is inadequate flow of finance in an organisation may not be able to meet its operations as expectation. Capital is essential for the successful running of an organisation.

ETOTAL 6 Commitment is a prime factor to be watched supply chain collaboration because the success of an organisation determines by its focus and delivering on every commitment. commitment is the binding factor for trust, relationship creation and effective decision making which re mostly objectives of organisations.

ETOTAL Am very much aware that you have interviewed some of our staff and they

must have provided you with some inhibitors that are working against our collaboration performance, but I will still emphasis on some of them such as relationship management and trust. These are two difficult areas to manage in any successful collaboration and you may be aware that collaborating with unreliable and unfaithful partner can be dangerous to operation as there are high chances of failure.

Transfer of skills and training is another area I will suggest being the best approach in managing challenges. As a supervisor in the field of operations and logistics of the company, I can tell that skills transfer help me and other managers to relate with our fellow coworkers and has helped us to deal with our subordinates, customers and partners which allows for smooth flow of activities in our organisation. The success of an organisation is determined by vital skills employed to effectively manage the affairs of the organisation for success of its objectives.

Sincerely your questions are somehow challenging to me, but I must be put it to you that managing challenges is not as easy as you may think but an organisation must maintain consistency in its policy and commitment to ensure that the organisation goals are achieved.

A lack of clear policy affects collaboration of an organisation and its performance. when there is unclear policy, it affects direction and planning. organisation can overcome challenges through purposive leadership and teamwork as unclear policy can result to uncertainty.

Lack of collaboration affection innovation and creativity as organisation needed connectivity, information sharing and effective communication to be able the achieve the required performance. So, a lack of collaboration even the organisation employees, customers and partners may not be aware of happenings in the organisation as there is limited ideas and understanding which affect creativity and innovative mind.

7

ETOTAL	Channel of communication in an inhibitor we are facing. I as a supervisor I can tell you that the effective channel we reach out customers and other business associate is by phone or text message. However, the challenge is that most areas in Nigeria experience poor network services such MTN, Glo and Airtel network connectivity in some cities making it difficult communicate effective when issue urgent business opportunities arise.	It is very important that organisations understand that managing relationship is crucial for the success of the organisation operations. We at our level, our organisation prioritised relationship management which is key is teamwork management, build creditability and respect to customers and partners.	This has greater influence on any organisation performance. It can impact negatively to the performance of an organisation when there is poor communication in the system. Collaboration cannot be successful without effective communication.
	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 1	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 2	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 3
	From the transcribed data, the researcher understands that factors inhibiting supply chain collaboration include Covid-19 pandemic, information sharing, infrastructural development, decision making, unclear policies, communication, leadership quality, alignment of goals and objectives, financial flows, and relationship management and trust.	From the transcribed data, the researcher understands that some of the approaches employed by managers and supervisors in managing challenges faced by the company include commitment, order placement, flexibility, effective communication, effective time management, transfer of skills, consistency, and relationship management.	From the transcribed data, the researcher understand that a lack of collaboration can affect organisation performance as it discourages teamwork, decision making can be difficult, slow productivity, difficult to achieve organisational wider targets, organisation become disengaged, lack of connectivity to each other and resulting to poor communication.

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for Total Nigeria on Question 4

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 4 What other strategies you have employed in the implementation of supply chain collaboration?

Question 1: What other strategies you have employed in the implementation of supply chain collaboration?

No Respondents

8

1 MTOTAL

Yes, I agreed with your identified components which could enable and inhibit a business operation. Our organisation is focused on customers fulfilment and effective time management which is key to business success is to avoid the unnecessary expenditure.

- 2 MTOTAL Your informed literature is right, but I will still add some to it. Collaboration should be more of commitment and people oriented but the organisation on its own should seek to make effective decision to support operation is supply chain.
- 3 MTOTAL I agreed with your mentioned points, but I would wish to add that many organisations don't know what collaboration is, they believe that it is all about coming together. Collaboration can be successful when there is trust, commitment and transparency in policies and process. The other strategies employed by our organisation include customers satisfaction and accountability.
- 4 ETOTAL Yes, I confirmed that your mentioned elements are part of enablers and inhibitor of a business operation. enablers can sometimes in turn be an inhibitor to a business especially when what is needed is not in place, it could affect the operation of the business and collaboration is part of the strategy. But a business can survive without collaboration when a business focus on continuous improvement and innovation of process that could align effective conduct of a business. Our is keen on process improvement and meaningful collaboration with parties.
- **5 ETOTAL** Process mentioning, and evaluation are part of the elements that constitute to a business success. All mentioned could impact positively and negatively and organisations engagement into collaboration with partners to enable them to achieve the goals and objective of the business. In the oil and gas industry collaboration is required and our organisation employed monitoring and evaluation to effectively manage relationship, develop trust among parties which is useful to customers satisfaction
- 6 ETOTAL Yes, it is true that the mentioned components could influence collaboration and can as well affect it. Therefore, businesses should be careful when implementing the strategies. Collaboration should be cantered on the improvement of business which are alternative approaches employed include customer focus, integrated decision making and relationship building.
- 7 **ETOTAL** Yes, the aforementioned elements can support an organisation effective implementation of its strategies. If not properly implemented could negatively affect the operation of business. The real essence of collaboration in business is to reduce operation costs and maximizing profit which is our key business strategy.

8 ETOTAL Yes, the mentioned the factors impact on business as an enabler and inhibitor. It important that every developed its strategic operation to achieve the goals and objectives of the business. if an organisation cannot coordinate its operations therefore the best collaboration implemented will not work as there is lack of coordination which it will become a negative impact. An organisation is required to align its strategy with clear policy which is part of what we are doing to ensure the effective flow and coordination of materials and human resources. this has been successful in our organisation due to the simple strategies employed such as building a stronger relationship and teamwork.

Summary of the Transcribed Data for question 4

The respondents interviewed expressed their understanding of the already identified factors which could be enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration and they were able to point out some novel strategies employed for the implementation of supply chain collaboration such as time management, innovation and accountability, commitment, costs reduction, develop trust and building effective relationship.

Appendix C.3 Rainoil Views

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for Rainoil on Question 1

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 1. How can supply chain collaboration improve performance in the oil and gas industry?

Question 1: Have supply chain collaboration been fully adopted in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria? If yes, how? Question 2: Do you think the collaborative supply chain's adoption will help improve performance in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria? Question 3: How can you measure performance in the oil and gas sector?

No Respondents

MRAIN Yes, our organisation has collaborative supply chain in place and has been a major tool for our organisational success through effective decision making. It has been instrumental for the effective flow of product (oil and gas) which is a national most needed products so there is every need to ensure the effective and efficient flow of the product nationwide. Collaboration is needed for the sustainability of our organisation operations. The oil and gas industry are thus required high level of collaboration among parties that are involved (customers and suppliers). Collaboration enable decision making effective which is important in our operations as it help in promoting connectivity and build relationship which is vital in risk reduction.

I think supply chain collaboration has potentials necessary for improving our organisation performance in a market that is highly competitive in nature. Collaboration adoption can help organisations to remain focus, speedy delivery, and efficiency in the system. In my view, an organisation performance can be improved when measured through leadership that enables effective monitoring and evaluation of activities that necessary for organisation success. This can be achieved through good planning and coordination of resources. It is important to make my point clear that performance can be improved when an organisation have its goals and objectives well aligned to enable its effective operation.

2 MRAIN

Yes, we have adopted it, but I cannot categorically say it fully implemented because there are areas in our operation that a lot of work need which is part continuous improvement, in my opinion, I can say we have achieved significant development relationship management which is key in collaboration and the time management is our prime concern. The abovementioned points are essential for operation success of an organisation. Yes, when there is effective performance management it will enable effective flow of resources and information sharing between parties that are involve in similar operation it will better for performance improvement because it will be helpful in policy alignment and operation direction will at ease and it provide much clarity of goals and objectives. In measuring performance of an organisation, we need to first of all consider the set target, work road map and the availability of the enabling factors and conducive environment to business operation. This will help an organisation to plan effectively towards achieving the set goals and outcomes or result. These include human capital, finance, and resources.

3 MRAIN Yes, our company has adopted collaborative supply chain and it has helping factors in our operations especially during this pandemic period. Collaboration has remained our key approach nowadays that has been facilitating our connectivity with clients and suppliers.

From my understanding it is yes that I think the important strategies for adopted collaboration in our supply chain and operation can only be facilitated when organisations align their goals and objectives which can be achieve by sharing business information and risk to avoid failure.

measuring performance is based on the financial turn over. The strategies can be achieved by carefully implementing cost reduction strategies and checklist procedure that will help in monitoring and evaluation.

ERAIN 4 Yes, supply chain collaboration has been adopted in our organisation and it is providing us the needed connection with our partners. It is instrumental in aligning our organisation goals and objective for success. Sincerely I wonder as a supervisor in the operations department what could have happened to us during this Covid-19 pandemic, but with effective collaboration with our partners in place we able to share ideas and I think can overcome all the challenges faced victoriously with the help of collaboration.

Collaborative supply chain has been implemented and its impact is immense especially in policy development and communication between our partners. Let take policy development and you will see that every organisation success rest on effective policy and good planning which is part of collaboration. Then communication is another vital aspect to be considered seriously because communication key to operation success which means that information about supply chain and order placement should communicated in clear terms.

There are many ways for performance measurement which include the context or perspective. Performance can be measured through financial breakthrough of the organisation and the achievement for the year.

ERAIN Yes, it has been fully adopted and it I strongly believed that organisations can survive with collaboration because it is bridge that connects companies together working in building relationship and supporting information sharing and communication flow among organisations.

The oil and gas industry are a sector that collaboration is mostly needed because you are dealing with a delicate product that its distribution or general management involve speed and timely supply and we have adopted the collaborative strategy that is helping us determine the market structure and align our goals to achieve the desire success.

Organisation performance can be measured based of the quality of product and service offered. In order to maintain relevance and sustainability in the market our organisation has implemented continuous improvement approach as a way to monitor acceptability of our product and services in the wider market. This enables us to keep good relationship with our clients.

5

6 ERAIN Yes, it has been adopted and I wish to let you know that there is no way an organisation can achieve 100% optimisation of collaboration therefore I cannot say we have implemented fully and efficient supply chain collaboration with our partners, but we are doing well in term of communication, information among ourselves, effective decision making and allocation of scarce resource. I cannot deny the fact that there are challenges in the system.

The success recorded so far by our organisation is part of collaboration adopted and is yielding result. In this modern approach of quality management, information sharing and aligning policy has impacted positively on performance improvement.

It is very important for organisations to

collaborate in order achieve the desire

result. The collaborative strategy enables

organisation to predict business

environment and set target and align its

Effective relationship management is part of strategy employed by our organisation for performance improvement. The bottom is that profit making, and sustainability of business are some points to be considered when measuring performance of an organisation.

Measuring performance is one difficult

stage in many organisations. The flow

of products and services is important.

measurement should be based on input

performance

experience

From

and output.

ERAIN Yes, it has been adopted and it is better for organisations work as a team rather than working individually. This is helping organisation like ours to be flexible and respond timely to issues as information are shared among partners.

7

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 1

The first sub-question 1 was the confirmation of the adaptation of supply chain collaboration in the organisation and it was confirmed by the respondents that the collaboration is key element required for the success and sustainability of the organisation by pointing out the roles played such as connectivity of suppliers, customers satisfaction, goal alignment and continuous improvement for effective organisation operation.

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 2

policy.

From the interviews, respondents all agreed that collaborative supply chain adopted information sharing, cost reduction, good leadership and effective communication can help improve performance of an organisation.

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 3

The third sub-question was designed to bring out the how performance can be measured. The researcher was made to understand that there are different ways of measuring performance which include input and output, quality of products and services offered, financial flow and timeliness.

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for Rainoil on Question 2

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 2. What are the enablers of supply chain collaboration leading performance improvement in oil and gas industry? Question 1: What are the key enablers of supply chain collaboration in your organisation?

No Respondents

- 1 MRAIN
- Inclusive decision making is key to collaboration which means involving all partners in decision making. This is important in the effective performance of an organisation operation as it reduces risks and uncertainty, costs and enable effective flow of resources in the system which is prime for collaboration.

Question 2: How sustainable is the collaboration between you and your partners?

Ways to make effective collaboration with partners is build trust. It is important to keep level trust among parties especially with client and when relationships are effectively managed it can promote performance.

Question 3: Can supply chain performance be improved without collaboration? If yes, what are the alternatives?

Yes, in as much as collaboration is important business can survive without it. The key elements that can improve an organisation performance are focus to meeting customers demand, strategic location, and value of the product.

Yes, it is possible to improve business

- 2 MRAIN Clear policies and open communication are our primary enablers in the business, but I must state clear that collaboration enablers differ from sections and department because what may work here may not work in another unit or department. Clear policies and communication can strengthen trust and transparency resulting to effective allocation of resources.
- **3 MRAIN** Infrastructure and trust an organisation like ours need infrastructure and trust to enable efficient distribution of our product, order placement and receiving supplies.

For an organisation to sustain its collaboration with clients which depends on the effective management of relationship and trust. These are the key aspects to be consider superior in any partnership.

4 ERAIN Before an organisation begin to talk of success there must be Internal and external alignment of objectives with clear policy with support effective operation. An organisation should develop a workable channel that are reliable such time management and communication.

Collaboration could last long if the parties involved are committed and dedicated for common decision making to enable transparency and accountability. performance without collaboration especially an organisation operating a monopolistic business and the nature of environment. In this situation such organisation can improve its performance without partnership, but it is very difficult in a highly competitive environment to succeed without collaboration which is noticeable in the oil and gas sector.

Collaboration is needed in the oil and gas industry, but other organisations can still improve its performance without partnering with another by focusing on its operation and doing what is needed and committed in delivery quality product timely to customers.

An organisation can improve its performance without collaboration when it applies work right and conduct business in friendly environment.

5 ERAIN An organisation can successful operations hen there is tolerant in administrative affairs and effective costs management which ensure that resources are adequately allocated, and activities are well monitored. Customers satisfaction and effective An organized distribution of products to clients is our key strategy in collaboration.

An organisation should focus on developing its brand and doing thing right by continuously improving quality and having innovative mind 6 ERAIN The key enabling factors for organisation success in its operation include financial strength and access to finance. An organisation can operation successfully if there is effective financial commitment and information sharing about happening in the system.

The success of collaboration in our organisation is evidence in the consistent supplier to our customers. This approach has been helpful to us especially in this period of Covid-19 pandemic.

It is important to keep connected to clients

and constantly an organisation to review its

strategies to remain focus on quality

Yes, effective planning is important because if an organisation did not plan its resources and have collaboration with partners therefore the performance will not improvement. Effective planning is the foundation for collaboration.

Yes, in fact a business can still improve its performance by acknowledging and

understanding it strengths and

weaknesses which is very important for

performance improvement include clear

communication of organisation vision

and mission.

7 ERAIN Infrastructural development, this is crucial because an organisation may have the best policies and plans but without good infrastructure the organisation can still face set back or delays in delivery of its goods and services as expected. Therefore, infrastructural development is needed for effective supply chain collaboration which will enable effective movement and distribution.

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 1

From the transcribed data the researcher understand that the mention supply chain collaboration includes inclusive decision making, clear policies and communication, leadership quality, internal and external alignment of objectives, costs management, information and financial flows, and infrastructural development.

Summary of the transcribed data for

sub - question 2

management.

This question makes the researcher to understand that there is success collaboration with partners which has been helping in the effective flows of resources in the organisation

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 3

Most of the responses pointed out clearly that collaboration is important, but businesses can survive and improve performance through focus, commitment, research and development, monitoring, monopolistic operation and quality improvement and innovative mind.

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for Rainoil on Question 3

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 3. What are the inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry?

No	Respondents	Question 1: What are the supply chain	Question 2: How do you manage challenges in	Question 3: How does lack of
		collaboration inhibitors which affect your	the supply chain collaboration which inhibit	collaboration affect your organisational
		organisational performance?	you from achieving the targeted goals?	performance?

 MRAIN I cannot take out the impact of Covid-19 on operations. This has come into effect in different levels and stages which include lockdown, boarder closure, social distancing and restricted movement which affected both human and product movement result to scarcity.
MRAIN Demand and supply uncertainty make it Havin

MRAIN Demand and supply uncertainty make it difficult for suppliers to predict or anticipate customers' demand in advance due for example to changes in weather and preference. Business is all about risk taking. Our organisation is determined to remain focus, consistent in our operations and committed in doing what work better for us again and again which is part of continues improvement.

Having a good market survey guide the operation our organisation and direct its activities which allows managers to plan effectively to meet the objectives of the company activities.

3 MRAIN Lack of quality and safety measures can also be a challenge, which implies that the operation and supply chain is affected due to a lack of control against fraud and adulteration of the products in the oil and gas industry.

Flexibility in our mode of operation permit us to collaborate effectively with our partners. Flexibility enables us to share sensitive information regarding business transactions. It is important that organisations allow flexibility in its information sharing as it helpful for the organisation activities and operation. In doing so provide transparency and accountability resulting to performance improvement Low performance, slow response to order and even possible delay in the system to Covid-19 impact resulted to new ways of operation and how to do business at local and international levels which was new and the difficulty of coping with it.

lack of manpower can affect collaboration in business especially in the oil and gas industry where actions are needed, decision making can be difficult in the system because collaboration help build unity of purpose, effective flow of information and promote standard and quality which without it could result to confusion.

Poor transportation can lead slow productivity and inhibit response to demand and can be challenging to supplier as it tends to threat to their collaborative partner when dealing with urgency and dignity.

4 ERAIN The lack of appropriate supply chain contracts results from inadequate and unclear policies and a poor regulatory framework in the working terms and conditions to enable efficient and secured information sharing has greatly impacted negatively on the supply chain activities in the oil and gas industry.

Effective communication is one of the strategies we employed in managing challenges. When communication is effectively administered in the conduct of an organisation activities it has several ways of impacting meaningfully to the performance of the organisation through control of resource, its allocation and effective decision making.

The organisation may find it difficult to achieve wider targets and goals that can lead to success. A lack of collaboration in a company will make it difficult to market the best ideas. Collaboration is so vital in the day to day running of an organisation as it provides the link between parties for mutual operation. it is right organisations align their goals and target in a collaborative manner to achieve desire outcome.

5	ERAIN	Infrastructure affects the efficient movement of oil and gas products from one point to another as a result of poor facilities to transfer products from the suppliers to the demand points in the best and safest way	Effective time management is the key for success. In very business time is vital for planning, decision making, allocation of resources timely is key and activity monitoring and evaluation.	In a situation where there is lack of collaborative in an organisation the staff become disengaged, set back in policy making, customer and partners lose trust and motivation of both parties become weak. the simple fact is that an organisation can succeed in its project when there is teamwork and avoiding taking huge risk.
6	ERAIN	Lack of cooperation and coordination have negative effects on the operation and supply chain management in the oil and gas industry when there is no close relation between parties and a lack of team work to facilitate decision making can lead failure of system.	The external and internal supply and distribution elements in Nigeria have complicated the operation of oil and gas industry with issues ranging from funding, transportation, and distribution of products. But our organisation is committed in focusing on good relationship management.	A lack of collaboration affects productivity of an organisation when there is unclear direction and no planning in place.
7	ERAIN	The complexity of market systems and infrastructure, such as inefficient procurement, transportation network and distribution channels in Nigeria affected supply chain collaboration	Dilapidated infrastructure in Nigeria and low private sector involvement in the whole supply chain in the Nigeria is a challenge. The Government of Nigeria should encourage and support private sector participation in the oil and gas industry.	Lack of collaboration affection innovation and creativity as organisation needed connectivity.
		Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 1 From the transcribed data, the researcher understands that factors inhibiting supply chain collaboration include Covid-19 pandemic, information sharing, infrastructural development, decision making, unclear policies, communication, leadership quality, alignment of goals and objectives, financial flows, and relationship management and trust.	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 2 From the transcribed data, the researcher understands that some of the approaches employed by managers and supervisors in managing challenges faced by the company include commitment, order placement, flexibility, effective communication, effective time management, transfer of skills, consistency, and relationship management.	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 3 From the transcribed data, the researcher understand that a lack of collaboration can affect organisation performance as it discourages teamwork, decision making can be difficult, slow productivity, difficult to achieve organisational wider targets, organisation become disengaged, lack of connectivity to each other and resulting to poor communication.

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for Rainoil on Question 4

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria.

Subsection Question: 4 What other strategies you have employed in the implementation of supply chain collaboration?

Question 1: What other strategies you have employed in the implementation of supply chain collaboration?

No Respondents

- **1 MRAIN** Yes, I may agree to you that identified enablers are true, but it is vital that organisation adopt other strategies in its operation. Another key element to be considered in the system is to watch out for any possible risks and uncertainties that can hinder their performance
- 2 MRAIN I agree with you, but it is important for an organisation to enforce good planning an effective communication in the systems of operation. On the account of strategies implemented our supply chain collaboration, our organisation creativity and efficient time management as part of good planning has been our main priority and it is our key enabler. In doing so we focus more internal development and when there is limited or non-availability time management, resources and infrastructural development then inhibit the performance of an organisation which all mentioned can only be achieved by effective planning

3 MRAIN An organisation should be able to define and communicate its goals and objectives in clear terms in order to achieve the desire result. It is important to state clearly here that there are no accepted factors that are meant to be enablers and other as inhibitors. It works in way, if an organisation fails to effectively plan its operation it may become an inhibitor and if an organisation properly coordinates its activities it may act as enabler. Collaboration is an act of implementing what work well for you and that become your enabler because it facilitates your business connectivity. An organisation should adopt the use KPIs strategies to direct its conduct efficiently

4	ERAIN	It is difficult to set a standard of enablers for collaboration because what work well in business A may work the structure or system of business B. The key strategies here are that organisations should focus on building good relationship, remain committed to its operation and encourage creativity.
5	ERAIN	You presented some vital elements that can act as enablers and inhibitors to performance of an organisation, but I must add that it is important that companies share their mission over and over again. This element is important strategy for improving performance particularly during this period of Covid-19 pandemic.
6	ERAIN	Yes, the strategy to be considered away from the above mentioned include the promotion of a community working environment that able innovation and effective customer satisfaction. I strongly believe that this aspect should be considered integral in collaborative supply chain.
7	ERAIN	In my opinion it is important for organisation to highlight its individual strength and remain committed in training and development of its employees as strategy for achieving needed success

Summary of the Transcribed Data for question 4

The respondents interviewed expressed their understanding of the already identified factors which could be enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration and they pointed out some novel strategies to supply chain collaboration which include communication of company's expectations, foster honest and open communication, define, and communicate organisation goals and objectives, build relationship, share organisation mission, community working environment and review of individual strength.

Appendix C.4A A Rano Views

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for AARano on Question 1

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria.

Subsection Question: 1. How can supply chain collaboration improve performance in the oil and gas industry?

Question 1: Have supply chain collaboration been fully adopted in the oil	Question 2: Do you think the collaborative supply chain's adoption	Question 3: How can you measure performance in the oil and gas sector?
and gas industry in Nigeria? If yes, how?	will help improve performance in the oil and gas industry in Nigeria?	

No Respondents

	MRANO	Yes, For the sustainability of our operation in this oil and gas industry collaboration is highly needed with both our customers and suppliers. The organisation valued its relationship with partners and try its best to close any gap that could be found in chains of operations by creating trust and good relationship for effective delivery and satisfaction.	Yes, based on my experience I think supply chain collaboration is beneficial to our organisation performance in terms of efficiency, cost reduction and shortened lead-time in the delivery and distribution of oil and gas products.	In my opinion, performance can be measured in two ways which include internal and external. From the view of the internal operation of our company it is important to keep an eye on quality product distribution and effective customer satisfaction, which is more of good planning, while from the external viewpoint of external measures our organisation try as much to ensure flexibility, timeliness and good relationship with suppliers and customers for efficient allocation of resources and responsiveness.
2	MRANO	Yes	Yes, it is important to recognise that performance of every organisation should be strategic, and self-directed and adopting collaboration may help in improving so many things.	Based on my experience, performance can be measured by setting up KPIs and they are reviewed annually for effective improvement if there is need. The KPIs that are much important to our operation include consistent supplies, lead time and quality management.
3	MRANO	Yes, it has been adopted and this is eminent in our operations.	Yes.	I think the important strategies employed for performance measurement should be based on input and output.
4	ERANO	Yes, it is having been adopted and our organisation was one of the first to implement collaboration in Nigerian oil and gas sector because we are the major company oil and gas distribution. It was necessary for us to set the pace for other to follow and it is paying off.	Yes, but I want you to what is supply chain collaboration first, this typically means organisations working together in the supply chain, sharing objectives, and focusing on costs reduction. These brief strategies if managed well can improve customer service and the supply chain performance to some extent.	The overall measures should be focus on achieving the organisation objectives, consistency, and sustainability.
5	ERANO	Yes, it has been fully adopted and it is working for relationship creation and ensure orderly conduct of business activities. It also facilitates the teamwork and stability of our organisation performance.	I think it is a sure way for performance improvement and business sustainability	an organisation can achieve it desire result when there is good leadership in place to direct its activities by implementing good policies and managing it effectively.

6	ERANO	Yes, it has been fully adopted	Yes, it has been helping our organisation to overcome strike by keeping consistent supply which can be achieved by good leadership resulting to teamwork and clear policies on issues.	Performance is a difficult thing to be measured because it involves many challenging steps, but our organisation is trying. We normally conduct quarterly review on policy, financial flows, and relationship with partners.
7	ERANO	Yes, it has been adopted	Yes, supply chain collaboration is very important tool in the success of an organisation, there is a saying that a tree cannot make a forest.	My understanding it difficult to measure performance but largely depends on the level of organisational success or achievements.
		Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 1	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 2	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 3
		The first sub-question 1 was the confirmation of the fully implementation of supply chain collaboration in the organisation and it was confirmed by the respondents that the collaboration is key element required for the success and sustainability of the organisation by pointing out the roles played such as	From the interviews, respondents all agreed that collaborative supply chain adopted can help in performance in their organisation through information sharing, cost reduction, good leadership and enhance knowledge.	The third sub-question was designed to bring out the how performance can be measured. The researcher was made to understand that there are different ways of measuring performance which include internal and external measures, input and output, flexibility, and timeliness.

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for AARano on Question 2

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 2. What are the enablers of supply chain collaboration leading performance improvement in oil and gas industry?

Question 1: What are the key enablers of supply chain collaboration in your organisation?

Question 2: How sustainable is the collaboration between you and your partners?

Question 3: Can supply chain performance be improved without collaboration? If yes, what are the alternatives?

No Respondents

1	MRANO	My view could be cantered on inclusive decision making, which means involving all partners in decision making.	If components are effectively managed there will be evidence of collaboration.	The key elements that can improve an organisation performance are focus to meeting customers demand, strategic location, and value of the product.
2	MRANO	Clear policies and communication are our primary enablers in the business	It is important to avoid complicated policy and we ensure to create relationship that can stand test of time.	Yes, it is possible to improve business performance without collaboration especially an organisation operating a monopolistic business and the nature of environment. In this situation such organisation can improve its performance without partnership, but it is very difficult in a highly competitive environment.
3	MRANO	A good leader tries to implement what will lead to success of the organisation and always looking for effective channels of partners with credible suppliers for consistent supplies.	Our collaboration with partners rest on the effective management of relationship and trust.	continuous improvement of product and services through innovation and creativity.
4	ERANO	Goals alignment objectives should be very clear.	Takes into account transparency and accountability leading to sustainability.	Collaboration is just one of several aspect to improving an organisation performance and organisations can improve their performance without collaboration by doing what is right and coordinating business activities justly.
5	ERANO	Effective decision making be considered to be a recipe needed for the conduct of an organisation activities and our organisation takes this point very serious and has been helping us to overcome management issues.	Our collaboration with partners has been successful in so many areas as evidence in the consistent distribution and customers satisfaction.	Development of self-confidence and commitment
6	ERANO	Information and financial flows.	I have been involved in the monitoring and distribution of our products and I discover the importance of collaboration as culture of organisations differs therefore partnership is needed to balance operation. The success of collaboration in our organisation is evidence in the consistent supplier to our customers.	Yes, effective planning is important because if an organisation did not plan its resources and have collaboration with partners therefore the performance will not improvement. Effective planning is the foundation for collaboration.

7 ERANO

Channel of communication in an inhibitor we are facing. I as a supervisor I can tell you that the effective channel we reach out customers and other business associate is by phone or text message. However, the challenge is that most areas in Nigeria experience poor network services such MTN, Glo and Airtel network connectivity in some cities making it difficult communicate effective when issue urgent business opportunities arise. It is very important that organisations understand that managing relationship is crucial for the success of the organisation operations. We at our level, our organisation prioritised relationship management which is key is teamwork management, build creditability and respect to customers and partners. This has greater influence on any organisation performance. It can impact negatively to the performance of an organisation when there is poor communication in the system. Collaboration cannot be successful without effective communication.

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 1

From the transcribed data the researcher understand that the mention supply chain collaboration includes inclusive decision making, clear policies and communication, leadership quality, internal and external alignment of objectives, costs management, information and financial flows, and infrastructural development.

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 2

This question makes the researcher to understand that there is success collaboration with partners which has been helping in the effective flows of resources in the organisation

Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 3

Most of the responses pointed out clearly that collaboration is important, but businesses can survive and improve performance through focus, commitment, research and development, monitoring, monopolistic operation, and strategic location.

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for AARano on Question 3

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 3. What are the inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry?

No Respondents Question 1: What are the supply chain collaboration inhibitors which affect your organisational performance?

Question 2: How do you manage challenges in the supply chain collaboration which inhibit you from achieving the targeted goals? Question 3: How does lack of collaboration affect your organisational performance?

1 MRANO We have seen and noticed the negative impact of The Covid-19 on our business operation, and I can say out that restricted movement has affected our for collaboration with our partners as it presents a contract and danger to operations due to lack of again formation and material flow.

There is no easy way in business, therefore our organisation is determined to remain focus, consistent in our operations and committed in doing what work better for us again and again which is part of continues improvement. Please get me right here, there are still companies that are operating independently without collaborating and they are doing well, but it better for organisations to collaborate with each other by sharing information that will promote unity of purpose. A lack of collaboration can affect organisation performance and discourages teamwork, lose trust and motivation of staff.

2 MRANO The key inhibitor of supply collaboration in our organisation and the nation at large is a lack of innovation and creativity. there is need for an organisation to have innovative and creative mind which means developing something new or constantly improving the existing one. when there is no improvement into the system such as staff training and development the organisation will short of ideas and out of operation sooner or later.

3

4

Order placement is an integral part of managing business. When order placement is well managed it makes our organisation to better position its operation to achieve desire success and be able compete. Order placement is crucial in collaboration as it enable suppliers to deliver on commitment effectively and efficiently. Emergency or late buying are difficult to manage therefore organisations should cultivate the culture of placing order on time.

there should be need for effective flow of

materials and information.

MRANO The covid-19 have taken our joy and there is no free interaction among members, this have made people to so reserved to themselves and this is impacting negatively to our decision-making process. Most staff are afraid of coming so that they can contracted the virus. Dispute the use of online meeting, many managers and employees would find it difficult to connect due to poor internet connection in their respective areas leading to imbalance or delay in decision making and the apply to every process of our operation.

It is important for every organisation allow flexibility in its activities which provide transparency that result to performance improvement.

Slow productivity and response to demand can be challenging as supplier tend to treat their collaborative partner with urgency and dignity.

ERANO I have been working in the operation unit of the company for several years now and the prominent inhibitors in the supply chain collaboration include lack of alignment of goals because companies in collaboration sometimes never have same ideology making it very difficult to align them.

we at our own level promote trust and high level of communication for both internal and external dealings. collaboration should be the key pilar to successful operation of any meaningful organisation.

5	ERANO	It is important for organisations to understand that timely collaboration, suppliers' selection, and decision making is key to overcoming business barriers.	Goal align is important to me and we promote it here a lot.	In a situation where there is lack of collaborative in an organisation the staff become disengaged, set back in policy making, customer and partners lose trust and motivation of both parties become weak. the simple fact is that an organisation can succeed in its project when there is teamwork and avoiding taking huge risk.
6	ERANO	In most case mode of offering services and design of operation contributed to the major challenges faced by organisation.	Transfer of skills and training is another area I will suggest being the best approach in managing challenges. As a supervisor in the field of operations and logistics of the company, I can tell that skills transfer help me and other managers to relate with our fellow co-workers and has helped us to deal with our subordinates, customers and partners which allows for smooth flow of activities in our organisation.	Lack of collaboration can lead to confusion, distraction, and infective operation.
7	ERANO	let me will still emphasis on the impact of Covid- 19 as inhibiting factor to our operation. Relationship with our partners were greatly affected due to the boarder closure and trust was very difficult to managed as parties in the collaboration were informed as it should, and we need to understand that collaboration will not be effective without effective and efficient flow of information and materials in the chain. Our organisation currently witnessing challenges with our international collaborators as there is lack of flows in the system.	Sincerely your questions are somehow challenging to me, but I must be put it to you that managing challenges is not as easy as you may think but an organisation must maintain consistency in its policy and commitment to ensure that the organisation goals are achieved.	Lack of collaboration affection innovation and creativity as organisation needed connectivity, information sharing and effective communication to be able the achieve the required performance. So a lack of collaboration even the organisation employees, customers and partners may not be aware of happenings in the organisation as there is limited ideas and understanding which affect creativity and innovative mind.
		Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 1 From the transcribed data, the researcher understands that factors inhibiting supply chain collaboration include Covid-19 pandemic, information sharing, infrastructural development, decision making, unclear policies, communication, leadership quality, alignment of goals and objectives, financial flows, and relationship management and trust.	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 2 From the transcribed data, the researcher understands that some of the approaches employed by managers and supervisors in managing challenges faced by the company include building trust, order, flexibility, effective information sharing, effective time management, transfer of skills, consistency, and relationship management.	Summary of the transcribed data for sub - question 3 From the transcribed data, the researcher understand that a lack of collaboration can affect organisation performance as it discourages teamwork, decision making can be difficult, slow productivity, difficult to achieve organisational wider targets, organisation become disengaged, lack of connectivity to each other and resulting to poor communication.

Data Transcribe and Interpretation for AARano on Question 4

Topic: The Adoption of Supply Chain Collaboration in Oil and Gas Industry: A Case of Performance Improvement in Nigeria. Subsection Question: 4 What other strategies you have employed in the implementation of supply chain collaboration?

Question 1: What other strategies you have employed in the implementation of supply chain collaboration?

No Respondents

1 MRANO

Yes, the mentioned enablers are supportive components of supply chain, but it is important to understand the roles of other strategies such as avoidance of unnecessary expenses in the conduct of supply chain activities. Organisations should develop plans that will guide their conduct and direct operational activities through costs reduction".

- 2 MRANO Organisations should be committed to making effective decisions that will drive the operations and supply chain to the path of success. This can be achieved through strong decision-making skills which is crucial in the risk assessment of decisions and encourage members participation.
- **3** MRANO I agreed with your mentioned points from the literature, but I will wish to add that many organisations don't know what collaboration is, they believe that it is all about coming together but collaboration can be successful where there is trust, commitment and transparency in policies and process. Organisation should employ honesty as a strategy to customers satisfaction and accountability in the system
- **4 ERANO** I can agree with you that the identified factors are capable of enabling collaboration of organisation. Our other strategies focus on training, promotion of business ideas.

5	ERANO	Yes, but is crucial to note the environment you are operating on and what type of relationships you keep with partners.
6	ERANO	Yes, you can see we are doing because we invest much into human developed through training and programmes for new ideas
		for the benefit of our organisation.
7	ERANO	Yes, but it is important that we as organisation think strategically about our business strategies.

Summary of the Transcribed Data for question 4

The respondents interviewed expressed their understanding of the already identified factors which could be enablers and inhibitors of supply chain collaboration and they were able to point out some novel strategies such as training and business ideas.

Appendix D Interview Findings Percentage Despondence Frequency

Interview Findings Percentage Despondence Frequency

Interview Findings Percentage Despondence Frequency on Question 1

How can supply chain collaboration improve performance in the oil and gas industry?					
Adoption	Number of respondents and their Frequency				
	Managers Employees]	Fotal	%	
Trust	6	7	13	43%	
Goal Alignment	1	0	1	3%	
Good Relationship	1	1	2	7%	
Flexibility	6	3	9	30%	
Effective Time Management	6	3	9	30%	
Information Sharing	10	4	14	47%	
Connectivity of Suppliers	2	3	5	17%	
Input and Output Management	1	1	2	7%	
Customers' Satisfaction	3	2	5	17%	
Costs Reduction	2	2	4	13%	
Performance Management	1	1	2	7%	
Teamwork	1	3	4	13%	
Good Leadership	1	4	5	17%	
Effective Operations	1	4	5	17%	
Decision Making	1	3	4	13%	
Total Interviewees			30		

How can supply chain collaboration improve performance in the oil and gas industry?

Interview Findings Percentage Despondence Frequency on Question 2

What are the enablers of supply chain collaboration leading performance improvement in oil and gas industry?

Enablers	Number of respondents and their Frequency				
	Managers	Employees	Total	Percent	

Teamwork	1	4	5	17%
Policy Making	0	4	4	13%
Key Performance Indicators	0	2	2	7%
Good Leaderships	5	2	7	23%
Trust	5	7	12	40%
Collaborative Relationship Management	4	9	13	43%
Target and Goal Alignment	2	6	8	27%
Effective Flow of Resources	3	3	6	20%
Timeliness	3	5	8	27%
Good Planning	2	3	5	17%
Decision Making	1	5	6	20%
Quality Management	2	2	4	13%
Continuous Improvement	2	7	9	30%
Effective Communication	4	9	13	43%
Communication Channels	3	4	7	23%
Information Technology	3	1	4	13%
Infrastructure	1	1	2	7%
Information Sharing	2	5	7	23%
Road Network	2	3	5	17%
Financial Flow	3	4	7	23%
Cost Management	0	4	4	13%
Effective Commitment	0	6	6	20%
	48	96	144	

total Participants

30

Interview Findings Percentage Despondence Frequency on Question 3

What are the inhibitors of supply chain performance in the oil and gas industry?

Inhibitors	Number of respondents and their Frequency			
	Number of respondents			
	Managers Employe	es T	otal	%
Covid-19 pandemic	10	17	27	90%
Lack of Security	2	5	7	23%
Poor Transports System	2	2	4	13%
Poor Communication	8	3	11	37%
Lack of Clear Policies	7	2	9	30%
Lack of Working Capital	3	1	4	13%
Lack of Manpower	2	3	5	17%
Lack of Commitment	1	3	4	13%
Lack of Innovation and creativity	1	1	2	7%
Lack of Information Sharing	1	3	4	13%
Order Placement	3	1	4	13%
Poor Planning	0	2	2	7%
total Participants				30

Number of respondents and their Frequency

Interview Findings Percentage Despondence Frequency on Question

What other strategies you have employed in the implementation of supply chain collaboration

Other Strategies	Number of respondents and their Frequency			
	Number of respondents			
	Managers	Employees	Total	%
Key Performance Indicators	1	5	6	20%
Monitoring and Evaluation	1	6	7	23%
Management of Business Structure	1	4	5	17%
Good Planning	3	9	12	40%
Honesty	2	2	4	13%
Effective Communication	2	4	6	20%
Internal Development	1	3	4	13%
---------------------------	---	---	---	-----
Effective Decision Making	1	3	4	13%
Value Creation	1	3	4	13%
Avoid Risk Taking	1	2	3	10%
Unnecessary Expenditures	1	2	3	10%
Review of Performance	1	2	3	10%
total Participants				30

Question 1: What is performance improvement?

Performance improvement is the alignment of the sector's activities by the staff working together to achieve the desired outcome.

Question 2: What are key enablers to performance improvement in supply chain?

Relationship Management, Infrastructure, Planning and Quality Management.

Question 3: What are the inhibitors to performance improvement in supply chain?

Covid 19, Lack of Infrastructure and Poor leadership

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google.



Question 1: What is performance improvement?

Performance improvement is a process of measuring the evidence of increased efficiency or output as a result of the adjustments or changes made to a specific job, methodology, or work instruction.

Question 2: What are key enablers to performance improvement in supply chain?

performance improvements are enabled by access to databases of information, capabilities for data analysis, and full access to data sharing or networking. As more data becomes available, supply chains are given leverage to do better decisions whether the aim is for economic gains or for sustainability. Some companies have access to all the data though but are not necessarily more improved because they may not have the appropriate skills for data analysis. Correct use of available data whether full blown or limited is still a more enabling asset to a company.

Question 3: What are the inhibitors to performance improvement in supply chain?

The possible inhibitors of performance improvement can be unrealistic expectations or under-used resources. The 7 types of wastes from TPM can be applied to this as well. Supply chains should be able to measure the main sources of performance wastes for example overproduction, unmonitored inventory, defects, motion, over-processing, unnecessary waiting, transport, and underused talents in the organizations. If these sources of waste are not measured, improvements are also unlikely.

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google. Google Forms

Question 1: What is performance improvement?

Performance improvement is measuring the output of a particular business process or procedure, then modifying the process or procedure to increase the output, increase efficiency, or increase the effectiveness of the process or procedure. Improving performance in manufacturing and servicing is the basic objective of modern operations management approaches, although several approaches and techniques have proved their usefulness and have boosted efficiency dramatically. Organizations cannot effectively implement advanced workplace strategies and investment projects without clearly improving in their performance by prioritized objectives and appropriate.

Question 2: What are key enablers to performance improvement in supply chain?

Alignment of Goals, Team work, Performance improvement, Relationship Management, Timeliness and order planing, Quality Management, Infrastructure, Good planing, Process monitoring, Training, Business strategy and Finance

Question 3: What are the inhibitors to performance improvement in supply chain?

Covid-19
Poor leadership,
Finance,
Teamwork,
Infrastructure,
Relationship management

Question 1: What is performance improvement?

Performance improvement is the measure of development in terms of the efficiency or output or reduction of defects or wastes as a result of adjustments done in the methodologies, processes, or process flows.

Question 2: What are key enablers to performance improvement in supply chain?

Key enablers of performance improvement would be Quality Management, Planning, and Infrastructure. Quality management would target the improvement or reduction of defects, while improvement in planning would reduce wastes on processing and use of resources. The infrastructure changes would also give performance improvement when designed to allow access to databases for example, where supply chains can network and share knowledge critical to decisions that would support their respective objectives.

Question 3: What are the inhibitors to performance improvement in supply chain?

Infrastructure not conducive to collaboration, major disruptions such as Covid19, and poor leadership where employees are not empowered to contribute to innovative ideas or supported in coming up with process development schemes.

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google.

Google _{Forms}

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du1I/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwP0thR7RtWs2OBvSQ...

Model Validation

Question 1 Can you confirm how this model can lead to lead to performance in supply chain

Agreed. Since, Supply chain key enablers specifically focused on supply chain's activities in meeting end-customer requirements by increase an organization's operational performance through flexibility, reduced lead time, cost saving, resource planning, reduced inventory level and capacity, on time delivery in a responsive manner.

Question 2 Are the identified elements in the model capable for any organisational improvement.

This is broadly cover six precise section in an organization. Therefore, it will be benefited for most of the organization utilizing in a proactive manner.

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google. $\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{C} + \mathbf{C}$



Model Validation

Question 1 Can you confirm how this model can lead to lead to performance in supply chain

yes, with precise process monitoring, strategies, training and good planing together with supply chain collaboration ensures for enhancement in operational and financial and non-financial performance improvement in supply chain

Question 2 Are the identified elements in the model capable for any organisational improvement.

No, Since that model specifically design for oil and gas industry, it will be effective for such industry categories.

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google.

Google _{Forms}

 $https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit\#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQ\dots forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQ\dots forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQ\dots forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQ\dots forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQ\dots forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQ\dots forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQ\dots forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQ\dots forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQ\dots forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQ\dots forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQU forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQU forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQU forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQU forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQU forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIS8mQL9du11/edit#response=ACYDBNgJBwPOthR7RtWs2OBvSQU forms/d/1icEqKZPGdr9KKpy6zjiE5qNDHWXp0hrXIVAVFACYBWAAFFACYBWAAVFACYBWAAVFACYBWAAVFACYBWAAFFACYB$

Question 1	Managers Answers/Outcomes	Summary
What is performance improvement?	1. Performance improvement is the alignment of the sector's activities by the staff working together to achieve the desired outcome.	This question was basic to validate the understanding of the respondents of what they really know about
	2. Performance improvement is a process of measuring the evidence of increased efficiency or output as a result of the adjustments or changes made to a specific job, methodology, or work instruction.	performance improvement in general. It was conformed that the selected respondents have good ideas of performance management and how to
	3. Performance improvement is measuring the output of a particular business process or procedure, then modifying the process or procedure to increase the output, increase efficiency, or increase the effectiveness of the process or procedure. Improving performance in manufacturing and servicing is the basic objective of modern operations management approaches, although several approaches and techniques have proved their usefulness and have boosted efficiency dramatically. Organizations cannot effectively implement advanced workplace strategies and investment projects without clearly improving in their performance by prioritized objectives and appropriate.	improve following it. they identified staps such as aligning desire, increasing efficiency and due process should be adopted by organisation to be on top of their game.
	4. Performance improvement is the measure of development in terms of the efficiency or output or reduction of defects or wastes as a result of adjustments done in the methodologies, processes, or process flows.	
	5. Performance improvement will be ensuring organization development which mainly focused on increasing overall outcomes by enhancing the efficiency and effectiveness of a particular process, function, or procedure.	
	6. Performance improvement will be ensuring organization development which mainly focused on increasing overall outcomes by enhancing the efficiency and effectiveness of a particular process, function, or procedure.	

Appendix G Interview Findings and Research Model Data Transcribe

Question 2	Managers Answers/Outcomes	Summary
What are key enablers to	1. Relationship Management, Infrastructure, Planning and Quality Management.	This question was specific to confirm the key elements that can enable supply chain
performance improvement in the oil and gas supply chain?	 2. performance improvements are enabled by access to databases of information, capabilities for data analysis, and full access to data sharing or networking. As more data becomes available, supply chains are given leverage to do better decisions whether the aim is for economic gains or for sustainability. Some companies have access to all the data though but are not necessarily more improved because they may not have the appropriate skills for data analysis. Correct use of available data whether full blown or limited is still a more enabling asset to a company. 3. Alignment of Goals, Teamwork, Performance improvement, Relationship Management, Timeliness, and order planning, Quality Management, Infrastructure, good 	that can enable supply chain collaboration leading to improvement in the oil and gas industry and it was confirmed that in order to achieve the effective improvement the identified enablers should be taken into account seriously and implemented. The respondents were also pleased with the quality and the pattern to which the study enablers were generated.
	 planning, Process monitoring, Training, Business strategy and Finance. 4. Key enablers of performance improvement would be Quality Management, Planning, and Infrastructure. Quality management would 	
	target the improvement or reduction of defects, while improvement in planning would reduce wastes on processing and use of resources. The infrastructure changes would also give performance improvement when designed to allow access to databases for example, where supply chains can network and share knowledge critical to decisions that would support their respective objectives.	
	5. Organizational Structure-This is providing a systematic approach to achieved certain activities in an organization's objectives. For example: Rules & regulations, responsibilities.	

Internal relation behaviour- This is enhancing organizational process by developing a cross- functional relationship. For example: joint problem-solving strategies Customer Relational behaviour- Customer engagement is critical in fostering the development and maintenance of customer connections in a firm by boosting revenue growth as well as customer interactions generate shareholder alignment. Top Management support-In supply chain management, senior management support and dedication are decisive. Supply chain management relies heavily on managerial commitment. This is because it enables the company to reach breakthroughs in teamwork and client response. Information sharing-information sharing is critical since it allows for the interchange of data. In addition, it assists on actions related to company and supply chain strategy with information. Business performance measuring system-In business, a performance measuring system-In business, a performance measuring system-In performance and then influences employees to make changes. Employees have been observed working in accordance with the company's incentives. As a result, performance management systems are still necessary for providing the appropriate incentives to influence employee behaviour and Shareholder goals must be effectively integrated with performance management systems.	
performance management systems are still necessary for providing the appropriate incentives to influence employee behaviour and Shareholder goals must be effectively integrated with performance management	
6. According to this model key enablers are alignment of goals, teamwork, performance improvement, relationship management, timeliness and order planning, quality management, infrastructure, and finance.	

Question 3	Managers' Answers/Outcomes	Summary	

What are the inhibitors to performance improvement in the oil and gas supply chain?	 Covid 19, Lack of Infrastructure and Poor leadership. The possible inhibitors of performance improvement can be unrealistic expectations or under-used resources. The 7 types of wastes from TPM can be applied to this as well. Supply chains should be able to measure the main sources of performance wastes for example overproduction, unmonitored inventory, defects, motion, over-processing, unnecessary waiting, transport, and underused talents in the organizations. If these sources of waste are not measured, improvements are also unlikely. 	The question was directed to understand the key inhibitors of supply chain collaboration leading to performance improvement in the oil and gas industry. The respondents confirmed with the identified findings of the study and suggested that if inhibitors are properly managed will in turn be enablers that will facilitate performance improvement.
	3. Covid-19, Poor leadership, Finance, Teamwork, Infrastructure, Relationship management.	
	4. Infrastructure not conducive to collaboration, major disruptions such as Covid19, and poor leadership where employees are not empowered to contribute to innovative ideas or supported in coming up with process development schemes.	
	 5. Uncertainty in marketplace. For Example: Due to Russia invasion in Ukraine increase in fuel and raw material prices. Rapid technology innovation. For example: Industry 4.0 (IOT, robotics, block chain, autonomous robots etc.) Continuous amendments in Environmental protocols and natural disaster. For example: in 2021 world largest container vessel blockage in Suze canal caused significant disruption in supply chains. Cross-border trade regulation. For example: Leaving for Brexit UK in huge trouble for free trade at present. Geopolitical instability and cyber- attacks. 	
	6. There are Covid-19, infrastructural development, poor leadership.	

Managers' Answers/Outcomes	Summary
1. The model captures the enablers and inhibitors of performance improvement in SC, which enables the organisation to develop the right business strategy, monitor processes in the supply chain, plan to achieve improvement and provide the proper training for the effective supply chain management.	The model is developed in a way that capture all the vital aspects about performance improvement. It clearly presented the stages from supply chain system, supply chain collaboration process to other strategies leading to
 The model of measuring performance improvements as it applies to supply chains can further improve overall business performance by identifying the key contributors to business economic losses. Operations performance engineers or industrial engineers use the Pareto principle to zero down on the highest (top 20%) contributors of losses, breakdowns, inefficiencies, outputs, etc., and gather task forces to work on said performance problems. After applying the corrective actions, they then monitor if indeed the corrections result in improved performance. Prioritizing the ones with the greatest impact also refocuses the use of resources. Going through No 5 question, if all the 	effective performance system.
models are able to work together it will lead to performance in supply chain.4. The capability of an organization to assess its current status and performance level is the	
foundation for improvement. Only then can they be made aware of when and where changes are required. Then a mechanism for monitoring or feedback is necessary for the organization to measure if changes are contributing to the desired development areas. Business strategy involves setting the goals and objectives of the company which leaders want to drive it towards. Once known, directions for improvement are better focused and resources are used more intelligently. Training and planning enable the organization	
	 The model captures the enablers and inhibitors of performance improvement in SC, which enables the organisation to develop the right business strategy, monitor processes in the supply chain, plan to achieve improvement and provide the proper training for the effective supply chain management. The model of measuring performance improvements as it applies to supply chains can further improve overall business performance by identifying the key contributors to business economic losses. Operations performance engineers or industrial engineers use the Pareto principle to zero down on the highest (top 20%) contributors of losses, breakdowns, inefficiencies, outputs, etc., and gather task forces to work on said performance problems. After applying the corrective actions, they then monitor if indeed the corrections result in improved performance. Prioritizing the ones with the greatest impact also refocuses the use of resources. Going through No 5 question, if all the models are able to work together it will lead to performance in supply chain. The capability of an organization to assess its current status and performance level is the foundation for improvement. Only then can they be made aware of when and where changes are required. Then a mechanism for monitoring or feedback is necessary for the organization to measure if changes are contributing to the desired development areas. Business strategy involves setting the goals and objectives of the company which leaders want to drive it towards. Once known, directions for improvement are better focused and resources are used more intelligently.

required competencies, and use of resources are well planned.	
5. Agreed. Since, Supply chain key enablers specifically focused on supply chain's activities in meeting end-customer requirements by increase an organization's operational performance through flexibility, reduced lead time, cost saving, resource planning, reduced inventory level and capacity, on time delivery in a responsive manner.	
6. Yes, with precise process monitoring, strategies, training, and good planning together with supply chain collaboration ensures for enhancement in operational and financial and non-financial performance improvement in supply chain	

Question 5	Managers' Answers/Outcomes	Summary
Are the identified elements in the model capable for any oil and gas supply chain organisational improvement?	 All the elements are critical for organisational improvement; however, the modus operandi would depend on the industry. Yes. The same elements can be used in the organizational level of improvement as well. In organizational development works, the same principles apply: Assessing the current performance of the organization, then setting the objectives or the goals that the organization wants to achieve, and then having an organizational performance improvement plan. The capability to gather data and then analyse that information if it can be used to identify points of improvement. Yes, they are capable of improving organizational improvement if all are put in place and level up that is, if we are able to work on the inhibitors it would definitely be capable to improve organization. 	This question was design to validate the originality of the elements in the model been capable to deliver the intended outcomes. Respondents agreed with the elements identified in the model are sufficient and self-explanatory that shows the flow of what is required and making it easier for implementation.

4. Elements such as Goal Alignment, Infrastructure, Quality Management, planning for business continuity process (for cases of unexpected disruptions), Mechanisms embedded in the system to monitor performance and pick up feedback, and coherent business strategy with clear objectives and vision would all help an organizational level of improvement. As they say, we cannot improve what we cannot measure, so the capability to measure performance is key. Then analysis of available data, employing correct leadership elements to drive improvements in all facets of the operations including managing quality, resources, optimizing resources such as talents (people), and closing the loop with planning, checking processes, and acting on what needs to be adjusted (PDCA model).	
 5. This is broadly covering six precise sections in an organization. Therefore, it will be benefited for most of the organization utilizing in a proactive manner. 6. No, since that model specifically design for oil and gas industry, it will be effective for such industry categories. 	